
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
 

Wednesday 12 November 2025 

9.30 am 

 
 

Members: 

Councillor Coker, Chair 

Councillor Finn, Vice Chair 

Councillors Allison, Blight, Freeman, Gilmour, Holloway, Murphy, Poyser, Ricketts and Steel. 

 

 
 

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 

process please follow this link - Get Involved 
 

 
 

Tracey Lee 

Chief Executive 

 

 
Oversight and Governance 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

Plymouth  PL1 3BJ 

 

Please ask for  Elliot Wearne-Gould 

T 01752  305155 

E democraticservices@plymouth.gov.uk 

democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk 

www.plymouth.gov.uk 

Published 04 November 2025 

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings


 

Scrutiny Management Board 
 

 

1. Apologies    

  

 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Councillors. 

  

2. Declarations of Interest    

  

 Councillors will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on the 

agenda. 

  

3. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 8) 

  

 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting held on 24 September 2025. 

  

4. Chair's Urgent Business    

  

 To receive reports on business which in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 

  

5. Plymouth City Council’s Draft Local Government 

Reorganisation Proposal for Devon:   

(Pages 9 - 172) 

 

6. Plymouth City Council People Strategy:   (Pages 173 - 

222) 

 

7. City Help and Support:   (Pages 223 - 

244) 

 

8. Finance Monitoring Report Month 6:   (Pages 245 - 

260) 

 

9. Budget Scrutiny Plan:   (Pages 261 - 

270) 

 

10. Corporate Plan Performance Report:   (Pages 271 - 

276) 

 

11. Risk Management Update, Q2, 2025-26:   (Pages 277 - 

300) 

 

12. Forward Plan of Key Decisions:   (Pages 301 - 

306) 

 

13. Update from Committee Chairs and Work Programmes   (Pages 307 - 

326) 

  



 

 To receive updates from individual Chairs of their respective Scrutiny Committees and 

associated work programmes.  

  

14. Work Programme   (Pages 327 - 

332) 

  

 For discussion of items on the Scrutiny Management Board’s Work Programme.  

  

15. Action Log:   (Pages 333 - 

336) 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Management Board Wednesday 24 September 2025 

Scrutiny Management Board 

 

Wednesday 24 September 2025 
 

PRESENT: 

 

Councillor Coker, in the Chair. 

Councillor Finn, Vice Chair. 

Councillors Allison, Blight, Freeman, Gilmour, Holloway, Murphy, Ricketts and 

Steel. 

 

Also in attendance: Councillor Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Housing, 

Cooperative Development and Communities), Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet 

Member for Finance), Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance), Paul Stevens 
(Senior Performance Advisor) and Elliot Wearne-Gould (Democratic Advisor). 

 

The meeting started at 5.00 pm and finished at 6.56 pm. 

 

Note: At a future meeting, the Panel will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so 

they may be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm 

whether these minutes have been amended. 

 

14. Declarations of Interest 

 

There were no declarations of interest made. 

 

15. Minutes 

 

The Board agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 2025 as a correct 

record. 

 

16. Chair's Urgent Business 

 

There were no items of Chair’s Urgent Business. 

 

17. Select Committee Review Plan 

 

Elliot Wearne-Gould (Democratic Advisor) introduced the Select Committee 

Review Plan and discussed: 

 

a) The review stemmed from concerns raised at the 27 March 2025 meeting 

regarding the conduct of food delivery cyclists in the city centre and 

associated pedestrian safety issues; 

 
b) The Board had agreed four recommendations, including the establishment of 

a Select Committee to explore the matter further with input from city centre 

businesses, delivery riders, agencies and partners; 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



Scrutiny Management Board Wednesday 24 September 2025 

c) Work had progressed since March to scope the review, including engagement 

with potential witnesses and experts, led by Councillor John Stevens (Chair 

of Scrutiny Management Board 2024/25); 

 

d) Supporting actions had been completed, including a letter to the Secretary of 

State for Transport, with members copied into the response; 

 

e) The draft Select Committee Plan was presented for approval, subject to 

amendments; 

 

f) The purpose of the Select Committee was to review evidence and respond 

to public concerns regarding pedestrian safety, particularly relating to food 

delivery riders, bike legality, and the impact on disabled and vulnerable 

groups; 

 
g) The review aimed to develop understanding across multi-agency partners and 

restore balance in the city centre; 

 

h) Proposed membership was based on the proportionality of the Scrutiny 

Management Board; 

 

i) The draft plan included a comprehensive briefing paper and identified 

stakeholders including members of the public, delivery riders, delivery 

agencies, city centre businesses, the City Centre Company, Devon and 

Cornwall Police, relevant council officers and cabinet members; 

 

j) A provisional date of 26 November 2025 was set for the Select Committee 

meeting, subject to availability of witnesses; 

 

k) Recommendations from the Select Committee would be made to Cabinet, 

with the option for further meetings if required. 

 

In response to questions, the Panel discussed: 

 

a) Potential to expand the scope of the review to include concerns about illegal 

working practices among delivery riders, including account sharing and 

underage riders; 

 

b) Potential to expand the geographical scope of the review beyond the city 

centre to include other known hotspots such as Tavistock Road and other 

busy food delivery locations; 

 

c) A proposal to utilise a smaller, focused Select Committee of five or six 

members to ensure effective engagement; 

 
d) The expansion of Select Committee witnesses to include the Plymouth 

Cycling Club, Bikeability and delivery platforms such as Uber Eats and 

Deliveroo; 

 

Page 2



Scrutiny Management Board Wednesday 24 September 2025 

Action: Officers to update the Select Committee Review Plan following suggested 

amendments and circulate to members. 

 

The Panel agreed: 

 

1. To endorse the Select Committee Review Plan, subject to amendments 

discussed; 

 

2. To delegate to the Chair and Vice Chair to determine the membership size 

of the Select Committee. 

 

18. Finance Monitoring Report Month Three 

 

Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) and Ian Trisk-Grove (Service 

Director for Finance) introduced the Finance Monitoring Report, Month Three, and 
discussed: 

 

a) The report covered Quarter 1 (April–June 2025) and showed an adverse 

variance of £2.609 million against the approved revenue budget, reflecting 

emerging pressures across key services; 

 

b) The pressures were primarily in children’s services, special educational needs, 

homelessness, and adult social care, which together consumed approximately 

85% of the core revenue budget; 

 

c) Children’s services faced a pressure of £418,000 due to an increase in 

independent sector placements, exceeding budget assumptions by two 

placements; 

 

d) An additional adverse variance of £1.557 million was attributed to 

unexpected survey requirements in facilities management services, linked to 

the council’s asset register and the need for comprehensive surveys of the 

corporate estate; 

 

e) The council had banked £4.7 million in savings to date, representing 43% of 

the £11 million savings target for the financial year; 

 

f) The capital programme had increased by £38.2 million in Quarter 1, primarily 

to fund upgrades to the Civic Centre, the National Marine Park, additional 

SEND placements, and housing projects; 

 

g) The majority of the additional capital funding was grant-based and did not 

form part of corporate borrowing. 

 

In response to questions, the Panel discussed: 
 

a) Concerns around the transparency of asset disposals. Councillor Lowry 

explained the surplus property declaration process and offered to investigate 

specific cases if details were provided; 

 

Page 3



Scrutiny Management Board Wednesday 24 September 2025 

b) Clarification that the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) backstop had been 

extended by two years, with further guidance expected in a forthcoming 

white paper towards the end of the year; 

 

c) Pressures in Customer and Corporate Services included the delayed opening 

of the Guildhall which had resulted in a loss of expected revenue income 

from weddings and events, as well as additional surveys and investment 

undertaken in the asset base; 

 

d) Vacancy savings targets in legal and finance had been determined to be 

unachievable due to service demand. Recruitment had been necessary to 

meet operational needs; 

 

e) Vacancy savings and agency staffing costs in children’s services were clarified. 

The department was being restructured to reduce dependency on agency 
staff and improve continuity of care; 

 

f) Projects were underway to reduce external placements for children including 

property sourcing and recruitment of service managers, though progress had 

been slower than desired; 

 

g) Concerns about temporary accommodation pressures linked to the Renters 

Reform Bill. It was confirmed that there had been an increase in Section 21 

evictions, likely due to market anticipation and fear of upcoming changes; 

 

h) Concerns regarding the Council’s gross debt levels. It was explained that 

while headline figures appeared high, much of the debt was offset by grant-

funding schemes and investments which did not show in the mandated 

reporting requirements. The Council operated within CIPFA guidelines, and 

utilised the advice of external advisors. 

 

Action: Officers to provide a breakdown of Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and 

finance leases in future reporting to the Audit and Governance Committee; 

 

Action: Officers to provide further details on vacancy levels and vacancy targets for 

Council departments; 

 

Action: Officers to provide further information relating to the increase in Section 

21 evictions and resulting trends in temporary accommodation pressures; 

 

Action: To schedule further scrutiny of legal and finance department vacancies and 

staffing demand to the work programme following commencement of a business 

case. 

 

The Panel agreed: 
 

1. To note the Finance Monitoring Report. 

 

 

 

Page 4



Scrutiny Management Board Wednesday 24 September 2025 

 Change to the order of business 

  

 The Board agreed to bring forward item 8, Risk Management Report. 

  

19. Risk Management Monitoring Report Q1 2025-26 

 

Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) introduced the Risk 

Monitoring Report and discussed: 

 

a) A new risk had been added to reflect the separation of adult social care and 

children’s social care risks due to their significance; 

 

b) Overall, risks were stable. 

 

In response to questions, the Panel discussed: 
 

a) The cost escalation of the Civic Centre redevelopment. Councillor Lowry 

confirmed the project was fully resourced and ready to proceed, with 

commitments from Homes England and the City College; 

 

The Panel agreed: 

 

1. To note the Risk Monitoring Report; 

 

2. To add the Civic Centre redevelopment to the work programme for future 

scrutiny. 

 

20. Corporate Plan Monitoring Report 2024-25 Q4 

 

Councillor Chris Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Housing, Cooperative 

Development and Communities) introduced the Corporate Plan Performance 

Report and discussed: 

 

a) The current report format was based on an inherited structure that 

attempted to combine performance and corporate plan reporting, which was 

no longer fit for purpose; 

 

b) A new performance framework was being developed in collaboration with 

senior officers; 

 

c) The new framework would include balanced scorecards by directorate, long-

term quantifiable metrics, and alignment with national requirements such as 

the forthcoming Local Government Outcomes Framework; 

 

d) The framework would support management decisions, political leadership, 
scrutiny, and public accountability; 

 

e) Automation and AI tools (e.g. Power BI) were being explored to improve 

data collection, reporting, and reduce manual workload; 

 

Page 5



Scrutiny Management Board Wednesday 24 September 2025 

f) The framework would be piloted in housing and rolled out across other 

directorates, with varying levels of readiness. 

 

Paul Stevens (Senior Performance Advisor) added: 

 

g) Power BI was being used to automate reporting and reduce reliance on 

spreadsheets; 

 

h) AI tools were being trialled to assist with narrative generation and data 

analysis, subject to human verification. 

 

In response to questions, the Panel discussed: 

 

a) Questions were raised regarding the ambition and pace of implementation. It 

was confirmed that cultural change was in progress and that the new 
leadership team was supportive of the direction of travel; 

 

b) Concerns were expressed about the reliance on artificial intelligence and the 

potential for data to be disregarded due to pre-existing beliefs. The 

importance of focusing on outcomes and using data effectively was 

emphasised; 

 

c) Clarification was sought on the definition of affordable housing. It was 

explained that various models existed and that detailed breakdowns had been 

reported to the relevant scrutiny panel; 

 

d) A request was made for student housing figures to be reported separately in 

future updates. It was noted that housing completions were reported in 

accordance with national standards, which required the inclusion of student 

housing as per guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government (MHCLG). 

 

Action: Officers to provide a detailed breakdown of new housing figures by type of 

accommodation. 

 

The Panel agreed: 

 

1. To note the Corporate Plan Performance Report. 

 

21. Leader's Forward Plan 

 

The Board agreed to note the Leader’s Forward Plan. 

 

22. Update from Committee Chairs and Work Programmes 

 
Committee Chairs provided updates on their respective scrutiny panels and 

discussed: 

 

a) There had only been one scrutiny panel meeting since the last Board meeting; 

 

Page 6



Scrutiny Management Board Wednesday 24 September 2025 

b) The Natural Infrastructure and Growth Scrutiny Committee had held a 

successful meeting themed around ‘skills’ and had undertaken a site-visit to 

the Plymouth Dockyard. A further tour of Tinside Lido was scheduled; 

 

c) The Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Panel had scheduled an item on 

‘outcomes’ following readmission concerns. The Panel would also be  

scrutinising winter pressures planning; 

 

d) The Children, Young People and Families Panel would be scrutinising 

‘absences’ at the next meeting, following concerns relating to absences at 

secondary SEN schools. 

 

23. Work Programme 

 

The Board were invited to add items to the work programme and discussed: 
 

a) Following conversations today, the Civic Centre Redevelopment would be 

added to the work programme; 

 

b) The next Board meeting had a substantial agenda. To enable scrutiny of other 

pertinent issues, several of the ‘standing items’ would be taken as ‘read’. 

 

The Board agreed to note the Work Programme. 

 

24. Action Log 

 

The Board agreed to note the progress of the action log. 

 

25. Exempt Business 

 

There were no items of exempt business. 

 

26. Part II Minutes 

 

The Board agreed the Part 2 Minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 2025 as a 

correct record. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Management Board
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 12 November 2025 

Title of Report: Plymouth City Council’s Draft Local Government 

Reorganisation Proposal for Devon  

Lead Member:   Councillor Tudor Evans OBE (Leader) 

Lead Strategic Director: Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) 

Author: Paul Barnard, MBE, MRTPI, CIHM, FAcSS 

Contact Email:  Paul.barnard@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: PWB/LGR/DEVO/121124 

Key Decision:  Yes 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

 

The purpose of this report is to update the Scrutiny Management Board following the “Big Community 

Consultation” held between May 2025 and October 2025 on the progress with local government 
reorganisation and to seek feedback on the draft proposal to be considered by the City Council and 

Cabinet on 24 November 2025 regarding the preferred proposal for local government reorganisation 
for Devon. 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

 

 
That the Scrutiny Management Board: 

 

1. Notes the content of the attached “Plymouth City Council’s Draft Local 
Government Reorganisation Proposal for Devon” and provides any comments for 

Cabinet to consider. 
 

Reason: To note progress with the preparation of a proposal by Plymouth City Council for local 
government reorganisation in Devon in response to the government’s Statutory Invitation issued by the 

Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government on 05 December 2025 and to 

provide any comments on the proposed approach for consideration by Cabinet on 24 November 2025 
in order for the City Council to comply with the requirement to submit a single proposal by 28 

November 2025. 
 

 

  

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

 
Option 1: To not respond to the Government’s statutory invitation to Plymouth City 

Council to submit a proposal for local government reorganisation in Devon. 
 

This option was rejected as this would not be in the best long term interests of local residents and 

businesses in terms of the sustainability of services provided. It would also not be in the best long term 
interests of the city in relation to its unique and ambitious growth agenda. The absence of any 

submission to government by the City Council also risks a proposal being agreed for the rest of Devon 
that would undermine its long term future. 

 
Option 2: To submit a different proposal for local government reorganisation in response 

to the statutory invitation. 

 
At its meeting on 17 March 2025 the City Council considered three options and approved the 

“Plymouth Growth Area” option now being put forward as “expanded Plymouth” as part of the final 

proposal taking account of the feedback from the “Big Community Conversation”. The City Council 

has also had to respond to the government’s requirement set out in the letter of 15 May 2025 for its 

proposal to relate to the whole area of Devon. The City Council considers that its proposal for four 
unitary councils for Devon represents the best structure for local government in the area and the one 

that best addresses the opportunities for wider devolution as and when its preferred South West 
Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority is created. The option to submit a different proposal has 

therefore been rejected. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan    

 
Establishing an “expanded Plymouth,” an “expanded Exeter,” an “expanded Torbay,” alongside a new 

“Devon Coast and Countryside” unitary council, will maximise the ability to unlock new funding 
streams, new powers, and achieve operational service efficiencies across the whole of Devon. Further 

innovations in service delivery would enable the priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan to be 
achieved over the long-term. The proposal for an “expanded Plymouth” will help achieve all six of the 

Corporate Plan priorities and specifically will secure long-term growth opportunities which will meet 

the Corporate Plan commitments to build more homes for social rent and affordable ownership and 
deliver green investment, jobs, and skills. The proposal for local government in Devon has been 

developed in accordance with the Corporate Plan values of “democracy,” “responsibility,” “fairness,” 
and “co-operation.” The proposal for an “expanded Plymouth” and for four unitary councils to replace 

the existing two-tier councils in Devon will also help in achieving the Plymouth Plan objectives of 

creating a “healthy city,” a “growing city,” an “international city” and a “regional city.”  
 

Implications for the Medium-Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

 

Plymouth City Council will develop and agree a Medium-Term Financial Plan and budget for the 
current council (on current City Council boundaries) until such time as a decision is made by 

government on future arrangements for local government in Plymouth and Devon. As set out in the 

attached proposal, the four unitary councils would deliver operational efficiencies and improve financial 
sustainability for local government across the whole of Devon, including Plymouth. The initial cost of 

implementing the proposal (if agreed) would be funded from one-off resources, paid back through 
efficiency savings over the first three to four years of the “expanded Plymouth” council. 

  

Page 10



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Financial Risks  
 

The principal financial risks relate to uncertainty in the financial estimates prepared to support the 
proposal. The financial analysis is based on data collated from councils across Devon, as well as 

published financial information; however, all information used is historic and the level of demand, cost 

or income could vary from the assumptions used in the financial modelling. This risk has been mitigated 
as far as possible through detailed financial modelling, undertaken to a level of granularity and in 

collaboration with a working group of finance officers across Devon. Specialist external consultants 
have also been commissioned to estimate formula-driven income streams, and to support balance 

sheet analysis. The full proposal (to be considered by Cabinet and the City Council on 24 November 
2025) is attached as Appendix A and sets out the financial risks in more detail. 

 

Legal Implications 
 

In February 2025, the Secretary of State issued an invitation to all councils in Devon, including 

Plymouth City Council, to submit proposals for structural change to include the creation of new 

unitary authorities. The statutory basis for this invitation is section 2 of the Local Government and 

Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (the Act), brought about as a result of the Government’s English 
Devolution White Paper (2024). The White Paper sets out the Government’s commitment to simplify 

the structure of local government with a view to delivering significant savings, more sustainable and 
higher quality services, and improved accountability. The Act permits four types of proposal for a single 

tier of local government based on whole district building blocks. The Council must therefore submit a 
base case proposal based on existing district boundaries to satisfy this statutory requirement. 

However, the Secretary of State has a power of modification under section 7 of the Act to make 

modifications to proposals where he has received a request to do so. Cabinet is therefore being asked 
to approve a ministerial request for a modification to the Council’s base case proposal to enable the 

proposed four unitary council model for Devon to be brought forward, with three of those councils 
extending their existing boundaries.  

 
The Secretary of State may implement proposals, with or without modification, but must undertake a 

statutory consultation exercise before any Structural Changes Order (SCO) can be made. The 

consultation must include all affected authorities and others considered appropriate and will be led by 
Government. This statutory consultation process is separate to the Council’s own consultation and 

engagement activity which has already been undertaken.  
 

The implementation of proposals submitted to the Secretary of State will ultimately require a SCO to 

bring into being any newly created unitary authorities and to deal with matters such as the transfer of 
property, contracts, and staff to the newly created entity. Alternatively, the Secretary of State may 

permit existing unitary authorities to be “continuing authorities” with their requested boundary change 
without the need to abolish the existing authority. This option is being proposed for Plymouth and 

Torbay in order to reduce the significant financial, resource, and service delivery implications that the 
creation of a new authority would necessitate.  

 

In relation to the duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 for the City Council to 
exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, 

and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, (a) crime and disorder in its area (including 

anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); and (b)the misuse of drugs, 

alcohol and other substances in its area; and (c) re-offending in its area; and (d) serious violence in its 
area, the local government proposal for Devon to have four unitary authorities replacing the existing 

two-tier structure has been discussed with the Chief Constable of Devon and Cornwall Police. The 

City Council has also considered the Section 17 duty under the 1998 Act and concluded that its 
proposal for four unitary councils will be consistent with it.  

Page 11



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  
 

Through devolution, the government has committed to making Britain a clean energy superpower. It 
therefore sees a major role for the new Mayoral Strategic Authorities in achieving this aim and 

addressing climate change. The “Power and Partnership: Foundations for Growth” White Paper refers 

to several initiatives which the City Council has been active in delivering such as Warm Homes, the 
Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund, the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme, and the heat 

network Advanced Zoning Pilot which will form part of the Integrated Settlement for 2025/2026. 
Whilst the White Paper sees a major role for Mayoral Strategic Authorities, Plymouth City Council has 

been very active in this area and the creation of an expanded boundary will open up further 
opportunities for decarbonisation initiatives across the wider area of an “enlarged Plymouth” and also 

through the work of the South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority. A single-tier structure 

provides further opportunities for more coordinated planning across functional areas to deliver more 
joined-up decarbonisation initiatives. The integration of strategic planning, transport planning, 

infrastructure coordination, housing delivery and climate change initiatives will be easier if provided by 

one authority. This applies not only to “expanded Plymouth” but all four unitary authorities that are 

part of Plymouth’s local government reorganisation proposal for Devon. A Climate Impact Assessment 

(CIA) has been undertaken and concludes that the overall impact of the local government proposal 
prepared by the City Council on climate and environmental outcomes is, at this strategic stage, neutral. 

This reflects the high degree of uncertainty surrounding future governance arrangements, service 
delivery models, and spatial planning frameworks, which precludes robust forecasting. The assessment 

does not identify direct positive or negative climate impacts but highlights several areas where future 
implementation could influence outcomes. The proposal demonstrates a strategic commitment to 

environmental responsibility, but its climate impact will depend entirely on future implementation 

decisions. The assessment recommends tailored mitigation planning during the implementation stage to 
ensure climate resilience and environmental integrity are upheld across the expanded geography.  

 
Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

 
There are a number of key strategic risks that apply to this local government reorganisation process. 

The main risk is that the Secretary of State accepts the base case proposal to not alter Plymouth City 

Council’s boundary and/or accepts alternative proposals being developed by Devon County Council for 
a huge single unitary council across the whole of Devon, or the “1-4-5” proposal by the district 

councils which assumes Plymouth would stay on its existing boundary. All of these would severely 
constrain Plymouth’s ability to maximise the opportunities for growth and limit the ability to secure 

more joined up services for those settlements that are already functionally connected to the city. A 

further risk is that the Secretary of State accepts other proposals being put forward that will create a 

situation whereby the South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority is dominated by authorities 

that put urban issues as secondary and where ambitions for growth are muted. The main mitigation for 
these risks has been to establish a strong consensus with Exeter City Council and to ensure that the 

final proposal is of the highest quality that sets out a compelling case for the four unitary council 
proposal advanced by the City Council, with a strong overarching vision and supporting evidence base. 

Another risk, which was also highlighted in the report on devolution agreed by the City Council on 09 

January 2025, is the very real possibility of the whole process of devolution and reorganisation 

diverting capacity and resources away from the continuing delivery of high-quality services to residents 

and businesses. The key mitigation for this risk is to adopt a proportionate approach to the process, 
and the establishment of the Local Government Reform Team with dedicated resources with the ability 

to commission external specialist capacity to undertake and complete key future workstreams, whilst 
maintaining existing service delivery across the council. 

Page 12



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

By extending Plymouth’s strategic expertise in planning, transport, regeneration, and climate change 
across a wider geographical area, the proposal has the potential to improve service coordination and 

foster greater consistency in public service performance standards. An Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA) has been undertaken in relation to Plymouth City Council’s local government reorganisation on 

residents across Plymouth and the “expanded Plymouth” area, using the nine protected characteristics 

set out in the Equality Act 2010. The Equality Impact Assessment identifies strategic risks for people 
with protected characteristics, particularly relating to service continuity, accessibility, and 

representation. In terms of potential negative impacts the EIA identifies potential risks in relation to 
minority voices being inadvertently diluted in a larger authority, rural access challenges, the loss of 

specialist services if rationalised or amalgamated and the uncertainty associated with the transitional 
period leading up to Vesting Day. These risks are inherent with local government reorganisation in 

England, and will be similar for the other areas of Plymouth’s proposals for Devon. While the Equality 

Impact Assessment identifies potential risks for people with protected characteristics, these risks are 
not inherent to the reorganisation but depend on how it is implemented. The reorganisation may also 

create opportunities to improve outcomes for minority groups, including care-experienced individuals, 

disabled residents, and young people, through more integrated service delivery, strategic coordination, 

and inclusive governance. Realising these benefits will require careful planning, sustained engagement, 

and targeted mitigation. Key measures should include maintaining existing parish and town council 
structures, ensuring day-one continuity of service delivery, and establishing early arrangements for 

collecting and monitoring equality data across the expanded councils. With these safeguards in place, 
implementation can proceed cautiously while maximising the potential for positive impact. 

 
Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.  

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Plymouth City Council’s Draft Local 

Government Proposal for Devon  

(November 2025) 

 

       

 

Background papers:  

 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.  

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Government White Paper         

   

  

Page 13

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/676028c9cfbf84c3b2bcfa57/English_Devolution_White_Paper_Web_Accessible.pdf


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Sign off: 
 

Fin ITG.2
5.26.0

78 

Leg LS/00
0038

4/9/L

B/04/
11/25 

Mon 
Off 

N/A HR N/A Assets  N/A Strat 
Proc 

N/A 

Originating Extended Leadership Team member:  Tracey Lee, Chief Executive 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?    Choose  Yes  

Date agreed: 24 October 2025 (Tracey Lee, Chief Executive) 

 

Cabinet Member approval:  Councillor Tudor Evans OBE, Leader 

Date approved: 03 November 2025 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



Page 15



P a g e  | 1 
 

OFFICIAL 

  

Page 16



P a g e  | 2 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

Introduction ..............................................................................................................................................................................6 
The Current Situation in Plymouth........................................................................................................................... 10 
Why Plymouth Needs to Expand ............................................................................................................................... 13 
Why Devon Needs Fundamental Reform .............................................................................................................. 19 
Plymouth City Council’s Base Proposal for Local Government in Devon ............................................. 23 
Plymouth City Council’s Modified Proposal for Local Government in Devon..................................... 26 
How Four-Unitary Model Delivers ............................................................................................................................. 29 
Why Boundary Modifications Are Essential .......................................................................................................... 31 
Creating The Right Solution for All Devon ........................................................................................................... 33 
Comparing the Options ................................................................................................................................................... 36 
Option One:  Four Unitaries on District Boundaries (Base Case) ............................................................. 38 

Option One: Plymouth ................................................................................................................................... 39 

Option One: Torbay....................................................................................................................................... 42 

Option One: Exeter ....................................................................................................................................... 45 

Option One: Devon Coast and Countryside ................................................................................................. 47 

Option One: Assessment Against Criteria .................................................................................................... 50 

Option Two: Four Unitaries (Modified Case) ....................................................................................................... 52 
Option Two: Expanded Plymouth .................................................................................................................. 53 

Option Two: Expanded Torbay ..................................................................................................................... 56 

Option Two: Expanded Exeter ...................................................................................................................... 58 

Option Two: Devon Coast and Countryside ................................................................................................ 60 

Option Two: Assessment Against Criteria .................................................................................................... 61 

Option Three: Three Unitaries (New Devon) ...................................................................................................... 64 
Option Three: Plymouth ................................................................................................................................ 66 

Option Three: Torbay .................................................................................................................................... 67 

Option Three: Devon County Council Area ................................................................................................. 68 

Option Three: Assessment Against Criteria .................................................................................................. 69 

Option Four: Three Unitaries (District Grouping) ............................................................................................ 72 
Option Four: Plymouth .................................................................................................................................. 73 

Option Four: Four District Unitary ................................................................................................................ 74 

Option Four: Five District Unitary ................................................................................................................. 76 

Option Four: Assessment Against Criteria .................................................................................................... 77 

Democracy and Community Empowerment ....................................................................................................... 81 
Better Services Across Devon ...................................................................................................................................... 89 
Financial Resilience .......................................................................................................................................................... 104 
Building the Foundations for the South West Peninsula Devolution ..................................................... 120 

Page 17



P a g e  | 3 
 

OFFICIAL 

Stakeholder Engagement and Support .................................................................................................................. 124 
Implementation Plan ...................................................................................................................................................... 128 
Managing Transition Risks ............................................................................................................................................ 133 
Our Asks of Government .............................................................................................................................................. 135 
Conclusion ............................................................................................................................................................................ 136 
 
  

Page 18



P a g e  | 4 
 

OFFICIAL 

Foreword 
 
Plymouth City Council strongly supports the government’s approach to devolving powers from 
Westminster and streamlining local government to a model based on unitary councils. Whilst 
devolution will bring greater powers and funding to our region, local government reorganisation will 
bring clarity and simplicity for local people and local businesses.  
 
For far too long we have been held back because our existing city boundary cuts through 
communities and creates inefficiencies and delays in how we can work with local people to solve 
their problems and issues. This challenge is not unique to Plymouth. Exeter faces similar boundary 
constraints that prevent effective strategic planning, whilst Devon's rural and coastal communities 
are poorly served by the current two-tier fragmentation. It is why we are proposing to replace the 
duplication and waste of the existing two-tier system of local government in Devon with four 
unitary councils. By creating authorities that reflect how people live, work and access services, we 
can develop resilient local councils that deliver improved outcomes while maintaining the distinct 
identities that make this part of the world so special. 
 
We have worked closely with Exeter and Torbay to develop a bold and imaginative proposal for 
four unitary councils to replace the county council and districts in Devon. Our proposal will provide 
four unitary councils that will have clearer lines of accountability, a stronger focus on the urban and 
rural communities they serve, stronger voices for local people and financial sustainability.  
 
Plymouth is the powerhouse and growth hub of the South West and is relentlessly ambitious for its 
people and for its businesses. We are in a truly unique position to drive growth because of our 
nationally significant defence assets, our status as the national centre for marine autonomy, and our 
track record of delivering large scale award-winning regeneration and housing projects. Similarly, 
both Exeter and Torbay have ambitious plans for their areas and strong track records in delivering 
housing and regeneration initiatives. Together, Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay can be greater than the 
sum of their parts when it comes to using the new powers and funding arising from devolution. But 
this requires the modifications to all three areas set out in this proposal if the growth aspirations of 
the government are to be realised. 
 
Following the invitation from Government, Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay have taken a proactive 
approach and spent a lot of time talking to local residents, businesses, and other important 
stakeholders. We have given significant weight in developing our proposal for an expanded 
Plymouth to the character and identity of the communities which surround the city, so that they 
may share in the prosperity that is coming to city. Many residents in these communities already 
work in the city, some will have friends and family here, many if not most, will be frequent visitors 
to our theatres, our events, the hospital, and city centre shops. Again, this will be the same for the 
communities that are close to Exeter and Torbay. 
 
Our proposal offers the best of both worlds – we want to create vibrant urban areas set within 
beautiful rural environments with thriving towns and communities with the highest quality of 
services across the whole area. Our proposal for Devon is therefore based strongly on the principle 
of subsidiarity, with decisions being made close to the communities affected and which protects the 
culture and identity of all the communities. 
 
Plymouth is uniquely positioned to drive growth and deliver better public services across an 
expanded area. To realise its substantial development pipeline and help the government meet its 

Page 19



P a g e  | 5 
 

OFFICIAL 

national missions, Plymouth needs to operate at a larger scale. Expanding the boundary of Plymouth 
will require a one-off transition investment of approximately £4.9 million. However, this will 
strengthen Plymouth's financial resilience considerably, generating over £6 million in annual benefits. 
This represents excellent value for money and will underpin the council's financial sustainability for 
years to come. 
 
Plymouth's proposal is for four unitary councils because we believe this is the right answer for 
Devon. 
 
A single, remote "mega-council" would fail to recognise the distinct needs of urban Plymouth, urban 
Exeter, coastal Torbay, and rural Devon. 
 

• Two unitaries would leave some areas with fragmented governance. 
 

• Three unitaries would force incompatible areas together. 
 

• Four unitaries, including an expanded Plymouth, enable each area to have governance that 
matches its unique character and needs. 

 
This is one of the most crucial periods in Plymouth’s history. Together, we can build a brighter 
future for our great city, and for Exeter and Torbay.  
 
We invite the government to undertake a statutory consultation on our proposal. 
  

Page 20



P a g e  | 6 
 

OFFICIAL 

Introduction 
 

1.1. This submission presents Plymouth City Council's proposal for local government 
reorganisation across Devon, creating four unitary councils that will deliver 
transformational public service reform through the removal of administrative duplication, 
improved service integration, and more efficient use of resources.  

 
1.2. The four unitary model comprises an expanded Plymouth City Council, an expanded 

Torbay Council and two new unitary councils; an expanded Exeter City and the ‘Devon 
Coast and Countryside’ authority. Together, these authorities will establish a single tier of 
local government that reflects the natural economic geography and functional relationships 
of this important region. 

 
1.3. Our base proposal partially meets the requirements of the Local Government and Public 

Involvement in Health Act 2007 and meets some of the government's six criteria set out in 
its legal invitation. However, MHCLG has confirmed that councils may wish to consider a 
proposal with modified boundaries including if existing boundaries would not meet the 
criteria or changes to boundaries would better meet the criteria. 

 
1.4. Our modified proposal fully meets the government’s criteria because it better aligns with 

how people actually live their lives, reflects travel to work and housing market areas, and 
enables services to be provided in ways that more proactively support growth, 
regeneration, access to health and social care. Critically, the modified proposal delivers 
genuine public service reform by creating coherent geographies for service delivery that 
avoid fragmentation, reduce administrative duplication, and enable place-based models of 
care that integrate health and social care services around the needs of communities rather 
than administrative convenience. It is on this basis that we invite the Secretary of State to 
use the powers in Section 11 of the 2007 Act to modify our base proposal to achieve even 
better outcomes for the whole of Devon. 

 
1.5. Why four unitaries?  Plymouth has carefully considered the options for Devon and 

concluded that four unitary authorities is the only model that works effectively:   
 

o Not one - A single Devon unitary of 1.2 million people across 2,560 km² would be 
too remote, failing to recognise that Plymouth's urban needs differ fundamentally 
from Exeter's rapid growth challenges, Torbay's coastal character, and rural Devon's 
dispersed communities.   

 
o Not two - Keeping Plymouth and Torbay as they are whilst creating a 'New Devon' 

would submerge Exeter - Devon's capital and fastest-growing city - within a vast 
authority where it becomes a minority voice. This would be a democratic failure and 
would hinder Exeter's growth potential that benefits all of Devon.   

 
o Not three - Various three-unitary options either repeat the mistake of submerging 

Exeter or create incoherent groupings that cut across functional economic areas.   
 

o Four is right - Four unitaries allows Plymouth to serve its local area effectively, 
gives Exeter the governance it needs to manage rapid growth, maintains Torbay's 
proven model, and creates a purpose-designed authority for rural and coastal Devon. 

Page 21



P a g e  | 7 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
1.6. Public service reform sits at the heart of our four unitary proposal. The current two-tier 

system creates inefficiencies through divided responsibilities between county and district 
councils, leading to confusion for residents, duplication of back-office functions, and barriers 
to integrated service delivery. By establishing four unitary authorities, we will remove these 
barriers and create the conditions for transformational change in how services are 
delivered, particularly in crucial areas such as children's social care, SEND provision, adult 
social care, and preventative services 

 
1.7. Plymouth's innovative strategic planning approach through the Plymouth and South West 

Devon Joint Local Plan already demonstrates the successful collaboration which is possible 
across Plymouth and the communities of the South Hams. The expanded council will deliver 
integrated and effective local governance to the people of Plymouth and the surrounding 
areas that already naturally function as part of the Plymouth housing and economic area. As 
a continuing authority, Plymouth will be uniquely positioned to seamlessly integrate services 
across the extended area from day one, bringing proven excellence in children's services, 
adult social care, and integrated health partnerships to a wider community. 

 
1.8. The four unitary model reflects the distinct needs of different parts of Devon. Plymouth and 

Torbay face the highest levels of deprivation, with significant concentrations of areas in the 
most deprived national deciles, coupled with higher levels of child poverty and lower life 
expectancy. This requires tailored, intensive support models. Meanwhile, the new Devon 
authority will focus on the distinct challenges of dispersed rural communities, including rural 
poverty, low wages, and pressures around housing affordability and connectivity. This 
differentiated approach ensures that public services can be designed and delivered in ways 
that genuinely respond to local circumstances rather than applying uniform models that 
work nowhere well. 

 
1.9. The four unitary model creates a robust local government structure that serves both 

current and future generations, with the agility to embrace innovation whilst adapting to 
changing priorities. By eliminating artificial administrative boundaries that currently divide 
naturally connected communities, this proposal creates clear accountability, improves 
service delivery, and unlocks significant opportunities for housing growth and economic 
development. 

 
1.10. Plymouth City Council has an excellent track record of financial management and sustained 

improvements to critical statutory services including adult and children's social care 
services. This is down to a relentless focus on putting outcomes for residents first, using 
transformative and innovative approaches to make the city's services better. We work at 
pace, with high energy and a mindset of continual improvement. 

 
1.11. The expanded Plymouth will be equipped to provide enhanced service delivery achieved 

through the integration of services currently divided between county and district councils, 
leading to more cohesive and efficient operations. 

 
1.12. This is a historic moment for Plymouth. Our vision is a future where the expanded 

Plymouth unitary authority delivers quality, cost effective public services to residents whilst 
maintaining strong community connections through innovative neighbourhood governance 
arrangements. 

 

Page 22



P a g e  | 8 
 

OFFICIAL 

Current Challenges 
 

1.13. The existing two-tier structure of local government creates artificial barriers in areas that 
naturally function as part of Plymouth's urban region. The division of responsibilities 
between county and district councils fragments service delivery, particularly for vulnerable 
residents who require coordinated support across multiple services. Families with children 
who have special educational needs, older people requiring both health and social care, and 
young people transitioning from children's to adult services all face unnecessary complexity 
navigating between different tiers of local government. These administrative boundaries 
frustrate residents and delay solutions to cross-boundary issues such as housing delivery, 
transport planning, and economic development. 

 
1.14. Businesses struggle to identify the right council to engage with on economic development 

matters across the economic area, whilst residents face confusion about service 
responsibilities between different tiers of government. The artificial division of naturally 
connected communities like Sherford and other urban fringe areas undermines effective 
strategic planning and service delivery. Meanwhile, the duplication of corporate services 
across 11 separate councils represents a significant waste of public resources that could be 
redirected to front-line provision. 

 
Strategic Opportunity 

 
1.15. Plymouth has established itself as a successful unitary authority with a strong track record 

of financial management, innovation, and continued improvements in critical services such as 
social care. The city's strategic location, world-class assets including the waterfront and 
naval heritage, and growing knowledge economy position it as a natural focal point for the 
wider economic region. 

 
1.16. Expanding Plymouth represents a coherent economic geography with shared transport 

networks, housing markets, and employment patterns. Extending the unitary governance to 
encompass this natural area will unlock significant benefits for residents, businesses, and 
communities across both urban and rural settings. 

 
1.17. Expanding Exeter and Torbay will similarly allow better sub-regional coordination of 

transport infrastructure and the delivery of accelerated levels of housing and employment. 
Together with Plymouth, these three growth-orientated authorities will provide a strong 
urban voice within the Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority whilst the new Devon 
authority can focus resources on the distinct challenges of delivering quality services across 
dispersed rural communities. This differentiated approach, unified by collaborative working 
at the strategic level, represents genuine public service reform that places the needs of 
residents and communities at its centre providing a strong basis for the early preparation of 
the Spatial Development Strategy to achieve the government’s national growth ambitions. 

 
Our Local Government Reorganisation Principles 

 
1.18. Whilst we recognise that Government has set out its own criteria for local government 

reorganisation, and we support those; we have developed our own principles for local 
government reorganisation which reflect the unique position of Plymouth and the 
surrounding area. In the time we have had to discuss these proposals with key stakeholders, 
we have considered local government options against the following: 

Page 23



P a g e  | 9 
 

OFFICIAL 

  
1. Any boundary change will be appropriate for a continuing Plymouth unitary 

authority to be financially viable and of a population size that can deliver 
sustainable high-quality services to residents.  
  

2. Any boundary change will retain the character and identity of the existing 
neighbourhoods in Plymouth and the parishes of any extended area.  
  

3. Any boundary change will respect existing unitary county boundaries.  
  

4. Any boundary change will minimise organisational impacts on the Dartmoor 
National Park Authority.  
  

5. Any boundary change will be based on existing parish boundaries. 
  

6. Any boundary change will have regard to the requirements for future 
sustainable growth and reflect the opportunities that arise from Plymouth’s 
unique strategic role in the South West. 

  

Page 24



P a g e  | 10 
 

OFFICIAL 

The Current Situation in Plymouth 
 

2.1. Plymouth has been an incorporated council since 1439 and became a municipal borough in 
1836. In 1914, it absorbed the towns of Devonport and Stonehouse and was granted city 
status in 1928. In 1951, there was a northward extension to the city boundary to 
accommodate the rehousing the population devastated by massive enemy bombing during 
the Second World War. 

 
2.2. On 1 April 1967, the suburbs of Plymstock and Plympton were included within a revised 

boundary as part of planned growth to meet housing needs. It is 58 years since the 
boundary of the city has been changed to reflect the reality of growth on the ground. 

 
2.3. Continuation of the city's outdated boundaries would mean continued reliance on co-

operation and shared priorities with surrounding authorities. This would deliver inefficient 
government and sub-optimal strategic place-shaping leadership for Plymouth and the sub-
region. This is particularly concerning as district authorities will be absorbed into a model of 
larger unitary local government to be confirmed for the rest of Devon. In these 
circumstances, the understanding that existing neighbours have of the relationship between 
the city and sub-region, and the close working relationship this has fostered is likely to be 
undermined. 

 
2.4. Plymouth is an ambitious city with a lot to offer. We have a resident population of around 

270,000, making it the most significant urban area southwest of Bristol, with plans to grow 
to over 300,000 by 2034. The city has a radical and ambitious vision to be one of Europe's 
finest, most vibrant waterfront cities.  

 
2.5. Plymouth is one of the 22 authorities that make up the Key Cities Group and has been 

identified as one of the country’s key locations for meeting national housing needs through 
the provision of sustainable communities through, for example, the New Growth Points 
initiative. 

 
2.6. Plymouth has been identified as one of Homes England’s priority places “because of its 

visionary local leadership and unique geographic position. This offers an exceptional 
opportunity to make the most of existing Government defence investments, which will help 
transform the city's built environment and improve life opportunities for both the city and 
the wider region, all while directly supporting national defence in support of the 
Government’s agenda” (Letter dated 14 February 2025, Homes England Interim Chief 
Executive). The city and Homes England signed a Memorandum of Understanding in June 
2025 to commit building 10,000 homes in the city centre. 

 
2.7. The Council has developed a variety of long-term strategic investment frameworks with 

funders over the past decade and pioneered some nationally significant work with the Local 
Enterprise Partnerships, Arts Council England, the National Lottery, the National Freeports 
Team and Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), the 
National Trust and many others. We have taken a lead role in developing strong 
partnerships such as with Peninsula Transport, the sub-national transport body who we 
host, and in relation to bus provision the Plymouth Enhanced Bus Partnership with local 
operators. 

 

Page 25



P a g e  | 11 
 

OFFICIAL 

2.8. Plymouth’s economy is worth £7.3 billion and supports approx. 117,000 jobs and 120,000 
dwellings. Through proactive approaches to planning and regeneration the City has 
approved £2.7 billion of development in the last few years. Plymouth also has a nationally 
and regionally significant pipeline of growth, which has strong cross-party support, 
estimated at £9 billion. Additional investment of £700 million is being made into strategic 
and sustainable transport infrastructure to support planned growth, and the Bus Services 
Improvement Plan seeks to bring forward a further £311 million to meet the needs of a 
growing population.  

 
2.9. Plymouth has continued to attract Foreign Direct Investment (FDI). Over the last five years, 

£332 million worth of FDI came to Plymouth, securing 1,460 new jobs. The city is home to 
one of only 12 Freeports in the country and the only one in the South West. The Plymouth 
and South Devon Freeport has received £25m of Government funding, which will be 
matched with £31m of private investment and is forecasted to deliver over 3,500 jobs. the 
city launched the UK's first National Marine Park with a £11.6 million funding from the 
National Heritage Lottery Fund, aiming to actively engage 264,000 people, contribute 
£20.2m in Gross Value Added (GVA) and collaborate with 200 businesses  

 
2.10. Plymouth’s marine and defence economy is at the heart of its economic identity: 20,110 

jobs which is 18% of Plymouth’s total employment and providing 21% of Plymouth’s GVA. 
Plymouth is a global centre of excellence for marine science and technology and has 
recently been recognised in the Industrial Strategy as the National Centre for Marine 
Autonomy. This is underpinned by the fact that Plymouth is home to three universities and 
one-in-four knowledge jobs are in its universities. 

 
2.11. Plymouth is also home to the largest naval base in Western Europe, HMNB Devonport. 

The dockyard contributes 14% of Plymouth’s economic output and sustains about £511m 
local supply chain spend per annum across 400 businesses. HMNB Devonport is a crucial 
support base for the Continuous-At-Sea-Deterrent (CASD) and Plymouth has been named 
as one of the first five Defence Growth Deals in the recent Defence Industrial Strategy. 
Plymouth City Council, the Ministry of Defence and Babcock International have launched 
Team Plymouth – an ambitious partnership with a Ministerial Oversight Group, jointly 
chaired by MOD and MHCLG – to maximise the opportunity for defence investment to 
support CASD whilst driving sustainable and inclusive growth, innovation and opportunities 
for Plymouth and the region. This will support: 

  
• £4.4 billion of investment in defence with a confirmed programme of work that 

extends to 2070. 
• 5,500 new recruits needed over the next ten years to sustain Babcock’s current 

workforce and more than 2,000 construction jobs in addition. Current projections 
show that by 2035, Plymouth will have 25,000 more jobs than people in the 
workforce to fill them.. 

• Unprecedented long term demands for skills and housing. 
 
2.12. The city’s plans are in line with the aims set out in the Government’s “Plan for Change: 

Milestones for a Mission-Led Government” to:    
  

• Establish stronger foundations for national renewal.  
• Kickstart economic growth. 
• Building an NHS for the future. 

Page 26



P a g e  | 12 
 

OFFICIAL 

• Create safer streets. 
• Break down the barriers to opportunity. 
• Make Britain a clean energy superpower.  

  
2.13. Achieving these ambitions will require strong local leadership with vision and a relentless 

commitment to delivery. Plymouth offers exactly that however, success demands a city 
region approach which -  

  
• Unlocks Plymouth’s potential for transformational growth. 
• Raises prosperity across the sub region. 
• Addresses housing need, with a focus on affordable housing. 
• Develops comprehensive infrastructure to support our communities. 
• Responds and develops functional relationships between the city and surrounding 

settlements. 
• Maintains the cherished world class environment in which the city is set.  

 
How our modified proposal would meet the six White Paper Criteria 

 
2.14. Our proposal for the creation of four unitary councils in Devon based on the requested 

Ministerial modification provides for better overall outcomes, greater resilience, and 
provides strong support for devolution to drive growth through three urban-based councils 
and allowing the proposed Coast and Countryside Council to focus completely on the 
delivery of services to rural communities. Indeed, the previous Devon County Council 
Economic Strategy prioritised 28 towns and villages. Following the modification the new 
Coast and Countryside unitary council will be still have 20 of these towns within its new 
area to maintain overall resilience of service delivery. 

  

Page 27



P a g e  | 13 
 

OFFICIAL 

Why Plymouth Needs to Expand 
 
3.1. We are clear that we should only suggest boundary changes where we believe this will assist 

in delivering the vision for the city and sub-region more effectively. We believe that there is 
an exceptional case for a modest boundary extension based on just 13 existing parishes 
surrounding Plymouth. This would unlock further growth opportunities, respect local 
identity, and create a more coherent and efficient administrative structure. By basing the 
boundary change on Plymouth City Council being a continuing authority this will facilitate 
the delivery not only of the proposal for four unitary councils across Devon but also the 
foundations for the creation of a South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority.  

  
3.2. Any changes to the structure of local government in Devon will inevitably impact upon 

Plymouth. When radical change takes place in the rest of the county, new structures in 
Devon are unlikely to make sense without reconsidering of Plymouth’s boundaries. Not to 
do so would be a significantly regressive step and damaging to competitiveness of the city 
and its city-region, risk the delivery of the regional economic growth agenda for the South 
West and would not deliver the most effective strategic leadership, value for money or 
neighbourhood empowerment.  

 
3.3. The need for considering a boundary change for Plymouth as part of the wider local 

government reorganisation is borne out by the critical relationships between the city and the 
surrounding city-region. For example - 

  
• Plymouth’s economic performance can only sensibly be measured and 

planned for at a sub-regional level. Key sites for Plymouth’s prosperity, such as 
Langage Business and Energy Parks and part of the Freeport extend beyond the city’s 
current administrative area. A balanced strategy for economic growth is required 
throughout the sub-region to ensure that prosperity is shared, growth is sustainable and 
sensible spatial and infrastructure planning will help drive economic growth. To put 
Plymouth’s economy in perspective, it is 50% of the size of Cornwall’s economy and 
32% the size of Devon’s economy. 

 
• Plymouth’s housing needs cannot be met entirely from within the city’s 

current boundaries. This has been acknowledged for many years through the 
development of previous Structure Plans for Devon and Cornwall, and most recently in 
the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan which establishes a “Plymouth 
Policy Area” for the wider sub-region around the city. The Sherford new town and 
planned Woolwell and Plympton urban extensions (located in South Hams District 
Council) have been required primarily to meet housing needs in the city, but even with 
this development there remains significant unmet need in the sub-region. Sherford, 
Woolwell and the urban extension east of Plympton are physically attached to the city 
and there is more potential still to be delivered. Under the Government’s Standard 
Method, Plymouth has a housing target of 1,280 dwellings per annum (compared to 660 
dwellings per annum in the current adopted plan) and South Hams has a target of 922 
dwellings per annum.    

 
• Plymouth’s cultural offer is of significant importance to the entire sub-

region. 365 creative and cultural enterprises are located in Plymouth and the city hosts 
an array of regionally and nationally significant venues. For example, the Theatre Royal 

Page 28



P a g e  | 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

Plymouth is the largest and best attended regional producing theatre in the UK and the 
leading promoter of theatre in the South West, achieving annual audiences of over 
300,000 annually. The Box is now also a nationally significant museum and cultural 
centre and has attracted over 1 million visitors. The immersive 360-degree dome at 
Market Hall is the only one of its kind in Europe. 

 
• Plymouth is home to three universities, which cater for about 23,000 

students, many from the region. For example, 73% of Plymouth Marjon University’s 
undergraduate students originate from the South West region. With 2 Gold and 1 silver 
Teaching Excellence Framework ratings across all three universities, Plymouth’s 
academic sector provides a high quality and nationally recognised higher education 
teaching. Arts University Plymouth is not only the UK’s newest specialist arts university, 
but has also won the title of University of the Year for South West England. Plymouth 
Marjon University is ranked third in the UK for teaching quality and joins Arts 
University Plymouth with both institutions ranked exceptionally high within Student 
Satisfaction surveys. Finally, University of Plymouth consistently makes significant strides 
within marine studies research and has been ranked among the world’s top 100 
universities for sustainability. University of Plymouth is linked with Derriford Hospital, 
the largest specialist teaching hospital in the South West peninsula, and also offers 
exceptional clinical learning with world class research through its Peninsula Dental 
School. 

 
• Areas outside the city’s boundaries also look to Plymouth for a range of 

services such as education and health. Plymouth’s GP surgeries have just over 
300,000 registered patients, in comparison to Plymouth’s current population of about 
270,000. Approximately 1,000 children commute for secondary education both to and 
from Plymouth with a significant number of young people also travelling to further 
education opportunities. Aligning administrative boundaries with these actual service 
delivery patterns would enable more coherent commissioning and planning of public 
services, improve coordination between health, education and social care, and create 
clearer accountability for outcomes across the functional area that residents already rely 
upon for essential services. 

 
• The sustainability of growth in Plymouth is dependent to a large degree on 

infrastructure outside of the current administrative area. This is in part a 
consequence of the tightness of the city’s current boundaries, but also the strong 
pattern of commuting to the city from surrounding settlements.  

 
3.4. Since 2016 the Council has secured over £450 million in external grants to support the 

delivery of net zero infrastructure and other decarbonisation projects. This has resulted in 
total investment of over £662 million. Plymouth City Council was identified as one of the 
six pilots for the district heating Advanced Zoning Pilot which has huge potential to be 
expanded to areas outside the city. 

 
3.5. Plymouth plays a fundamental role in our country’s defence, made even more significant 

considering the announcements by the Prime Minister on 25 February 2025 in relation to 
the strategic need to increase overall defence spending in the face of global threats and 
uncertainties. HMNB Devonport provides a crucial support base for both the surface fleet 
and submarines. It is the only place with the capacity and capability for the comprehensive 
maintenance for Continuous at Sea Nuclear Deterrent. The Ministry of Defence’s 

Page 29



P a g e  | 15 
 

OFFICIAL 

investment of £4.4 billion in HMNB Devonport will kickstart a confirmed programme of 
work that extends to 2070 and which is of unique national importance, as demonstrated in 
Government’s Defence Industrial Strategy. 

 
3.6.  However, with structural challenges around city productivity, 21.7% of the working age 

population being economically inactive, and being in the top 20% of deprived wards, the 
city is dragging an anchor of legacy issues. Team Plymouth – a partnership between the 
Ministry of Defence, Babcock International and Plymouth City Council – will address these 
skills and capacity gaps and deliver economic growth with a focus on regeneration, business 
innovation and technology, building on the announcement of Plymouth as one of the first 
five Defence Growth Deals.  

  
3.7. Figure 7.1 is evidence of the strong functional relationship between Plymouth and much of 

its hinterland in terms of employment and commuting. 
  
Figure 7.1. 
 

 
 

3.8. Effective local democracy in England works best when council boundaries match how 
people actually live their lives. People need to access their homes, workplaces, and the 
community and family networks they depend on, all within one clear democratic area. 

 
3.9. There is a strong case for changing Plymouth's boundaries because of how the city has 

grown and how services are delivered. 
 

3.10. Significant existing and planned developments already sit directly on Plymouth's boundaries 
(see Figure 7.2). The "Plymouth Policy Area" is a planning concept in the Plymouth and 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan (2014 to 2034), adopted in March 2019. This plan 
allows for the city's growth, but the new development sits within South Hams District 
Council's administrative area. 

 

Page 30



P a g e  | 16 
 

OFFICIAL 

3.11. Running services for these areas from a different authority is inefficient. It means 
governance and accountability are tied to a more distant centre. Any solution for local 
government in Devon that does not fix these problems will deliver poor value for money 
and weaker neighbourhood empowerment. 

  
Figure 7.2 

 
  

3.12. Plymouth has a long track record of planning on a sub-regional basis for transport. This is 
best exemplified by the “Plymouth Metro” concept shown in Figure 7.3. The “Plymouth 
Metro” provides a strategic opportunity to grow Plymouth’s travel to work area using rail 
stations and rail services and has the support of Network Rail and the Train Operating 
Company Great Western Railway.  

 
3.13. “Plymouth Metro” will ensure that investment in rail supports delivery of growth for 

Plymouth, maximising benefits from the investment in Devonport Dockyard and creating 
sustainable transport options for the location of new housing developments. It will kick 
start growth, tackle deprivation, reduce costly congestion and reduce carbon emissions 
from transport. It will deliver a package of measures that will create high quality, frequent 
rail services in and around Plymouth, south east Cornwall, and South West Devon. It will 
transform productivity of the city region, creating an attractive, wider travel to work area 
for a growing city region. Work is already underway with Network Rail leading a strategic 
study investigating what infrastructure improvements are needed to accommodate greater 
train frequencies, alongside timetable and economic analysis and an assessment of current 
station facilities. 

Page 31



P a g e  | 17 
 

OFFICIAL 

 Figure 7.3

 
 

3.14. Finally, expanding Plymouth’s boundaries will support the resilience, viability and 
sustainability of the City Council and deliver significant efficiency savings through economies 
of scale.  

 
3.15. At the core of our strategic vision lies an extraordinary opportunity underpinned by an 

unprecedented national investment in defence. This represents a pivotal “Why now 
moment?” for Plymouth and its surrounding area, and a “once in a generation” opportunity 
to reshape our local economic landscape.  

 
3.16. Plymouth, based on an expanded city boundary, can offer: 

  
• Ambition  

 
o We have a long-standing commitment to deliver growth through our adopted local 

plans and building upon our national specialisms in defence, advanced manufacturing 
and have the UK’s highest proportion of marine jobs. 

  
• A Track Record of Delivery  

 
o Having retained our planning, place-making and regeneration capacity, we have 

committed £300 million capital over the last ten years to regeneration, levering in 
over £600 million of investment. We created a £200 million Property Regeneration 
Fund, delivered 11 direct developments and pioneered creative approaches to 

Page 32



P a g e  | 18 
 

OFFICIAL 

models of delivery. This includes innovative programmes such as our Market 
Recovery Scheme, Get Plymouth Building programme and our award-winning Plan 
for Homes initiative, as well as forward funding, land assembly and estate renewal. 
 

o Recently completed investments in Plymouth include the Derriford District Centre, 
Crownhill Court, Plymouth International Medical and Technology Park, Oceansgate, 
ABP port investment and Tinside Lido refurbishment. 

 
o We have an ambitious pipeline of ongoing and future investments, including HMNB 

Devonport, University Hospital Derriford New Hospital programme, Brickfields 
sport facilities, Mount Batten, ABP shore power, Community Diagnostic Centre and 
a transformative £50m public realm regeneration project across the city centre. 

 
o We not only excel in direct delivery but also have a successful track record of 

delivering government funds as Accountable Body. We were one of the first 
Freeports in the country to draw down all our allocation of seed funding and we 
received our full final year allocation of UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) due to 
our successful delivery of previous years. 

  
• A Pipeline of Growth  

 
o Our commitment to growth comprises 30,000 sqm of commercial space, 8,000 jobs 

and the creation of over 1,000 new businesses.  
 

o We are delivering 10,000 new homes in and around the city centre as part of a 
programme of £9 billion of public and private investment, creating 7,000 jobs linked 
to our regeneration programme.  

 
o We are also developing a delivery strategy to meet the housing target for Plymouth 

and the expanded area, estimated to be in the range of 1,876 to 2,909 homes per 
annum.  

 
  

Page 33



P a g e  | 19 
 

OFFICIAL 

Why Devon Needs Fundamental Reform 
 

4.1. Whilst this submission focuses on Plymouth's proposal for expansion into South Hams, we 
recognise that the case for local government reform applies across all of Devon. Plymouth's 
proposal sits within a four-unitary model because we believe this is the only configuration 
that serves all parts of Devon effectively. Understanding the challenges facing Exeter, 
Torbay, and rural Devon is essential to demonstrating why four unitaries is the right answer 
for the county. 

 
Why the Two-Tier System Fails Across Devon 

 
4.2. The current two-tier system creates problems that extend far beyond Plymouth's boundary 

constraints. Fragmented strategic planning is perhaps the most visible failure. Housing, 
transport, and economic development decisions are split between multiple tiers and 
multiple authorities, making coherent delivery almost impossible. The difficulties 
experienced with the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan provide a stark illustration. Despite 
genuine commitment from all parties to work together, the existing dynamics of local 
government ultimately frustrated the very collaboration it needed. When well-intentioned 
councils find it structurally impossible to plan together effectively, the system itself is the 
problem. 

 
4.3. The duplication inherent in two-tier governance wastes money at precisely the time when 

all councils face severe budget pressures. multiple sets of elected members, multiple 
management teams, multiple corporate functions, and multiple separate back-office 
operations exist for services that could and should be integrated. Residents pay for this 
duplication through their council tax whilst receiving a more complicated, less responsive 
service. The confusion about which council is responsible for what service weakens 
democratic accountability. When residents do not know whether to contact the county or 
the district about a problem, civic engagement suffers and councils become more remote 
from the communities they serve. 

 
4.4. Perhaps most critically, the two-tier system prevents Devon from addressing its strategic 

priorities effectively. Major challenges including housing delivery, climate resilience, health 
and social care integration, and inclusive economic growth all require joined-up approaches 
that bring together services currently split between county and district. Devon cannot 
afford to continue with a structure that makes strategic thinking difficult and integrated 
delivery nearly impossible. 

 
The Challenge Facing Exeter 

 
4.5. Exeter faces a particular set of challenges that the current system cannot address. The city 

is growing rapidly, with population growth of 5.9% compared to the national average of 
3.8%. This growth is driven by Exeter's success as a knowledge economy hub, home to a 
world-class university, the Met Office, and thriving digital and professional services sectors. 
Yet the city is constrained by a boundary defined decades ago that bears no relation to how 
modern Exeter actually functions. 

 
4.6. The reality of Exeter extends far beyond its administrative boundary. Some 37,000 people 

commute into the city daily for work. The Exeter Housing Market Area closely matches the 
local economic market area, and both align with what has become the second-largest travel-

Page 34



P a g e  | 20 
 

OFFICIAL 

to-work area in England after Cambridge. Current development strategies already recognise 
this functional reality. The Exeter Plan includes 14,000 new homes within the city boundary 
by 2041, whilst Teignbridge and East Devon have designated areas on the city's outskirts for 
30,500 more homes. These neighbouring developments functionally extend the city. Many 
residents living in these new homes will consider Exeter their home, work in the city, use 
its services, and identify with it. Yet governance remains fragmented across multiple 
authorities, none of which can plan coherently across the area that actually matters. 

 
4.7. This fragmentation has real consequences for housing delivery and strategic planning. Exeter 

needs the ability to coordinate planning, transport, and infrastructure across its functional 
economic area. It needs to be able to invest in the capacity and connectivity that will 
support continued growth. The city cannot do this effectively when critical decisions are 
split between Exeter City Council, East Devon District Council, Teignbridge District 
Council, Mid Devon District Council, and Devon County Council. Exeter needs unitary 
status with modest boundary extensions to align governance with economic and social 
reality. Anything less condemns Devon's capital to governance structures that actively 
hinder its ability to deliver the growth the county needs. 

 
The Success Story in Torbay 

 
4.8. Torbay provides important evidence that unitary authorities of this scale can deliver 

excellent services when they serve coherent communities with distinct identities. Torbay 
has operated successfully as a unitary authority for over two decades, demonstrating that 
populations of approximately 140,000 can support effective governance. The authority's 
compact geography of just 63 km² and distinct identity as the English Riviera create a clear 
sense of place that residents recognise and value. 

 
4.9. Torbay faces distinct challenges that require tailored responses. With 28% of its population 

aged 65 or over, the authority has an ageing demographic that creates sustained demand for 
adult social care and health services. The area experiences high deprivation levels in some 
coastal wards whilst simultaneously managing a tourism sector that supports 8,000 jobs. 
Balancing regeneration investment with service provision for vulnerable populations 
requires careful judgement and local knowledge. Torbay has demonstrated innovative 
approaches to health and social care integration, building strong partnerships between the 
council, NHS, and voluntary sector to deliver services that work for its communities. The 
authority's strong balance sheet and history of transformation show that smaller unitary 
authorities can be financially robust and operationally effective. 

 
4.10. Torbay's continuing success validates the principle that unitary authorities should serve 

communities with genuine shared identity rather than being sized according to arbitrary 
population thresholds. The authority should continue as a unitary within the four-authority 
framework, maintaining its proven model whilst benefiting from enhanced collaboration 
through the Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority. 

 
The Distinct Challenge of Rural and Coastal Devon 

 
4.11. Devon's rural and coastal areas face fundamentally different challenges than the urban 

centres of Plymouth, Exeter, and Torbay. With a population density of just 124 people per 
square kilometre compared to Plymouth's 3,311, these areas require service delivery 
models designed explicitly for geographic dispersion rather than urban concentration. Every 

Page 35



P a g e  | 21 
 

OFFICIAL 

service becomes inherently more expensive to deliver when populations are scattered 
across vast distances rather than concentrated in towns and cities. 

 
4.12. The two-tier system creates particular problems in rural areas. Market towns like 

Barnstaple, Tiverton, and Tavistock serve as centres for surrounding villages and dispersed 
communities, yet current governance fragments service delivery and prevents integrated 
place-based planning. Adult social care services must be delivered across enormous 
distances to an older demographic, with over 25% of residents aged 65 or over in many 
rural areas. The road network stretches to 24,556 kilometres, requiring constant 
maintenance across challenging terrain. Environmental services, waste collection, planning, 
and economic development all cost more per head in rural areas, yet the two-tier system 
adds an extra layer of complexity and expense rather than enabling strategic commissioning 
at the right scale. 

 
4.13. Rural Devon also has a distinct economic base built around agriculture, food production, 

rural tourism, and small businesses. Market towns have different needs than cities. Villages 
and dispersed communities require different approaches to service delivery than suburban 
areas. The workforce patterns, skills needs, and economic development priorities in rural 
areas bear little resemblance to those in urban Plymouth or Exeter. These communities 
deserve governance that understands and responds to their specific circumstances rather 
than imposing urban models or treating them as an afterthought. 

 
4.14. A purpose-designed Devon Coast and Countryside authority would enable locality-based 

delivery through market town hubs, strong partnerships with parish councils, and 
commissioning strategies that work with small and medium-sized local providers who 
understand rural communities. This authority could focus investment on the right priorities 
for dispersed populations, including rural transport, preventing costly residential care 
placements through community-based support, supporting market towns, and maintaining 
the landscape and environment that defines rural Devon. These priorities would be lost in a 
larger authority dominated by urban populations with different needs. 

 
Why Four Unitaries Is the Right Answer 

 
4.15. Having considered the distinct challenges facing different parts of Devon, Plymouth has 

concluded that four unitary authorities is the only model that delivers effectively for all 
areas. Four unitaries recognises that Plymouth, Exeter, Torbay, and rural Devon have 
fundamentally different service needs, economic drivers, and demographic profiles that 
require tailored governance rather than one-size-fits-all approaches. The model aligns with 
functional economic areas and travel-to-work patterns, enabling coherent strategic planning 
rather than the current fragmentation. It builds on the proven success of Plymouth and 
Torbay as existing unitary authorities, extending these benefits to Exeter whilst creating a 
purpose-designed authority for rural and coastal communities. 

 
4.16. Alternative models fail Devon in predictable ways. A single mega-council of 1.2 million 

people across 2,560 square kilometres would be too remote and would fail to recognise 
that urban Plymouth's needs differ fundamentally from Exeter's rapid growth challenges, 
Torbay's coastal character, and rural Devon's dispersed geography. Democratic 
accountability would weaken and the council would fail to have the managerial and political 
grip to focus on service delivery and to drive growth. Two unitaries, keeping Plymouth and 
Torbay whilst creating a vast "New Devon" authority, would submerge Exeter within an 

Page 36



P a g e  | 22 
 

OFFICIAL 

authority where the capital city becomes a minority voice. This would be a democratic 
failure and would hinder Exeter's growth potential that benefits all of Devon. Three-unitary 
options either repeat the mistake of submerging Exeter or create incoherent groupings 
such as combining dense urban areas with dispersed rural communities that have nothing in 
common. 

 
4.17. Four unitaries with modest boundary modifications enables each authority to focus on its 

distinct priorities whilst collaborating through the Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority on 
regional issues. Plymouth can serve its growth area effectively. Exeter gains the governance 
structure it needs to manage rapid growth. Torbay continues its proven model. Devon 
Coast and Countryside provides purpose-designed rural governance. Each authority is large 
enough to deliver complex statutory services, withstand financial shocks, and achieve 
economies of scale, yet small enough to maintain genuine accountability to local 
communities. This is Plymouth's answer to Devon's local government challenge because it is 
the only model that works for all parts of the county. 

  

Page 37



P a g e  | 23 
 

OFFICIAL 

Plymouth City Council’s Base Proposal for Local Government in 
Devon 
 

5.1. It is a requirement under the 2007 Act to base a proposal on whole district building blocks. 
This section sets out our base case in response to the Secretary of State’s invitation issued 
on 05 February 2025 (and taking account of the feedback on the Plymouth’s Interim Plan set 
out in the letter of 15 May 2025). 

 
5.2. Our base case for local government reorganisation in Devon is as follows: 

 
• Plymouth City Council as a continuing unitary authority with a population of 

approximately 270,000 based on its existing unitary council boundary. 
• Exeter City Council as a new unitary authority with a population of approximately 

135,000 based on its existing administrative boundary. 
• Torbay Council as a continuing unitary authority with a population of approximately 

139,000 based on its existing unitary council boundary. 
• Devon as a new unitary council with a population of approximately 697,000 based 

on its existing county boundary, excluding the City of Exeter. 
 

How Plymouth’s Base Proposal Meets the Government’s Criteria 
 

5.3. This option represents the current local government structure, serving as a legally 
compliant baseline for comparison. However, the analysis demonstrates it is a fundamentally 
suboptimal arrangement, characterised by a profound imbalance between a single, dominant 
rural authority (Devon) and three geographically constrained urban unitary authorities 
(Plymouth, Torbay, and Exeter). This structure perpetuates existing constraints on growth 
and creates an imbalanced partnership for devolution purposes.  

 
  

Page 38



P a g e  | 24 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 2.1 
 

 
 

 
Plymouth 

 
National Parks 

 
Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Exeter 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Devon ------ 

Existing Boundaries 

 
Base Case Assessment 
 
 Table 2.1 
Government 
Criteria 

Assessment Rationale 

1. Single tier of local 
government 

Met • Creates 4 unitary councils using the existing 
principal authorities as building blocks.  

• Meets the government invitation to set out a 
base case on whole districts. 

• Removes the existing two-tier county and 
districts currently in Devon. 

 
2. Right size and 
financial resilience 

Not Met • Creates authorities of uneven population size 
and financial resilience.  

• Risk pooling is unevenly spread across the 
region. 

3. High-quality, 
sustainable services 

Partially Met • Maintains service continuity, but uneven 
population sizes may make collaboration more 
variable  

• Does not maximise opportunities for growth in 
Plymouth. 

Page 39



P a g e  | 25 
 

OFFICIAL 

4. Local collaboration 
and responsiveness 

Partially Met • Provides for recognised and legally coherent 
administrative boundaries but does not respond 
to concerns and issues raised during the Big 
Conversation engagement  

• Would require transitional arrangements and 
would also require a more formal mechanism 
than a modified proposal. 

• Is not supported by current local authorities. 
5. Support for 
devolution 

Partially Met • Creates a group of constituent authorities across 
Devon to link into a Peninsula Mayoral Strategic 
Authority (to which Cornwall Council could be 
added). 

• In the absence of Ministerial modifications for 
Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay, this would place 
heavy reliance on the Spatial Development 
Strategy bringing forward deliverable and 
supported growth options. 

• Potential perceived imbalance at the Mayoral 
Strategic Authority due to variations in unitary 
council size. 

6. Community 
engagement 

Met • Maintains a foundation of existing governance 
and neighbourhood engagement arrangements in 
each of the unitary authorities. 

 
Plymouth Principles 
 
1. Financial viability 
and population 

Not Met • The constrained population base does not 
deliver a sufficient tax base to improve overall 
financial viability and ensure long-term 
sustainability. 

2. Character and 
identity 

Met • The Base Case preserves Plymouth's distinct, 
compact urban character, which is reflected in 
high population density. 

3. Respect for 
boundaries 

Met • This option respects the boundaries of existing 
unitary authorities. 

4. Dartmoor National 
Park 

Met • The city's existing boundaries do not impinge 
upon Dartmoor National Park or create 
governance complexities for the Park Authority. 

5. Parish boundaries Met • This option proposes no changes and therefore 
does not alter any existing parish boundaries. 
 

6. Sustainable growth 
and strategic role 

Not Met • The geographic constraint of 79.9 square 
kilometres prevents strategic growth 
opportunities, inhibiting Plymouth's capacity to 
fulfil its strategic regional role. 
 

  

Page 40



P a g e  | 26 
 

OFFICIAL 

Plymouth City Council’s Modified Proposal for Local 
Government in Devon 
 

6.1. We request a Ministerial modification to our base case proposal because this will deliver 
longer-term benefits in proactively working with the Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority 
to drive growth. Our proposal, which reflects our vision for local government, is for there 
to be 4 unitary councils covering the Devon area as follows: 

  
• An expanded Plymouth Council – comprising the unitary council of Plymouth City 

Council as a continuing authority with a population of approximately 270,000 with a 
ministerial modification to include 13 parishes all within the current district of South 
Hams District Council of resulting in a population of approximately 300,000.  

  
• An expanded Exeter Council – comprising a new unitary council based on the current 

Exeter City Council boundary with population of approximately 135,000 with a 
Ministerial modification to extend this with 15 parishes from within Teignbridge District 
Council, 28 parishes from within East Devon District Council and 6 parishes from within 
Mid-Devon District Council resulting in a population of approximately 260,000.  
 

• An expanded Torbay Council – comprising the unitary council of Torbay as a continuing 
authority on its existing boundaries with a population of approximately 139,000 with a 
modification comprising of 23 parishes from within Teignbridge District Council and 
South Hams District Council resulting in a population of 220,000. 

  
• A Devon Coast and Countryside Council – comprising a new unitary council covering 

the rest of the former Devon County Council area resulting in a population of approx. 
460,000. 

 
6.2. The proposal for 4 unitary councils to replace the existing county council and 8 district 

councils is shown on the map below: 
 
  

Page 41



P a g e  | 27 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 3.1 

 
 

 
Expanded 
Plymouth  

National Parks 

 
Expanded Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Expanded Exeter 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Devon Coast and 
Countryside ------ 

Existing District Boundaries 

 
The Case for an expanded Plymouth Authority 

 
6.3. Plymouth and the surrounding parishes share many challenges and opportunities which have 

been understood and developed through collaborative strategic planning, demonstrated 
through the successful Joint Local Plan which demonstrates existing, effective partnership 
working across Plymouth and the communities of the South Hams.  

 
6.4. The future council will maintain Plymouth's commitment to protecting the most vulnerable 

whilst ensuring consistent quality standards for all residents and businesses. Building on our 
mission to make Plymouth a fairer, greener city where everyone does their bit, the 
expanded authority will help realise our shared ambition for a city region that tackles 
inequality, drives prosperity and growth, maintains safety and attractiveness, promotes 
health and wellbeing, supports independence for older residents, and creates opportunities 
for children, young people, and families to thrive.  

 
6.5. We want the expanded Plymouth Authority to be a place where everyone has a great start 

to life, people live healthy and fulfilling lives, are enabled to achieve their full potential and 
contribute to their community, with an ambition that no one is left behind. 

 
6.6. This means that for the residents in the expanded Plymouth area - 

  

Page 42



P a g e  | 28 
 

OFFICIAL 

• Children and young people are safe and feel safe and confident. 
• Everyone benefits from education, skills and employment opportunities that help 

them succeed in life. 
• Everyone lives healthy, active, and fulfilling lives, and makes good choices about their 

wellbeing. 
• Everyone gets the health and social care support and information they need at the 

right time and place. 
• Communities are welcoming and supportive, especially of those most in need, and 

people feel able to contribute to community life. 
  
6.7. Our ambitions for our place are that: 

  
• Plymouth is at the heart of the national defence, marine autonomy and wider growth 

ambitions for the South West region delivering long-term opportunities for young 
people. 

• Rural heritage is recognised and cherished. 
• Residents live in clean, safe, and green communities, where people and organisations 

embrace their environmental responsibilities. 
• Journeys across the area are easier, more predictable, and safer. 
• Everyone has a place they can call home, with appropriate housing for all. 
• Businesses in the area start up, thrive, and grow. 
• Well-connected communities, with effective infrastructure, grow sustainably. 
• The unique character and identity of both urban Plymouth and rural parishes is 

maintained and celebrated. 
 

6.8. Unitary local government provides a stronger foundation for delivering on these ambitions. 
It will enable us to bring the functions currently divided between different authorities 
together. We will transform how we work and use of convening power with other public 
services, enabling us to focus more effectively on the delivery of our shared ambitions. 

  

Page 43



P a g e  | 29 
 

OFFICIAL 

How Four-Unitary Model Delivers 
 

7.1. We have a vision to see a pattern of local government in Devon which: 
  

• Delivers genuine high-quality and effective strategic leadership of place, recognising the 
role of urban settlements as regional centres and economic hubs. 

  
• Delivers accessible, efficient, effective, and responsive services to people that seeks to 

tackle inequalities and deprivation. 
  

• Delivers a system of local governance that acknowledges the relationship and 
interdependencies between city and surrounding towns and villages and ensures that this 
governance still remains genuinely local to where people live. 

  
• Delivers high quality services that addresses the specific needs of individual 

neighbourhoods and parishes, empowering local people and their representatives to 
inform the design and delivery of services and the setting of policies and priorities. 
  

 
The future of the Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority 

 
7.2. As set out in our joint letter of July 2025 from the Leaders of Plymouth City Council, 

Torbay Council, Devon County Council, and district councils across Devon we propose 
that the Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority should be retired and replaced by 
a new South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority (MSA). This MSA would 
encompass Plymouth City Council, Torbay Council, and the successor unitary authorities in 
Devon following local government reorganisation.  

 
7.3. The proposed four unitary councils, including the expanded Torbay unitary council and the 

new Coast and Countryside unitary council, will continue to exist and deliver local services, 
preserving their sovereignty, culture and identity. The MSA would provide strategic 
governance for the region of 1.2 million people and £25 billion economy, enabling us to 
maximise our exceptional environmental assets, coordinate our £2 billion tourism 
economy, address housing pressures, create integrated transport networks, and support 
critical national infrastructure at Devonport dockyard. 

 
7.4. The functions currently held by the Combined County Authority would transition to the 

new MSA, ensuring continuity of strategic coordination while enabling the enhanced 
devolution powers and funding associated with a mayoral model. As stated in our July 2025 
joint letter, we believe the Combined County Authority should be retired in advance of the 
new MSA being established. This approach ensures that local government reorganisation 
and devolution proceed in a coordinated manner that maximises the potential of our 
combined region. 

 
Why Plymouth City Council would be a “Continuing Authority” 

 
7.5. Plymouth is 28th most populous authority out of 255 unitary authorities based on mid-year 

2024 population data. Continuing on its existing geographical unitary footprint, Plymouth 
City Council would meet the government’s 6 criteria set out in its legal invitation, being 

Page 44



P a g e  | 30 
 

OFFICIAL 

unitary in nature, able to continue to deliver efficiencies in operation, able to continue to 
innovate and deliver high quality public services, continue partnership working, support 
devolution and enable future neighbourhood working.  

 
7.6. As the proposal from the City Council is to remain on its existing unitary boundary this 

meets the “starting point” requirement of government set out in a letter dated 21 August 
2025 from the Co-Deputy Director for Local Government Reorganisation to the Chief 
Executive of Plymouth City Council that it would be, by definition, a “continuing authority”. 

 
7.7. Plymouth City Council's preferred approach is for the Secretary of State to modify its local 

government reorganisation proposal. Under this modification, Plymouth would remain on 
its existing unitary boundary and include 13 parishes currently within South Hams District 
Council's area. This expanded Plymouth area would be a "continuing authority" for the 
following reasons - 

 
• The extended authority area would represent a modest increase of around 10% in the 

population served by the authority and therefore be a moderate change. 
• As a Continuing Authority, the implementation costs would be around £5 million. As a 

new authority, this could rise to c. £7.5m because of the impact of potential redundancy 
costs, ‘parallel running’ costs for a shadow authority, and additional programme 
management costs. 

• As a minimal numbers of staff would need to be transferred from Devon County Council 
and South Hams District Council who currently provide services to local people in the 
extended area, there would be no need for wide-ranging TUPE arrangements to be put 
in place covering all staff currently within Plymouth City Council, again maximising 
continuity of service delivery and minimising disruption arising from the local 
government reorganisation process for local people and businesses.  

• Continuity of service provision in the areas of SEND, children’s social care, adult social 
care, planning, waste, homelessness would be achieved by adding the relatively small 
number of additional service users in the extended area to the City Council’s existing 
operational delivery arrangements. 

• Existing contractual arrangements within the extended area would be novated to the 
City Council, thus minimising disruption, and cost. 

• There would be no need for complex land transfer arrangements to be put in place 
which would be required if any new authority was created. 

• This would allow a faster mobilisation in relation to the preparation of new-style Local 
Plans and a Sustainable Development Strategy for the wider devolution area of Devon 
envisaged under the Planning and Infrastructure Bill currently before Parliament, thereby 
allowing the government's wider growth and accelerated housing missions to be 
achieved.  

• This would provide a firmer foundation to drive forward the government’s Defence 
Industrial Strategy objectives arising from the identification of Plymouth as the UK's 
national centre for marine autonomy, ensuring no disruption to the emerging Defence 
Growth Deal. 

  

Page 45



P a g e  | 31 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Why Boundary Modifications Are Essential 
 

8.1. As a city, and as a council, Plymouth has a track record of innovation, collaboration and 
focus on delivery through a wide variety of programmes and projects it has delivered over 
the years. In order to fulfil its long-term potential and to enable the Government to meet 
its growth objectives it now needs to operate on a more sub-regional footprint, one that 
reflects the true nature of place and enables planning, investment, and infrastructure 
decisions to be made consistently across a wider area.  

 
8.2. We are a successful, award-winning unitary authority but our ability to deliver a step change 

in jobs and housing and provide the strategic leadership needed to make this happen is 
significantly constrained by our outdated and tightly drawn boundary that excludes key 
functional areas of the city.  

 
8.3. Based on the 2022 Office of National Statistics (ONS) population projections, a Plymouth 

Council of approx. 300,000 on vesting day would increase to approximately 325,000 by 
2050. An authority encompassing this extended area would achieve greater financial 
sustainability, deliver high-quality services to residents already connected to the city 
through employment, and accommodate future growth.  

 
The Strategic Role of Medium-Sized Cities in National Economic Growth  

 
8.4. City size alone does not guarantee economic success. Many of the UK's largest cities 

outside London have underperformed economically demonstrating that prosperity stems 
from factors such as leveraging local assets, creating strategic connections, and developing 
approaches tailored to unique strengths. 

 
8.5. A recent report by Inner Circle (September 2025) entitled “A Case for Cities in Local 

Government Reorganisation and English Local Government” advocates for a multi-hub 
approach to growth by focussing on a connected network of high-performing cities on 
expanded boundaries more capable of driving delivery and shaping strategy from the ground 
up. 

 
Strategic Importance Through Specialisation 

  
8.6. Medium-sized cities can create distinctive economic advantages that larger urban centres 

cannot easily replicate. This is exemplified by specialised assets like Devonport dockyard, a 
crucial national defence installation that demonstrates how focused development around 
core competencies can elevate a city's importance far beyond that which its population size 
might suggest. The recent designation of Plymouth as the National Centre for Marine 
Autonomy equally demonstrates this. 

 
8.7. Such strategic assets serve dual purposes, anchoring regional economic systems while 

simultaneously fulfilling critical national priorities. This dual role makes them particularly 
valuable in balanced regional development strategies. 

 
Administrative Boundaries and Economic Reality 

Page 46



P a g e  | 32 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
8.8. Current administrative structures often fundamentally misalign with functional economic 

areas, creating significant inefficiencies in governance and service delivery. Boundary 
extensions represent a strategic approach to addressing these challenges, offering more 
coherent frameworks for spatial planning, infrastructure coordination, and public service 
delivery. 

 
8.9. This approach aligns with progressive thinking in urban development, which emphasises 

understanding cities as interconnected systems rather than isolated entities. Effective 
governance and economic growth depend on aligning administrative structures with the 
actual economic and social relationships that define a region or sub-region. 

 
A Model for Regional Development 

 
8.10. Strategic boundary realignment delivers - 

  
• Strategic decisions about new housing and employment over a wider geographical area, 

delivering more sustainable larger-scale solutions to drive the ambitious growth agenda 
for the city. 

• The ability to protect and enhance nationally important landscapes while delivering 
growth. 

• Enhanced support for key economic sectors. 
• More strategic investment attraction. 
• Responsive, integrated public services. 
• Improved regional connectivity and transportation planning. 
• Overcoming barriers to growth caused by different policy environments. 

  
8.11. Medium-sized cities with specialised assets offer a compelling model. Strategic boundary 

changes are not about expansion for expansion's sake, but about creating more effective, 
responsive, financially sustainable, and economically vibrant urban systems that better serve 
communities and drive regional prosperity. 

Page 47



P a g e  | 33 
 

OFFICIAL 

Creating The Right Solution for All Devon 
 

9.1. Plymouth's boundary extension delivers benefits for the city and surrounding communities, 
but it forms part of a wider solution that must work for all of Devon.  

 
Why Exeter Needs Unitary Status 

 
9.2. Exeter faces challenges that parallel Plymouth's in important ways yet reflect the city's 

distinct character and circumstances. As Devon's fastest-growing urban area, Exeter is 
constrained by a boundary that no longer reflects the city's functional reality. The numbers 
tell a compelling story. Population growth of 5.9% compared to the national average of 3.8% 
demonstrates Exeter's success as an economic centre, but this growth creates pressures 
that current governance structures cannot address effectively. With 37,000 people 
commuting into Exeter daily, the city's economic footprint extends far beyond its 
administrative boundary. The Exeter travel-to-work area has become the second largest in 
England after Cambridge, yet governance remains fragmented across Exeter City Council 
and three surrounding district councils. 

 
9.3. The housing challenges facing Exeter provide perhaps the clearest illustration of why the 

city needs unitary status with boundary extensions. The Exeter Plan proposes 14,000 new 
homes within the city boundary by 2041, but Teignbridge and East Devon have designated 
areas on Exeter's outskirts for a further 30,500 homes. These are not separate 
developments - they are functional extensions of Exeter where residents will work in the 
city, use its services, and consider it their home. Yet planning these developments requires 
coordination between multiple authorities with different priorities, timescales, and 
democratic mandates. The difficulties experienced with the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan 
demonstrate that even well-intentioned collaboration cannot overcome the structural 
barriers inherent in two-tier governance. 

 
9.4. Exeter needs the ability to plan strategically across its functional economic area, 

coordinating housing, transport, and infrastructure investment coherently. The city needs to 
be able to invest in the capacity and connectivity that support continued growth as a 
knowledge economy hub. As home to a world-class university, the Met Office, and thriving 
digital and professional services sectors, Exeter has strengths that benefit all of Devon. 
However, realising this potential requires governance structures that match the city's 
ambitions. Creating Greater Exeter Council with modest boundary extensions would 
enable strategic planning across the area that matters, accelerating housing delivery and 
supporting the economic growth that Devon needs. This is why Plymouth's four-unitary 
proposal includes an expanded Exeter authority - because Devon needs its capital city to 
succeed. 

 
Why Torbay Should Expand its Unitary Authority 

 
9.5. Torbay provides crucial evidence for Plymouth's wider argument about local government 

reorganisation in Devon. The current authority has operated successfully as a unitary 
council for over two decades, demonstrating that smaller authorities can be effective, but its 
potential is constrained by its current size. Expanding the unitary area would allow an 
authority serving coherent communities with a broader shared economic and geographical 
identity to deliver even more efficient and robust services. Torbay's compact geography of 
just 63 square kilometres and its small population of approximately 140,000 creates 

Page 48



P a g e  | 34 
 

OFFICIAL 

challenges of scale when delivering major infrastructure projects and complex strategic 
services. Expansion into neighbouring areas with strong functional ties would unlock 
significant administrative and financial efficiencies. 

 
9.6. Torbay faces distinct challenges that require governance at a larger, more resilient scale. An 

ageing demographic with 28% of residents over 65 creates sustained demand for adult social 
care and health services, which would benefit from a larger pooled resource base achieved 
through expansion. The tourism sector, supporting 8,000 jobs, operates as part of a wider 
"English Riviera" economic area that transcends the current unitary boundary; expanding 
the authority would allow for coordinated, strategic management of the entire regional 
tourism economy. Coastal deprivation in some wards sits alongside more prosperous areas, 
and larger-scale governance could better implement comprehensive regeneration strategies 
by pooling business rates and attracting greater external investment. Torbay's existing 
innovative approaches, particularly in health and social care integration, would be 
strengthened and more efficiently scaled by expanding the authority to serve a wider 
population base alongside its strong existing partnerships. 

 
9.7. Torbay should expand for compelling reasons. First, while Torbay’s current track record 

validates the principle of effective unitary governance, expanding it validates the principle 
that strategic scale is critical for modern public service delivery and resource management. 
Second, expansion would build upon Torbay's established governance and innovative 
approaches, allowing them to be applied across a wider, functionally connected region, 
delivering significant economies of scale that are currently unavailable. Third, expanding the 
authority to reflect the true functional economic and geographic extent of the "English 
Riviera" would create a more robust authority that can better advocate for and fund its 
distinct coastal and demographic profile. Torbay should expand its unitary status because it 
is the logical next step to maximise its existing success and secure its long-term financial and 
service resilience. 

 
Why Devon Coast and Countryside Needs Purpose-Designed Governance 

 
9.8. The creation of a Devon Coast and Countryside authority represents the most significant 

new element in Plymouth's four-unitary proposal, and it is essential to the model's success. 
Devon's rural and coastal areas have needs that differ fundamentally from Plymouth, Exeter, 
or Torbay. Population density of just 124 people per square kilometre compared to 
Plymouth's 3,311 means that every service costs more to deliver per head. Market towns 
like Barnstaple, Tiverton, and Tavistock serve as centres for surrounding villages and 
dispersed communities across vast distances. An older demographic with over 25% of 
residents aged 65 or over creates sustained demand for adult social care delivered across 
challenging geography. The economic base built on agriculture, food production, rural 
tourism, and small businesses requires different support than urban economies focused on 
services and knowledge sectors. 

 
9.9. These communities deserve governance designed explicitly for their needs rather than 

having urban models imposed or being treated as an afterthought in larger authorities 
dominated by urban populations. A purpose-designed rural authority can develop locality-
based delivery through market town hubs, working closely with parish councils that are vital 
partners in rural governance. It can commission services from predominantly local small and 
medium-sized providers who understand rural communities rather than large national 
contractors better suited to urban contexts. It can focus investment on rural priorities 

Page 49



P a g e  | 35 
 

OFFICIAL 

including transport connectivity, supporting market towns, preventing costly residential care 
placements through community-based support, and maintaining the landscape and 
environment that defines rural Devon. 

 
9.10. The scale of Devon Coast and Countryside enables strategic commissioning and specialist 

capacity whilst maintaining genuine connection to local communities. The authority will be 
large enough to deliver complex statutory services efficiently, employ specialist staff, and 
withstand financial shocks.  Yet through locality working and strong parish partnerships, it 
can maintain the local responsiveness that rural communities rightly expect. This balance, 
scale where it matters for efficiency and resilience, locality focus where it matters for 
responsiveness and connection is why Plymouth's proposal creates a dedicated rural 
authority rather than attempting to incorporate rural areas into urban authorities or 
creating a structure that cannot serve either urban or rural needs effectively. 

 
How Four Authorities Work Together Through Regional Collaboration 

 
9.11. The four-unitary model creates authorities that are individually effective and collectively 

capable of addressing regional priorities. Each authority will focus on its distinct challenges 
and opportunities, Plymouth on defence-led growth and urban regeneration, Exeter on 
rapid growth management and knowledge economy development, Torbay on coastal 
regeneration and age-friendly services, Devon Coast and Countryside on rural sustainability 
and dispersed service delivery. This focus enables tailored governance that reflects genuine 
differences across Devon rather than imposing standardised approaches that serve no area 
well. 

 
9.12. However, some challenges require collaboration beyond individual authority boundaries. 

Strategic transport infrastructure, economic development, skills provision, and major 
housing growth all benefit from coordination across larger geographies. This is where the 
South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority becomes crucial to the model's success. 
Four balanced constituent councils, each serving coherent communities with distinct 
identities, can work together effectively on regional priorities whilst maintaining genuine 
local accountability. The four-unitary model provides the optimal foundation for Peninsula 
devolution because it creates constituent councils that are neither too large and remote 
nor too small and lacking capacity but appropriately sized for both local delivery and 
regional collaboration. 

 
9.13. Plymouth's proposal for four unitary authorities represents a solution that works for all of 

Devon, not just Plymouth. It recognises that different parts of the county have different 
needs that require tailored governance. It builds on proven success where it exists, 
particularly in Plymouth and Torbay's experience as unitary authorities. It addresses critical 
failures in current arrangements, particularly the boundary constraints affecting Plymouth 
and Exeter and the fragmentation hindering rural service delivery. Most importantly, it 
creates authorities that can work together on regional priorities whilst maintaining the local 
connection and accountability that effective democracy requires. This is why Plymouth 
recommends four unitaries with boundary modifications - because it is the only model that 
serves all of Devon effectively. 

  

Page 50



P a g e  | 36 
 

OFFICIAL 

Comparing the Options 
 

Options Considered at Interim Plan Stage 
  

10.1. In March 2025, Plymouth City Council submitted an Interim Plan to the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government in response to the formal legal invitation issued on 05 
February 2025. This initial submission was required by 21 March 2025, with final proposals 
due by 28 November 2025. The interim plan explored options for extending the city's 
boundaries to achieve the scale required for future sustainability under local government 
reorganisation. 

  
Interim Plan Options Evaluated 

  
10.2. The interim plan considered four main options to address the Government criteria for an 

extension of the city boundary. 
 

Option 1: Extended City Boundary Based on Plymouth Growth Area 
(Recommended) 

  
10.3. This option was recommended to Cabinet and endorsed by Council as the preferred 

approach. The option proposed a modest boundary extension based on the Plymouth 
Growth Area geography. This was considered to best meet the principles for local 
government reorganisation whilst balancing the need for scale with preservation of 
Plymouth's identity and neighbouring community identities. 

 
10.4. The Growth Area approach focused on functional economic relationships and growth 

potential, creating a coherent geography for strategic planning and service delivery. This 
option was selected as the basis for submission to Government as Plymouth City Council's 
preferred approach. 

  
Option 2: Extended City Boundary Based on Local Care Partnership Western 
NHS Locality (Rejected) 

  
10.5. This option would have aligned the city boundary to the provision of health care services by 

the Local Care Partnership. The option was assessed as having potential to meet the 
Government's six criteria for unitary government. However, further work would have been 
required to demonstrate this potential as the option conflicted with known proposals for 
local government reorganisation in the rest of Devon. 

 
10.6. The option was rejected on the basis that it conflicted with some of the principles for local 

government reorganisation and with proposals emerging from other Devon authorities. 
  

Option 3: Extended City Boundary Based on Plymouth Housing Market Area 
(Rejected) 

  
10.7. This option was based on the part of the Housing Market Area identified through 

preparation of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan, adopted in March 
2019. The option was assessed as having potential to meet the Government's six criteria for 
unitary government, but again further work would have been required to demonstrate this 

Page 51



P a g e  | 37 
 

OFFICIAL 

as it conflicted with known proposals for local government reorganisation in the rest of 
Devon. 

 
10.8. The option was rejected because it would have created an unwieldy area for service 

delivery and was assessed as being in conflict with the principles for local government 
reorganisation. 

  
Council Decision 

  
10.9. On 17 March 2025, Plymouth City Council endorsed Option 1 as the preferred approach 

and approved submission of the Plymouth Local Government Reorganisation Interim Plan 
to Government. The Council also agreed to commission expert advice and support to 
develop the detailed evidence base for the final proposals due in November 2025. 

  
Subsequent Development 

  
10.10. Following submission of the Interim Plan in March 2025, the Government responded with a 

letter dated 15 May 2025 providing feedback. This feedback informed the development of 
the detailed options analysis presented in the final proposal, which refined and expanded on 
the Growth Area concept to create what became the Expanded Plymouth option in the 
Four Unitary option. 

  

Page 52



P a g e  | 38 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option One:  Four Unitaries on District Boundaries (Base Case) 
 
Figure 10.1 

 
 

Plymouth 
 

National Parks 

 
Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Exeter 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Devon Coast and 
Country ------ 

Existing District Boundaries 

 
Summary Assessment 
 
Whilst this option meets the government's minimum legal criteria, it is not designed for long-term 
success. The proposed structure is highly imbalanced, with Devon's population of 690,000 more 
than double that of Plymouth at 270,000. Three dense urban authorities operate with over 2,200 
people per square kilometre, whilst one large rural authority has just 104. This option perpetuates 
existing barriers to growth and creates an unequal foundation for any future devolution partnership.  

Page 53



P a g e  | 39 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Plymouth 
 
Figure 10.2 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 
Plymouth is a densely populated urban authority. It accommodates 270,000 people within a compact 
79.9 km² area, resulting in a population density of 3,311 people per square kilometre. The council's 
responsibilities include managing a 1,046 km road network and a tax base of 76,557 Band D 
equivalent properties. 
  
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 17.4% 
Working age (16-64 years) 64.1% 
Older people (65+ years) 18.5% 
Home ownership rate 57.7% 
Social rented 20.5% 
Private rented 21.8% 

  
Compared to Torbay and Devon, Plymouth has a younger age profile, with a higher proportion of 
both children (17.4%) and working-age residents (64.1%). The city's lower home ownership rate of 
57.7% is characteristic of its urban housing market. 

 
At 3,311 people per square kilometre, Plymouth has the highest population density of any authority 
considered in this option, a direct result of its compact geography being constrained by 

Page 54



P a g e  | 40 
 

OFFICIAL 

administrative boundaries. This small area of just 79.9 km² constrains spatial planning capacity and 
limits the tax base available to fund regional strategic development. 
  
Indices of Deprivation 
  
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
  

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 4 
Income Deprivation 5 
Employment Deprivation 4 
Education, Skills and Training 5 
Health Deprivation and Disability 3 
Crime 6 
Barriers to Housing and Services 6 
Living Environment 5 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 4 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 5 

  
Plymouth experiences significant overall deprivation (IMD decile 4), with acute challenges in both 
health (decile 3) and children's income deprivation (decile 4). In fact, its level of health deprivation is 
the most severe of any authority considered in this option. Addressing these needs effectively is 
made more difficult by the city's limited tax base and constrained population. 
  
Service Implications 
  
The city's compact urban geography enables efficient service delivery through established structures 
and consistent models. While the authority operates with known capacity, its small scale is a major 
disadvantage and the limited tax base severely restricts investment. 

 
This lack of resources is compounded by substantial service pressures, which are driven by high 
levels of health deprivation (decile 3) and child poverty (IDACI decile 4). The city's scale also makes 
it difficult to maintain a full specialist workforce, further limiting its ability to respond. 

 
These pressures are felt across numerous key services. Children's services face high demand from 
child poverty, and adult social care must manage health deprivation alongside an ageing population. 
At the same time, SEND provision operates at a constrained scale, public health teams must 
address deep health inequalities, and housing services are forced to manage intense urban pressures. 

 
Ultimately, the city's small geographic area of 79.9 km² prevents strategic growth and leaves it 
vulnerable to demographic and financial shocks. 
 
Financial Analysis 
 
Plymouth's financial position is characterised by structural constraints. The tax base of 76,557 Band 
D equivalent properties serving 270,000 people must support higher than average service demands. 
The combination of health deprivation, child poverty, and compact urban geography creates service 
cost pressures that cannot be offset through economies of scale. The constrained boundary 

Page 55



P a g e  | 41 
 

OFFICIAL 

prevents access to growth areas that could expand the tax base, creating long-term sustainability 
concerns. 

Critical Assessment 
 
The small geographic area of 79.9 square kilometres prevents strategic growth and leaves Plymouth 
vulnerable to demographic and financial shocks. This option fails to address the city's fundamental 
requirement for expansion into its functional economic area. 

 
  

Page 56



P a g e  | 42 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Torbay 
 
Figure 10.3 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 
Torbay is a compact authority with a population of approx. 139,000 living within a 62.9 km² area, 
giving it a high population density of 2,215 people per square kilometre. The council is responsible 
for a 651 km road network and a tax base of 49,254 Band D equivalent properties. 
 
Demographic Profile 
 

Children (0-15 years) 16.0% 
Working age (16-64 years) 57.3% 
Older people (65+ years) 26.7% 
Home ownership rate 64.0% 
Social rented 19.8% 
Private rented 16.2% 

 
Torbay has the oldest age profile in this option, with over a quarter of its population (26.7%) aged 
65 or over. This creates significant demand for adult social care and health services, a challenge 
compounded by a smaller working-age population (57.3%) that constrains economic capacity. The 
area's character as a coastal resort is also reflected in its moderate home ownership rate of 64.0%. 

 
The authority's population density of 2,215 people per km² is second only to Plymouth's. This 
density, combined with its small geographic footprint of 62.9 km²—the smallest in this 

Page 57



P a g e  | 43 
 

OFFICIAL 

arrangement—severely limits its capacity for growth and strategic development. These limitations 
are intensified by the natural constraints of the bay's geography. 
 
Indices of Deprivation 
 
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Despite being the smallest authority in this option, with a population of approx. 139, 000 and a tax 
base of 49,254 Band D equivalent properties, Torbay manages disproportionately high service 
demands. 

 
These demands are driven by a challenging demographic profile. The authority has the oldest 
population (26.7% over 65) and faces significant deprivation related to health (decile 3), employment 
(decile 3), and poverty affecting both children (IDACI decile 4) and older people (IDAOPI decile 4). 
  
Service Implications 

 
Torbay demonstrates remarkable capability, delivering high-quality outcomes through innovative 
strategies and strong partnerships. Key strengths include: 

 
• Children's Services rated Good (only one in Devon area) 
• Integrated partnership with NHS for health and social care 
• Proactive approach to improving employment, health, and wellbeing 

 
Financial Analysis 
 
Torbay's financial position reflects the challenges of operating at small scale with high service needs. 
The tax base of 49,254 Band D equivalent properties serving 139,000 people must support 
significant adult social care demands from an ageing population (26.7% over 65), alongside health 
and employment deprivation both at decile 3. The compact 62.9 square kilometre geography 
prevents expansion that could increase the tax base, whilst the coastal setting constrains 
development options. 
 
 
 
 

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 4 
Income Deprivation 4 
Employment Deprivation 3 
Education, Skills and Training 4 
Health Deprivation and Disability 3 
Crime 6 
Barriers to Housing and Services 6 
Living Environment 6 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 4 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 4 

Page 58



P a g e  | 44 
 

OFFICIAL 

Critical Assessment 
 
Whilst Torbay delivers high-quality outcomes through innovation, the authority's small scale creates 
long-term financial pressures. Sustainable delivery will require either enhanced resources or 
continued exceptional efficiency gains that may not be maintainable. 

 
  

Page 59



P a g e  | 45 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Exeter 
 
Figure 10.4 

 
  
 
Key Statistics 
 
Exeter is a densely populated city, accommodating approx. 135,000 residents within a compact 47.0 
km² area, which results in a population density of 2,782 people per square kilometre. As a future 
unitary authority, its responsibilities would include maintaining a 508 km road network and 
managing a tax base of 39,852 Band D equivalent properties. 
  
Demographic Profile 
 

Children (0-15 years) 14.8% 
Working age (16-64 years) 68.6% 
Older people (65+ years) 16.6% 
Home ownership rate 57.2% 
Social rented 15.7% 
Private rented 27.1% 

  
 
Exeter's character as a university city is clear from its demographic profile. It has the youngest 
population, the highest proportion of working-age residents (68.6%), and the most professional and 
managerial jobs (34.6%) in this proposal. This creates a knowledge-focused economy but also shapes 
the housing market; lower home ownership (57.2%) and a high rate of private renting (27.1%) 

Page 60



P a g e  | 46 
 

OFFICIAL 

reflect the student and young professional population, which can in turn impact the availability of 
family housing. 

 
The city's geography is its primary constraint. At just 47.0 km², Exeter is the smallest authority of 
any option considered, and its population density is high at 2,782 people per square kilometre. 
These severe spatial limitations restrict strategic planning and prevent the city from accommodating 
the growth needed to support its regional role and university partnerships. 
 
Indices of Deprivation 
  
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
 

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 7 
Income Deprivation 6 
Employment Deprivation 6 
Education, Skills and Training 6 
Health Deprivation and Disability 6 
Crime 7 
Barriers to Housing and Services 7 
Living Environment 5 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 6 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 6 

  
Reflecting its character as an affluent university city, Exeter has the lowest level of deprivation in 
this option (IMD decile 7), with low levels across all domains.  
 
Service Implications 
 
The city's high skill levels and strong university partnerships are key drivers for economic 
development. However, the small population of 135,000 is a significant constraint, limiting the 
authority's capacity to deliver specialist services. 
 
Financial Analysis 
 
Exeter's financial position is the most constrained of the urban authorities. With a tax base of only 
39,852 Band D equivalent properties serving 135,000 people, the authority has the smallest financial 
base despite being Devon's capital city. Whilst low deprivation reduces some service cost pressures, 
the compact 47 square kilometre geography prevents access to growth areas that could expand the 
tax base. This creates a fundamental mismatch between Exeter's regional role and its financial 
capacity. 
 
Critical Assessment 
 
Exeter faces the most severe spatial constraint of any urban authority. The 47 square kilometre 
boundary is inadequate for a city with regional capital status and prevents the strategic growth 
planning necessary to support its knowledge economy and university partnerships. 
  

Page 61



P a g e  | 47 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Devon Coast and Countryside 
 
Figure 10.5 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 
Devon is a large, rural authority with a population of approx. 690,000 spread across a vast 6,522.2 
km² area, resulting in a very low population density of just 104 people per square kilometre. The 
future council would manage an extensive 16,894 km road network and a tax base of 277,975 Band 
D equivalent properties. 
 
Demographic Profile 
 

Children (0-15 years) 16.0% 
Working age (16-64 years) 56.5% 
Older people (65+ years) 27.6% 
Home ownership rate 70.2% 
Social rented 12.3% 
Private rented 17.5% 

 
 
Devon has the oldest age profile of any option, reflecting its character as a rural retirement 
destination. With the lowest proportion of working-age residents (56.5%) and the highest 
proportion of those over 65 (27.6%), the authority has one of the highest old-age dependency 
ratios. This imbalance places significant pressure on both public services and the local economy. 
 

Page 62



P a g e  | 48 
 

OFFICIAL 

While the area has the highest rate of home ownership (70.2%), indicating settled communities, its 
economy is constrained by its demographics. Despite a solid rate of professional employment 
(30.9%), the small working-age population limits potential for growth. The authority's primary 
challenge, however, is the combination of an ageing population and a vast rural geography, which 
creates considerable and widespread demand for adult social care across its 6,522 km² area. 
 
Indices of Deprivation 
 
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
 

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 6 
Income Deprivation 6 
Employment Deprivation 6 
Education, Skills and Training 6 
Health Deprivation and Disability 7 
Crime 9 
Barriers to Housing and Services 6 
Living Environment 5 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 6 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 7 

 
Devon has a moderate overall deprivation level (IMD decile 6), with consistent scores across most 
domains. However, its rural character creates specific challenges, particularly in barriers to housing 
and services (decile 6) and the living environment (decile 5). The primary difficulty is cost, delivering 
services to a dispersed population across a vast 6,522 km² area is expensive, even when addressing 
moderate needs. 

 
The scale of this rural context is stark when comparing population densities. At just 104 people per 
km², Devon is 32 times less dense than Plymouth (3,311) and 27 times less dense than Torbay 
(2,215). This demonstrates the extreme operational differences between the large rural county and 
the compact urban authorities. 

 
Service Implications 
 
The service delivery model is complex, reflecting the area's geography. It combines locality-based 
teams in market towns with mobile and outreach services for dispersed communities, supported by 
investment in digital and remote access. This approach requires sophisticated workforce planning to 
manage staff across a wide area and to control significant mileage and travel costs. 

 
This option represents the current local government structure, serving as a legally compliant 
baseline for comparison. However, the analysis demonstrates it is a fundamentally suboptimal 
arrangement, characterised by a profound imbalance between a single, dominant rural authority 
(Devon) and three geographically constrained urban unitary authorities (Plymouth, Torbay, and 
Exeter). This structure perpetuates existing constraints on growth and creates an imbalanced 
partnership for devolution purposes.    
  
Financial Analysis 
 

Page 63



P a g e  | 49 
 

OFFICIAL 

Devon's financial position reflects economies of scale offset by rural service delivery costs. The tax 
base of 277,975 Band D equivalent properties serving 690,000 people provides substantial financial 
resources. However, these must be spread across 16,894 kilometres of roads and numerous 
dispersed communities. Moderate deprivation (IMD decile 6) creates predictable service demands, 
but geographic dispersion significantly increases unit costs, particularly for adult social care serving 
an ageing population (27.6% over 65) across the vast rural area. 
 
Critical Assessment 
 
This option represents the current structure, serving as a legally compliant baseline. The authority 
operates at sufficient scale for financial resilience, but vast geography and dispersed population 
create service delivery challenges that offset some benefits of scale. 
 
  

Page 64



P a g e  | 50 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Assessment Against Criteria 
  
Table 10.1 
Government Criteria Assessment Rationale 
1. Single tier of local 
government 

Met • Creates 4 unitary councils using the existing 
principal authorities as building blocks.  

• Meets the government invitation to set out a 
base case on whole districts. 

• Removes the existing two-tier county and 
districts in currently in Devon. 

 
2. Right size and financial 
resilience 

Not Met • Creates authorities of uneven population size 
and financial resilience.  

• Risk pooling is unevenly spread across the 
region. 

3. High-quality, 
sustainable services 

Partially Met • Maintains service continuity, but uneven 
population sizes may make collaboration 
more variable  

• Does not maximise opportunities for growth 
in Plymouth. 

4. Local collaboration 
and responsiveness 

Partially Met • Provides for recognised and legally coherent 
administrative boundaries but does not 
respond to concerns and issues raised during 
the Big Conversation engagement  

• Would require transitional arrangements 
would require more formal mechanism than 
a modified proposal. 

5. Support for 
devolution 

Partially Met • Creates a group of constituent authorities 
across Devon to link into a Peninsula 
Mayoral Strategic Authority (to which 
Cornwall Council could be added). 

• In the absence of Ministerial modifications for 
Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay, this would 
place heavy reliance on the Spatial 
Development Strategy bringing forward 
deliverable and supported growth options. 

• Potential perceived imbalance at the Mayoral 
Strategic Authority due to variations in 
unitary council size. 

6. Community 
engagement 

Met • Maintains a foundation of existing governance 
and neighbourhood engagement 
arrangements in each of the unitary 
authorities. 

Plymouth Principles 

Page 65



P a g e  | 51 
 

OFFICIAL 

1. Financial viability and 
population 

Not Met • The current population size is insufficient to 
generate the financial base required for long-
term viability.  

• The constrained population base and limited 
tax base create challenges. 

2. Character and identity Met The Base Case preserves Plymouth's distinct, 
compact urban character, which is reflected in high 
population density. 

3. Respect for 
boundaries 

Met This option respects the boundaries of existing 
unitary authorities. 

4. Dartmoor National 
Park 

Met The city's existing boundaries do not impinge upon 
Dartmoor National Park or create governance 
complexities for the Park Authority. 

5. Parish boundaries Met This option proposes no changes and therefore does 
not alter any existing parish boundaries. 
 

6. Sustainable growth 
and strategic role 

Not Met The geographic constraint of 79.9 square kilometres 
prevents strategic growth opportunities, inhibiting 
Plymouth's capacity to fulfil its strategic regional 
role. 
 

 
  

Page 66



P a g e  | 52 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Two: Four Unitaries (Modified Case) 
 
Figure 11.1 

 
 

Expanded 
Plymouth  

National Parks 

 
Expanded Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Expanded Exeter 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Devon Coast and 
Countryside ------ 

Existing District Boundaries 

 
Summary Assessment 
 
This is the preferred option as it meets all Government criteria and Plymouth's principles. It 
establishes four balanced and financially resilient authorities with populations ranging from approx. 
220,000 to 450,000. The structure respects community identities, creates a clear distinction 
between urban and rural areas, and enables strategic capacity for growth and devolution. 

 
The configuration succeeds because each new authority is strengthened: 
 

• Plymouth gains strategic capacity with a population of 300,000 while maintaining its urban 
character. 

• An expanded Torbay solidifies financial sustainability through a 67% increase in its tax 
base. 

• An expanded Exeter can accommodate city-region growth with a balanced urban and 
suburban character. 

• Devon Coast and Countryside remains a viable authority scaled appropriately for 
effective rural service delivery. 

 
  

Page 67



P a g e  | 53 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Two: Expanded Plymouth 
 
Figure 11.2 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 
Under this option, the Plymouth authority would have a population of approx. 300,000 across an 
expanded area of 358.7 km², resulting in a new population density of approx. 830 people per square 
kilometre. Its responsibilities would cover a council tax base of 90,449 Band D equivalent properties 
and a road network of 1,800 km. 

 
Compared to the Base Case, this represents a significant change in scale: 
 

• Population An increase of approx. 30,000 (+12.4%) 
• Area An increase of 278.8 km² (+349%) 
• Tax Base An increase of 13,891 Band D equivalent properties (+18.15%) 
• Population Density A decrease from 3,311 to 830 people/km² 

 
Demographic Profile 
 

Children (0-15 years) 17.3% 
Working age (16-64 years) 63.5% 
Older people (65+ years) 19.2% 
Home ownership rate 59.5% 
Social rented 17.3% 
Private rented 21.8% 

 

Page 68



P a g e  | 54 
 

OFFICIAL 

Under this option, Plymouth maintains its young demographic profile. The proportion of children 
remains stable at 17.3%, and the working-age population is strong at 63.5%. 

 
Although the older population (19.2%) and home ownership (59.5%) increase slightly due to the 
new extension areas, these figures remain well below those of neighbouring authorities. The key 
outcome is that this expansion adds valuable capacity without changing Plymouth's core character as 
a young, working-age city. 
 
Indices of Deprivation 
 
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
 

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 4 
Income Deprivation 5 
Employment Deprivation 4 
Education, Skills and Training 5 
Health Deprivation and Disability 3 
Crime 6 
Barriers to Housing and Services 6 
Living Environment 5 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 5 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 5 

 
Key challenges persist, health deprivation remains high at decile 3, requiring a continued focus on 
inequalities. While child poverty improves marginally (from IDACI 4 to 5), the level of need is still 
substantial. The crucial advantage of this model is that the enhanced population and tax base 
provide greater capacity to address these long-standing issues. 
 
Service Implications 
 
A population increase from 270,000 to 300,000 expands the authority's service base while 
maintaining its core deprivation profile (IMD decile 4, IDACI decile 5). This larger population also 
strengthens the workforce, improving capacity to deliver specialist services tailored to the area's 
needs. 

 
Although the proportion of residents aged 65 and over increases slightly (from 18.5% to 19.2%), the 
authority's larger scale is a key advantage. It enables better commissioning of services and more 
effective planning for specialist provision across the entire area. 
 
Health deprivation of decile 3 indicates a clear need for focused intervention. The expanded 
authority is better positioned to address this by supporting integrated health improvement 
programmes and coordinating with NHS partners for the combined population. 

 
More broadly, the larger population base enables more effective strategic planning. This supports a 
coordinated approach to the functional housing market, employment, skills development, and 
infrastructure across the combined geography. 
 
 

Page 69



P a g e  | 55 
 

OFFICIAL 

Financial Analysis 
 
The expansion further improves Plymouth's financial sustainability. The increase in tax base to 
provides enhanced revenue capacity whilst spreading fixed costs across a larger population. One-off 
transition investment of £4.9 million generates over £6 million in annual benefits, representing 
excellent value for money. Enhanced financial resilience enables the authority to withstand 
demographic shocks, invest in preventative services, and fund strategic infrastructure necessary to 
accommodate defence sector growth and housing delivery. 

Critical Assessment 
 
This option addresses Plymouth's fundamental constraint by providing geographic space and financial 
capacity necessary for sustainable long-term service delivery. The expansion into the Plymouth 
Growth Area aligns with functional economic relationships and creates a coherent authority capable 
of fulfilling its role as the region's principal city. 

 
  

Page 70



P a g e  | 56 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Two: Expanded Torbay 
 
Figure 11.3 

 
 
Key Statistics 
  
The proposed expanded Torbay authority would have a population of approx. 220,000 across an 
area of 263.2 square kilometres, resulting in a new population density of approx. 835 people per 
square kilometre. This new authority would be responsible for a council tax base of 82,356, Band D 
equivalent properties and a 1,526-kilometre road network. 

 
Compared to the Base Case, this new option represents a significant expansion in scale and 
resources for Torbay. The population increases by 80,329 (a 57.7% growth), while the tax base 
grows by 133,101 Band D equivalent properties (a 67.2% increase). The authority's land area 
expands by 200.3 square kilometres (318%), which reduces the overall population density by 62%. 
  
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 16.0% 
Working age (16-64 years) 57.5% 
Older people (65+ years) 26.5% 
Home ownership rate 66.8% 

  
The expanded Torbay proposal maintains the area's essential coastal character. The age profile 
remains very similar to the Base Case, with only slight improvements in home ownership and 
professional employment that reflect the inclusion of the extension areas. 

  

Page 71



P a g e  | 57 
 

OFFICIAL 

While the older population remains substantial at 26.5%, creating significant demand for adult social 
care, the 62% increase in the tax base provides the enhanced financial capacity required to meet 
these challenges effectively. 

  
Indices of Deprivation 
  
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
  

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 5 
Income Deprivation 4 
Employment Deprivation 4 
Education, Skills and Training 5 
Health Deprivation and Disability 5 
Crime 7 
Barriers to Housing and Services 6 
Living Environment 6 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 5 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People 
(IDAOPI) 

5 

  
Torbay's deprivation profile improves across most domains. Most notable gains are in health (decile 
3 to 5) and employment (decile 3 to 4). Whilst overall deprivation improves to IMD decile 5, 
significant needs remain. Crucially, the 62% tax base increase provides enhanced financial capacity to 
address these remaining challenges effectively. 

Service Implications 
 
The expanded authority maintains and enhances Torbay's proven service delivery model. The larger 
scale provides resources to sustain innovative approaches to integrated care and children's services 
whilst building resilience against demographic pressures of an ageing coastal community. 

Financial Analysis 
 
The 62% increase in tax base transforms Torbay's financial sustainability. Enhanced revenue capacity 
enables sustained investment in preventative services and integrated care partnerships without 
requiring unsustainable efficiency gains. The authority gains financial resilience necessary to manage 
demographic challenges of an ageing population whilst maintaining service quality. 

Critical Assessment 
 
This option provides Torbay with the financial capacity and geographic scope necessary to sustain 
its proven service delivery model long-term. The expansion addresses the fundamental mismatch 
between service demands and available resources in the Base Case. 

  

Page 72



P a g e  | 58 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Two: Expanded Exeter 
 
 
Figure 11.4 

 
  
 
Key Statistics 
  
The proposed Expanded Exeter authority would have a population of approx. 260,000 across a 
significantly larger area of 605.6 square kilometres, resulting in a new, much lower population 
density of approx. 411 people per square kilometre. The authority would be responsible for a 
council tax base of 88,439 Band D equivalent properties and a road network of 2,351 kilometres. 

 
Compared to the Base Case, this represents a transformation in scale for Exeter. The population 
grows by approx. 90%, while the council tax base more than doubles. The most dramatic change is 
the geographic expansion of 1,188%, which adds 558.6 square kilometres to the authority's area. 
  
Demographic Profile 
  

Metric Value 
Children (0-15 years) 15.7% 
Working age (16-64 years) 63.0% 
Older people (65+ years) 21.4% 
Home ownership rate 63.8% 
Professional and Managerial occupations 33.8% 

  

Page 73



P a g e  | 59 
 

OFFICIAL 

The expanded Exeter model creates a balanced city-region authority by blending the young 
university city core with its surrounding suburban and rural areas. 

 
This expansion broadens the demographic profile to include more families and older residents, all 
while maintaining the city's strong professional employment base. A key result of incorporating 
these surrounding communities is a substantial increase in the home ownership rate, which rises 
from 57.2% to 63.8%. 
  
Indices of Deprivation 
 
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
  

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 7 
Income Deprivation 7 
Employment Deprivation 6 
Education, Skills and Training 6 
Health Deprivation and Disability 7 
Crime 8 
Barriers to Housing and Services 7 
Living Environment 5 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 7 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 6 

  
By incorporating extension areas that complement the university city character, Expanded Exeter 
maintains a low deprivation profile. 

Service Implications 
 
The expanded authority gains capacity to deliver specialist services at appropriate scale. Strategic 
planning capacity for housing growth, employment sites, and transport infrastructure aligns with 
city-region needs. The authority can fulfil its role as Devon's capital with services matching its 
regional status. 

Financial Analysis 
 
The transformation is dramatic. Tax base more than doubles, providing financial resources 
commensurate with Exeter's regional capital status. The increase in geographic area provides access 
to growth areas and commuter zones that expand the tax base. This creates capacity for strategic 
infrastructure investment, coherent transport planning, and effective housing delivery. 

Critical Assessment 
 
This option addresses Exeter's most severe spatial constraint. The expansion provides planning 
capacity to accommodate city-region growth whilst maintaining the knowledge-economy character. 
The expanded authority gains resources and space to fulfil its role as Devon's capital without 
compromising service quality or democratic accountability. 

  

Page 74



P a g e  | 60 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Two: Devon Coast and Countryside 
 
Figure 11.5 

 
 
Key Statistics 
  
The proposed 'Devon Coast and Countryside' authority would have a population of approx. 
450,000 distributed across a vast area of 5,486.0 square kilometres. This option results in a very 
low population density of approx. 82 people per square kilometre. The new authority would be 
responsible for a council tax base of 182,395 Band D equivalent properties. 

 
This new entity is formed from the Base Case Devon by transferring its urban/suburban areas to 
other authorities. As a result, its population decreases by 231,414 (a 34.0% reduction) and its tax 
base is reduced by 95,580 Band D equivalent properties (a 34.3% reduction). While the land area 
also decreases, the reduction is smaller at 15.9%, making the new authority more consistently rural 
with its lower population density. 
  
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 15.8% 
Working age (16-64 years) 56.0% 
Older people (65+ years) 28.3% 
Home ownership rate 69.5% 

  
The removal of urban areas from the Base Case creates the 'Devon Coast and Countryside' 
authority, which is a more consistently rural entity.  
 

Page 75



P a g e  | 61 
 

OFFICIAL 

The authority now has the oldest population, with 28.3% of residents aged over 65, and the highest 
rate of home ownership at 69.5%. 

  
Indices of Deprivation 
 
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
 

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 6 
Income Deprivation 6 
Employment Deprivation 6 
Education, Skills and Training 6 
Health Deprivation and Disability 7 
Crime 9 
Barriers to Housing and Services 5 
Living Environment 4 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 6 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People (IDAOPI) 7 

 
The 'Devon Coast and Countryside' authority has a moderate overall deprivation level (IMD decile 
6). This score, however, reflects specific rural challenges, particularly in barriers to housing and 
services (decile 5) and the living environment (decile 4). 

 
Service Implications 
 
The focused rural authority can concentrate entirely on distinct challenges of dispersed service 
delivery, rural poverty, connectivity, and ageing demographics without managing dense urban cores 
with fundamentally different needs. 
 
Financial Analysis 
 
The 34% reduction in population and tax base creates a more coherent rural authority. Whilst 
resources decrease, the authority maintains appropriate scale for financial resilience and specialist 
services. The more consistently rural character enables focused investment in rural service delivery 
models without competing urban priorities. 
 
Critical Assessment 
 
This option achieves appropriate scale for rural governance: large enough for financial resilience and 
specialist services, but coherent enough for genuine local accountability and tailored service models. 

Option Two: Assessment Against Criteria 
 
  Table 11.1 

Government Criteria    
1. Single tier of local government Met The expanded Plymouth Council will be 

one of four new unitary councils in 
Devon, removing the existing two-tier 
arrangements in the expanded area. 

Page 76



P a g e  | 62 
 

OFFICIAL 

2. Right size and financial resilience Met Creates a nationally significant, growth-
orientated unitary council with a 
population of over 300,000. The tax 
base is sustainable and large enough to 
resist financial shocks. 

3. High-quality, sustainable services Met Creates a coherent service geography 
for school admissions, transport, skills, 
and social care. It maximises 
opportunities for growth and simplifies 
residents' access to services. 

4. Local collaboration and 
responsiveness 

Met A Four Unitary Model is supported by 
two existing unitary authorities and 
Exeter City Council. 
Provides for recognised and legally 
coherent administrative boundaries 
which reflect settlement patterns and 
functional economic relationships 
Extensions based on building blocks of 
Parish and Town Councils.  
 

5. Support for devolution Met Creates a group of balanced constituent 
authorities to link into a Peninsula 
Mayoral Strategic Authority, allowing 
retained expertise to support a regional 
strategy. 

6. Community engagement Met New neighbourhood governance 
arrangements to be developed. It 
protects existing parish and town 
council arrangements. 

Plymouth Principles 
1. Financial viability and population Met The 12.4% increase in population and 

the 16.3% increase in the council tax 
base provide the necessary scale and 
financial capacity for long-term viability. 

2. Character and identity Met Despite a 349% increase in land area 
the proposal sets out how we will 
preserve the character of all 
communities in the area. 

3. Respect for boundaries Met The proposed boundary extension is 
logical and evidence-based, reflecting 
the functional geography of the 
Plymouth Growth Area, housing 
market areas, and travel-to-work 
patterns. 

4. Dartmoor National Park Met The proposed new boundaries have 
been designed to be minimise impact 
on Dartmoor National Park. 

5. Parish boundaries Met The principle of using whole, undivided 
parishes as the building blocks for the 

Page 77



P a g e  | 63 
 

OFFICIAL 

extension is a cornerstone of this 
option. 

6. Sustainable growth and strategic role Met The expansion of the city's area 
provides the "planning capacity for 
sustainable growth" that is critically 
absent in the Base Case, unlocking the 
city's potential. 

 
  

Page 78



P a g e  | 64 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Three: Three Unitaries (New Devon) 
 
 Figure 12.1

 
 

Plymouth 
 

National Parks 

 
Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
New Devon 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Summary Assessment 
  
This option creates three unitary authorities of significantly different scales, which presents 
challenges for balanced regional governance and strategic coordination. Whilst each authority can 
deliver core services within their existing boundaries, the arrangement does not optimise the 
opportunities for strategic growth, partnership working, or balanced devolution. 
 
The arrangement faces challenges in supporting:  
 

• Strategic growth planning across functional economic areas. 
• Balanced partnership working between authorities of different scales. 
• Effective coordination of regional priorities. 

  
The population distribution shows substantial variation. Devon (811,000) would be considerably 
larger than both Torbay (140,000) and Plymouth (270,000), which creates complexity in establishing 
balanced partnership arrangements and devolution structures that give each authority appropriate 
influence in strategic decision-making. 
 
Torbay would be below 200,000 population, though many authorities across England successfully 
deliver services at this scale. Plymouth's existing boundaries limit opportunities for strategic planning 

Page 79



P a g e  | 65 
 

OFFICIAL 

across its wider economic area. Devon would become one of the larger unitary authorities in 
England, creating some challenges around maintaining local connection across its extensive 
geography. 

 
This option maintains administrative clarity through established boundaries but does not fully create 
the foundation for optimised strategic growth or balanced regional partnership.  
  
  

Page 80



P a g e  | 66 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Three: Plymouth 
 
Figure 12.2 

 
 
The impact on Plymouth is as expressed in the base case. 
  

Page 81



P a g e  | 67 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Three: Torbay 
 
Figure 12.3 

 
  
The impact on Torbay is as expressed in the base case. 

 
 
  

Page 82



P a g e  | 68 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Three: Devon County Council Area 
 
Figure 12.4 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 
 
Devon would be a large rural authority encompassing approximately 811,000 people across 6,569 
km², creating a population density of 124 people per square kilometre. The council would manage 
an extensive 24,556 km road network serving numerous towns, villages, and dispersed rural 
communities across Devon's varied landscape.  
 
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 15.8% 
Working age (16-64 years) 58.4% 
Older people (65+ years) 25.8% 
Home ownership rate 68.2% 
Social rented 11.5% 
Private rented 19.0% 

  
New Devon has a settled rural population with over a quarter of residents aged 65 or over. The 
working-age population supports both resident population and diverse rural economy spanning 
agriculture, tourism, market towns, and coastal communities. At 124 people per square kilometre, 
the population is much more dispersed than urban authorities. Communities range from substantial 
market towns to small villages and isolated farms. 

Page 83



P a g e  | 69 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
Indices of Deprivation 
  
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
  

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 6 
Income Deprivation 6 
Employment Deprivation 6 
Education, Skills and Training 6 
Health Deprivation and Disability 7 
Crime 8 
Barriers to Housing and Services 6 
Living Environment 5 
Income Deprivation Affecting Children (IDACI) 6 
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People 
(IDAOPI) 

6 

  
New Devon encompasses both Exeter (with low deprivation at IMD decile 7) and rural areas (with 
moderate deprivation at IMD decile 6). This creates an authority with mixed deprivation profile 
where Exeter's urban needs and rural Devon's dispersed service challenges must be managed within 
a single structure. 
 
Service Implications 
 
The primary challenge is managing fundamentally different service models within one authority. 
Exeter requires dense urban service delivery for a young, knowledge-economy population, whilst 
rural areas require dispersed delivery models for an ageing population across vast geography. The 
scale at 811,658 population may compromise local connection and democratic accountability. 
 
Financial Analysis 
 
New Devon would be financially sustainable at this scale, with good capacity for strategic 
investment and service development. However, the key consideration is ensuring that extensive 
geography and dispersed population do not create inefficiencies that offset benefits of scale, and that 
partnership arrangements with Plymouth and Torbay enable balanced regional governance. 
 
Critical Assessment 
 
This option creates a fundamental democratic deficit by submerging Exeter (Devon's capital and 
fastest-growing city) within a vast authority where the capital becomes a minority voice. Exeter's 
distinct growth challenges and urban service needs become subordinated to rural priorities, 
hindering the city's development and regional role. 
 
 

Option Three: Assessment Against Criteria 
  
Table 12.1 

Page 84



P a g e  | 70 
 

OFFICIAL 

Criterion Assessment Rationale 
1. Single tier of local government Partially Met Creates three legally recognised unitary 

authorities, removing the two-tier 
structure. However, extreme size 
variation (6:1 ratio) undermines 
equality between authorities and 
creates an unbalanced foundation for 
partnership working. 

2. Right size and financial resilience Not Met Plymouth at 270,000 lacks strategic 
growth capacity. Devon at 811,658 may 
be too large for effective local 
democracy. 

3. High-quality, sustainable services Partially Met Torbay lacks scale and Plymouth is 
constrained from strategic 
development, and extreme size 
variation makes collaboration and 
standardisation very difficult. 

4. Local collaboration and 
responsiveness 

Not Met This option is supported by only one 
local authority. 
Devon's dominance risks marginalising 
Plymouth and Torbay in partnership 
working. Integrated Care System, 
police, fire and devolution 
arrangements all face challenges from 
size imbalances.  

5. Support for devolution Not Met Creates unequal partners for 
devolution, with Devon dominating at 
66.8% of population. Plymouth cannot 
represent its functional economic area. 
Difficult foundation for balanced 
Mayoral Authority or combined 
authority arrangements. 

6. Community engagement Partially Met Uses established principal authority 
boundaries with clear democratic 
legitimacy. However, Devon's scale 
(811,000) risks weakening local 
democratic connection. Residents in 
large rural wards may feel distant from 
decision-making. 

Plymouth Principles 
1. Financial viability and population Not Met Plymouth remains at a constrained 

270,000 population (approximately). 
Cannot grow tax base or capture 
development value. Freeport and 
growth benefits accrue to Devon not 
Plymouth. Long-term financial 
sustainability fundamentally 
undermined. 

2. Character and identity Not Met Plymouth cannot maintain its identity as 
a strategic regional centre when locked 

Page 85



P a g e  | 71 
 

OFFICIAL 

at current boundaries. The city's 
functional economic area extends well 
beyond 79.9 km², and this option 
prevents recognition of those natural 
relationships. 

3. Respect for boundaries Partially Met Respects existing principal authority 
boundaries, but these boundaries are 
precisely the problem. They do not 
reflect functional economic areas or 
how people live, work and travel. 

4. Dartmoor National Park Met Plymouth's existing boundaries do not 
impinge upon Dartmoor National Park. 

5. Parish boundaries Met No changes to parish boundaries as no 
boundary extensions proposed. 

6. Sustainable growth and strategic role Not Met Plymouth cannot deliver Joint Local 
Plan, cannot govern Freeport 
effectively, cannot implement Metro 
proposals, cannot plan for functional 
economic area. Fundamentally fails to 
enable Plymouth's growth and regional 
role. 

  
 
 
  

Page 86



P a g e  | 72 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Four: Three Unitaries (District Grouping) 
 
Figure 13.1 

 
 

Plymouth 
 

National Parks 

 
District 4 

 
National Marine Park 

 
District 5 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Summary Assessment 
  
This option presents significant governance challenges as it fails to meet Government criteria and 
Plymouth's principles. It creates unitary authorities based solely on old administrative boundaries, 
failing to reflect current functional economic relationships. The result is an imbalanced structure 
that favours rural areas, undermines Plymouth's ability to fulfil its role as the region's principal city, 
and leaves it as the smallest and most constrained authority. 
 
 
  

Page 87



P a g e  | 73 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Four: Plymouth 
 
Figure 13.2 

 
 
The impact on Plymouth is as expressed in the base case.  
 
  

Page 88



P a g e  | 74 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Four: Four District Unitary 
 
Figure 13.3 

 
 
 
Key Statistics 
  
The proposed Four District Unitary would have a population of 420,000 across a vast area of 
2,785.3 square kilometres, resulting in a low population density of approx. 151 people per square 
kilometre. The authority would be responsible for a council tax base of 167,275 Band D equivalent 
properties and an extensive 7,569-kilometre road network. 

 
 
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 15.7% 
Working age (16-64 years) 56.9% 
Older people (65+ years) 27.4% 
Home ownership rate 68.6% 

  
Indices of Deprivation 
  
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
  

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 6 
Income Deprivation 5 
Employment Deprivation 5 

Page 89



P a g e  | 75 
 

OFFICIAL 

Health Deprivation and Disability 6 
  
Four District Unitary’ s predominantly rural and more affluent character is reflected in its 
deprivation levels. The authority has a moderate-to-low deprivation score (IMD decile 6), making it 
significantly less deprived than Plymouth (IMD decile 4). 
 
Service Implications 
 
The proposed district is exceptionally large and predominantly rural. It covers an area 35 times 
greater than Plymouth but with very low population density of 151 people per square kilometre. 
This vast, sparsely populated area combines many distinct communities without an obvious single 
service centre or pre-existing administrative structure, posing significant challenges for cohesive 
governance and effective service delivery. 

Financial Analysis 
 
A key concern is the significant imbalance this creates with Plymouth. The district has a population 
58% larger than Plymouth and a council tax base 117% greater. However, its population has lower 
levels of deprivation, indicating comparatively lower need for intensive public services. This 
arrangement concentrates greater financial resources in a less deprived district whilst leaving 
Plymouth with higher concentration of service demand and more constrained budget. 

Critical Assessment 
 
This option creates an authority that lacks coherence, combining Torbay's dense coastal urban 
character with vast rural hinterlands without a unified service delivery logic or established 
administrative structure. 

  

Page 90



P a g e  | 76 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Four: Five District Unitary  
 
Figure 13.4 

 
  

 
Plymouth 

 
National Parks 

 
Four District 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Five District 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Key Statistics 
  
The Five District Unitary covers an area of 3,846.8 square kilometres and has a population of 
approx. 530,000, resulting in a density of 138 people per square kilometre. Compared to Plymouth, 
the district is 48 times larger, yet its population density is 24 times lower than Plymouth's 3,311 
people per square kilometre. The local authority maintains 10,483 kilometres of roads and has a 
council tax base of 199,805 Band D equivalent properties, which is 160% larger than Plymouth’s. 
  
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 15.9% 
Working age (16-64 years) 59.3% 
Older people (65+ years) 24.8% 
Home ownership rate 66.7% 

 
 
 
 

Page 91



P a g e  | 77 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
Indices of Deprivation 
  
Where 1 equals most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas, 10 equals least deprived 10% 
  

Domain Decile 
Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) 

6 

Income Deprivation 6 
Employment Deprivation 6 
Health Deprivation and 
Disability 

7 

 
With an IMD decile of 6, District 5 shows moderate to low deprivation, reflecting its predominantly 
rural and more affluent character. 
  
Service Implications 
 
Five District Unitary would have population density of 138 people per square kilometre, 
comparable to Devon's 104 in the Base Case. The primary concern is not density but lack of 
established service infrastructure and transition costs of creating new delivery models, unlike Devon 
which has decades of established rural service delivery systems. 

Financial Analysis 
 
This option creates profound disparity between resources and service demands. The district 
possesses a council tax base 160% larger than Plymouth's, granting substantially greater financial 
capacity. However, its population has lower deprivation profile, indicating proportionally smaller 
need for intensive public services. This arrangement concentrates immense resources in a district 
with comparatively fewer needs, leaving Plymouth to manage greater concentration of service 
demand with severely constrained financial base. 

Critical Assessment 
 
This option is presented as fundamentally flawed and inequitable, failing to meet core tests of good 
governance. It creates artificial groupings without functional economic rationale or established 
administrative structures, whilst perpetuating and exacerbating regional imbalances. 

 

Option Four: Assessment Against Criteria 
 
Table 13.1 

Government Criteria Assessment Rationale 
1. Single tier of local government Met The model adheres to the principle 

of creating single-tier authorities. 
2. Right size and financial resilience Not Met Plymouth remains at a non-resilient 

size, and this failure is magnified by 
the creation of hugely advantaged 

Page 92



P a g e  | 78 
 

OFFICIAL 

neighbours with tax bases 117% and 
160% larger. 

3. High-quality, sustainable services Not Met All service sustainability challenges 
of the Base Case remain for 
Plymouth, while the model allocates 
vastly superior resources to new, 
more affluent districts. 

4. Local collaboration and 
responsiveness 

Not Met This option is supported by 7 of the 
8 districts authorities in Devon. 
Boundaries slice through existing 
urban extensions such as those 
surrounding Exeter and Plymouth, 
paying no regarding to the 
functional relationships between 
communities in proximity.  
 

5. Support for devolution Not Met This model would create an even 
more imbalanced partnership for 
devolution. Plymouth would be a 
minor partner, dwarfed by the two 
new super-districts. 

6. Community engagement Not Met The creation of vast, artificial 
districts with "no established 
structures or relationships" would 
fundamentally undermine meaningful 
community identity across the 
wider region. 

Plymouth Principles 
1. Financial viability and population Not Met This option fails for the same 

reasons as the Base Case, with the 
added inequity of being left behind 
while surrounding areas are 
strengthened. 

2. Character and identity Met Plymouth's own distinct urban 
character is preserved, but in a state 
of isolation. 

3. Respect for boundaries Not Met The option creates arbitrary 
boundaries with unclear rationale 
based only on former District 
Boundaries.  

4. Dartmoor National Park Partially Met The creation of vast new districts 
bordering the National Park would 
likely introduce new and complex 
governance relationships for the 
Park Authority. 

5. Parish boundaries Met As amalgamations of former district 
council areas parish Boundaries 
would be protected.  

Page 93



P a g e  | 79 
 

OFFICIAL 

6. Sustainable growth and strategic 
role 

Not Met This option "would prevent 
Plymouth playing a leading city role 
for the South West" by permanently 
confining it and surrounding it with 
larger, richer authorities. 

  
  

Page 94



P a g e  | 80 
 

OFFICIAL 

Rejected Options 
  

• Option 3 (1-4-5 Model) is not recommended due to significant disadvantages would create a 
severe regional imbalance by concentrating service needs in Plymouth while allocating a 
disproportionate level of resources elsewhere. 

  
• The Base Case (Option 1) is also not recommended. While proposing a district building 

block option which is legally compliant, it would hinder the city's long-term growth 
prospects by constraining its geographic and financial capacity, leading to a future of 
diminished regional influence. 
 

• The New Devon option is not recommended. It creates a fundamental democratic deficit by 
submerging Exeter City within a vast authority where it has a minority voice. Exeter's 
distinct growth challenges and urban service needs become subordinated to rural priorities, 
hindering the city's development and regional role. 

  
Recommended Preferred Option 
  
The Four Unitary Model (Option 2) emerges as the most logical, evidence-based, and strategically 
sound path forward. It is the strongest option for providing Plymouth with a framework for a 
sustainable future, including sufficient land for growth, a resilient tax base to fund high-quality 
services, and a coherent urban identity.  

 
This configuration would create a more balanced regional structure that respects community 
identities and enables the strategic development needed to position Plymouth and the wider region 
for future success. 
 
  

Page 95



P a g e  | 81 
 

OFFICIAL 

Democracy and Community Empowerment 
 

15.1. The four-unitary model enables genuine democracy across Devon because each authority is 
sized to maintain meaningful connection with residents. Councillors can know their wards 
and communities. Residents understand which council is responsible. Each authority can 
develop engagement approaches tailored to its context, whether urban Plymouth and 
Exeter, compact Torbay, or dispersed rural Devon. 

 
15.2. The expanded authority represents more than administrative change. It offers the 

opportunity to fundamentally reshape the relationship between local government and the 
communities it serves, moving from traditional consultation models to genuine 
empowerment where residents have real influence over the decisions that affect their lives. 

 
15.3. Our recent, extensive public engagement has provided a clear mandate for this new 

approach. We have heard the heartfelt desire from residents, particularly in the South 
Hams parishes, to preserve their strong rural and local identities. We also acknowledge the 
significant concerns raised about being absorbed into a larger, urban-led authority. This 
proposal is our response, designed to build trust by embedding localism and co-design into 
the fabric of the new council. 

 
Redefining the Role of Councillors 

15.4. This reorganisation provides a crucial opportunity to evolve the role of councillors, building 
on their existing strengths as community advocates. While the demands of casework are an 
essential part of their offer, this new model will empower and equip them to further 
develop their roles as proactive community leaders, facilitators, and conveners. This shift in 
emphasis from reactive service delivery to strategic community-building represents a 
significant development in our approach to 21st-century local democracy. 

• Leading - Councillors will provide clear community leadership, bringing together 
diverse stakeholders around shared challenges and opportunities. They will have the 
authority and resources to respond decisively to local priorities whilst maintaining strong 
connections to strategic decision-making. 

• Facilitating - Councillors will convene partnerships between residents, businesses, 
voluntary organisations, and public services. They will create spaces for dialogue and 
collaboration, helping communities identify their own solutions whilst ensuring access to 
necessary support and resources. 

• Advocating - Councillors will serve as strong voices for public interests, ensuring 
community perspectives reach strategic partnerships and decision-making forums. They 
will champion local needs whilst contributing to place-based leadership across the 
authority. 

15.5. This approach builds on Plymouth's existing strengths whilst extending democratic 
engagement across the enlarged authority. Councillors will maintain their essential 
casework function whilst developing enhanced capacity for community leadership and 
partnership building. 

Building on Proven Excellence in Community Engagement 
 

Page 96



P a g e  | 82 
 

OFFICIAL 

15.6. Plymouth City Council already demonstrates exceptional practice in community 
engagement across multiple service areas. This foundation provides the platform for 
extending our empowerment approach across the enlarged authority. 

 
• Strategic Commissioning has pioneered co-production through the Plymouth All-

Age Unpaid Carers Strategy, developing comprehensive co-production toolkits and 
training programmes. 

• SEND Services operates a structured, inclusive approach to co-production, ensuring 
young people's lived experience directly informs strategic decision-making. 

• Public Health employs Asset-Based Community Development principles through 
the city's Community Builders programme, training 90 professionals citywide in strength-
based approaches. 

• The Plymouth Health Determinants Research Collaboration embeds research 
expertise within the council to support evidence-based service design grounded in real-
world needs. 

• Youth Services has worked directly with unaccompanied asylum-seeking children to 
understand their experiences and co-create solutions, leading to service improvements 
praised by Ofsted. 

• Natural Environment programmes have transformed relationships with 
environmental groups through practical volunteering and co-designed delivery. 

• Net Zero Delivery engages communities through innovative approaches and facilitates 
Plymouth Climate Ambassadors with young people to ensure their voices shape the 
city's action plan. 

 
Enhanced Engagement Framework for the expanded Plymouth 
 

15.7. The expanded authority will implement a comprehensive Engagement and Consultation 
Framework that moves beyond traditional consultation to genuine empowerment. This 
framework recognises that engagement sits on a spectrum from informing and consulting to 
collaborating and empowering, with clear explanation of where each activity sits and why. 

 
Core Principles 
 

• Respect means treating everyone with dignity and fairness, listening without judgement, 
and celebrating community diversity. 

• Transparency involves being open about what we are doing, why we are doing it, and 
how decisions are made. 

• Inclusion requires actively removing barriers to participation and reaching 
underrepresented voices. 

• Responsiveness means listening carefully, acting meaningfully, and providing timely 
feedback. 

• Partnership involves working collaboratively with residents, striving to co-design 
solutions and share power where possible. 

 
Democratic Arrangements for the expanded Plymouth Authority 
 

15.8. The democratic arrangements for the expanded Plymouth Authority will establish effective 
representation for both existing Plymouth residents and the 29,000 people in the 13 

Page 97



P a g e  | 83 
 

OFFICIAL 

parishes joining from South Hams through a unified structure that respects local identity 
whilst enabling strategic coordination. 

 
Respecting Heritage 
 

15.9. Plymouth City Councillors have elected and chosen a Lord Mayor annually since receiving 
its Royal Charter in 1439. In 1935, King George V conferred the dignity of Lord Mayoralty 
upon the city by Letters Patent. This history of self-governance matters to our identity, and 
we would like to extend that principle of distinct representation to our new communities. 

 
15.10. Effective and successful reorganisation must address matters of civic identity alongside 

administrative changes. The significance of place-based identity matters, as its neglect has led 
to difficulties in comparable reorganisations elsewhere. Accordingly, our proposal creates a 
model of ceremonial governance that formally recognises and coherently links the distinct 
civic roles across the new authority. 

 
15.11. This framework includes: 
 

• The Lord Mayor of Plymouth as First Citizen - The Lord Mayor, a role granted by 
Royal Letters Patent, will represent the entire expanded authority at city-wide and 
national events, providing continuity and a unifying figurehead. 

• Formal Recognition of Town Mayors - Existing statutory civic roles, such as the 
Town Mayor of Ivybridge, will be formally recognised in the city's official civic protocol. 
Under the Local Government Act 1972, these roles have their own local mandate. They 
will be the civic head of their community, with precedence at events within their town, 
and will have a place of honour at city-wide civic functions. 

• Civic Agreements - Written agreements will establish how these separate civic roles 
work together and appear at each other's events. These will guarantee each community's 
right to hold its own ceremonies and commit the authority to respecting local traditions, 
documenting clearly that historic identities are valued and protected. 

 
Council Size and Representation 
 

15.12. The challenge of democratic representation in local government reorganisation reflects the 
fundamental geography and settlement patterns of Devon. The proposed Rural Devon 
unitary authority, covering approximately 455,000 to 550,000 residents and an electorate of 
approximately 340,000 depending on configuration, would serve a vast and sparsely 
populated area. The Local Government Boundary Commission recommends a maximum of 
100 councillors for any unitary authority, and analysis suggests Rural Devon would require 
between 70 and 100 councillors depending on the representation ratio adopted. 

 
15.13. At 90 councillors, this would result in a representation ratio of approximately 1:3,754 

electors per councillor, closely aligned with Northumberland (1:3,755 electors per 
councillor). At 70 councillors, the ratio would be approximately 1:4,826 electors per 
councillor, approaching Cornwall Councils model (1:4,956 electors per councillor). These 
ratios reflect the practical realities of serving extensive rural geographies within the 
Commission's recommended parameters. 

 
15.14. Our proposal, alongside the other proposed expanded urban authorities, offers a different 

democratic settlement that reflects urban / sub-urban geography. Each urban authority 

Page 98



P a g e  | 84 
 

OFFICIAL 

brings distinct characteristics that will inform their eventual council size, which should 
properly be determined through the Local Government Boundary Commission's electoral 
review process following reorganisation. 

 
 

15.15. The expanded Plymouth authority, with a population of approximately 300,000 and an 
electorate of 222,213 (using 2024 LGBCE data), would likely require between 60 and 75 
councillors, subject to the Local Government Boundary Commission's electoral review. 
 

15.16. This range applies the LGBCE's three-criteria methodology (strategic leadership, 
accountability, and community leadership) and CIPFA benchmarking of comparable urban 
authorities. Plymouth's electoral review, paused by the Local Government Boundary 
Commission pending this reorganisation process, had agreed a council size of 60 councillors 
for the existing authority based on detailed analysis of CIPFA comparators. The expanded 
authority, incorporating additional communities, requires additional representation to 
maintain effective democratic accountability. At 60 councillors, the ratio would be 
approximately 1:3,704 electors per councillor; at 72 councillors, approximately 1:3,086; at 
75 councillors, approximately 1:2,963. All ratios within this range provide effective 
representation across both the urban core and incorporated parishes. The exact number 
should be determined through proper electoral review. 

 
15.17. Greater Exeter, with a population of approximately 260,000 and an electorate of 177,350, 

would be expected to operate with a council size in the region of 60 to 75 councillors, 
subject to the Local Government Boundary Commission's electoral review. 

 
15.18. This range applies the LGBCE's three-criteria methodology (strategic leadership, 

accountability, and community leadership) and CIPFA benchmarking of comparable 
authorities. The expanded authority's distinctive mixed urban-rural geography, combining 
the city centre with market towns and extensive rural hinterlands, requires sufficient 
capacity for both intensive urban casework and dispersed rural community engagement. 
Exeter City Council currently has 39 councillors, whilst East Devon District Council has 60 
councillors. At 60 councillors, the ratio would be approximately 1:2,956 electors per 
councillor; at 72 councillors, approximately 1:2,463; at 75 councillors, approximately 
1:2,365. All ratios within this range provide effective representation, the exact number 
should be determined through proper electoral review. 
 

15.19. Expanded Torbay, with a population of approximately 220,000 and an electorate of approx. 
118,763, would be expected to operate with a council size in the region of 40 to 52 
councillors, subject to the Local Government Boundary Commission's electoral review. 

 
15.20. This range applies the LGBCE's three-criteria methodology and CIPFA benchmarking of 

comparable coastal authorities. Torbay Council currently has 36 councillors, established 
through the LGBCE's 2017 electoral review. The expanded authority, incorporating 
neighbouring communities would require additional representation to reflect its larger 
population and geography. At 40 councillors, the ratio would be approximately 1:2,969 
electors per councillor; at 48 councillors, approximately 1:2,474; at 52 councillors, 
approximately 1:2,284. These ratios are aligned with those of Plymouth and Exeter, 
maintaining the intensive local accountability characteristic of coastal urban authorities 
whilst providing capacity for strategic leadership across the expanded area. The specific 
council size should be determined through electoral review following reorganisation. 

Page 99



P a g e  | 85 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
15.21. This approach recognises that different settlement patterns naturally result in different 

representation ratios across the four proposed authorities. Critically, the precise council 
size for each authority should be determined by the Local Government Boundary 
Commission through its established electoral review process, informed by local 
consultation and the specific characteristics of each area. Whilst we have outlined expected 
ranges based on current council sizes, LGBCE methodology, and CIPFA benchmarking, the 
people of each area should have the final say on their own representation through a proper 
review process. 

 
15.22. Urban authorities with compact geographies typically operate effectively at lower ratios 

than extensive rural authorities, reflecting intensive casework demands and complex 
partnership working. However, the exact balance between democratic accountability and 
council efficiency is a matter for each community to determine through the electoral review 
process. 
 

The Path Forward 
 

15.23. We note that the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) paused 
its electoral review of Plymouth pending the outcome of this reorganisation process. We 
therefore strongly recommend that the Government invites the LGBCE to complete a 
comprehensive electoral review across all four proposed unitary authorities once the new 
boundaries are confirmed. This would ensure: 

 
• Fair and consistent application of electoral equality principles across Devon 
• New warding arrangements that reflect both existing and newly incorporated 

communities 
• Appropriate councillor numbers determined in line with the Commission's established 

methodology. 
 

15.24. The indicative ranges outlined above are intended to illustrate the anticipated scale of 
representation. However, the final determination of council sizes and ward boundaries 
should rightly rest with the LGBCE through its established review process. This approach 
upholds democratic legitimacy and ensures that decisions are made independently, without 
prejudging the outcome of the Commission's assessment. 

 
Electoral and Governance Model 
 

15.25. The strong Leader and Cabinet model will continue, with the Leader retaining authority to 
appoint up to nine Cabinet members. Cabinet portfolios may be adjusted to reflect the 
Council’s expanded responsibilities, with discretion to introduce new roles - for example, 
Rural Affairs or Parish Council Liaison. 

 
15.26. Scrutiny arrangements will be strengthened and expanded to provide effective oversight of 

services across the enlarged area, ensuring robust accountability and attention to both 
urban and rural priorities. 

 
Neighbourhood Networks for Community Empowerment 

Page 100



P a g e  | 86 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
15.27. This model is a direct response to extensive community engagement. The creation of 

innovative Neighbourhood Networks is designed to position the expanded Plymouth at the 
forefront of community-led governance. This approach is not a top-down imposition, this 
initial starting point is proposed following consultations with councillors and parish councils 
and is grounded in the findings of the comprehensive public engagement process. 

 
15.28. That extensive engagement delivered a clear message: there is an unequivocal demand for 

governance that is responsive, transparent, and "rooted in local knowledge". Our proposal 
addresses this directly by creating a structural guarantee for local influence. 

 
15.29. We have built this framework to address the key themes from our consultations: 

 
• Strengthening Parish Councils: Our approach is founded on the feedback that 

residents view their parish councils as "trusted, accessible, and deeply embedded in the 
fabric of local life". Acknowledging that the number one preference for future 
engagement is "Through my local parish council", our model is designed to strengthen 
their role, not diminish it. 

• Our Commitment to Fair Representation: A recurring concern was the potential 
for a "diluted rural voice". Our model provides a structural guarantee that rural 
communities will be fairly and effectively represented. 

• A Desire for Genuine Engagement: Residents made a clear distinction between 
meaningful engagement and "tokenistic or 'tick-box' exercises". This model is built on 
the principle of being "ongoing, not episodic, and rooted in a genuine commitment to 
co-design and collaboration". 

• A Preference for Incremental Development: Following feedback from councillors, 
we will adopt an incremental approach—building on what works, testing for progress, 
and positively growing the model over time. 

• The Importance of Partnership: In line with community feedback, the networks will 
ensure statutory partners like the police and health services are fully involved, enabling 
residents to have the right conversations with the right people. 

 
Framework for Future Community Governance 
 

15.30. The Neighbourhood Networks represent our proposed response to evolving expectations 
for local democracy. They will operate as collaborative forums bringing together ward 
councillors, parish representatives, community organisations, and key service partners. 
While this is our vision, we are clear that the final form and function of these networks 
must be determined through the community-led 'Test, Learn, Grow' process outlined 
below. They are not talking shops or another layer of bureaucracy. They are a practical 
enabler to enhance existing democratic structures. 

 
Operating Principles 
 

15.31. Each network will be designed around natural community areas, recognising that rural 
parishes and urban neighbourhoods have different needs. This flexible approach directly 
responds to the strong emotional attachment residents have to their local identity and the 
fear of becoming "just another suburb". Ward councillors will chair the networks, providing 
democratic leadership and community coordination. 

 

Page 101



P a g e  | 87 
 

OFFICIAL 

Our Co-Design Process: A ‘Test, Learn, Grow’ Approach 
 

15.32. This proposal intentionally avoids a rigid, pre-defined model for Neighbourhood Networks. 
We recognise that the tight timescale for submitting this proposal have not allowed for the 
significant, deep consultation required to develop a final model. Therefore, our approach is 
not to present a finished solution, but to outline a clear, community-led process to discover 
and build what works for each unique area, in line with the ‘Test, Learn, Grow’ 
methodology. 

 
15.33. Phase 1: Discover and Test - This initial phase is about listening and experimentation, 

not imposing solutions. 
 

• Listen Before Designing: We will start with extensive community listening sessions. 
These will be informal conversations in community spaces where people already gather—
coffee shops, community centres, school pickup points, and local markets. The goal is to 
understand how people experience local issues and what governance means to them in 
practical terms. 

• Map Existing Networks: Every community has informal leadership. We will identify the 
people others naturally turn to as our potential bridge-builders. 

• Pilot Small Experiments: We will test lightweight approaches before committing to 
formal structures. This could be a resident-led working group on a specific shared problem 
(like local green spaces or community safety), a community budgeting exercise for a small 
pot of money, or informal monthly "community coffee" sessions where the agenda emerges 
from what people bring. 

 
15.34. Phase 2: Learn and Refine - We will capture not just data, but the stories and narratives 

that explain why certain issues matter so much to communities and how current systems 
fall short. We will work with residents to rigorously evaluate the pilots and experiments, 
creating a shared understanding of what works locally and why. This learning will be the 
foundation for the next phase. 

 
15.35. Phase 3: Design & Grow - The rich learning from the pilots will directly inform the 

formal, co-designed structure of the mature Neighbourhood Networks. This ensures the 
final model is not imposed but is built from the ground up, owned by the community, and 
tailored to the unique character of each area. This iterative process allows us to scale up 
successful elements and create a truly responsive and enduring model for local democracy. 

 
Parish Partnership Agreements 
 

15.36. This approach is founded on the clear feedback from residents who view their Parish 
Councils as "trusted, accessible, and deeply embedded in the fabric of local life". Our 
agreements are therefore designed to empower and build upon this existing democratic 
foundation. Our model is built on strengthening, not supplanting, the first tier of local 
government. Enhanced partnership agreements will provide a framework for collaboration 
with parish councils that respects their local autonomy and established democratic 
processes. This includes opportunities for devolved responsibility for community-level 
service delivery and asset ownership, backed by support and training. 

 
Training and Capacity Building 
 

Page 102



P a g e  | 88 
 

OFFICIAL 

15.37. The authority will implement comprehensive training programmes for both staff and 
councillors to embed community empowerment principles. Support will be provided for 
community organisations, parish councils, and resident groups to engage effectively through 
training on committee skills, project management, and partnership working where this is 
desired.  

 
Implementation Timeline 
 

15.38. Networks will be active from vesting day and will develop to achieve mature operational 
capability soon after. 

 
Figure 14.1 
 

 
 
Our Commitment to the Future 
 

15.39. Ultimately, this proposal is about more than just governance structures. It is about building 
trust and delivering the future that residents told us they want to see. The work of the 
Neighbourhood Networks will be directly aimed at creating the Plymouth of 2050 that 
emerged from the consultation: a city that is greener and more sustainable, safer for all 
residents, and built upon a "strong, inclusive community". By empowering communities to 
shape their own neighbourhoods, we can collectively build a city where everyone feels 
proud to live, work, and learn. 

  

Year One 

Dedicated to the 'Test & Discover' phase: conducting the deep 
community listening and launching the first small-scale pilots and 
experiments.

Year Two 

Focus on the 'Learn & Refine' phase: evaluating the initial pilots and 
beginning to co-design the formal network structures based on 
that learning.

Year Three 

The 'Design & Grow' phase, seeing a wider, flexible rollout of the 
co-designed models to achieve full operational capability.

Page 103



P a g e  | 89 
 

OFFICIAL 

Better Services Across Devon 
 

Our Commitment to Safeguarding and Service Continuity 
 
16.1. The safety and safeguarding of all people receiving services is our absolute priority 

throughout this reorganisation and beyond. We are unequivocally committed to ensuring 
that no individual, whether a vulnerable child, adult at risk, or any person receiving care and 
support, will experience any reduction in the quality, safety, or continuity of their services 
during transition or in the new unitary structures. 

 
16.2. Safeguarding duties under the Children Act 1989, the Care Act 2014, and all related 

statutory frameworks will be maintained without interruption. Robust safeguarding 
arrangements, oversight mechanisms, and multi-agency partnerships will remain in place and 
be strengthened throughout the reorganisation process. The protection of vulnerable 
people is non-negotiable and will take precedence over all other considerations in our 
implementation plans. 

 
Services are local 

 
16.3. The delivery of high-quality public services that are responsive to, and shaped by, local 

needs is the bedrock upon which good local government is built. Residents and businesses 
rightly expect their local council to get the basics right and provide services that are reliable 
and efficient. This includes regular waste collections, timely consideration of planning 
applications, well-maintained roads, high quality education and childcare, and the vital care 
and support for vulnerable children and adults. 
 

16.4. Both Torbay and Plymouth's experience as a unitary authority demonstrates that 
authorities of this scale can deliver excellent services. The four-unitary model extends these 
benefits across Devon-   

 
o Plymouth and Exeter can focus on urban service challenges including housing, 

regeneration, and young populations  
o Torbay continues tailored services for its coastal community and ageing demographic 
o Devon Coast and Countryside can design services explicitly for dispersed rural 

geography rather than imposing inappropriate urban models   
 

16.5. This tailored approach delivers better outcomes than any single large authority attempting 
to serve incompatible urban and rural needs. 

 
16.6. Rising demand, cost and complexity in critical public services such as Adult and Children's 

Social Care and Special Education Need and Disabilities (SEND) is creating financial 
pressure for many councils. Reorganisation offers an opportunity to do things differently 
and to inject new ideas and localised, place-based approaches. 

 
16.7. Our current landscape of unitary and two-tier councils, while home to areas of excellence, 

is a product of history. It creates artificial barriers that prevent the truly joined-up services 
that modern public service delivery requires and that our residents deserve. This is a 
moment of opportunity, and we must be structured to seize it. 

 

Page 104



P a g e  | 90 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.8. This proposal outlines a vision to build on the county's considerable strengths by creating 
four unitary councils, each designed to unlock the full potential of the communities they 
serve: 

  
• An expanded Plymouth Authority - Extending a proven model of integrated service 

delivery across its natural community and economic area. 
 

• An expanded Torbay Authority - Scaling up a track record of innovation and 
nationally recognised excellence. 
 

• An expanded Exeter - Creating a strategic authority to build sustainable, thriving 
communities. 

 
• Devon Coast and Countryside - Providing a dedicated champion for the unique 

needs of our rural and coastal areas. 
  

16.9. This reform will create simpler, stronger, and more strategic local government. It will allow 
us to extend our best and most innovative services to more people, delivering better 
outcomes and creating a healthier, more prosperous future for every resident in Devon. 

  
A Foundation of Strength and a Vision for the Future 

  
16.10. The case for reorganisation is not about fixing what is broken but about unlocking what 

works. Across Devon there is outstanding service delivery, innovative partnerships, and 
nationally recognised success, however, these strengths are often constrained by a 
fragmented local government structure. 

  
Recognising the Models of Excellence 

  
16.11. As a unitary authority, Plymouth has developed sophisticated, integrated services that are 

already delivering for residents. Plymouth has created a social care model where users 
report levels of 'control over their daily life' Adult Social Care Outcome Framework 
(ASCOF Measure 4A) that are significantly higher than the national average. This is 
complemented by an award-winning planning service that determines 100% of major 
applications on time and a highways service that maintains local roads to a standard better 
than the regional average. This demonstrates a clear capacity for high-quality, strategic 
delivery. 

 
16.12. Torbay Council provides definitive proof of what a focused unitary authority can achieve. 

Its Children's Services are rated 'Good' by Ofsted, a testament to a successful 
transformation that now delivers strong outcomes. In adult services, its innovative model 
for managing the interface with the NHS has resulted in performance on 'delayed transfers 
of care' that is dramatically better than the national average. 

 
16.13. Within the two-tier system, Devon County Council has established a clear strategic 

success in supporting older people. Its adult social care service achieves significantly lower 
rates of permanent admissions to care homes than the national average (ASCOF Measures 
2A & 2B), demonstrating a successful focus on helping people to live independently in their 
own homes for longer. 

  

Page 105



P a g e  | 91 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.14. The challenge is that this excellence is contained by administrative boundaries. The 
reorganisation will break down these barriers, allowing us to build a future for all of Devon 
based on our best and most successful models. 

  
A foundation built on what works 

  
16.15. As a unitary authority, Plymouth has developed sophisticated, integrated services that are 

already delivering strong outcomes for residents. The Council's approach demonstrates 
how unified structures create the conditions for innovation and high-quality service delivery. 
Planning services have achieved national recognition through multiple Royal Town Planning 
Institute awards, including three Silver Jubilee Cups, a distinction no other authority has 
matched, whilst the joint health and social care model with Livewell Southwest has received 
positive assessments in recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) reviews. 

 
16.16. The challenge Plymouth faces is one of geography, not performance. Administrative 

boundaries currently constrain the Council's ability to extend these proven models across 
the natural community and economic area. The reorganisation addresses this fundamental 
issue, creating a geography that reflects how people live their lives, access services, and 
engage with their local economy. 

  
Children Services and Education 

 
Protecting the Improvement Journey 

 
16.17. Plymouth's children's services are progressing well following the January 2024 Ofsted 

assessment, which recognised strengthened practice. Once Government has decided the 
pattern of government, the subsequent implementation plan will demonstrate how we will 
protect this improvement trajectory, and those in wider Devon, ensuring that the Director 
of Children's Services can maintain focus on completing the transformation programme.  

 
16.18. Detailed implementation planning will include ring-fenced governance to protect the 

Improvement Board's work, clear timelines that avoid disruption to critical improvement 
milestones, and measurable performance targets covering workforce stability, caseload 
levels, and statutory compliance rates. 

  
Delivering Stable Homes, Built on Love 

 
16.19. The expanded Plymouth authority will be structured to deliver the Government's Stable 

Homes, Built on Love vision through fully integrated, multi-agency Family Help services that 
the National Framework demands. 

 
16.20. Plymouth's Children's Transformation and Improvement Project implements five key design 

principles including workforce stability, with the new Target Operating Model supporting 
reduced social worker turnover, localities structures integrating education and social care 
services, and targeted work to address adolescent care issues. Ofsted's January 2024 
assessment confirmed services "require improvement to be good", recognising 
strengthened practice in case summaries, supervision, visits, and plans. The Council has 
established a clear transformation plan to develop, sustain and embed good practice across 
all areas of service delivery. 

 

Page 106



P a g e  | 92 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.21. Extending Plymouth's boundary will create greater consistency in children's services across 
what is functionally a single community. The expanded area will enable a more unified 
approach to family hubs and preventative services directly addressing one of the key 
improvement priorities identified by Ofsted, whilst ensuring families receive seamless 
support regardless of historical administrative boundaries.  

 
Manageable Demand Integration 

 
16.22. Middle Super Output Area (MSOA) level analysis reveals that the extension area 

contributes negligible additional demand across all key children's social care metrics. The 
area's low population density and demographic characteristics result in substantially lower 
service demand compared to Plymouth's urban core, confirming that the expansion can be 
managed within existing operational capacity. 

 
16.23. Plymouth's established children's social care infrastructure, workforce, and systems can 

effectively absorb this minimal additional demand without requiring significant structural 
changes or service disruption. The extension represents an opportunity to extend proven 
practice and quality standards across a natural community area whilst maintaining service 
continuity for all families. 

 
Family Hubs and Early Help 

  
16.24. Plymouth's existing Family Hubs, delivered in partnership with Barnardo's, Lark, and Action 

for Children, provide an established platform for integrated family support. The unified 
structure will enable strategic coordination across service boundaries that currently hinder 
effective delivery. Plymouth's Family Hubs already demonstrate integrated approaches 
through "no wrong door" access and "tell my story once" assessments. 

 
16.25. Extension across the enlarged area will provide seamless family support services that 

currently require navigation across multiple authorities, bringing high-quality integrated 
services to all families. The Start for Life and Family Hubs Programme supporting the first 
1,001 days of child development represents established practice in early intervention that 
can be implemented consistently across the extended area. 

  
SEND Services Strategic Enhancement 

 
16.26. The analysis showing higher reliance on expensive independent sector provision in the 

extension area represents a genuine opportunity for strategic improvement but requires 
careful development to ensure any changes improve outcomes rather than simply reduce 
costs. Strategic SEND planning will be developed in close partnership with parents, schools 
and health partners to strengthen the support available to children with SEND and their 
families. 

 
16.27. Once Government has decided the pattern of government, the subsequent implementation 

plan will include meaningful engagement with service users, including documented 
consultation with care leavers, foster carers, and young people with SEND.  

 
16.28. A single authority can more effectively address identified SEND provision challenges 

through comprehensive strategic coordination across the functional catchment area. Unified 
arrangements enable more coherent SEND provision planning, eliminating boundary issues 

Page 107



P a g e  | 93 
 

OFFICIAL 

that currently complicate service delivery and creating opportunities to reduce high-cost 
placements through strategic sufficiency planning whilst ensuring all children can access 
appropriate provision closer to home.  

 
Workforce and Multi-Agency Coordination 

 
16.29. Ofsted praised Plymouth's highly effective recruitment and retention, which created a stable 

permanent workforce with manageable caseloads. Once Government has decided the 
pattern of government, the subsequent implementation plan will set out specific 
commitments to maintain this stability, including protection of terms and conditions for 
transferring staff and measures to sustain current caseload levels throughout transition.  

 
16.30. Given Devon County Council's ongoing intervention under a commissioner appointed in 

June 2025, the implementation plan will also demonstrate how Plymouth will engage 
constructively with the Commissioner's mandate and how the boundary change will be 
managed within existing multi-agency partnerships. 

 
Adult Social Care and Wellbeing 

  
Extending the "Gloriously Ordinary Lives" Vision 

 
16.31. Plymouth's joint delivery model with Livewell Southwest, established in 2015, represents 

mature leadership in integrated health and social care. The current vision of "Gloriously 
Ordinary Lives" provides a framework for people to live "their best life doing the things that 
matter to them, in a place they call home and supported by their own thriving connected 
community, able to access high quality advice, information and timely local services and 
support, where appropriate, in a way that they choose." 

 
16.32. Performance data demonstrates the effectiveness of this approach. Plymouth residents 

report levels of 'control over their daily life' (ASCOF Measure 4A) that are significantly 
higher than the national average. The service also achieves strong performance in 
reablement (Measure 1E), helping older people return home from hospital, whilst the 
integrated model supports effective delayed transfers of care (ASCOF Measure 2C). 

 
Strategic Service Integration 

 
16.33. Analysis of MSOA-level demographic and service usage data confirms that the extension 

area represents a modest increase in adult social care demand. The extension area's 
population characteristics, age profile, and existing service patterns indicate that additional 
demand will be minimal and well within Plymouth's established operational capacity. 

 
16.34. Plymouth's established adult social care infrastructure can absorb the additional demand 

whilst extending proven integrated health and social care delivery models to benefit all 
300,000 residents of the expanded area. Many of the service providers operating in this area 
have an existing relationship with the Plymouth Commissioning Team as there is a natural 
flow of individuals between the areas when they access support. The extension represents 
an opportunity to eliminate service fragmentation caused by arbitrary administrative 
boundaries whilst maintaining high-quality provision for all residents. The expanded area 
aligns neatly to the footprints of Primary Care Networks that currently straddle 

Page 108



P a g e  | 94 
 

OFFICIAL 

administrative areas and supports the development of natural neighbourhoods being 
developed under local Integrated Neighbourhood Team development. 

 
16.35. Plymouth has a long history of integrated commissioning with NHS partners, and has 

operated a joint market position statement, single integrated contracts with social care 
providers and joint market engagement. Plymouth is the only area in Devon where this is 
fully embedded, and this approach has reduced fragmentation and duplication between 
health and social care commissioning. This approach ensures care providers experience a 
‘single Plymouth commissioning voice’ and residents receive seamless care provision as they 
move between health and social care funding. In conjunction with our integrated Health and 
Social Care provider (Livewell) residents in the expanded area would receive truly joined 
up, person centred care. 

 
Comprehensive Improvement and Innovation 

 
16.36. A comprehensive improvement plan addresses all aspects of adult social care through five 

distinct programmes: improving waiting times and experience, vision and strategy 
development, people and practice enhancement, The Meadow View development, and 
direct payment services enhancement. 

 
16.37. The £27 million investment in The Meadow View project consolidates The Vine and Colwill 

services into a purpose-built centre for people with learning and physical disabilities. 
Scheduled for completion in July 2026, this facility will serve the entire extended area as a 
flagship resource providing innovative care approaches and community integration 
opportunities. 

 
Improvement in Reablement Services 

 
16.38. Plymouth is implementing a comprehensive reablement programme, starting October 2025, 

that aims to transform how Adult Social Care supports people to regain their 
independence. The programme vision focuses on remaining independent and effective self-
led life assessment, moving away from traditional service-dependent models towards 
community-based approaches that prevent escalation of need and reduce reliance on 
statutory services. 

 
16.39. The programme places strong emphasis on recovery, rehabilitation, and outcome-focused 

support, ensuring that individuals are empowered to regain independence and live well in 
their communities. Through collaboration working between Livewell Southwest, Plymouth 
City Council's Place Directorate, and other partners, the programme strengthens 
connections between what services can do for people and what individuals can see they 
could do differently. This approach aims to maximise independence and the efficiency of 
existing services whilst improving long-term outcomes across reablement, community 
outreach, independence at home service, and technology-enabled care. 

 
16.40. Key milestones include achieving 80% of people aged 65 and over remaining at home 91 

days after discharge from hospital, with reablement capacity increased by 20% through 
workforce and referral pathway redesign. The programme targets a 25% reduction in long-
term care packages through accelerated reviews of existing packages, with an anticipated 
annual saving of around £500,000 alongside a 10% improvement in independence outcomes 
at the point of reviews. The service aims for a 15% improvement in independence 

Page 109



P a g e  | 95 
 

OFFICIAL 

outcomes at the point of review, with a 10% reduction in response times and 20% increases 
in outreach coverage. 

 
16.41. The programme encompasses strategic reduction in long-term care dependency through a 

robust and proactive system for reviewing existing care arrangements and making timely 
interventions. This supports system sustainability, reduces demand pressures, and improves 
individual outcomes. The pathway to independence at home service focuses on building 
networks for enhanced community-based support through targeted operational 
improvements, ensuring timely interventions, reduced delayed discharges, and step service 
delivery pathways. 

 
16.42. Innovation through technology-enabled care represents a careful and measured approach. 

The programme will implement and evaluate technology solutions that support 
independence including artificial intelligence applications where appropriate. These tools aim 
to enhance service efficiency, enable early identification of needs, and support timely 
interventions. Operational excellence in community outreach focuses on redesigning and 
streamlining how the service responds to enquiries, providing easier access and place-based 
delivery through wellbeing hubs, enhanced access routes, reduced waiting times, and 
strengthened local offer. This strategic shift empowers people to live independently, 
reduces service dependency, and positions the service as a pivotal entry point across front 
door services that helps individuals reframe their needs and engage with community assets. 

 
Wellbeing Hubs and Integrated Support 

 
16.43. Plymouth's Wellbeing Hubs received strong ratings during Local Government Association 

peer review, with clear recognition of their potential to reach more residents across 
communities. The "no wrong door" approach through locality networks aligned to wellbeing 
hubs and family hubs provides seamless, integrated support across health, social care, and 
community services. 

 
16.44. Many commissioned care providers and voluntary sector partners including Age UK and 

YMCA already operate across the current Plymouth-Devon boundary, including care 
homes, domiciliary care agencies, supported living providers, residential children's homes, 
foster care and supported accommodation providers. This existing cross-boundary working 
provides a foundation for seamless service extension whilst the Older Persons Strategy 
incorporating adult social care, housing, leisure, social inclusion, and transport issues can be 
extended to support the growing older population across the expanded area. 

 
Housing and Planning 

  
Strategic Response to the Housing Crisis 

  
16.45. By setting the Local Planning Authority (LPA) across a larger area, an expanded Plymouth 

authority will deliver a far more effective and strategic response to the region's housing 
crisis than is possible through the current arrangements.   

 
16.46. Decisions about the form and location of new development will be able to be made in the 

context of understanding the city’s functional area and its relationship to surrounding rural 
settlements and the countryside.  This will help the new LPA to meet the area’s housing 
requirement in a manner which is the most sustainable, safeguarding the special 

Page 110



P a g e  | 96 
 

OFFICIAL 

characteristics of the rural environment and optimising the use of land in the city. Through 
coordinated planning and delivery across area more sensible planning area, there will be 
considerable opportunities a more strategic approach to infrastructure delivery, supporting 
the provision of services to ensure that new and existing homes have the facilities and 
accessibility they need. 

 
16.47. Plymouth's Homelessness Recovery Programme features seven dedicated action plans that 

successfully address complex housing challenges across the prevention spectrum. The 
programme has delivered 78 new units of temporary accommodation for homeless families 
since 2023 with 95 more in the pipeline, whilst implementing strategic approaches that have 
we achieved a 66% reduction in 2024/25 from the previous year of the number of families in 
Bed and Breakfast accommodation through innovative planning and partnership working. 

  
Highways and Transport 

  
Highway Service Excellence and Innovation 

  
16.48. Plymouth's highway service manages two distinct categories of assets: the resilience 

network which carries most of the traffic that affects the economy, and the unclassified 
network for local access. The authority has successfully implemented cost-effective 
maintenance strategies, with surface dressing reducing resurfacing costs from approximately 
£50 per square metre to £10 per square metre whilst delivering substantial improvements. 
The expanded area will provide economies of scale for highway maintenance activities such 
as surface dressing and velocity repair systems. 

 
16.49. Residents will benefit from the extension of a best-in-class highways service, which already 

maintains local A, B and C roads to a standard better than the regional average. The 
expansion of Plymouth presents significant opportunities for highways and transport 
integration through strategic coordination and economies of scale. 

 
16.50. Key highway assets including condition monitoring systems, emergency response 

capabilities, and technical expertise can be extended across an expanded Plymouth, 
providing enhanced service delivery to rural communities whilst maintaining Plymouth's 
established standards for the resilience network that supports the city's economic functions. 

 
16.51. Plymouth's highway service has demonstrated innovation through development of 

commercial opportunities, including CCTV monitoring services. With the current 
Southwest Highways contract period ending in 2027, there are opportunities to adopt more 
dynamic approaches including potential trading company models that could reduce costs 
whilst increasing commercial opportunities.  

  
Strategic Transport Investment 

  
16.52. Plymouth's role hosting the sub-national transport body positions the council as a regional 

leader in transport planning and delivery. The authority will build on the area's high bus 
usage, which currently stands at 15.5 million passenger journeys a year, using its £311.4 
million Bus Services Improvement Plan to improve connectivity for all. Combined with the 
£706.3 million strategic transport infrastructure investment, this demonstrates the scale of 
transport transformation already underway. 

 

Page 111



P a g e  | 97 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.53. The Enhanced Bus Partnership with local operators creates a proven model for public 
transport coordination that can be extended across the enlarged area, improving 
connectivity whilst reducing car dependency and supporting sustainable development 
patterns. 

 
Environment and Waste 

  
Waste Collection and Recycling 

  
16.54. Plymouth currently operates comprehensive environmental services including domestic 

waste collection for residual waste, recycling, and garden waste, with food waste collection 
planned to commence in late April 2026 which will add nine additional rounds.  

 
16.55. Whilst no changes to rounds will be made on or immediately after vesting day, there will be 

a future opportunity to integrate including the redesign and optimisation of collection 
routes across the combined areas, which could deliver cost savings whilst improving service 
delivery. 

 
Environmental Infrastructure 

  
16.56. The delivery and coordination of environmental infrastructure is illustrated by Plymouth’s 

leadership of the Plymouth and South Devon Community Forest a new project that will see 
thousands of new trees planted across the city. It will stretch from the heart of the city to 
the edge of the moor, encompassing 1,900 hectares of land to form a mosaic of different 
forest habitats. The City Council is also leading on other environmental programmes 
working closely with the National Trust, the Environment Agency, and South West Water. 

 
Grounds Maintenance and Environmental Management 

  
16.57. The authority manages extensive grounds maintenance operations covering 20,000 

individual grass areas, play parks, and sports pitches, alongside arboriculture services. 
Environmental planning services will be integrated with grounds maintenance and 
arboriculture to form a unified service structure, providing opportunities for coordinated 
approach to environmental management across the expanded area. 

 
16.58. Plymouth's highly proactive approach to supporting a more sustainable and net zero city will 

be able to be rolled out across the wider area, enabling it to benefit from being part of 
Plymouth’s Net Zero Partnership and wider initiatives to deliver environmental and 
decarbonisation outcomes.  Since 2016, the Council has secured over £450m in external 
grants for net zero infrastructure and other projects, delivering a total investment of over 
£662m (and this excludes substantial grants for major highways projects that also deliver 
improved active travel and public transport opportunities).   

 
16.59. The integrated approach to environmental management supports coordinated climate 

action implementation across the natural geographic area, enabling more effective resource 
management and environmental protection that recognises ecological boundaries rather 
than administrative divisions. The strategic approach includes comprehensive environmental 
monitoring, coordinated biodiversity enhancement, and integrated approaches to 
sustainable development that support both environmental protection and economic growth. 

 

Page 112



P a g e  | 98 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.60. The proposed expansion creates a unified structure that eliminates service fragmentation 
whilst extending Plymouth's proven capabilities across crucial services to benefit all 
residents. Plymouth's leadership in social care innovation, children's services development, 
SEND provision, homelessness prevention, planning, and economic development creates 
substantial opportunities for the extended area. 

  
A Cohesive and Ambitious Future for All of Devon 

 
16.61. The creation of an expanded Plymouth authority is the cornerstone of the proposal, but the 

vision for a better Devon is incomplete without tailored plans for the rest of the county. 
 

Expanding Torbay - Balancing Opportunity with Risk Management 
 
16.62. The expanded Torbay authority presents significant opportunities to build on the council's 

impressive track record of innovation and high performance, offering the potential to scale 
a proven model of integrated service excellence across a wider South Devon geography, 
whilst requiring careful management to preserve the achievements that make Torbay a 
national exemplar. 

 
Preserving Integrated Care Excellence 

 
16.63. Central to Torbay's success is its nearly twenty-year pioneering approach to integrated 

health and social care. The Integrated Care Organisation (ICO) has been described as "a 
pathfinder and national leader" in delivering seamless services maintaining exceptional 
delayed transfer of care performance that ranks among the best nationally.  

 
16.64. Whatever the outcome of reorganisation, this model must be protected. Expansion offers 

opportunities to extend this nationally recognised approach across a wider coastal 
geography facing similar demographic challenges. The ICO model's integrated 
neighbourhood approach, community support model which diverts residents from statutory 
services, and close relationships with the voluntary sector could benefit a larger population 
whilst maintaining the localised delivery that has been fundamental to its success. 

 
16.65. However, expansion would require careful planning to ensure the model remains coherent 

and effective at larger scale. The authority would need to maintain strong NHS partnership 
arrangements whilst extending them to cover additional Primary Care Networks, creating 
seamless care pathways across the enlarged area without diluting the integration that 
characterises Torbay's achievement. 

 
A Centre of Excellence for Children's Services 

 
16.66. As the only authority in the area rated 'Good' by Ofsted, the expanded Torbay could 

become a recognised centre of excellence for children's services. The council's 
transformation journey, built on restorative practice and workforce engagement, has 
achieved remarkable results with notably low social worker vacancy rates.  

 
16.67. In February 2023, Torbay became the first UK local authority awarded Registered 

Restorative Organisation status by the Restorative Justice Council. The Learning Academy's 
"grow your own" approach to recruiting and developing social workers offers potential to 
benefit children and families across a wider South Devon geography. 

Page 113



P a g e  | 99 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
16.68. The opportunity to extend this excellence requires balanced consideration. Expansion 

would enable Torbay's restorative practice framework to benefit a larger cohort of children 
and families, with the Learning Academy model creating career development pathways 
across the enlarged area. However, protecting current performance during any expansion 
requires careful transition planning, maintaining workforce stability, and ensuring the 
restorative culture can be embedded across new teams. The authority would need to 
preserve the focused leadership and clear accountability that has been fundamental to 
Torbay's improvement journey. 

 
16.69. The authority demonstrates strong cost control in children's services despite high demand 

pressures. Through the Safety Valve intervention programme, Torbay is successfully 
addressing High Needs Block pressures with a clear deficit recovery plan, progress that 
could be maintained within stable boundaries. Strategic SEND planning across a larger 
geography could create additional opportunities for sufficiency planning and local provision 
development, whilst requiring coordination to maintain progress on deficit reduction. 

 
Environmental Leadership 

 
16.70. Torbay demonstrates exceptional environmental stewardship with zero municipal waste 

going to landfill compared to regional and national averages, alongside significantly lower 
greenhouse gas emissions per capita than both the Southwest and England averages, 
performance that could be extended across an expanded area. The unified authority could 
develop comprehensive environmental strategies addressing coastal erosion, flood risk and 
biodiversity protection at a scale matching ecological boundaries 

 
Exeter - A Strategic Hub for Sustainable Communities 

 
16.71. Greater Exeter would bring together Exeter's strategic role as a major transport hub and 

UNESCO City of Literature with the surrounding market towns and communities across 
East Devon, Mid Devon and Teignbridge that form its natural catchment. 

 
Integrated Service Delivery Model 

 
16.72. The Greater Exeter authority would operate through a multi-level service delivery model 

combining strategic functions at authority level with place-based delivery through locality 
teams. This structure addresses the area's diverse characteristics, from the dense urban 
core of Exeter to market towns and rural communities. The authority would develop clear 
neighbourhood governance arrangements in line with the English Devolution and 
Empowerment Bill, building on existing parish and town council structures whilst creating 
new capacity for community engagement in urban areas. 

 
Strategic Housing and Growth Coordination 

 
16.73. A unified authority could accelerate delivery of significant housing growth, coordinating the 

Liveable Exeter programme within the city with strategic growth sites east and southwest 
of Exeter. By bringing housing, planning, transport and infrastructure under single strategic 
control, the authority could overcome the fragmentation that has hindered the Greater 
Exeter Strategic Plan, ensuring new communities receive the schools, health services and 
transport connections needed from day one. 

Page 114



P a g e  | 100 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
16.74. The authority's unified planning powers enable strategic infrastructure delivery across the 

entire functional area. Major transport corridors, strategic drainage, education provision 
and healthcare facilities can be planned holistically, creating conditions for sustainable 
growth that meets housing need whilst protecting environmental assets. The Housing 
Delivery Test confirms Greater Exeter's strong recent performance at 108% delivery 
against target for 2020/21 to 22/23, providing a foundation for continued delivery at scale. 

 
Opportunities to Address Critical Service Gaps 

 
16.75. Greater Exeter has significant opportunities to develop adult social care strategically 

through integration of housing, planning and commissioning powers in adult social care that 
a unified authority would be well-positioned to address. The area requires substantial 
additional care home capacity to support older people with complex needs and dementia, 
with the majority of this need concentrated in East Devon and Exeter. The area also faces 
considerable Extra Care housing deficits. A new authority could integrate housing, planning 
and social care powers to strategically commission and deliver Extra Care housing, 
embedding provision within city regeneration schemes and brownfield developments. 

 
16.76. The authority could leverage Wellbeing Exeter and established community infrastructure to 

develop neighbourhood-based adult social care aligned with NHS Primary Care Network 
boundaries, addressing current over-reliance on residential care placements. Through 
integrated commissioning with NHS partners, the authority could strengthen hospital 
discharge pathways and expand reablement services focused on maintaining independence. 

 
16.77. Greater Exeter's projected population growth in older age groups, particularly those aged 

75 and over, requires proactive investment in Extra Care housing, enhanced domiciliary 
care capacity and specialist dementia services. The unified authority's integrated housing and 
planning powers enable strategic provision embedded within new developments from the 
outset rather than as an afterthought. Working with developers, housing associations and 
care providers ensures new housing growth includes appropriate care infrastructure. 

 
A Catalyst for Children's Services Transformation 

 
16.78. Devon County Council's children's services have been rated Inadequate by Ofsted since 

2020, with recent reinspection in September 2024 finding the authority still inadequate. The 
creation of Greater Exeter authority would provide a necessary catalyst for transformation, 
enabling a fresh start with new leadership and clear accountability.  

 
16.79. Local government reorganisation offers the opportunity to build transformation capacity, 

with the authority able to leverage the University of Exeter and Exeter College to create 
structured pipelines into social care careers. Using local housing and economic development 
powers to provide affordable housing for social workers, educational psychologists and 
SEND caseworkers could directly address the workforce retention challenges that have 
hampered improvement. 

 
16.80. By aligning education, housing, health and employment services under single strategic 

control, the authority would be well-placed to deliver the integrated "Family Help" services 
and Best Start Family Hubs mandated by the new Children's Social Care National 
Framework, ensuring comprehensive early intervention support. 

Page 115



P a g e  | 101 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
 

Locality-Based Children's Services 
 
16.81. The authority would implement locality-based children's services integrating early help, 

children's social care, youth services and SEND provision. These locality teams would 
create accessible local presence across the authority's geography whilst maintaining 
sufficient scale for specialist expertise and management oversight. Working in partnership 
with schools, health services and voluntary sector organisations, locality teams would 
deliver coordinated multi-agency support with clear accountability. 

 
16.82. The authority's access to the University of Exeter, Exeter College and other educational 

institutions creates opportunities for structured social work pipelines and workforce 
development. Strategic use of integrated housing and economic development powers can 
support affordable accommodation for key workers, addressing retention challenges where 
high housing costs create recruitment barriers. 

 
SEND Service Development 

 
16.83. Greater Exeter requires strategic SEND planning to ensure appropriate local provision and 

reduce reliance on expensive independent sector placements. The unified authority enables 
comprehensive planning across education, social care and health, developing specialist 
resourced provision in mainstream schools, expanding local special school capacity where 
needed, and creating appropriate post-16 pathways. 

 
16.84. Working in partnership with schools, parents and health colleagues, the authority would 

strengthen universal and targeted support whilst ensuring appropriate specialist provision 
where needed. Unified planning enables effective quality assurance, strategic workforce 
development for SEND specialisms, and coordinated transitions between education phases 
and into adulthood. 

 
Devon Coast and Countryside - Tailored Services for a Unique Landscape 

 
16.85. This new authority would provide a bespoke solution for Devon's vast rural and coastal 

communities, designed to address the distinct challenges of an aging population across 
dispersed geography while building on established strengths in adult social care and 
environmental services. 

 
Locality Model for Rural Delivery 

 
16.86. The authority would operate through a locality model explicitly designed for dispersed rural 

and coastal geography. Locality teams based in key market towns would provide accessible 
local presence for residents whilst maintaining the scale needed for specialist capacity and 
resilience. These teams would integrate services currently split between county and district 
councils, creating coherent delivery across housing, planning, adult social care, children's 
social care and community services. 

 
16.87. The locality structure enables services to be shaped by and responsive to local communities 

rather than imposed from distant centres. Working extensively with town and parish 

Page 116



P a g e  | 102 
 

OFFICIAL 

councils, voluntary sector partners and community organisations, the authority would 
harness local knowledge and community connections that are essential for effective rural 
service delivery. Each locality would develop place-based approaches flexing to meet the 
varying needs across different communities, from coastal towns to moorland villages, from 
commuter settlements to agricultural heartlands. 

 
16.88. Strategic authority-wide functions would provide consistency, specialist services that benefit 

from scale, and infrastructure supporting local delivery. This includes commissioning of 
specialist adult social care and children's placements, strategic workforce development, 
emergency planning, and major infrastructure projects that serve the whole authority area. 

 
Responding to Demographic Realities 

 
16.89. The authority would serve a substantial population with significant projected growth in 

older age groups, particularly among the oldest residents. This aging profile, combined with 
higher dementia prevalence in coastal districts and higher long-term residential care 
admission rates in more rural districts, requires a service model fundamentally different 
from urban areas. The authority could focus investment on preventing costly residential 
placements by expanding Extra Care Housing, reablement, and community support that 
enable people to live independently longer, with potential for significant annual savings. 

 
Building on Devon's Adult Social Care Strengths 

 
16.90. Devon County Council's adult social care performs strongly, with comprehensive CQC 

self-assessment underway and strong satisfaction measures. The council has achieved 
consistent financial performance with a clear practice model emphasising quality of life, 
strengths-based approaches, and early prevention. Any future Devon Coast and 
Countryside authority should build on these foundations, minimising disruption whilst 
realising benefits of integrating district council housing and community services functions. 

 
16.91. The authority's scale enables strategic commissioning working effectively with Devon's 

predominantly small and medium-sized care providers who offer essential hyper-local 
knowledge and community connections. Rather than favouring large national providers, the 
authority can develop the local care market through strategic partnerships, quality 
development support, and fair pricing recognising genuine costs of rural delivery. 

 
Hyper-Local Service Delivery Model 

 
16.92. A "hub-and-spoke" model could ensure specialist services reach key market towns while 

deep partnerships with town and parish councils deliver truly local responsiveness. The 
authority could develop place-based commissioning strategies that work with Devon's 
predominantly small and medium-sized care providers, who offer hyper-local knowledge, to 
build market resilience and ensure the right care is available close to home. 

 
16.93. The locality model would integrate housing, social care, and community services with NHS 

and voluntary sector partners where beneficial. This approach would address the reality 
that domiciliary care costs in Devon are among the highest in the Southwest due to rurality 
and travel distances, requiring innovative solutions like expanding Shared Lives placements, 
which offer substantially lower costs compared to residential care while promoting 
independence. 

Page 117



P a g e  | 103 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

Children's Services Improvement 
 
16.94. For children's services, local government reorganisation provides an essential opportunity 

to address the sustained failure that has persisted in Devon County Council's provision.  
 

16.95. A rural-focused authority could concentrate on building the necessary capacity for 
improvement without the distraction arising from the higher levels of need and demand in 
urban centres. This would enable implementation of the National Framework's preventative 
approach adapted specifically to rural community contexts. 

  

Page 118



P a g e  | 104 
 

OFFICIAL 

Financial Resilience 
 

Financial Resilience – Context 
 

17.1. Our proposal will lead to ongoing savings in the cost of running local government across 
Devon, delivering significant efficiencies and value for money for taxpayers through a 
reduction in the number of councils from 11 to 4. The financial case prepared in 
collaboration with Exeter City Council, is presented in detail in the appendix. where we 
have set out the cost data, assumptions, evidence, and methodology in detail.  
 

17.2. Plymouth's expansion is financially robust, yielding an annual benefit of £6 million against a 
one-off transition cost of £4.9 million. For all four unitary authorities in Devon, the overall 
financial case for our modified proposal is highly compelling – 

 
• The total investment is £70.1 million (Transition Costs). 
• This investment quickly pays for itself, with a full payback achieved by Year 3. 
• The new structure generates £58 million in Net Annual Benefit by Year 4  

 
17.3. This plan represents excellent value for money and significantly strengthens the financial 

resilience of the entire Devon region. This section summarises the financial case for our 
base proposal (and our modification) across Devon, and demonstrates, for the modification 
proposed, that each of the four authorities created will be financially viable – putting local 
government in Devon on a firmer financial footing. The financial case for a modification of 
the base proposal is explained through a comparison of the viability of four local authorities 
on existing district boundaries with the (more sustainable) modification proposed, which 
improves financial sustainability significantly.  

 
17.4. This section also reviews the balance sheet position of Devon’s local authorities, examining 

risks relating to council debt and financial resilience. Implementation costs are estimated 
and broken down for each of the four new councils, and the cashflow and financing 
implications of implementing a new model of local government are explained across a 
medium-term transition period, showing how implementation costs are repaid over time 
through efficiency savings and the release of capital receipts. Finally, this section summarises 
the position relating to inherited council tax rates for each of the proposed four new 
council areas. 

 
Viability and financial sustainability 

 
Overall resources: comparing the financial size of new proposed unitary councils 

 
17.5. Figures 16.1 and 16.2 below show how the size, in overall resource terms, of the proposed 

unitary councils compares to existing English single-tier councils.  Whilst in the base 
proposal (figure 16.1), the proposed Torbay and Exeter unitaries are relatively small in 
overall resource terms, figure 16.2 shows how the modified proposal puts all of the 
proposed councils into the middle quartiles when compared to existing English unitaries. 

 
  

Page 119



P a g e  | 105 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 16.1 

 
 
Figure 16.2 

 
 

Viability: estimated costs compared to estimated income 
 

17.6. We have used detailed financial modelling to compare estimated costs with estimated 
income for the proposed unitaries.  This analysis uses reported RA return and taxbase data 
as the basis for modelling cost and council tax income at current prices, with specialist 
forecasts of Business Rates and Revenue Support Grant income (together, the estimated 
Settlement Funding Assessment) provided by PIXEL, expert consultants in local government 
finance and funding. The Settlement Funding Assessment forecasts for each proposed 
unitary have used the formula funding approach proposed in government’s recent Fair 

Page 120



P a g e  | 106 
 

OFFICIAL 

Funding Review 2.0 consultation, which is anticipated to have a significant impact on local 
authority funding in Devon as a whole and for each proposed council.  The Estimated Net 
Cost of Service shown table 16.1 below includes the assumed savings detailed in table 16.4 
(though not the ‘stretch’ savings, where there is less assurance over delivery).  Forecast 
costs and taxbase use a 2025/26 baseline position, and SFA income has been scaled back to 
a 2025/26 price base to ensure comparability.  The methodology and approach is explained 
in more detail in the appendix; the position on Dedicated Schools Grant and Housing 
Revenue Account ring-fenced funding is explored separately below. 

 
17.7. Tables 16.1 and 16.2 below summarise the modelled position for the base and modified 

proposals: 
 

Table 16.1 

 
  

Table 16.2 

 
 

17.8. Our modelling forecasts that an Exeter Unitary on current district boundaries (the base 
case proposal) is likely to have costs that exceed its income – with a large funding gap which 
will pose a significant financial challenge.  On current boundaries the changes to formula 
funding modelled by PIXEL suggest that both Plymouth and Torbay are likely to face 
financial challenges (though less significant).  Under the modified proposals, Exeter, Torbay 
and Plymouth authorities our analysis shows an improved financial position when comparing 
costs with income for an expanded Exeter, Torbay and Plymouth unitaries, with the rural / 
coastal Devon council still showing a healthy surplus in funding.  Analysis suggests that the 
modified proposal would create four viable unitary councils, with a modelled surplus 
providing some resilience against demand pressures or other financial shocks.    

 
Dedicated schools grant & SEND  

 
17.9. In common with other areas in England, the structural imbalance of costs and income for 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities services poses the most significant threat to 
financial viability for local government in Devon.  All current top tier councils face growing 
deficits on the DSG high needs block, with Devon County Council’s cumulative DSG deficit 

Page 121



P a g e  | 107 
 

OFFICIAL 

standing at £127.2m as at the end of 2024/25.  Councils across the country await details of 
the governments proposed reforms to the SEND system and DSG funding.  We have not 
attempted to predict or forecast how reforms and changes to funding would impact the 
position for councils in Devon by April 2028 (when the current statutory override ends).  
Our analysis assumes that the issue of SEND deficits will be addressed in a way which 
ensures the viability of other council services is protected as far as possible from financial 
impact.  The size of Devon County Council’s SEND deficit means that any alternative 
assumption would pose fundamental challenges to viability, whatever the structure of 
unitary local government proposed for Devon. 

 
Housing Revenue Account  

 
17.10. There are three Councils in Devon that have retained their Council Housing stock.  The 

three Councils have adjoining boundaries and under our base and modified proposals, the 
functions would move across to two of the proposed Unitary Authorities.  In the base 
proposal, the current East and Mid Devon HRA functions would merge within the Devon 
Coast and Countryside proposal.  In the modified proposal, some stock from the current 
East and Mid Devon would fall within the boundary of an expanded Exeter unitary, with 
other East and Mid Devon stock falling within the Devon Coast and Countryside unitary.  
The current number of properties are set out in the table below: 
 

Table 16.3 
Council Number of Properties 
East Devon District Council 4,129 
Exeter City Council 4,789 
Mid Devon District Council 2,975 
Total 11,893 

 
17.11. It is anticipated that under the modified proposal, approximately 7,000 properties would be 

consolidated within the Expanded Exeter unitary with the balance (close to 5,000 
properties) consolidated within the Devon Coast and Countryside council. 

 
17.12. Transitional costs that impact the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) have been built into the 

wider financial proposal.  The main transitional costs that will impact the HRA are as 
follows: 

 
• Redundancy; 
• Programme delivery team; 
• External communication and branding; 
• Workforce onboarding, culture and development; 
• ICT set up and consolidation. 

 
17.13. Whilst many of the transition costs will be relatively low, it is anticipated that there is the 

potential for reasonable redundancy costs and ICT consolidation costs.  The funding of the 
transition costs will be managed in the same manner as the wider transition costs for the 
proposal. 

 
17.14. Reducing from three HRAs to two will enable reasonably significant management savings of 

around 15-20% within the initial years of the new Councils operation.  The three Councils 
currently spend close to £20m on management and supervision, which means there is an 

Page 122



P a g e  | 108 
 

OFFICIAL 

opportunity to deliver around £4 million a year in savings to fund the transitional costs and 
invest in the existing stock.  Longer term savings will be realised from contract and ICT 
consolidation allowing further investment in stock and the potential to invest in additional 
social house building. 

 
17.15. The Regulator of Social Housing's Rent Standard will continue to apply to individual 

properties in the new Unitary Authorities and therefore it will be essential that the new 
Councils ensure that the standards have been followed appropriately in the previous 
Authorities. 

 
17.16. In summary, the re-configuration of existing Housing Revenue Accounts and the reduction 

of the number of HRAs from three down to two poses opportunities and risks relating to 
both the base and modified proposals: 

 
• Managing Transitional costs will be challenging as most capital receipts associated with 

the HRA are derived from Right to Buy sales which have certain restrictions meaning 
they cannot be used to fund Transitional Costs.  This will mean a greater reliance on 
revenue reserves; 

• Exeter City Council’s HRA has a healthy level of revenue reserves, which can fund 
transition in the modified proposal for an expanded Exeter unitary.  These reserves 
could subsequently be replenished by the saving arising from a reduction in management 
costs over the first few years; 

• The other two HRAs have weaker revenue reserves, which will put pressure on the 
Devon Coast and Countryside HRA when managing transition costs in both the base 
case and modified proposals. 

• Commissioning a stock condition survey, ensuring there is an asset management plan in 
place for housing and developing a 30-year business plan will be resource intensive and 
costly, but essential to the understanding of the future resource requirements in all 
scenarios. 

• Both HRAs would be of a manageable size to allow for effective management in all 
proposed scenarios.  Under our modified proposal, the smaller HRA (Devon Coast & 
Countryside) would be of a similar size to the existing Exeter City Council HRA. 

 
The Financial Case for four Unitary Councils - costs, savings, and payback period 

 
Savings and improved viability  

 
17.17. Across the Devon area (including Plymouth and Torbay), we estimate that our proposals 

will deliver annual, ongoing efficiency savings of around £50m-£70m per annum for both the 
base case and modified proposals. These figures are estimates based on detailed modelling 
and a range of assumptions.  Table 16.4 below sets out a summary breakdown of the areas 
where savings will be achieved; full details of the methodology and assumptions used are set 
out in the appendix.  After implementation costs are paid back, we estimate that the 
modified proposal would deliver a total cumulative saving of over £400m across a 10-year 
period following the creation of new Unitary councils.   
 

17.18. These savings will improve the viability of local government in Devon, at a point where 
Devon is likely to see an overall reduction in the level of government grant and business 
rates relative to other parts of the country due to the impact of the Fair Funding Review.  
Tables 16.1 and 16.2 above show how our modified proposal ensures that the financial 

Page 123



P a g e  | 109 
 

OFFICIAL 

dividend of Local Government Reorganisation in Devon is distributed more evenly to 
create four viable unitary councils.   

 
17.19. Looking at the extended Plymouth proposal alone, our modelling suggests that the viability 

of an extended Plymouth council would be improved by over £6m per annum when 
compared to the base proposal (which maintains Plymouth City Council on its current 
boundaries).  This represents a strong payback for Plymouth in viability terms – a £6m 
annual return on an initial investment of £4.9m. 

 
Table 16.4: estimated savings (base and modified proposal): 
 

 
 

17.20. The total estimated annual saving of £64.5m / £58.4m (for the base / modified proposal) has 
been included in our viability modelling.  This is a net figure, with savings from the 
consolidation of lower tier and corporate services offsetting the additional costs of creating 
a fourth set of upper tier services.  A brief explanation of each category of saving is set out 
here – further detail (including detail on assumptions and methodology used) is set out in 
the appendix.  

 
17.21. Service disaggregation costs are the additional fixed costs of setting up a fourth set of 

upper-tier services – an addition to existing costs for management, systems and specialist 
fixed cost functions in education, social care, highways, public health and other ‘top tier’ 
service areas across the two existing unitary councils and Devon County Council.  These 
are estimated to be lower in the base proposal, because the small size of Exeter would 
drive a lower cost for core services, whereas the much larger size of the Devon Coast and 
Countryside base case authority would benefit from economies of scale.  

 
17.22. Service consolidation savings are savings to fixed costs for lower-tier services, 

delivered by reducing the level of duplication in systems, management costs and specialist 
functions for planning, waste collection, environmental health, parks, street cleaning and 
other functions that are currently carried out by 10 different councils (which would reduce 
to 4 under our proposals).  As with service disaggregation costs, the base proposal would 
have lower fixed costs overall due to the much larger size of the Devon Coast and 
Countryside council and so the savings are greater in this category under the base proposal. 

 

Page 124



P a g e  | 110 
 

OFFICIAL 

17.23. Corporate service consolidation savings are savings to fixed costs for corporate 
services, delivered through a reduction in the number of corporate functions (HR, Finance, 
Asset Management, ICT etc.) across local government in Devon from 11 to 4.  Again, 
because of economies of scale the savings in this category are greater in the base proposal. 

 
17.24. Optimising senior leadership savings will be delivered through a reduction in the 

number of senior leaders across local government in Devon.   
 

17.25. Optimising costs of democracy savings relate to a reduction in the number of elected 
councillors across Devon, and a reduction in the number of local government elections 
held, because of reducing the number of councils from 11 to 4. 

 
17.26. Property rationalisation is anticipated as a result of local government re-organisation – 

as in previous LGR exercises elsewhere in the country, there will be buildings that become 
surplus to requirements because of the merger of councils and a re-distribution of staff 
work bases.  The saving has been estimated based on the costs of main office 
accommodation only. 

 
17.27. Service transformation savings relate to further reductions in the cost of delivering 

frontline services (over and above the service consolidation savings) because of changes to 
delivery models that deliver efficiencies.  There are likely to be many opportunities for 
service transformation savings; the estimated figures included here relate mainly to 
anticipated reductions in the cost of waste collection services and social care work because 
of a more localised approach to service delivery, cutting down on travel time and optimising 
processes.  Savings in this category will be significantly larger in the modified proposal, 
which will create coherent and balanced service delivery geographies that allow for 
localised, efficient service delivery models. 

 
17.28. Harmonisation of fees and charges will be required where councils merge – new 

authorities will have to set consistent policies and prices for charging for services like 
licensing, leisure and parking.  The experience of previous LGR exercises elsewhere in the 
country is that harmonising charges results in a more efficient service, with higher levels of 
overall income.  Savings in this category are larger in the modified proposal, primarily due 
to modelling by Exeter District Council on how charging policies would be harmonised 
across an Extended Exeter Unitary. 

 
‘Stretch’ savings – further savings that might be delivered through our proposal 

 
17.29. In addition to the savings categories described above, Table 16.4 also sets out a possible 

additional saving (of £11.3m in the modified proposal), modelled on a reduction in the cost 
of social care packages through ‘right sized’, localised delivery models.  This additional 
saving has not been included in the wider financial modelling of financial viability and payback 
periods because there are differing views on how Local Government Reorganisation in 
Devon (and other two-tier areas) might impact on the cost of commissioned social care 
services.   

 
17.30. Currently, the unit costs of providing social care packages in the County Council area are 

observably higher than similar unit costs in the Unitary council areas of Torbay and 
Plymouth.  It is arguable that some of this difference relates to the benefits of providing 
social care through a more localised, responsive delivery model in a smaller geographical 

Page 125



P a g e  | 111 
 

OFFICIAL 

area.  The £11.3m saving is based on a modest (2-3%) reduction in the cost of 
commissioned social care packages across the current county area – based on an assumed 
reduction in unit costs that are currently higher than the unit costs of councils in Devon 
which operate more localised social care services.  However, we feel that this assumed 
reduction is more uncertain than other assumptions used in our financial modelling, and so 
we are taking a prudent approach by excluding this saving from our financial viability 
calculations. 

 
The cost of implementing our proposals 

 
17.31. Implementation costs will vary significantly for the different new council areas proposed, 

and between the base and modified proposals. We have assumed that – for the modified 
proposal – Plymouth / expanded Plymouth and Torbay / expanded Torbay will be created 
through a continuing authority model, whereas for both the base proposal and the modified 
proposal the other two new councils will be created through a more complex transition, 
with the operation of a shadow authorities and a need to set up new infrastructure, policy 
frameworks and operating models for each new council. In the base proposal Plymouth and 
Torbay would remain unchanged, and therefore there would be zero cost of 
implementation for these areas.  The tables below set out a breakdown of estimated 
implementation costs across Devon for the base and modified proposal, and also a 
breakdown of implementation costs estimated for the extended Plymouth proposal alone. 

 
Table 16.5: Estimated Devon-wide implementation costs (base proposal): 
 
(Note: this table does not include any costs relating to Torbay or Plymouth as these councils would be unchanged in the base proposal.) 

Cost category 

Estimated cost for Base proposal  - £m 

Comments / explanation Year -1 
(2026/27) 

Year 0 
(2027/28) 

Year 1 
(2028/29) 

Year 2 
(2029/30) TOTAL 

Redundancy / 
workforce exit 0.0 5.0 12.0 5.0 22.0 

Workforce exit costs would 
be significant in the re-
organisation of the County 
Council and 8 district 
councils. 

Programme delivery 
team 1.6 4.1 0.7 0.5 6.9 

Two separate 
implementation teams and a 
cross-cutting programme 
team. 

External 
communication and 
branding 

0.0 0.6 0.6 0.0 1.2 

Limited re-branding 
exercise (signage, website) 
assumed for two new 
councils; branding and 
communications post 
vesting day within BAU 
capacity 

Workforce 
onboarding, culture 
and development 

0.0 0.5 0.5 0.0 1.0 

Induction and training for 
transferring staff; culture 
programmes for new 
councils. 

ICT set up and 
consolidation 2.0 7.5 3.5 1.0 14.0 

Establishing new ICT 
infrastructure and systems 
for two new councils; 
transferring / interfacing 
data from legacy systems. 

New council 
establishment - 
policy & process 

0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.9 
Establishing policy and 
constitutional frameworks 
for two new councils. 

Page 126



P a g e  | 112 
 

OFFICIAL 

Cost category 

Estimated cost for Base proposal  - £m 

Comments / explanation Year -1 
(2026/27) 

Year 0 
(2027/28) 

Year 1 
(2028/29) 

Year 2 
(2029/30) TOTAL 

Shadow authority 
costs 0.7 1.9 0.0 0.0 2.6 

Shadow / parallel running 
costs for Devon C & C and 
Exeter unitary councils.  

Property 
rationalisation 0.0 0.5 0.7 0.7 1.9 

Cost of adapting and re-
configuring office 
accommodation to release 
longer term savings. 

Programme 
contingency 0.0 2.0 1.8 0.7 4.5 Contingency for 

unanticipated costs 

TOTAL 4.2 21.8 20.1 7.9 55.0   

 
Table 16.6: Estimated Devon-wide implementation costs (modified proposal): 
 

Cost category 

Estimated cost for Modified proposal  - £m 

Comments / explanation Year -1 
(2026/27) 

Year 0 
(2027/28) 

Year 1 
(2028/29) 

Year 2 
(2029/30) TOTAL 

Redundancy / 
workforce exit 0.0 5.0 14.0 6.0 25.0 

Most redundancy costs would fall 
to Exeter / ‘Devon Coast and 
Countryside’ councils. 

Programme 
delivery team 2.4 5.1 1.7 0.9 10.1 

Four separate implementation 
teams + 1 Devon wide 
programme team. 

External 
communication 
and branding 

0.0 1.0 0.6 0.0 1.6 

Limited re-branding exercise 
(signage, website) assumed for all 
councils; branding and 
communications post vesting day 
within BAU capacity 

Workforce 
onboarding, 
culture and 
development 

0.0 0.8 0.9 0.0 1.7 
Induction and training for 
transferring staff; culture 
programmes for new councils 

ICT set up and 
consolidation 2.4 8.7 5.0 1.0 17.1 

Default approach will be data 
transfer into existing systems for 
Plymouth & Torbay, other 
councils would face far more 
significant costs 

New council 
establishment - 
policy & process 

0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.9 

Continuing authority model for 
Torbay and Plymouth, costs all 
relate to Devon C & C and 
Exeter. 

Shadow authority 
costs 0.7 1.9 0.0 0.0 2.6 Shadow / parallel running costs 

for Devon C & C and Exeter only 

Property 
rationalisation 0.0 0.9 1.0 0.7 2.6 

Mainly Devon C & C and Exeter 
where more significant 
rationalisation will take place 

Programme 
contingency 0.0 4.0 3.8 0.7 8.5 Contingency for unanticipated 

costs 

TOTAL 5.8 27.7 27.3 9.3 70.1   

 
 
 
 

Page 127



P a g e  | 113 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Table 16.7: Estimated implementation costs for extended Plymouth Council modification only: 
 

Cost category 

Estimated cost for Modified proposal (Extended Plymouth only) - 
£m 

Comments / explanation 
Year -1 

(2026/27) 
Year 0 

(2027/28) 
Year 1 

(2028/29) 
Year 2 

(2029/30) TOTAL 

Redundancy / 
workforce exit 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

No Redundancy costs 
anticipated for Expanded 
Plymouth implementation – 
TUPE only applies where 
there is a transfer of role. 

Programme delivery 
team 0.3 0.5 0.5 0.2 1.5 

Expanded Plymouth 
programme team stood up 
from 2026 – 2029 
(supplemented from BAU 
capacity).  

External 
communication and 
branding 

0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Limited re-branding 
exercise (signage, website); 
branding and 
communications post 
vesting day within BAU 
capacity 

Workforce 
onboarding, culture 
and development 

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.2 
Induction and training for 
transferring staff; culture 
programme for new council 

ICT set up and 
consolidation 0.1 0.4 0.5 0.0 1.0 

Default approach will be 
data transfer into existing 
systems 

New council 
establishment - 
policy & process 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Continuing authority model 
– new policies and 
processes would be 
developed within BAU 
capacity over time 

Shadow authority 
costs 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Continuing authority model 
– no shadow authority 
parallel running costs, 
elections to new council 
within BAU capacity 

Property 
rationalisation 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Limited rationalisation for 
Plymouth, some costs to 
develop workspace for 
transferring operational 
staff. 

Programme 
contingency 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 2.0 

Contingency for 
unanticipated costs (e.g. 
redundancy, data 
configuration) 

TOTAL 0.4 2.2 2.1 0.2 4.9   

 
Financing implementation costs and payback periods 

 
17.32. It is anticipated that implementation costs would be financed from a combination of Capital 

Receipts Flexibilities and reserves.  Colleagues at Exeter City Council have indicated that 
there is a level of useable capital receipts (together with a receipts pipeline) that would be 
sufficient to finance the more significant implementation costs arising from the formation of 
our proposed Exeter and ‘Devon Coast and Countryside’ based unitaries in both the base 
and modified proposals.  Plymouth City Council has sufficient Usable Capital Receipts in 
hand to fund the more modest £4.9m implementation costs for the modified proposal for 

Page 128



P a g e  | 114 
 

OFFICIAL 

an Extended Plymouth council; similarly, Torbay Council has a reasonable level of useable 
reserves (c. £69m as at the end of 2024/25) which could be utilised to finance the 
implementation costs for an extended Torbay council. 

 
17.33. Our financial modelling has been used to estimate the profile of expenditure and savings 

over a 10-year period the base and modified proposals across the whole of Devon.  The 
financial profile up to and including Financial Year 2032/33 is set out in table 16.8 below: 

 
Table 16.8 

 
 
 
17.34. It can be seen that both the base and the modified proposals are estimated to have strong 

payback periods (paying back all estimated implementation costs by the third year after 
vesting day).  Over a 10 year period following the creation of new councils, our modelling 
suggests that both proposals would deliver cumulative savings (after the payback of 
transition costs) of over £400m. 

 
Debt and other financial resilience issues 

 
17.35. We have commissioned independent consultants LG Improve to provide financial resilience 

benchmarking information on our base and modified proposals.  LG Improve have used 
published 2024/25 statement of accounts information to estimate the value of assets, 
liabilities and reserves that proposed unitary councils would inherit (based on shares of 
population within current / predecessor council areas).  This section examines some key 
financial resilience issues for Devon as a whole, and also for the proposed unitary councils 
under our base and modified proposals. 

 
17.36. Firstly, figures 16.3, 16.4 and 16.5 below set out key financial resilience ratios for the 

combination of 11 local councils in Devon and compares these to other shire areas that 
have been invited to submit proposals for re-organisation.  Figure 16.3 compares the level 
of Usable Revenue Reserves as a proportion of Core Spending Power and shows that 
collectively, councils in Devon have a relatively low level of reserves for their size.  Figure 
16.4 shows how this position is exacerbated by the impact of Devon County Council’s large 
cumulative DSG deficit, which when set against reserve levels, leaves Devon in the least 
financially resilient position of all reorganising areas when viewed through this measure.  
Figure 16.5 examines the relative level of financing requirement (a measure of underlying 
debt) in Devon which is slightly above the average for all reorganising areas – noting that 
the average position is skewed by exceptionally high levels of debt in two Surrey District 
Councils.  

Page 129



P a g e  | 115 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Figure 16.3: Usable Revenue Reserves as a proportion of Core Spending Power – Devon compared to other 
re-organising shire areas: 
 

 
 
Figure 16.4: Usable Revenue Reserves + cumulative DSG deficit as a proportion of Core Spending Power – 
Devon compared to other re-organising shire areas: 
 

 
 

Page 130



P a g e  | 116 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 16.5: Capital Financing Requirement : Core Spending Power ratio – Devon compared to other re-
organising shire areas:  
 

 
 

17.37. The inherited financial resilience position illustrated in figures 16.3-5 above will be a 
challenge for any new combination of councils in Devon.  In particular, figure 16.4 
underlines the importance of reducing the level of cumulative DSG deficit for local 
government in Devon prior to any reorganisation taking effect, in order to launch new 
councils with a relatively financially sustainable position.  The size of Devon County 
Council’s SEND deficit poses a fundamental challenge to viability, whatever the structure of 
unitary local government proposed for Devon. 

 
17.38. Figures 16.6 and 16.7 below explore similar ratios for the base proposal, this time 

comparing against existing English Unitary councils.   Our analysis assumes that the issue of 
SEND deficits will be addressed or substantially mitigated through government reform prior 
to the launch of new councils, so only Usable Revenue Reserves and Capital Financing 
Requirement ratios are considered here: 

 
  

Page 131



P a g e  | 117 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 16.6: Usable Revenue Reserves as a proportion of Core Spending Power – Base proposal unitaries 
compared to existing English Unitary councils: 
 

 
 
 
Figure 16.7: Capital Financing Requirement to Core Spending Power ratio – Base proposal unitaries 
compared to existing English Unitary councils: 
 

 
 
  

Page 132



P a g e  | 118 
 

OFFICIAL 

Finally, figures 16.8 and 16.9 below explore these ratios for the modified proposal:  
 
Figure 16.8: Usable Revenue Reserves as a proportion of Core Spending Power – Modified proposal 
unitaries compared to existing English Unitary councils: 
 

 
 
Figure 16.9: Capital Financing Requirement to Core Spending Power ratio – Modified proposal unitaries 
compared to existing English Unitary councils: 
 

 
 

17.39. It can be seen that, as with the comparison of costs and income and overall resources set 
out above, this analysis of financial resilience shows an improved, more resilient position for 
councils proposed in our modified proposal.  On the key ratios of Usable Revenue 
Reserves: Core Spending Power (a measure of relative financial resilience) and Capital 

Page 133



P a g e  | 119 
 

OFFICIAL 

Financing Requirement : Core Spending Power (a measure of relative exposure to long 
term borrowing need), the modified proposal moves all councils closer to the average 
position for existing unitaries. 

 
Council Tax Harmonisation 

 
17.40. All eleven councils in Devon currently set different rates of council tax. Any local 

government reorganisation would require harmonisation so that new unitary councils levy a 
consistent rate across their area. This has been standard practice in previous 
reorganisations and should not present significant challenges, provided government offers 
continuing and shadow authorities similar flexibility to that granted previously. 

 
17.41. Decisions on harmonisation would be taken by democratically elected shadow and 

continuing authorities in February 2028, assuming new councils commence in April 2028. 
We are not proposing how this should be done. That will be a matter for future political 
decision makers based on local circumstances and priorities. 

 
17.42. For financial modelling purposes, we assume harmonisation to the average point in the first 

year of each council. This represents a modest impact of around £2 per month, either 
upwards or downwards depending on previous district, for a typical Band B Devon 
household before accounting for any underlying increase councils may choose to apply. 

Page 134



P a g e  | 120 
 

OFFICIAL 

Building the Foundations for the South West Peninsula 
Devolution 
 

18.1. Plymouth's proposal for four unitary councils provides the optimal foundation for the 
Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority. Four balanced constituent councils each serving 
coherent communities with distinct identities, can work together effectively on regional 
priorities whilst maintaining genuine local accountability.   

 
18.2. Our ambition is for the creation of a South-West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority 

(MSA) to be created at the earliest opportunity so that we can drive change particularly 
with respect to aligning public services and deploying more effectively devolved funding and 
powers to the benefit of local people and businesses. 

 
18.3. We want to grasp the huge opportunities this will create linked to the ambitious growth 

agendas of the constituent authorities by requesting Government proceeds with a South-
West Peninsula Strategic Authority comprising an expanded Plymouth, an expanded Exeter, 
an expanded Torbay, and a reconfigured Devon, leaving the door open for Cornwall.  

 
18.4. A South-West Peninsula Mayor promoting at the Council of Nations and Regions how 

Plymouth, Exeter, Torbay, and Devon could play a greater role in helping to deliver national 
growth will play a significant part in delivering on the government’s objectives set out in the 
“Power and Partnership: Foundations for Growth” White Paper. Equally, a South-West 
Peninsula Mayor will promote the interests of the South-West, including cross-regional 
working on strategic issues such as connectivity and infrastructure as well as advocating for 
more powers, decision-making, and funding to be devolved closer to local communities. 

 
18.5. Creating a South-West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority presents an opportunity to 

unify public services across the wider region. The South-West is a robust economic area 
with a Gross Value Added (GVA) of £47.597 million as at 2023. Initially the South-West 
Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority would bring enhanced powers and responsibilities for 
local transport, strategic planning, housing, infrastructure coordination, climate change, skills 
and driving economic development. 

 
Local Transport 

 
18.6. A South-West Peninsula MSA would become the Local Transport Authority for public 

transport functions enabling better strategic management of the whole network which is 
currently spread across 4 authorities with differing priorities. It would also be responsible 
for public transport provision, including bus and rail services. By developing a single, 
peninsula-wide Local Transport Plan greater integration and inter-operability is possible, 
with multi-ticketing and other service enhancements such as introducing electric buses and 
other decarbonisation measures. 

 
Strategic Planning 

 
18.7. With the provisions of the Planning and Infrastructure Bill likely to receive Royal assent in 

late 2025/early 2026, the South-West Peninsula MSA would become responsible for Spatial 

Page 135



P a g e  | 121 
 

OFFICIAL 

Development Strategies which will set the strategic patterns and scales of development, 
provide a spatial strategy that guides Local Plans and enables growth, identify strategic 
locations for development, include policies on the use and development of land that are of 
strategic importance to the area,  and identify key infrastructure requirements to enable the 
spatial strategy to be implemented (e.g. transport, energy and economic infrastructure).  

 
18.8. A South-West Peninsula Spatial Development Strategy, digitally enabled with a 30-year time 

horizon, and linked in with the National Infrastructure Strategy produced by National 
Infrastructure and Service Transformation Authority, could be prepared over a 24-month 
period to drive the nationally significant scale of growth envisaged for the area. 

 
Housing 

 
18.9. The housing crisis facing England is particularly acute in the south-west region due to the 

attractiveness of the area to second homeowners and the impact of tourism. This manifests 
itself in acute shortages of affordable housing, especially social-rented accommodation, and 
significant increases in homelessness.  The seriousness of this situation is compounded by 
new affordable housing completions decreasing in the South West by 8.9% since the 
introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework in 2012 and 2023/2024. 

 
18.10. Total supply of new affordable housing in Cornwall, Devon, Plymouth, and Torbay in 

2023/24 was 1,487. With high levels of new housing required across the whole area from 
the government’s Standard Method, the South-West Peninsula MSA will be able to take a 
more strategic approach to housing, working closely with Homes England and its Strategic 
Partners. The Mayor would have control over grant funding for housing deliver and 
regeneration allowing more effective use of these resources to target local housing needs as 
set out in the Spatial Development Strategy, including, where appropriate setting up 
Mayoral Development Corporations and using acquired Compulsory Purchase Order 
powers. 

 
Health and Well-Being 

 
18.11. Local government devolution in the UK has increasingly included health-related powers, 

with the aim of integrating services, addressing health inequalities, and linking health 
outcomes to economic growth.  

 
18.12. Greater local government involvement in health point to several potential benefits: 

 
• Tackling wider determinants of health - Local authorities already hold powers related 

to areas like housing, education, employment, and transport, which are critical determinants 
of public health. Devolution allows for a ‘health in all policies’ approach, integrating health 
goals into these wider policy areas. Having public health embedded in Plymouth City Council 
allows for this cross-council approach to tackling core determinants of health and address 
inequalities that impact upon health.  

 

Page 136



P a g e  | 122 
 

OFFICIAL 

• Addressing health inequalities - Evidence suggests that enhancing localised control can 
be more effective at reducing regional health inequalities, particularly by investing in 
preventative initiatives and shifting resources towards primary and community care. 
 

• Service integration - Closer alignment between local government (which manages social 
care and public health) and the NHS (which runs clinical services) can lead to a more 
seamless and integrated experience for patients. Plymouth is already on this journey.  

 
• Innovation - Devolution can create "innovation zones" and allow local leaders the freedom 

to experiment with new models of care that are better suited to their specific population 
needs. This is already being addressed through the Plymouth approach to our 
neighbourhood health model and participation in the national Test, Learn, Grow 
programme. 

 
 

Infrastructure Coordination 
 

18.13. There are some fundamental strategic weaknesses in relation to the transport 
infrastructure of the South-West derived in large measure from its peninsula geography: 
resulting in single points of potential failure in both the Strategic Road Network and the rail 
network into and out of the region. A Peninsula Strategic Mayoral Authority will be able to 
raise these strategic connectivity issues with Government and National Infrastructure and 
Service Transformation Authority NISTA to ensure the objectives of the National 
Infrastructure Strategy are aligned so that it supports the delivery of growth in the region. 

 
Climate Change 

 
18.14. The South-West Peninsula MSA will be responsible for developing the Local Environmental 

Improvement Plan which will support the government’s Environmental Improvement Plan.  
A Peninsula Strategic Mayoral Authority will be able to also use the Spatial Development 
Strategy to continue to address decarbonisation legislative and local commitments, 
strengthen resilience, address the decline in biodiversity, and ensure new infrastructure 
responds to the latest evidence on climate change. 

 
Skills 

 
18.15. The South-West Peninsula MSA will be able to coordinate the delivery of skills across a 

wider-than-local basis through its Local Growth Plan. This will enable more targeted 
strategic interventions in skills bespoke to each constituent authority. For example in 
Plymouth, the focus will be on developing defence, marine, green/blue and digital 
technology, construction, civil engineering, and health care skills reflecting the government's 
investments in HMNB Devonport, Derriford Hospital and the designation of Plymouth as 
the National Centre for Marine autonomy.  

 

Page 137



P a g e  | 123 
 

OFFICIAL 

18.16. The MSA will be able to maximise opportunities while directing interventions and initiatives 
to areas where the demand is greatest and which ties in with the governments’ “Plan for 
Change” missions. 

 
Driving Economic Development 

 
18.17. By developing a peninsula-wide Local Growth Plan, the MSA will be able to use its enhanced 

devolved powers and funding resources to drive growth and innovation, market the region 
nationally and internationally, tackle known areas of economic inequality, specifically by 
developing inclusive growth initiatives, and ensure that benefits from major projects such as 
the defence investments at HMNB Devonport and Derriford Hospital can be felt across the 
region. 
 

18.18. Alternative models would undermine effective devolution. A single mega-council would 
replicate problems of remote governance and the Three unitaries model with Exeter 
submerged would create an unbalanced MSA. The four-unitary model creates the balanced 
partnership needed for effective regional governance. 

 
  

Page 138



P a g e  | 124 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Stakeholder Engagement and Support 
 

Our Approach to Engagement : The “Big Community Consultation” 
 

19.1. Between 29 May 2025 until 04 August 2025, the Council undertook the “Big Community 
Consultation” on its proposals for local government reorganisation. Further events and 
meetings were held with local businesses and public sector partners between 28 August 
2025 and 08 October 2025. This consultation was designed to meet the 4 “Gunning 
Principles” and respond to the requirements of government set out in the letter to the 
Devon authorities dated 15 May 2025, particularly in relation to Criterion 6a and 6b. The 
Council adopted a multi-channel strategy to reach a wide and diverse audience. This 
included a dedicated project website, tailored surveys, facilitated conversation events, 
stakeholder briefings, and a targeted media campaign. The engagement was structured to 
allow meaningful input before the final business case is submitted to Government.  

 
19.2. The full Local Government Reorganisation Report is shown in Appendix A7. 
 

Application of the “Gunning” Principles  
 
19.3. The engagement was carried out in line with the Gunning Principles:  
 

• It took place at a formative stage, while the proposal was still being developed.  
• Clear and accessible information was provided throughout, including FAQs and 

updates.  
• Residents had adequate time to respond, with events and surveys running over 

several weeks.  
• Feedback was conscientiously considered and has directly informed the 

development of the final proposal.  
 

How the engagement was delivered  
 
19.4. To ensure that we could reach as many people as possible, we:  

 

• Held 19 facilitated conversation events across Plymouth and South Hams, 
attended by 489 people.  

• Two tailored surveys which received 824 responses.  
• The project website attracted over 11,000 unique visitors and 816 subscribers.  
• Launched a social media campaign which generated over 2.1 million impressions 

and reached more than 100,000 individuals.  
• Distributed posters, flyers and newsletters to community venues, schools, GP 

surgeries and libraries across both Plymouth and South Hams.  
• Held 17 stakeholder meetings and 1:1 briefings with MPs, universities, emergency 

services, housing, and business groups.  
 
19.5. The engagement process was designed to ensure that Plymouth City Council’s proposals for 

LGR were shaped by the views of residents, stakeholders, and community groups across 
Plymouth and the 13 South Hams parishes. The approach was inclusive, transparent, and 
responsive, with a strong emphasis on listening and co-design.  

Page 139



P a g e  | 125 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
19.6. A full summary of the approach to engagement and feedback, is available in the appendix.  
 

Our Findings   
 

South Hams residents  
 
19.7. 489 Residents expressed strong opposition to joining Plymouth City Council, citing 

concerns about losing rural identity, planning pressures and infrastructure strain. There was 
high praise for existing local services and a strong desire to retain local decision-making 
through empowered parish councils. Confusion about current governance structures was 
common, and many called for better transport, youth services and road maintenance. 

 
Plymouth residents  

 
19.8. Feedback was more optimistic, with residents sharing a vision for a greener, safer, and more 

inclusive city. Key priorities included improved transport, affordable housing, cultural 
vibrancy, and stronger community involvement. There was a clear desire for more 
meaningful engagement and trust-building. Young people highlighted the need for youth-led 
spaces, better mental health support and involvement in city-wide decisions.  

 
Similarities across both areas 

 
19.9. Across both areas, there was pride in local identity and a strong emphasis on protecting 

green spaces. Residents valued responsive governance and called for improved engagement 
and transparency. Transport, infrastructure and healthcare were common concerns, though 
South Hams residents focused more on preserving rural character, while Plymouth 
residents emphasised growth and opportunity.  

 
Stakeholder feedback  

 
19.10. Stakeholders broadly welcomed the engagement process and recognised the potential 

benefits of a more strategic governance model. Whilst there were concerns about 
representation for rural communities, service equity, financial transparency and planning, 
there was strong support for ongoing engagement, youth inclusion and protecting the 
distinct identities of different areas. Feedback from MPs, universities, emergency services 
and business groups reflected a mix of cautious optimism and calls for clarity on delivery 
and impact. 

 
What We Heard from Stakeholders and How it has Informed Our Proposal for 
the Devon Area 

 
19.11. The main issues raised during the engagement and our response to these comments are 

shown below: 
 
Governance and representation: The proposal must outline how rural communities will be 
represented within the expanded authority. This includes exploring models such as preserving 
parish councils, dedicated rural wards, or advisory panels.  
 
Our response: We will progressively move from informing and consulting towards collaborating and 
empowering, building community confidence and capacity along the way. Our approach recognises 
that empowerment looks different in different places within unitary model of government across 
England, and it will be consistent with Clause 58 of the English Devolution and Empowerment Bill 

Page 140



P a g e  | 126 
 

OFFICIAL 

currently before Parliament. In adopting a phased approach, and whilst awaiting the detailed 
regulation (see Clause 58 (3) of the bill we will work flexibly to support locally appropriate 
neighbourhood governance solutions whilst maintaining consistent standards and values across the 
enlarged area.  
  
Service equity: The proposal should demonstrate how services will be maintained or improved 
across all areas, with particular attention to rural needs, transport connectivity, healthcare access, 
and waste management.  
 
Our response: Our reorganisation proposal extends proven excellence across Devon while 
ensuring no community experiences reduced service quality. The four-authority model specifically 
addresses rural needs through dedicated structures that eliminate current fragmentation. 
 
The dedicated ‘Devon Coast and Countryside’ authority is purpose-designed for dispersed 
populations through Neighbourhood Area Teams integrating housing, social care, NHS and 
voluntary services. Plymouth's integrated health and social care model with Livewell Southwest will 
serve all 300,733 residents of the expanded area, while Torbay's nationally recognised Integrated 
Care Organisation excellence benefits South Devon's wider geography. Plymouth's Homelessness 
Recovery Programme, delivering 78 new temporary accommodation units with 95 more in pipeline, 
extends across the enlarged area. Greater Exeter authority addresses substantial unmet adult social 
care needs through integrated housing and planning powers. Our unequivocal commitment ensures 
safeguarding duties and service continuity for vulnerable children and adults throughout transition, 
with robust oversight mechanisms strengthened across all new unitary structures. 
 
Financial transparency: Concerns regarding council tax harmonisation, funding allocations, and 
debt inheritance must be addressed clearly and credibly. Residents want to understand how 
resources will be managed and whether the reorganisation will deliver value for money.  
 
Our response: decisions to set financial plans, budgets and council tax for the extended Plymouth 
area will be taken in formal committee meetings, open to scrutiny by the public and elected 
councillors.  All financial matters will be subject to external audit and assurance, with value for 
money assessed annually as is the case currently.  We hope and anticipate that decisions on 
inherited assets, liabilities and debt will follow national guidance and, again, will be reported 
transparently and subject to public scrutiny and external audit where appropriate.  
 
Planning and development: The proposal must include safeguards against overdevelopment and 
urban sprawl. It should promote strategic planning that respects local character, protects green 
spaces, and ensures infrastructure keeps pace with growth to meet the needs of the expanded 
authority.  
 
Our response: We will commit to the early commencement of a new local Plan for the expanded 
Plymouth area that will address the planning and development concerns raised. We also commit to 
an extensive programme of community and stakeholder engagement as part of preparing the new 
plan. 
  
Community engagement: Ongoing engagement must be built into the governance model. 
Residents want to be part of the decision-making process, not just consulted at key milestones. 
Mechanisms for feedback, participation, and accountability should be embedded in the proposal.  
 

Page 141



P a g e  | 127 
 

OFFICIAL 

Our response: Our proposal embeds ongoing engagement as a structural guarantee through 
innovative Neighbourhood Networks operating from vesting day. These collaborative forums bring 
together ward councillors, parish representatives, community organisations, and service partners, 
providing continuous dialogue rather than episodic consultation. 
 
The 'Test, Learn, Grow' co-design process ensures communities shape their own governance model 
through extensive listening sessions, pilot experiments, and rigorous evaluation. This iterative 
approach creates mechanisms for continuous feedback, participation, and accountability embedded 
throughout the authority's operations, ensuring democratic legitimacy and genuine community 
ownership. 
 
Youth inclusion: The views of young people must be reflected in the final proposal: their priorities 
for housing, transport, education, and wellbeing are essential to shaping a future-ready city.  
 
Our response: In addition to committing to continued direct engagement with the Youth Council 
on Local Government Reorganisation and service design issues, our new Community Engagement 
Framework will ensure the voice of young people is heard. We also commit to holding bespoke 
sessions with young people on the new Local Plan for the expanded Plymouth. 
 
Digital inclusion: The Council must commit to maintaining non-digital service options and 
investing in digital literacy and infrastructure. Accessibility must be a core principle of service design. 
 
Our response: The Council has an approach to the service design that includes the principle of 
designing for digital first as well as providing alternative accessible services for those that are 
digitally excluded. Accessible services include both phone support and in person, primarily through 
our network of libraries. For example, we have registered the phone numbers of residents who are 
digitally excluded, and their calls are prioritised over other customers when they need to call 
Plymouth City Council. This is coupled with a focus on improving digital inclusion in the city 
through supporting network providers to deliver infrastructure (1Gbps broadband and 4 and 5G 
mobile services) and helping residents with the skills and providing access to equipment that will 
allow them to get online. Recent survey results show that only 3% of Plymouth residents never use 
the internet and a further 2% are insufficiently confident in their use of the internet. We are using 
these results including both age and geography splits of this data to help us target interventions to 
help overcome this level of digital exclusion. 
 
  

Page 142



P a g e  | 128 
 

OFFICIAL 

Implementation Plan 
 
Assumptions   
 

• This implementation plan outlines the arrangements for the integration of 13 parishes within 
the Plymouth Authority, the creation of an Exeter Unitary Authority, the continuation of 
Torbay Council and the creation of a new unitary to cover the Coast and Countryside of 
Devon. 

• In this scenario, Plymouth and Torbay have continuing authority status,   
• Exeter City Council and the ‘Devon Coast and Countryside’ authority are granted new 

authority status,  
• The transition also includes a workstream to support devolution arrangement under the 

English Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill 2025 and the creation of a Strategic 
Authority in Devon.  

  
Rationale for implementation   

 
20.1. The proposal involves the consolidation of 11 existing local authorities (comprising 2 Unitary 

Authorities, 1 County Council, and 8 District Councils) into 2 new unitary authorities and 2 
continuing authorities. This structural reform is designed to reduce institutional complexity, 
streamline decision-making across the county and unlock future Devolution by central 
government.   

 
20.2. By simplifying governance structures and rationalising service delivery arrangements, the 

proposal aims to eliminate friction between tiers of government, improve coordination, and 
enhance the consistency and accessibility of services. It will also establish clearer lines of 
democratic accountability by aligning local representation with service responsibility and 
establish Neighbourhood Networks. The programme seeks to establish financially 
sustainable unitary authorities that are better equipped to deliver strategic priorities, 
respond effectively to local needs and are ready for Devolution. 

 
LGR Implementation key dates and delivery phases  
 

20.3. The timings provided below, including election dates, reflect those outlined by MHCLG. 
The letter explicitly refers to new authorities, creating some uncertainty as to whether this 
would apply to Plymouth. The impact on Plymouth would have to be confirmed once a 
decision is made by MHCLG on the proposals. 

  

Page 143



P a g e  | 129 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Figure 18.1 

 
 
Strategic governance and oversight 
 

20.4. This section outlines the governance arrangements for the transition period under Local 
Government Reorganisation, distinguishing between authorities with continuing status and 
those designated as new authorities. The dual-pathway approach ensures that both types of 
authorities meet statutory requirements and transition safely and legally to the new 
arrangements. The table below sets out the key governance components and how they vary 
across the two pathways.  

 
Table 18.1 

Governance 
component 

Continuing Authorities 
Plymouth 

Torbay 

New Authorities 
Exeter 

‘Devon Coast and Countryside’ 
Legal status  The existing local authority retains 

existing legal identity and absorbs new 
areas. The Structural Changes Order 
can:  

• legally expand boundaries, 
• designate the authority as the 

continuing authority  
• transfer assets, liabilities, and 

staff,  
• set out transitional governance 

arrangements (e.g. 
implementation executive)  

A new legal entity is created via 
Structural Changes Order (SCO), to:  

• legally define boundaries,  
• transfer assets, liabilities, and 

staff,  
• and set out transitional 

governance arrangements (e.g., 
shadow council) 

Transition 
governance body  

Establishment of an Implementation 
Executive to oversee the transition. 

A Shadow Executive or Joint 
Committee is established to oversee 
the transition.  

Page 144



P a g e  | 130 
 

OFFICIAL 

Existing Chief Executive of the 
continuing authority to act as 
programme sponsor.  

The programme sponsor is appointed 
from among senior officers or elected 
members of predecessor councils.  

Decision-making 
powers  

The existing council takes 
responsibility for transitional 
governance, overseen by a dedicated 
Implementation Executive.  

The transition body is granted powers 
via SCO to prepare for vesting day.  
  

Electoral 
arrangements  

Existing councillors to continue in 
office  
Elections to take place in May 2027  

New elections are required under 
SCO; transitional arrangements are 
specified in the SCO.   

Staffing and 
TUPE  

TUPE applies to incoming staff; HR 
harmonisation led by existing HR 
function.  

TUPE applies across all predecessor 
councils; new HR structures are 
established.  

Service 
harmonisation   

CSC/Education  
ASC  
Highways  
Waste  
Planning  
Housing  
Leisure  

CSC/Education  
ASC  
Highways  
Waste  
Planning  
Housing  
Leisure  

Assets  Full asset transfer  Full asset transfer  

Contracts  Contract novation required  Contract novation required  

Branding and 
identity  

Existing branding to be retained and 
extended.  

New branding and identity developed 
for the new authority.  

Monitoring and 
Evaluation  

M&E is embedded within existing 
performance frameworks.  

A new M&E framework developed 
from scratch, aligned with the SCO 
and MHCLG expectations.  

Risk 
management  

Builds on risk registers and 
governance assurance of existing 
council.  

A new risk management framework is 
required, covering all predecessor 
councils.  

   
Implementation Framework for Local Government Reorganisation in Plymouth  
  
Assumptions  
 

• Plymouth retains continuing authority status.  
• This implementation plan covers the arrangements for the integration of 13 parishes within 

the Plymouth Authority.  
  
Transition in Plymouth  
 

20.5. This implementation framework is underpinned by a strategic case which sets out how the 
proposed reorganisation of local government in Plymouth will deliver improved 
outcomes. The programme will deliver a unified governance structure, service delivery 
arrangements, and local democratic framework across the expanded area.   

 
20.6. These outputs are expected to lead to measurable outcomes:   

Page 145



P a g e  | 131 
 

OFFICIAL 

• single council responsible for all services (no service user confusion), 
• enhanced local accountability, 
• and greater operational efficiency.   

 
20.7. In the longer term, the programme aims to achieve a financially sustainable local authority 

capable of delivering on strategic priorities and responding effectively to local needs across 
the expanded area. The strategic case is supported by a set of assumptions, including the 
granting of continuing authority status, Government support, constructive stakeholder 
engagement and sufficient delivery capacity.   

  
Strategic governance and oversight  
  
20.8. Overall governance will be established in June 2026 to prepare for the transition phase.  
  

• Programme Sponsor: Leader of the Council  
• Senior Responsible Officer (SRO): Chief Executive  
• Governance Body: Implementation Executive   
• Programme Management Office (PMO): Established to coordinate delivery across 

workstreams, following best practice set out HM Treasury’s Teal Book guidance on 
project delivery in government.   

• Legal Framework: Transition governed under the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007, with oversight from MHCLG. Consideration of the 
English Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill 2025.   

  
Implementation phases and timeline (indicative)  
  
Table 18.2 
Milestone  Description  Target Date  
Proposal submitted to 
MHCLG  

Formal submission of LGR case  28 November 2025  

MHCLG consultation  MHCLG Consultation  January 2026 to early May 2026 
(indicative times)  

MHCLG decision  Decision to implement a proposal 
communicated to stakeholders  

June 2026 (indicative times)  

Statutory Change Order 
and Parliamentary Process  

Structural Change Order (SCO)  
Parliamentary process   

Starts after the summer recess in 
Autumn 2026 for 6 to 9 months 
(indicative times)  

Transition Authority 
operational  

Structural Change Order is in place 
and outlines arrangements for 
elections, councillor numbers and 
governance of the transition are 
provided in the SCO.   
This begins the process of 
transition, where existing councils 
prepare the transfer of assets, 
functions and staff but continue to 
function and deliver services until 
vesting day.   

First trimester of 2027 for at least 
one year. (indicative times)  

Elections  First elections to transition 
authority  

06 May 2027  

Page 146



P a g e  | 132 
 

OFFICIAL 

Local Government 
Boundary Review  

Electoral boundaries review 
process  

This process will take place at a 
currently indeterminate date after 
the elections to the transition 
authority  

Vesting Day  New unitary authority goes live  01 April 2028  
 
Programme structure and workstreams 
 
Figure 18.2 

 
 

  

Plymouth 
Implementation 

Executive

Community, 
Customers and 

Partnerships

Assets and 
Technology

People and 
Culture

Service 
Alignment

Fiannce and 
Commercial Devolution

Regional 
Governance

Programme 
Management 

Office

Page 147



P a g e  | 133 
 

OFFICIAL 

Managing Transition Risks 
 

21.1. We will apply our corporate risk management framework principles and approaches to 
support the transition from the existing structure of local government in Devon to the 
creation of the 4 unitary authorities. This approach will allow functional areas of risk (in 
areas such as SEND, adult social care, children's services, planning, highways etc.) to be 
planned for leading up to the implementation stage. It also allows for cross-cutting risks to 
be captured to ensure proper assessment, mitigation, review, and scrutiny. 

 
21.2. At this stage we have identified the following key risks:  

 
Table 19.1 

Risk description Mitigation 

Delayed decision by the Secretary of State and/or 
delayed parliamentary approval for the Structural 
Change Order delays the start of the transition 
and compresses timescales.  

Mobilise the transition programme team and start 
preparation work as soon as the proposal is submitted. 
Maintain regular liaison with MHCLG and monitor 
legislative developments. Build flexibility into 
programme timelines to manage uncertainty.  

Difficulties collaborating or engaging with other 
Councils, resulting in poor coordination ahead of 
vesting day.  

Establish a cross-authority LGR Governance Board with 
agreed terms of reference and clear decision-making 
process. 

Risk to operational continuity and seamless 
delivery of services due to disruption in 
processes, systems, or staff readiness during 
transition. 

Develop detailed operational transition plans for all 
service areas, including staff training, ICT and data 
alignment, and harmonisation of service delivery and 
performance models across legacy authorities. Ensure 
that each service has effective leadership, statutory 
systems, and local delivery infrastructure fully in place 
for vesting day. 

Risk that reorganisation affects service delivery in 
Adult Social Care, resulting in failure to meet 
statutory obligations in these critical service 
areas. 

Establish a dedicated transition workstream for Adult 
Social Care services. Engage early with Livewell 
Southwest and other partners. Develop detailed 
operational plans covering staff training, ICT and data 
alignment, safeguarding protocols, and service delivery 
models. Harmonise commissioning with neighbouring 
authorities and align with Integrated Care Boards. 
Prioritise these services to ensure leadership, statutory 
systems, and local delivery infrastructure are fully in 
place for vesting day. 

Risk that reorganisation affects service delivery in 
children's services, including safeguarding, 
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
and Special Educational Needs and Disabilities, 
resulting in failure to meet statutory obligations 
in these critical service areas.  

Establish a dedicated transition workstream for 
Children Social Care services and engage early with 
commissioned and partner providers. Develop detailed 
operational plans covering staff training, ICT and data 
alignment, safeguarding protocols, and service models. 
Harmonise commissioning with neighbouring authorities 
and align with Integrated Care Boards. Prioritise these 
services to ensure leadership, statutory systems, and 
local delivery infrastructure are fully in place for vesting 
day. 

Page 148



P a g e  | 134 
 

OFFICIAL 

Complexities in aggregating and disaggregating IT 
systems and data. Risk of failure or delay in data 
migration, including data loss and system 
incompatibility. 

Audit ICT systems across critical services and key 
providers to ensure compatibility, data protection, and 
continuity. Establish dedicated workstreams with clear 
plans and contingencies. Prioritise key systems for 
vesting day, aligning others based on contract timelines. 
A unified contract register will support this process. 

Risk of service continuity issues due to contract 
termination, novation challenges, or supplier 
disputes. Some existing contractual arrangements 
may be difficult to transfer, renegotiate, or exit. 

Develop a procurement transition strategy that includes 
a contract audit, a unified contract register, and early 
supplier engagement. Plan for novation and continuity 
clauses in line with the National Procurement Policy 
Statement. Review existing contracts early to identify 
long-term commitments and work with providers to 
ensure flexibility and value for money. 

Risk that actual transition costs exceed 
projections, reducing the savings achieved and 
impacting the overall financial case. 

Close monitoring of transition costs, contingencies have 
been built into the budget and adjusting plans where 
necessary to ensure delivery remains within budget. 

Failure to realise anticipated savings, resulting in 
continued demand and budgetary pressures, 
adversely affecting service delivery. 

Prudent and phased approach to delivering efficiencies, 
supported by robust financial oversight and regular 
monitoring by the programme team.  Tracking of 
financial benefits and alignment with Medium Term 
Financial Planning across transition period.  

Risk of diminished staff morale due to 
uncertainty, organisational change, and perceived 
job insecurity during transition. Risk of loss of 
key personnel and corporate memory. 

Ensure a change-management programme is established. 
Continue the staff engagement and wellbeing strategy 
and extend it to new personnel. Provide regular 
updates on progress during the transition.  

Resistance to organisational change, cultural 
misalignment, and reduced productivity during 
restructuring. 

Develop change-management programme and People 
Strategy for the new organisation. Conduct early 
engagement with Trade Unions. Plan for a structured 
approach to onboarding and induction.  

Risk of stakeholder disengagement or opposition 
during the transition period. 

Prepare a transition engagement strategy and plan, 
tailored to the stakeholders. Continue inclusive 
engagement that began with our ‘Big Conversation’ 
throughout the process, applying the Gunning 
Principles.  

  

Page 149



P a g e  | 135 
 

OFFICIAL 

Our Asks of Government 
 
In our Interim Plan, we requested clarification from government on a number of key issues. These 
have been revised and updated to reflect the feedback from MHCLG set out in its letter of 15 May 
2025, and subsequent updates of guidance on the MHCLG web site. We would welcome the 
opportunity to discuss this face to face with government after our submission. 
 
We would like government to confirm: 
 

1. That Plymouth City Council is a “continuing authority” with a modest boundary extension 
to enable a smooth process for the implementation of unitary government by April 2028. 
This will minimise the risk to critical top tier services and the cost of implementation as the 
vast majority of affected staff and functions will already be in place, thereby allowing service 
continuity to be maintained over this period of reorganisation. 

 
2. The transitional flexibilities that have been previously applied regarding council tax capping 

to facilitate council tax equalisation are able to be applied to support council tax 
harmonisation in Devon, if required.  

 
3. National guidance is provided for the division and re-distribution of balance sheet assets and 

liabilities arising from the reorganisation of council boundaries and resultant absorption of 
balances, assets and liabilities from predecessor authorities. 
 

4. To what extent any further work is required in the implementation phase of local 
government reorganisation in relation to the government’s health system reforms insofar as 
they relate to the creation of the proposed four unitary council’s and the devolution plans 
for a Peninsula Strategic Mayoral Authority. 
 

5. That the Structural Changes Order contains all the standard provisions used in other 
reorganisations including precise ward and parish schedules, clear maps, transfer of property 
rights, liabilities, and staff, the actual vesting date and any necessary provisions on Section 24 
controls and electoral arrangements. 
 

6. That standard flexibilities will apply in relation to the use of capital receipts for 
transformation that will allow the 4 new unitary councils to deliver the transitional 
arrangements at pace. 

  

Page 150



P a g e  | 136 
 

OFFICIAL 

Conclusion 
 

22.1. Our plan for local government reorganisation for the Devon area is transformative, 
innovative, growth-orientated, and evidence-led. By moving from an outdated and inefficient 
two-tier system of local government to a modernised system based on four unitary councils 
we can deliver a sustainable and more resilient future for the people of Plymouth, Exeter, 
Torbay, and Devon. Our proposal will minimise disruption to local service delivery during 
the transition period because our base proposal is centred on two continuing authorities. 
Our proposals therefore meet criterion one of the White Paper. 

 
22.2. Our base proposals for local government in Devon comply with the government’s criteria 

to be based on whole district boundaries but we are clear that this is not the optimal future 
arrangement to achieve the government’s wider objectives set out in its White Paper in the 
Devon area. To achieve these wider objectives, we consider that modifications to our 
proposal should be supported by the Secretary of State and be the subject of the statutory 
consultation. 

 
22.3. Our modified proposal creates four financially viable unitary councils all of sufficient size to 

withstand financial shocks and which are projected to make savings from the third year.  
Our proposal therefore meets criterion two of the White Paper. 

 
22.4. Our modified proposal for the Devon area meets criterion three of the White Paper  

because it creates a coherent geography for service delivery by simplifying access to 
services for residents and removing administrative duplication, taking account of the 
community consultations that have been held and providing a foundation to respond to the 
government’s planned neighbourhood structures. The proposed four modified unitary 
authorities strike the right balance between sufficient scale to be financially viable but well-
related to functional economic geographies to maintain a grip on service delivery. 

 
22.5. Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay have collaborated closely in creating an aligned proposal for a 

modified four-unitary model in Devon which recognises and responds to issues of 
community identities as well as reflecting on the ground cultural and historic context. 
Through data sharing protocols and working on functions of mutual interest we have been 
able to show in our proposal for Devon how we have met criterion four of the White 
Paper. 

 
22.6. Our proposal with modifications provides the optimal arrangements to support the 

government’s objectives in relation to devolution thus meeting criterion five of the White 
Paper. We have demonstrated that a four-unitary model for Devon is the best structure to 
accelerate housing delivery, especially in growth-orientated urban based authorities such as 
Plymouth, Exeter, and Torbay. 

 
22.7. Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay have all undertaken extensive community consultation 

exercises to engage local communities and businesses. Each authority is responding 
positively with proposals for stronger community engagement and neighbourhood 
empowerment arrangements as part of these local government reorganisation proposals, 
drawing upon these community consultations and therefore meeting criterion six of the 
White Paper. 

 

Page 151



P a g e  | 137 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
22.8. Plymouth has proposed four unitary councils for Devon because we believe this is the only 

model that serves all of Devon effectively. Our expanded boundary into South Hams is 
essential to our growth ambitions, but it only makes sense within a wider Devon solution 
that gives Exeter the governance it needs, maintains Torbay's proven model, and creates 
purpose-designed rural governance. Our proposal represents a forward-thinking approach 
that will modernise local government in the Devon area for decades to come ensuring a 
resilient and sustainable future for the communities and businesses of the area. 

 
  

Page 152



P a g e  | 138 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Page 153



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 1 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION 
FINAL PROPOSAL 
SECTION ONE: INFORMATION ABOUT THE PROPOSAL  

Author(s): 

The person completing the 
EIA template.  

Emmanuelle Marshall Department and service: 

 

LGR Project Team  Date of 
assessment:  

06/10/2025 

Lead Officer: 

Head of Service, Service 
Director, or Strategic 
Director. 

Ross Jago Signature:   Approval 
date:  

04/11/2025 

Overview: 
 

This Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) accompanies Plymouth City Council’s submission to Government proposing the 
reorganisation of local government across Devon. The proposal responds to the Government’s invitation issued 
alongside the English Devolution White Paper in December 2024, which sets out a national framework for structural 
reform. Plymouth’s strategic case for change seeks to establish a more coherent and efficient governance model. The 
proposed changes aim to simplify service delivery, improve democratic accountability, and better reflect the functional 
geography of the region. If accepted, the proposed authorities would be operational from 1st April 2028. At this stage, 
the proposal remains subject to public consultation and central government decision. This EIA therefore focuses on the 
strategic intentions of the proposal and its potential equality and human rights implications, rather than implementation 
arrangements, which will be assessed separately if the proposal is implemented. This is both because the proposal 
remains subject to central government decision, and because it concerns an expanded geographical area outside of the 
Plymouth administrative boundary. Any future equality considerations arising from implementation under Plymouth’s 
jurisdiction will be addressed through separate assessments at the appropriate stage. 

Decision required:  

 

To note the content of this Equality Impact Assessment of Plymouth City Council’s Draft Local Government 
Reorganisation Proposal for Devon.  

SECTION TWO: EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT SCREENING TOOL   

Potential external impacts:  

• Does the proposal have the potential to negatively impact service users, communities or 
residents with protected characteristics?  

Yes  No   

P
age 154



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 2 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Potential internal impacts:  

Does the proposal have the potential to negatively impact Plymouth City Council employees? 

Yes   No   

Is a full Equality Impact Assessment required? (if you have answered yes to either of the 
questions above then a full impact assessment is required and you must complete section 
three).        

Yes   No   

If you do not agree that a full equality impact assessment is required, please set out your 
justification for why not. 

N/A 

 

SECTION THREE: FULL EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 155



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 3 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

P
age 156



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 4 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Age Plymouth 

• Children (0-15 years) 17.4% 
• Working age (16-64 years) 64.1% 
• Older people (65+ years) 18.5% 

Southwest 

• 15.9 per cent of people are aged 0 to 
14, 61.8 per cent are aged 15 to 64.  

• 22.3 per cent are aged 65 and over. 

England  

• 17.4 per cent of people are aged 0 to 
14. 

• 64.2 per cent of people are aged 15 to 
64. 

• 18.4 per cent of people are aged 65 
and over. 

(2021 Census) 

Engagement from people with the 
protected characteristic of age 

Older adults between the ages of 55 and 74 
accounted for 313 respondents, or nearly 
50% of all age-disclosing participants. 

9 respondents in South Hams and 5 
respondents in Plymouth were between the 
ages of 16 and 24 

Additionally, a youth-specific event was held 
in Plymouth. 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage.  

This is what we have learned 
so far in our consultation. 

Feedback from youth groups 
in our consultation (p.4 
Engagement report) indicates 
concerns about potential 
inequalities in access to 
services and representation. 
Young people highlighted the 
need for youth-led spaces, 
better transport, mental 
health support and 
involvement in decision-
making. Young people in rural 
communities in particular 
highlighted accessibility 
challenges.  

Older residents in rural areas 
may be concerned about 
reduced access to healthcare 
and transport during the 
process of reorganisation.  

Concerns were expressed 
during engagement about 
health inequalities and 
inequality of service between 
urban and rural communities. 

Continuity in service 
delivery for children and 
adults is a priority.  

Mitigation plans for 
service continuity during 
reorganisation will be 
developed and delivered 
to ensure these 
ambitions are realised 
and risks are minimised 
should the proposal be 
selected by the Secretary 
of State. 

Not known yet. 

 

Care 
experienced 
individuals 

It is estimated that 26 per cent of the 
homeless population in the UK have care 
experience. In Plymouth there are currently 7 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage. 

Continuity in service 
delivery for children and 
adults is a priority.  

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 157



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 5 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

(Note that as per 
the Independent 
Review of 
Children’s Social 
Care 
recommendations, 
Plymouth City 
Council is treating 
care experience 
as though it is a 
protected 
characteristic).  

per cent of care leavers open to the service 
(6 per cent aged 18-20 and 12 per cent of 
those aged 21+) who are in unsuitable 
accommodation. 

The Care Review reported that 41 per cent 
of 19–21-year-old care leavers are not in 
education, employment or training (NEET) 
compared to 12 per cent of all other young 
people in the same age group.  

In Plymouth there are currently 50 per cent 
of care leavers aged 18-21 Not in Education 
Training or Employment (54 per cent of all 
those care leavers aged 18-24 who are open 
to the service). 

There are currently 195 care leavers aged 18 
to 20 (statutory service) and 58 aged 21 to 24 
(extended offer). There are more care leavers 
aged 21 to 24 who could return for support 
from services if they wished to. 

A total of 50 care-experienced individuals 
participated in the engagement process, 
representing approximately 6.1% of all survey 
respondents across Plymouth and the South 
Hams. This includes 35 respondents from the 
South Hams and 15 from Plymouth 

Broader themes relevant to 
this group were raised in the 
engagement, including 
concerns about access to 
children’s services, continuity 
of care, stability, and the 
importance of youth-led 
spaces and mental health 
support. These issues were 
particularly evident in the 
youth engagement sessions 
and in feedback relating to 
service integration and 
safeguarding. 

 

The needs of care-
experienced young 
people are recognised in 
the proposal.  

Mitigation plans for 
service continuity during 
reorganisation will be 
developed and delivered 
to ensure our ambitions 
for care experienced 
individuals are realised 
and risks to them are 
minimised, should the 
proposal be selected by 
the Secretary of State. 

 

P
age 158



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 6 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

Disability 9.4 per cent of residents in Plymouth have 
their activities limited ‘a lot’ because of a 
physical or mental health problem.  
12.2 per cent of residents in Plymouth have 
their activities limited ‘a little’ because of a 
physical or mental health problem (2021 
Census) 
 
150 respondents to the Plymouth and South 
Ham’s surveys identified as having a disability 
or long-term health condition that limits daily 
activities. 
This represents approximately 18.3% of all 
survey participants (150 out of 824). 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage. 

Potential changes to service 
delivery, transport and 
healthcare provision resulting 
from the integration of the 
South Hams could 
disproportionately affect 
disabled residents who rely 
on accessible services.  

While the engagement report 
does not disaggregate 
feedback from disabled 
respondents, the themes of 
digital inclusion, accessible 
service delivery, and local 
responsiveness were 
consistently raised and are 
particularly relevant to this 
group. 

The proposal aims to 
improve strategic 
coordination of SEND 
services.  

Wider concerns from 
this group will be 
considered in the 
implementation phase to 
ensure that the 
reorganisation does not 
disadvantage people with 
disabilities and that 
inclusive service design 
principles are upheld, 
should the proposal be 
selected by the Secretary 
of State. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 159



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 7 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

• Gender 
reassignment 

0.5 per cent of residents in Plymouth have a 
gender identity that is different from their sex 
registered at birth. 0.1 per cent of residents 
identify as a trans man, 0.1 per cent identify as 
non-binary and, 0.1 per cent identify as a 
trans woman (2021 Census).  
 
Approximately 0.6% of all survey participants 
indicated that their gender identity is different 
from the sex assigned at birth. 

The proposal does not 
include any measures that are 
foreseen to disadvantage or 
adversely affect individuals or 
groups with the protected 
characteristic of gender 
reassignment, transgender 
and non-binary individuals. At 
this strategic stage, no 
specific adverse impacts have 
been identified, but this 
group has specific safety, 
healthcare and community 
support needs that must be 
considered during 
implementation.  

The Council recognises 
the importance of 
inclusive service design 
and equitable 
representation. Should 
the proposal proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through further 
assessments, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 160



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 8 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

Marriage and 
civil partnership 

40.1 per cent of residents have never married 
and never registered a civil partnership. 10 
per cent are divorced, 6 percent are 
widowed, with 2.5 per cent are separated but 
still married. 

0.49 per cent of residents are, or were, 
married or in a civil partnership of the same 
sex. 0.06 per cent of residents are in a civil 
partnership with the opposite sex (2021 
Census). 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage. 

Differences in the way 
services are delivered in the 
two areas to be aggregated, 
may result in indirect impacts 
such as changes to housing, 
benefits, or family services 
that will need mitigating if and 
when the programme 
reaches the delivery stage.  

The Council is 
committed to treat 
individuals in all 
relationship statuses 
fairly and equitably. 
Should the proposal 
proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through future 
assessments, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

The total fertility rate (TFR) for England was 
1.62 children per woman in 2021. The total 
fertility rate (TFR) for Plymouth in 2021 was 
1.5. 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage. 

Service changes that may 
result from the proposal 
could affect access to public 
health interventions during 
pregnancy, access to early 
years and family support. 
These risks will be reviewed 
and addressed as and when 
the programme reaches 
implementation stage. 

Should the proposal 
proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through future 
assessments, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 161



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 9 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

• Race • In 2021, 94.9 per cent of Plymouth’s 
population identified their ethnicity as White, 
2.3 per cent as Asian and 1.1 per cent as 
Black (2021 Census) 
People with a mixed ethnic background 
comprised 1.8 per cent of the population. 1 
per cent of the population use a different 
term to describe their ethnicity (2021 
Census) 
92.7 per cent of residents speak English as 
their main language. 2021 Census data show 
that after English, Polish, Romanian, Chinese, 
Portuguese, and Arabic are the most spoken 
languages in Plymouth (2021 Census). 
 
South Hams Survey 
Out of 403 respondents to the South Hams 
survey, 288 individuals (71.46%) identified as 
White. A total of 10 respondents (2.48%) 
identified as belonging to ethnic minority 
groups, including 2 Asian or Asian British 
(0.50%), 2 Mixed or Multiple Ethnic Groups 
(0.50%), and 6 categorised as Other (not 
stated) (1.49%). Additionally, 5 respondents 
(1.24%) selected “Prefer not to say,” and 100 
respondents (24.81%) did not provide an 
answer to the ethnicity question. 
 
Plymouth Survey 
Of the 421 respondents to the Plymouth 
survey, 290 individuals (68.88%) identified as 
White. A total of 11 respondents (2.61%) 
identified as belonging to ethnic minority 

The proposals are not 
anticipated to have an 
adverse impact on individuals 
or communities on the basis 
of race. BME respondents 
contributed to the 
consultation, but numbers 
are quite small, affecting the 
robustness of the data. 
Cultural needs and 
experiences of discrimination 
may be overlooked in service 
design and governance 
changes if and when the 
reorganisation programme 
reaches the implementation 
stage. 

 

Should the proposal 
proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through future 
assessments and 
engagement, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 162



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 10 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

groups, comprising 3 Asian or Asian British 
(0.71%), 3 Mixed or Multiple Ethnic Groups 
(0.71%), 1 Black, Black British, Caribbean or 
African (0.24%), and 4 categorised as Other 
(not stated) (0.95%). In addition, 12 
respondents (2.85%) selected “Prefer not to 
say,” and 108 respondents (25.65%) did not 
answer the ethnicity question. 

• Religion 
or belief 

48.9 per cent of the Plymouth population 
stated they had no religion. 42.5 per cent of 
the population identified as Christian (2021 
Census).  
Those who identified as Muslim account for 
1.3 per cent of Plymouth’s population while 
Hindu, Buddhist, Jewish or Sikh combined 
totalled less than 1 per cent (2021 Census). 

The proposals are not 
anticipated to have an 
adverse impact on individuals 
or communities based on 
religion or belief. However, 
the risk that cultural needs 
and experiences of 
discrimination may be 
overlooked in service design 
and governance changes is 
noted and will be acted upon 
if and when the proposals are 
implemented.  

Should the proposal 
proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through future 
assessments, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 163



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 11 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

• Sex 51 per cent of our population are women and 
49 per cent are men (2021 Census). 

The proposals are not 
anticipated to have a direct 
adverse impact on women. 
However, women may be 
disproportionately affected 
by any changes to transport, 
safety, and community 
services that may indirectly 
result from the 
implementation of this 
proposal, especially if caring 
responsibilities are not 
considered when the delivery 
stage is reached.  

Should the proposals be 
accepted by central 
government, further 
work will be undertaken 
during the 
implementation phase to 
ensure that women’s 
needs and voices are 
considered.  

Not known yet. 

 

• Sexual 
orientation 

88.95 per cent of residents aged 16 years and 
over in Plymouth describe their sexual 
orientation as straight or heterosexual. 2.06 
per cent describe their sexuality as bisexual, 
1.97 per cent of people describe their sexual 
orientation as gay or lesbian. 0.42 per cent of 
residents describe their sexual orientation 
using a different term (2021 Census). 

The proposals are not 
anticipated to have a direct 
adverse impact on LGBTQ+ 
people. The needs or 
experiences of LGBTQ+ 
residents, particularly around 
safety and inclusion, could be 
overlooked in service design 
and governance changes. This 
risk will be addressed if and 
when the programme 
reaches the delivery stage.  

Should the proposals be 
accepted by central 
government, further 
work will be undertaken 
during the 
implementation phase to 
ensure that LGBTQ+ 
residents needs and 
voices are considered. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 164



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 12 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

 

SECTION FOUR: HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS  

• Human Rights Implications Mitigation Actions   Timescale and 
responsible department 

 The proposal does not explicitly 
reference human rights legislation. 
However, its strategic design supports 
several rights under the Human Rights 
Act 1998. These include rights relating 
to non-discrimination, private life, and 
access to services. Risks to rights are 
minimal at the proposal stage but will 
require careful management during 
implementation, particularly in relation 
to service continuity and inclusive 
governance. 

None at this stage. This objective 
will be pursued during the 
implementation stage if and when 
the proposal is retained. 

 

Not known yet.  

SECTION FIVE: OUR EQUALITY OBJECTIVES   

Equality objectives  Implications Mitigation Actions   Timescale and 
responsible department 

Work together in partnership to: 

 promote equality, diversity and 
inclusion 

 facilitate community cohesion   

 support people with different 
backgrounds and lived experiences 
to get on well together 

The proposal aligns with Plymouth City 
Council’s equality objectives by 
embedding inclusive governance 
principles, protecting local identity, and 
promoting community cohesion. It 
supports equality and diversity through 
co-designed neighbourhood 
governance, inclusive engagement 
frameworks, and strategic service 
integration. The proposal also 
recognises the importance of lived 

None at this stage. This objective 
will be pursued during the 
implementation stage if and when 
the proposal is retained by central 
government.  

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 165



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 13 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

experience, particularly among young 
people and rural communities. 

Give specific consideration to care 
experienced people to improve their life 
outcomes, including access to training, 
employment and housing. 

The proposal supports improved 
outcomes for care-experienced people 
by committing to integrated service 
delivery across the Greater Plymouth 
area, including children’s social care, 
housing, and employment support. It 
builds on Plymouth’s existing 
transformation programme, which 
includes multi-agency Family Help 
services, targeted support for 
adolescents, and strategic coordination 
of housing and education. The proposal 
ensures continuity of care and access 
to opportunities for care-experienced 
individuals across the expanded 
geography, aligning with the Council’s 
objective to improve life chances 
through inclusive, joined-up services. 

None at this stage. This objective 
will be pursued during the 
implementation stage if and when 
the proposal is retained by central 
government. 

 

Not known yet. 

 

Build and develop a diverse workforce 
that represents the community and 
citizens it serves.  

This objective is not explicitly 
addressed in the proposal, but the 
proposal doesn’t adversely impact our 
ambition to achieve this. 

This objective may need to be 
addressed separately or 
incorporated into future 
implementation planning. In the 
continuing authority status the 
proposal seeks to secure, this 
objective would continue to be 
pursued. 

Not known yet. 

 

Support diverse communities to feel 
confident to report crime and anti-social 
behaviour, including hate crime and hate 
incidents, and work with partners to 
ensure Plymouth is a city where 
everybody feels safe and welcome.  

This objective is not explicitly 
addressed in the proposal, but the 
proposal doesn’t adversely impact our 
ambition to achieve this. 

This objective may need to be 
addressed separately or 
incorporated into future 
implementation planning. In the 
continuing authority status the 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 166



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 14 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

proposal seeks to secure, this 
objective would continue to be 
pursued. 

 

P
age 167



Local Government 
Reorganisation

Project details
Assessment author

Joseph Harmer on behalf of the LGR team.

Project summary

This assessment covers Plymouth's proposal for Local Government Reorganisation. 

This Climate Impact Assessment has been undertaken to evaluate the environmental implications of submitting a 
proposal for Local Government Reorganisation for Devon.  

Plymouth City Council is acting in response to a formal government request and does not hold decision-making 
authority over the implementation of reorganisation, which remain subject to future decisions by the Secretary of 
State. Accordingly, this assessment evaluates only the strategic intentions stated in the document, based on the 
foreseeable environmental effects of the proposal.

Summary of assessment

It is important to note that the likely climate impacts of implementing this proposal, or any competing proposals, are 
very uncertain at this stage. There is significant uncertainty regarding future governance arrangements mandated by 
central government, service delivery models, and spatial planning frameworks across Devon, all of which would 
materially influence environmental outcomes. These uncertainties preclude a robust assessment of long-term 
climate consequences at this stage. 

The large geographical scope and long timescales for the delivery of the proposal, coupled with the absence of a 
complete baseline environmental profile of the existing administrative area, make it difficult to assess whether the 
proposal will enhance or degrade the environment, relative to the current situation or competing proposals. The 
proposal affects a wide range of geographies, from urban areas to rural parishes and the coast. The proposal can 
affect the medium- and long-term future of the areas in ways that cannot be fully anticipated at this stage. In 
addition, climate change introduces non-linear and unpredictable pressures on the environment, making forecasting 
difficult. 

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 1 of 5

Page 168



However, this assessment demonstrates the strategic commitment of the Council to transparency and 
environmental responsibility throughout the process and will support further assessment and mitigation planning on 
a case-by-case basis should implementation proceed.

Assessment scores

Biodiversity

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

Biodiversity impacts will vary significantly depending on land use changes and development density across the area. 
Many of these impacts, such as habitat fragmentation, species migration, or tree canopy maturity, unfold over 
decades. Development projects will take place regardless of Local Government Reorganisation, and can have both 
beneficial or adverse impacts. For example, while tree planting programmes (such as the Plymouth and South Hams 
Community Forest) offer long-term benefits, construction and infrastructure expansion will cause ecological 
disruption. 

The proposal states that “rural heritage is recognised and cherished” as part of the vision for the Plymouth area. It 
commits to strategic planning that “respects local character, protects green spaces, and ensures infrastructure 
keeps pace with growth.” In addition, the proposal for Plymouth builds on a robust planning framework that already 
integrates biodiversity protection; the Plymouth, South Hams and West Devon Joint Local Plan. 

The expansion of urban governance into rural areas could pose risks to biodiversity if not carefully managed. 
Equally, this expansion may improve coordination across ecological zones. The proposal’s emphasis on local 
engagement and safeguarding rural identity present opportunities to better protect biodiversity.

GHG Emissions

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

Assessing the likely impact of the proposed reorganisation on greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions presents significant 
methodological challenges and could only be speculative at this stage. The scope of the proposal is broad, 
encompassing multiple sectors and jurisdictions, and the outcomes depend on numerous variables beyond the 
control of the reorganised authority. These include future investment decisions, national policy shifts, and 
behavioural responses across diverse communities. For this reason, the proposal is assessed as having a neutral 
impact on GHG emissions. 

Despite the limitations in quantification, the proposal demonstrates a clear strategic intention to uphold best 
environmental practice. Plymouth City Council’s Net Zero Action Plan, which targets net zero by 2030, is explicitly 
committed to being scaled across the wider Greater Plymouth area. This extension builds on a robust existing 
strategy and is supported by major investment in low-carbon transport, district heating, and waste reform.  

Existing environmental frameworks, including the Joint Local Plan, provide continuity and safeguards against 
emissions increases due to development. The proposal acknowledges public concerns, particularly regarding 
overdevelopment, loss of green space, and urban-led governance. These risks underscore the importance of 
inclusive environmental governance and tailored planning protections for rural areas.

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 2 of 5

Page 169



Renewable Energy

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on renewable energy generation, primarily due to the difficulty 
of quantifying outcomes at this stage. The scope of the reorganisation is broad, and the deployment of renewable 
energy infrastructure depends on multiple external factors, including national policy, market conditions, and local 
planning decisions.  

While the proposal does not explicitly prioritise renewable energy, it includes several elements that support low-
carbon energy systems. Plymouth’s participation in the Advanced Zoning Pilot for district heating is a notable 
example, with potential to facilitate low-carbon heat networks. The proposal also references the Planning and 
Infrastructure Bill and the potential development of a Spatial Development Strategy for the Peninsula Mayoral 
Strategic Authority, both of which could enable coordinated regional planning for renewable energy infrastructure.

Ocean and Waterways

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on waterways and ocean health. This reflects the difficulty of 
evaluating outcomes in this domain, given the wide geographic scope of the reorganisation and the number of 
external variables involved. Marine and coastal ecosystems are influenced by national regulation and planning, and 
infrastructure delivery, much of which lies beyond the control of the reorganised authorities. 

While the proposal does not include a dedicated strategy for marine and coastal environments, it references several 
initiatives that support ocean health, in particular the UK’s first National Marine Park, with funding for public 
engagement, marine conservation, and sustainable economic development. The proposal mentions collaboration 
with the Environment Agency, SouthWest Water, and the National Trust, though not specifically in relation to marine 
health.

Air Quality

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on air quality. This reflects the difficulty of determining 
outcomes at this stage, given the wide scope of the reorganisation and the number of external variables involved. 
While transport habits are influenced by individual behaviour, local authorities retain significant control over 
development patterns, transport infrastructure, and planning policy, all of which shape air quality outcomes.  

The proposal includes reference to current transport and planning measures that may support improved air quality, 
particularly in urban areas, with, for example, improvements to public transport, and successful partnerships 
(Plymouth Enhanced Bus Partnership and Peninsula transport). While the proposal is not intended as a 
comprehensive environmental strategy, its strategic direction shows good practice.

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 3 of 5

Page 170



Materials and Waste

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on waste and materials management.  

This reflects the difficulty of evaluating long-term environmental outcomes arising from administrative 
reorganisation. While local authorities retain control over service design, infrastructure investment, and operational 
standards, the environmental impact of these changes will ultimately depend on behavioural responses, such as 
household participation in recycling schemes and food waste separation.

The proposal does not include a quantified waste reduction target or an assessment of how reorganisation will 
affect waste generation or recycling performance in Devon. These outcomes will be shaped by future service 
decisions and the extent to which behavioural change is supported and sustained. 

In Plymouth and the 13 parishes of the South Hams, the proposal demonstrates a strategic intention to align waste 
services with environmental best practice, with the introduction of food waste collections and the proposed 
integration of waste services across the Greater Plymouth area. These measures may over time improve operational 
efficiency and reduce emissions.

Climate Change Adaptation

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on climate adaptation. This reflects the inherent difficulty in 
evaluating adaptation outcomes at this stage, given the wide scope of the reorganisation and the number of external 
variables involved. Climate adaptation depends on long-term planning, behavioural change, and infrastructure 
delivery, much of which lies beyond the immediate control of the reorganised authorities. 

Despite these limitations, the proposal demonstrates a strategic intention to support climate resilience through 
infrastructure, planning, and governance in the Plymouth and South Hams. 

Public engagement highlights the importance of environmental resilience to residents. South Hams respondents 
raised concerns about infrastructure strain and planning pressures, while Plymouth residents emphasised safety, 
green infrastructure, and community resilience. These concerns reinforce the need for inclusive governance and 
locally tailored adaptation strategies.

Education / Engagement / Enabling Conditions

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

In relation to environmental issues, Plymouth City Council supports community-led climate initiatives, including 
behaviour change campaigns and local partnerships. Plymouth’s Net Zero Delivery Team facilitates the Climate 
Connections engagement platform and Plymouth Young Climate Ambassadors, engaging residents and young 
people in shaping the city’s climate action plans. 

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 4 of 5

Page 171



In relation to community empowerment, the proposal puts forward Neighbourhood Networks to bring together 
councillors, parish representatives, and community organisations. 

South Hams residents expressed a strong desire to retain local decision-making and protect rural identity, while 
Plymouth residents emphasised the need for trust-building, inclusive governance, and environmental education. 
Both groups valued green spaces, community pride, and responsive governance.  

The proposal appears to respond directly to these concerns, particularly through its Neighbourhood Networks and 
community empowerment model. It builds on existing strengths in Plymouth’s community engagement practice and 
proposes to extend these across the enlarged authority.

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 5 of 5

Page 172



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Scrutiny Management Board
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 12 November 2025 

Title of Report: Plymouth City Council People Strategy 

Lead Member:   Councillor Sue Dann (Cabinet Member for Customer Experience, 

Sport, Leisure and HR and OD) 

Lead Strategic Director: Si Bellamy (Chief Operating Officer) 

Author: Chris Squire, Service Director HR & Organisational Development 

Contact Email:  Chris.squire@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: Click here to enter text. 

Key Decision:  Yes 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

To present the new People Strategy for Plymouth City Council 

 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

1. For Scrutiny Management Board to note that the strategy is still in draft form, pending 
comments from scrutiny and cabinet. 

2. Support the new People Strategy for Plymouth City Council 

The strategy presents the risks and opportunities facing Plymouth City Council, in terms of the 

recruitment, retention and development of staff. The new strategy recognises the economic and social 

development of the city, and connects the development of the workforce to these influences. 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

1. Not having a People Strategy 

This was rejected. There are very real risks facing recruitment & retention of staff, and it is 

paramount that we have a strategy that focuses on workforce planning, the wellbeing of staff, 

and the connection of the workforce to the economic and social development of the city. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

The People Strategy links directly to and supports the Plymouth Plan and the four principles of 

Democracy, Responsibility, Fairness and Co-Operation in the Corporate Plan. The strategy also 

underpins how we will deliver our priorities in Plymouth and how we connect the workforce to these 

priorities. 

 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

There are no adverse MTFP or resource implications arising from the strategy. Programmes of work 

arising from the strategy will be subject to business cases, and will lead to improved people services, 

efficiencies across the organisation, and reduced cost. 

 

Page 173 Agenda Item 6



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Financial Risks  

'This document represents a revised strategy and does not raise any direct financial risks.  The 

application of this strategy to develop organisational change will be undertaken on a case-by-case basis, 

with risks raised and considered on that basis. 

 

Legal Implications  

The Council has wide powers to employ officers to deliver its responsibilities and objectives. The 

People Strategy is an integral part of the long-term workforce planning to ensure the Council meets its 
statutory duties and responsibilities to residents and to its workforce. There are no specific legal 

implications raised by the strategy. 

  

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

There are no direct carbon/environmental implications for the decision. 

 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

Health & Safety 

The People Strategy aims to enhance Plymouth City Council’s already good H&S practices and support 

the wellbeing of staff. 

Equality Duty 

The People Strategy has been developed following extensive engagement with staff. It directly supports 

the development of an ambitious and inclusive workforce, connected to Plymouth’s communities. 

 

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Plymouth City Council People Strategy        

B  Equalities Impact Assessment (if applicable)        

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

Page 174



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

        

   

Sign off: 
 

Fin ITG.

25.26

.076 

Leg LS/00

0031

97/33

/LB/2

7/10/

25 

 

Mon 

Off 

LS/00

0031

97/33

/LB/2

7/10/

25 

 

HR Click 

here 

to 

enter 

text. 

Asset

s  

Click 

here 

to 

enter 

text. 

Strat 

Proc 

Click here 

to enter 

text. 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  Chris Squire 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes  

Date agreed: 23/10/2025 

 

Cabinet Member approval:  Approved by Cllr Sue Dann 

Date approved: 27/10/2025 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



THE HORIZONS ARE 
BIGGER HERE
Welcome to our people strategy

THE HORIZONS ARE 
BIGGER HERE
Welcome to our people strategy

Page 177



As Cabinet Member for People and a proud champion of Plymouth,  
I am delighted to introduce our new People Strategy - an essential part  
of delivering the vision set out in the Plymouth Plan: to be one of Europe’s 
most vibrant waterfront cities, where everyone enjoys an outstanding 
quality of life.

Our city is full of opportunity, but we also face real challenges. From the 
need to attract and retain talent, to supporting an ageing workforce 
and responding to financial pressures, we must work together to ensure 
Plymouth continues to thrive. The People Strategy is our commitment to 
meeting these challenges head-on, by investing in our staff and creating an 
environment where everyone can flourish.

Our workforce is absolutely central to life in Plymouth. Their dedication, 
professionalism, and care make a real difference to people’s lives, and I am 
deeply grateful for all that they do.

Looking after the wellbeing of our staff is not just the right thing to do - 
it is essential for the success of our city. By supporting wellbeing, and by 
fostering a culture of inclusion and respect, we ensure that our teams are 
equipped to deliver the very best for Plymouth. Together, we are building a 
council that reflects the communities we serve and is ready for the future.

Thank you for your commitment, your passion, and your service to 
Plymouth.

Cllr Sue Dann, 					      
Cabinet Member for HR and  
Organisational Development, 			    
Plymouth City Council

Introduction

Page 178



Plymouth is a city of ambition, resilience, and opportunity. As we launch 
our new People Strategy, I am immensely proud of the dedication and 
professionalism shown by our workforce every day. Whether it’s keeping our 
communities safe, ensuring our streets are clean, running world-class events, 
or driving economic growth, our staff are at the heart of everything that 
makes Plymouth a great place to live and work.

We face significant challenges as a council, but these challenges are 
matched by remarkable opportunities. Major investment in the Devonport 
Dockyard, the growth of our creative and digital sectors, and our 
commitment to innovation and partnership working all point to a bright 
future for our city.

Our people are central to our city. Their commitment to public service, 
their willingness to adapt and learn, and their passion for Plymouth 
underpin our success. I am proud of the way our teams support each other, 
champion wellbeing, and embrace diversity and inclusion. Together, we are 
building a workforce that reflects the communities we serve and is ready to 
meet the city’s evolving needs.

This strategy is about empowerment - helping every member of staff to 
thrive, supporting our community, and ensuring Plymouth continues to 
grow and prosper. Thank you for all that you do for our city.

Tracey Lee, 				     
Chief Executive  
Plymouth City Council

Introduction

Page 179



Plymouth City Council’s People Strategy 2025 – 2028
Welcome to our People Strategy
Our People Strategy fits with the bigger plans for our city and shows our dedication to 
creating a lively, caring, innovative, and inclusive organisation. This means we are not 
only handling today’s challenges with flexibility and strength but also building strong 
foundations for a successful future.

A big part of this is taking care of and developing our workforce. We want to grow talent, encourage 
continuous learning, and use the diverse skills of our employees to provide exceptional public services 
and to ensure the development of our city. Our plans aim to make jobs satisfying, improve employee 
wellbeing, and create opportunities for career growth, ensuring our workforce stays motivated and 
prepared to meet our community’s changing needs.

At the same time, we are committed to tackling the unique challenges and opportunities Plymouth 
faces. Investment in Devonport Dockyard, for example, presents great potential for growth as well as 
significant challenges, which we plan to address through smart investments and working in partnership 
with organisations and residents. Similarly, projects like our new Digital Academy, apprenticeship and 
management and leadership development programmes are designed to take advantage of technological 
progress, preparing our employees for the future while encouraging innovation across the city.

Our strategy is about empowerment - helping our employees excel in their jobs, supporting our 
community to thrive, and enabling Plymouth to achieve new heights of success and sustainability. This 
will be achieved whilst upholding the values and standards required of those who work in the public 
sector. By aligning our people strategy with the city’s vision and the corporate plan, we are setting 
the stage for a future where every member of staff feels they can contribute to and benefit from 
Plymouth’s growth and vibrancy.

4

Page 180



Summary
Plymouth City Council’s People Strategy 2025–2028 sets out a bold vision to develop the council as a vibrant, caring, 
innovative, and inclusive organisation that is equipped to meet both current and future challenges. This strategy is closely 
aligned with the city’s wider ambitions and the Plymouth Plan, ensuring that every member of staff is empowered to 
contribute to Plymouth’s growth and success.

Challenges facing Plymouth City Council
Plymouth is a proud city of opportunity and complexity. The Council operates in a context marked by:

n	 Significant economic growth and investment, such as the £4.4 billion planned for Devonport Dockyard, which 
brings both opportunities and acute workforce planning challenges.

n	 A projected gap of 25,000 between available jobs and the local workforce by 2034, necessitating innovative 
approaches to recruitment, retention, and partnership working.

n	 An ageing workforce, with nearly 50% of staff aged over 50, raising risks around turnover and the need for flexible 
working options.

n	 Persistent recruitment difficulties in key roles, due to competition, pay, and national shortages.
n	 Financial pressures, with ongoing budget constraints and rising demand for services, particularly in social care and 

homelessness.
n	 Socio-economic challenges, including high levels of economic inactivity, deprivation, and disparities in health and 

housing across the city.

Positive work and achievements
Despite these challenges, the Council has made significant progress:

n	 Workforce Health, Safety and Wellbeing: Sickness absence has reduced, supported by strong wellbeing 
programmes, a network of Wellbeing Champions, and the ‘Work Safe Home Safe’ campaign.

n	 Equality, diversity, and inclusion: The Council is a Disability Confident Leader, has achieved ‘Gold’ status in the 
Defence Employer Recognition Scheme, and supports vibrant staff networks.

n	 Talent development: Apprenticeships and early careers strategies have worked well, with 6.5% of the workforce 
currently undertaking apprenticeships.

n	 Leadership and management: New management and leadership programmes have been launched, and career 
development opportunities have reduced reliance on agency staff.

n	 Staff engagement: Workshops and appreciative enquiry sessions have shaped the new strategy, ensuring it reflects 
the real experiences and aspirations of the workforce.

Proposed outcomes
The People Strategy focuses on four key outcomes:

1	 Place – Respectful and Inclusive: Building a workforce that reflects the diversity of Plymouth’s communities, with 
inclusive recruitment, support for young people and those with disabilities, and strong community engagement.

2	 People – Valued and Supported: Creating an environment where staff feel valued, supported, and able to develop 
their careers, with a focus on wellbeing, flexible working, and financial support.

3	 Passion – Innovative and Creative: Fostering a culture of innovation and learning, with investment in digital skills, 
leadership, and behavioural change to embrace new technologies and ways of working.

4	 Purpose – High Performing: Ensuring clarity of expectation, robust performance management, and a culture of 
recognition and continuous improvement, underpinned by agreed values and behaviours and strong leadership.

A clear and ambitious people strategy is essential for Plymouth City Council because our ability to deliver high-quality 
services, drive city-wide growth, and respond to complex challenges depends on the strength, wellbeing, and adaptability 
of our workforce. This strategy is rooted in a deep understanding of our local context, shaped by the voices of our staff, 
and informed by evidence of what works. It builds on proven successes, addresses real and emerging challenges, and sets 
out practical, measurable outcomes. By focusing on inclusion, wellbeing, innovation, and high performance, this strategy 
ensures that every member of staff is empowered to contribute to Plymouth’s future, making the Council not just a great 
place to work, but a driving force for positive change across the city.

Page 181



The Plymouth Plan
The Plymouth Plan is the vision for our city and looks ahead 
to 2034, setting a shared direction of travel for the long-term 
future of the city. It talks about the future of the city’s economy; 
it plans for the city’s transport and housing needs; it looks 
at how the city can improve the lives of children and young 
people and address the issues which lead to child poverty, and 
it sets out the aspiration to be a healthy and prosperous city 
with a rich arts and cultural environment.

Plymouth City Council’s Corporate Plan sets out a clear 
direction to build a better Plymouth. It is the guiding strategy 
for the Council and shapes what every directorate, service, 
team and member of staff does and how we can work together 
as one Council to achieve our shared ambition of making 
Plymouth a fairer, greener city where everyone does their bit

The Corporate Plan has four principles to guide our work:

Democracy		  Because we listen and hear what people want

Responsibility Because we care about the impact of our decisions and actions

Fairness Because we want to address inequality and inequity in our city

Co-operation Because we achieve more together than we would alone

The plan describes how we will deliver the 
council’s priorities, and this is key to the 
development of this people strategy:

n Providing quality public services

n Trusting and engaging our communities

n Focusing on prevention and early intervention

n Spending money wisely

n Empowering and engaging our staff

n Being a strong voice for Plymouth

The People Strategy will ensure that staff feel 
connected to the vision and principles of the 
Plymouth Plan and the Corporate Plan, and that 
they understand how they will deliver the council’s 
priorities. 

“
“One of Europe’s 
most vibrant 
waterfront cities 
where an outstanding 
quality of life is 
enjoyed by everyone.”

Page 182



The Plymouth Context

The context in which Plymouth City Council operates highlights the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats 
facing the authority. The city has a population of almost 268,700, a real economic output of over £6.97 billion and a 
growing workforce of almost 116,000 people. Our unique assets include the largest naval base in Western Europe; a 
vibrant manufacturing and engineering sector employing over 13 per cent of the workforce; a burgeoning creative and 
cultural sector; one of only 16 critical care teaching hospitals in the UK and the associated Plymouth Science Park, three 
universities and excellent higher education provision. However, there are challenges facing our growing city, including 
an increasing number of jobs, low unemployment, and high levels of economic inactivity and deprivation, and these are 
shown in figure 2.

 
 
  

Plymouth has a population of 

268,700
Aged 0 to 15

46,000
Aged 65+

50,000
High levels of economic  

inactivity in Plymouth, almost 

15,000
people economically inactive due  

to long-term sickness

3,600
people in Plymouth 
live in the 1% most 
deprived areas of 

England

46,000
people in Plymouth 

live in the 10% 
most deprived 

areas in England

6,325
businesses across  

the city

Low unemployment  
rate of only  

3.8%

Significant 
demand for  

new workers  
in Plymouth  

consistently over 

3,000
job vacancies 

across a diverse 
range of sectors

Figure 1  The Plymouth Context

116,000
Employee jobs in 2022

Figure 2  Plymouth Population and Jobs

Page 183



Plymouth has the largest naval base in Western Europe, and this is where the UK undertakes operational, 
training and maintenance activities for its naval fleet. There will be a £4.4 billion investment over the next 10 
years in the base, with further orders anticipated. This means a skills requirement for 5,500 people, made up of 
1,800 entry level jobs and 3,700 experienced workers, for the base alone. We are also forecasting a need for 
an additional 2,000 construction workers, rising to 4,240 in 2027.

This is a tremendous opportunity for Plymouth, but it also presents a unique challenge to the council and its 
own workforce planning. This is shown by analysing figures for the working-age economically active in the city, 
versus projected total jobs, and predicts a gap between jobs and local workforce of 25,000 people (figure 3).

This also highlights the importance of effective partnership working across the city, and a council workforce 
that looks and works across teams, directorates and organisations. The projected gap in labour will necessitate 
working with employers and educational institutions to attract and retain workers, as well as how we develop 
staff to adapt to emerging technologies to continue and improve our services.

 

Plymouth City Council – Context for change

This section presents direct impacts on the workforce, including summary data 
and strategic work programmes.
The Plymouth City Council Workforce - Summary Data
Workforce numbers at Plymouth City Council have remained stable over the past several years, at c. 2,250 
whole time equivalent. Turnover of staff is below comparator local authorities, at c. 10%. Recruitment 
difficulties continue in several occupations, including social workers, project managers, and qualified roles in 
corporate functions. These difficulties arise from competition for staff in Plymouth and the South West, pay, 
national shortage occupations, and geographical location.

Sustained work on wellbeing and absence has seen sickness absence reduce to 9.27 days/employee in July 
2025, compared to 10.5 days/employee 12-months previously and 9.7 days in comparator authorities. 

Aside from short-term absence due to colds and stomach complaints, top reasons and themes for short-term 
and long-term absence are musculoskeletal conditions and mental health. This matches national trends, as 
reported by the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development in its Wellbeing at Work report 2023.

Plymouth City Council has an aging workforce, with nearly 50% of staff aged over 50.

2023
130000

135000

140000

145000

150000

155000

2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023

Current gap between total jobs in 
Plymouthand the economically-active, 
working-age population: 10,000 people

Impact of support for the economically
inactive to gain employment. Based on
Connect to Work - 650 people per annum

Potential gap between total jobs 
in Plymouth and the econonomically active,
working-age population: 25,000 people

Working-age economically active population projections (revised 2023) 10-year total jobs projection Supporting economically inactive into work

Plymouth working-age economically active vs projected 2023 - 2034

Figure 3  Plymouth Projected Working Age and Jobs
 

Page 184



Figure 4 shows a breakdown of the workforce by age band

Figure 5 breaks this down, to show the percentage of each directorate’s workforce by age band:

There is therefore a strong risk that turnover will increase as people move towards retirement age. We can 
also anticipate staff requesting more flexible working options, rather than opting for full retirement. And of 
course, a 10% turnover rate means that we need to recruit the equivalent of a new workforce every 10-years.

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

10-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79

PCC workforce by age

Figure  4 PCC Workforce by Age Band

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

Adu
lts

, H
ea

th

an
d C

om
m

un
iti

es

Chil
dr

en
’s 

Ser
vic

es

Adu
lts

, H
ea

th

an
d C

om
m

un
iti

es

EExe
cu

tiv
e O

ffic
e

Gro
wth

Offic
e o

f t
he

 D
ire

ct
or 

of P
ub

lic
 H

ea
lth

%

10-19
20-29
30-39
40-49
50-59
60-69
70-79

Figure 5  Workforce by Age Band and Directorate

Percentage of workforce by age band for each directorate

PCC workforce by age

Page 185



Financial Context: adapting to economic pressures
Underpinning our ambition to adapt and change, is the requirement to save money and respond to growing 
pressures on key services. The financial landscape for local governments is challenging, with ongoing 
budget constraints and increasing demand for services, particularly in children’s and adults’ social care and 
homelessness provision.

It is a fact that Plymouth is an ageing city, with more people needing support from our social services every 
day.  At the same time there are stark disparities in health outcomes, depending on where you live in the city. 
Access to housing continues to be one of the most pressuring issues, along with nearly a 10% rise in the 
number of children needing SEND support.

Therefore, the next step on our journey is not just about our improving services but also about ensuring 
financial sustainability.

Our Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is central to this effort. It aligns our resources with our strategic 
goals, ensuring that we can continue to deliver high-quality services while managing our finances prudently.   

Moving forward we will we will need to find ways to identify those residents who might otherwise fall into 
crisis and support them before this happens, to reduce the long-term costs associated with reactive, crisis-
driven services. 

Strong Council, Strong City 

To ensure that the Council and the city are strong and sustainable, we have to focus on boosting our local economy and 
improving the services we provide. 

At its core, our focus is on addressing inequality, exclusion, and poverty while benefiting the economy by exploring new 
ways to run our services, making the most of our resources, and building strong partnerships with other organisations. 
This involves setting up new businesses, optimizing our resources, fostering collaborations, and making strategic 
investments in projects that deliver long-term benefits for Plymouth.

By focusing on growth, we’re not just improving our services – we’re also making Plymouth a more vibrant and 
prosperous place. This means better opportunities for residents and staff. 

City help and support
Getting the basics right is vital to enable us to support residents and avoid them falling into crisis. This means 
we want to tackle problems early, use data to make smart decisions, and work closely with our community to 
find lasting solutions.

This programme is important for our growth and success. It will help us improve our services, support our 
communities, and make Plymouth an even better place to live.

We are calling this programme of work City Help and Support, a comprehensive programme that will focus 
on early intervention and community-based support.

This work will establish a capability to generate insights and intelligence using data across the organisation and 
wider partners. This will enable us to design and deliver services that are evidence-based, help us to address 
risks and ethically use artificial intelligence to achieve better outcomes for our residents. 

Page 186



Plymouth City Council’s People Strategy 2025–2028 
sets out a bold vision to develop the council as a vibrant, 
caring, innovative, and inclusive organisation that is 
equipped to meet both current and future challenges. 

Page 187



Our People Strategy - What we have achieved
Plymouth City Council’s current People Strategy was launched in April 2020. It set out a plan over four years 
to establish the authority as an employer where People Feel Welcome, We Aspire to be the Best, We 
Attract and Keep the Right People, and We are Well Led (the four workstreams). 

Excellent progress has been made with the People Strategy with some notable achievements. These include 
Health and Safety (our Work Safe Home Safe campaign), Apprenticeships, Management and Leadership 
Development, and support through our staff networks and wellbeing programmes. This work is described in 
Appendix One.

What the workforce is telling us
A series of workshops took place between March and May 2025, to involve staff in the creation of the new 
People Strategy and to explore the impact that positive culture in the workplace has on the delivery of 
services. The top four tiers of leadership in PCC also took part in a similar exercise. 

The format of the workshops followed an Appreciative Enquiry model, a strengths-based approach to help 
build a vision for the future. The format also enabled staff to reflect on what wasn’t working well and their 
experiences in delivering services to the residents of Plymouth.

This work has helped to form the basis of the new people strategy and can be seen in Appendix Two.

These conversations with staff will continue, to include the new people strategy and the values and behaviours 
we want to see in the council.

People Strategy SWOT analysis
This People Strategy considers information and data from different sources and strategies, as well 
as conversations and workshops with many colleagues. From these, there are strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats that impact on the current and future workforce at Plymouth City Council, as 
shown in Appendix Three.

Our strengths show Plymouth City Council’s position as a good employer, operating in and providing 
leadership to a city that is attracting significant investment. We have a dedicated and talented workforce, 
which is committed to the city. The council is ambitious, and this helps provide ‘purpose’ to our workforce. 
Underpinning this, we operate with good employment relations, there is a visible focus on health and safety, 
and the overall employment offer is well-regarded.

But there are significant challenges that we face, including educational attainment, current housing supply, 
and local government finances. We are also seeing rising demand for services, a tight labour market, and a 
significant number of staff approaching retirement.

These weaknesses and threats are potentially offset by major opportunities, which is where this People 
Strategy will focus. These include the city regeneration, growth and prevention programmes, our adoption and 
use of technology, the council’s assets, and a workforce that is keen to learn and has pride in the city.

Page 188



Plymouth City Council People Strategy
Our Approach
This People Strategy will provide the direction for how we recruit, retain and develop our staff for the next 
3-years. Building on the strengths of our previous people strategy, it will have an increased emphasis on how 
we work across teams, directorates and organisations to both tackle the challenges that the city faces and to 
realise the incredible opportunities presented by growth and regeneration. 

People Strategy outcomes

 1 Plymouth: Place – Respectful and Inclusive

A workforce that is representative of the communities we serve and inclusive to all who work for us and use our 
services. We listen to and are respectful of one another.

How will this look and feel?
Colleagues in Plymouth City Council feel confident and ambitious for themselves and their communities. Colleagues 
create networks and connections, working and developing with partner organisations and our communities.

What we are going to do
n	 Using our Apprenticeships and Early Careers Strategy, increase opportunities for those aged under 25 

in Plymouth. Increase the number of supported internships in the Council, to provide opportunities for 
young people with special educational needs and disabilities.

	 Why? Our workforce profile shows that we need to bring more young people into our workforce. As a public sector 
organisation, a leading employer in the city, and a provider and commissioner of statutory services to young people, 
we provide opportunities for young people to gain experience in the workplace and to take their first steps into 
working life.

n	 Ensure that our recruitment processes are inclusive. Provide different ways of applying for jobs, to 
encourage and welcome applications from all backgrounds and experiences. Improve opportunities 
for paid employment within the Council, for people with learning disabilities. Continue to develop our 
work with our staff networks to deliver improvements to how we recruit, retain and support our staff.

	 Why? People applying for jobs at Plymouth City Council come from diverse backgrounds, and a diverse workforce 
that reflects our communities is essential for the delivery of effective public services. Our focus will remain on 
breaking down barriers to employment and advancement, and fostering an environment where innovation can 
flourish through varied perspectives. Our application processes are the start of this process for employment at 
Plymouth City Council.

n	 Ensure that staff can raise concerns in a collegiate and respectful environment, where they will be 
listened to, and issues can be solved as early as possible.

	 Why? Concerns and issues should be solved as early and openly as possible and ideally without reverting to 
formal processes. This approach would provide a safe, informal channel for staff to raise concerns about behaviours, 
decisions, or processes that feel “off” but don’t yet meet the threshold for formal action. The approach would cover 
interpersonal issues, procedural worries, or cultural observations that may otherwise fester and would support the 
Council’s commitment to responsibility and continuous improvement.

n	 Through the Civic Engagement Agreement, work with our partner organisations to engage with 
communities in the more deprived areas of Plymouth, helping with work experience and employment 
opportunities. 

	 Why? Through working in partnership with Plymouth’s large employers, we can use our employment opportunities 
and practices to help ensure that growth across Plymouth’s economy benefits our communities. 

Page 189



 2 Plymouth: People – Valued and supported

A workforce that feels valued and supported by the City.  A place where we value physical, mental and financial wellbeing 
and realise the contribution this makes to a productive organisation and fulfilled lives.

How will this look and feel
Plymouth City Council is seen as an innovative, caring and kind organisation, where people want to and are able to 
develop their careers at all stages of their lives. The working environment is flexible, adaptive and responsive and teams 
work with one another and across the organisation. Individuals feel supported and know where to turn to or who to ask 
when they need help. 

What we are going to do
n	 Test the impact of rapid interventions for physical and mental wellbeing. Extend network of Mental 

Health First Aiders across the organisation. Recognise and promote good practice in prevention and 
support to maintain and enhance staff wellbeing. 

	 Why? We know that prevention and early intervention are right for our services, they are therefore also correct for 
helping avoid longer term health, wellbeing and performance concerns for staff.

n	 Support staff with financial wellbeing, for example through the continued promotion of salary sacrifice 
products, and awareness of debt and gambling harm. 

	 Why? Financial stress has a detrimental impact on people’s wellbeing and can lead to absenteeism, presenteeism, and 
reduced productivity Supporting financial wellbeing will help reduce sickness absence, improve focus and morale, and 
enhance individual and service performance. 

n	 Design our jobs and role profiles to improve colleague experience, help set expectations and provide 
clarity of purpose. Develop clear career pathways and succession planning that provide staff the 
opportunity to progress and achieve their potential, whilst also understanding clear objectives 
and expectations. Assess our pay, grading and reward systems, linked to workforce planning and 
development of roles.

	 Why? Role profiles are central to setting expectations and as such provide clarity of purpose, helping colleagues 
understand their contributions and how they align with organisational goals. By establishing clear career pathways and 
succession plans, we can unlock internal talent, reduce reliance on interim appointments, and support staff to reach 
their potential. 

n	 Ensure that our flexible and hybrid working offers underpin the delivery of services, promote the 
wellbeing of individual staff, and support colleagues and teams.

	 Why? An effective approach to hybrid working means that we maintain our visibility in the city, develop our services 
with energy and creativity, and check-in with each other and our teams, whilst enabling colleagues work in a way that 
supports them. This approach will help recruitment and retention, and help reduce sickness absence, whilst improving 
the quality of our services. 

n	 Promote the lives of staff as citizens of Plymouth, who value and care for our communities. 
	 Why? Plymouth City Council is not just an employer, it’s a civic institution rooted in the life of the city. By 

encouraging staff to see themselves as active citizens, we align personal purpose with public service, fostering a 
culture where employees feel their work contributes directly to the wellbeing of their families, neighbours and 
communities. When staff feel connected to their city and its future, they are more likely to be motivated, resilient, and 
fulfilled in their roles.

n	 Continue to champion safety in the workplace, through our Health, Safety and Wellbeing Policy, to 
ensure that our staff work in a healthy and safe environment. Plymouth City Council responds when 
staff experience abusive behaviour towards them. Continue working with and developing our Wellbeing 
Champions and Mental Health First Aiders, to champion health and happiness across the organisation.

	 Why? The safety and wellbeing of staff remains a number one priority for the council. This commitment reinforces 
the council’s duty of care and legal responsibility to provide a safe working environment. The development of our 
Wellbeing Champions and Mental Health First Aiders ensures that we provide early intervention and support to 
our colleagues. And happiness in the workplace is central to the Council’s ability to deliver high-quality services, 
foster innovation and build a resilient workforce. This includes a consistent emphasis on kindness, support and open 
conversations

Page 190



.
 3 Plymouth: Passion – innovative and creative

A learning organisation where we are encouraged to be creative and innovative, comfortable and confident in 
considering different ways of doing things, working with our residents and partner organisations to realise opportunity 
and to support those that need our help.

How will this look and feel
Colleagues feel excited about technology which improves our work and the potential benefits this brings our residents. 
Staff appreciate the contribution of others, and work in a spirit of kindness and understanding. The organisation 
champions great leadership and management, and the difference this makes to our city.

What we are going to do
n	 Management and Leadership programmes to focus on developing superb leadership, promoting 

respectful and collaborative work across Plymouth City Council and our partner organisations. 

	 Why? These programmes are not just about skills, they’re about empowering staff to meet the evolving needs of the 
city and its residents. The council will continue to equip current and future managers with the skills to lead change, 
manage performance, and foster team wellbeing. Our Leadership programmes promote a culture of adaptability and 
innovation, which are essential for delivering high-quality public services.

n	 Work with staff on the behaviours and values needed at all levels of the council. Promote a culture 
that encourages staff to support and value others.

	 Why? A culture where staff support and value one another is central to building a resilient, motivated, and 
high-performing workforce. A framework will help frame how we show up and behave at work each day, take 
accountability and work consistently with elected members and service users. A values and behaviours framework 
helps to recruit the right people, identifies skills gaps, and guides professional development.

n	 Develop our Digital Academy and our network of Digital Champions, linked to our City Help and 
Support Programme. Work on the behavioural change we need to make the best use of digital 
technology, data and artificial intelligence.

	 Why? Our work developing staff to use artificial intelligence and data insights is not just a technical upgrade for 
the council, it’s a cultural transformation. Work in these areas will improve services and processes, reduce costs, 
and enable the council to use data, insights and AI to identify risks early and design services that are evidence-based. 
Technology alone doesn’t transform services – people do. We will therefore focus on behavioural change to ensure 
staff are not only equipped with new tools but also confident and motivated to use them effectively.

Page 191



 4 Plymouth: Purpose – High performing

A workforce that is focused on purpose and priorities, where colleagues respectfully challenge and support each other 
for the benefit of our residents, businesses and partners. 

How will this look and feel
We are clear on our expectations of each other and what is needed in our work. Staff can challenge how things are 
done, with senior leaders open to new thinking. We celebrate our work throughout the year, showing great practice and 
learning from each other.

What we are going to do
n	 Staff understand what is expected of them in their roles, including behaviours, standards, and 

contribution to strategic goals. Managers and staff engage in regular, open, and constructive 
performance conversations, and managers are equipped with the skills and confidence to lead 
performance effectively.

	 Why? A clear performance framework will ensure that all colleagues understand what high performance looks like 
and how their work contributes to the council’s goals.

n	 Ensure that Plymouth City Council does the basics brilliantly, through great people management. 

	 Why? Brilliant basics include effective HR practices, clear communication and consistent leadership, and these are the 
bedrock of a high-performing council. These fundamentals create stability, trust and clarity, enabling staff to focus on 
delivering and developing excellent services. 

n	 Use values based/behavioural based recruitment, where suitable, to ensure that we recruit people with 
a change-mindset and potential to grow with the organisation. Deliver a clear and distinct employer 
brand.

	 Why? The use of values and behaviours-based recruitment will support a workforce that is adaptive, purpose-driven 
and open to new thinking. A clear employer brand is essential for attracting talent and retaining staff, and signals 
what the council stands for – purpose, inclusion, growth and social impact – which resonates with candidates who 
have similar values. A brand also supports broader city promotion efforts, linking the city’s cultural and economic 
development.

n	 Grow a network of coaches and mentors to support personal development. Implement a ‘reverse 
mentoring’ scheme, where leaders are mentored by more recent recruits and challenged on why 
things are done in certain ways.

	 Why? Coaching and reverse-mentoring will encourage leaders to reflect on legacy practices and embrace new 
thinking. This will foster a culture of learning and adaptability, and helps to promote inclusion and equity, Reverse 
mentoring, in particular, will help to drive culture change by dismantling hierarchical barriers and fostering openness 
to innovation.

n	 Celebrate and share great work

	 Why? We should of course celebrate the great work that we do. Celebration and recognition aren’t just cultural, 
they’re strategic, supporting behavioural change, transformation and civic engagement. This is also about learning and 
highlights the importance of showcasing great practice and learning from each other, throughout the year. 

Page 192



Measures
The impact of our new People Strategy will be measured and reported quarterly to the Corporate Management Team. 
This will be in addition to the ‘standard’ workforce metrics that are presented monthly to the Corporate Management 
Team and Directorate Management Teams. 

The measures will focus on outcomes and impacts, across areas including Workforce Inclusion and Diversity, Career 
Development and Progression, Health Safety and Wellbeing, and Staff Support and Feedback. A proposed list can be seen 
in Appendix Four.

Delivering our People Strategy
Plymouth City Council’s People Strategy will be implemented from November 2025. Much of the work described, 
including the ‘Outcomes’, is already in progress, and we are therefore not setting off from a standing-start; we see 
brilliant people-work across the organisation – as well as areas for improvement – and we will develop and showcase 
this within the council and across the city.

The strategy will be delivered using a framework and series of actions and will be reported to the Corporate 
Management Team and Directorate Management Teams on a quarterly basis. There will also be a series of workshops 
with staff, to show how their feedback has influenced and helped develop this strategy, as well as regular updates through 
internal communications.

Our People Strategy is vital to the development of Plymouth City Council as an organisation, the services it commissions 
and provides, and its leadership role in the city. The strategy is all about honesty, teamwork, and making sure everyone 
feels supported at work whilst understanding what is expected of them. By working together and always looking for 
ways to improve, the Council wants to celebrate what’s going well and tackle any problems quickly. This way, staff 
wellbeing and development will stay a top priority, helping everyone do their best, both as individuals and as a team.

Page 193



Appendix One – Our People Strategy 2020-2024

 Everyone feels welcome

“
“We want to be a diverse workforce which is strong, better performing and represents the community 
and citizens it serves. An inclusive workplace will make people feel comfortable to be themselves and 
they will thrive to be their best.”

Plymouth City Council has been accredited by the Department of Work and Pensions as a Disability Confident Leader 
and we have achieved ‘Gold’ status in the veteran’s charter, as part of the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme. Our 
Staff Networks are well-established, including a vibrant community for our neuro-diverse staff that hosted a hugely 
successful conference for organisations and staff in March 2025.

Our Health, Safety and Wellbeing and Human Resources teams are a significant positive presence, working with 
managers, staff and trade unions in promoting wellbeing and safety. This includes our memorable ‘Work Safe Home 
Safe’ campaign and our network of wellbeing champions and mental health first aiders, as well as support for staff 
and managers to reduce the personal and business impact of sickness absence. Our work on staff wellbeing has been 
recognised locally through a Wellbeing at Work gold award.

 Aspire to be the best

“
“Our workforce is our biggest asset and we must have the right people in the right roles, retain them 
and grow them. We want our employees to know we value their talents and will help them develop.”  

Plymouth City Council has an apprenticeship and early careers’ strategy and exceeds the national target of 2.3% of the 
workforce being apprentices. In the 15-months prior to July 2025, none of our apprenticeship levy was returned to the 
Treasury. We also use our levy to support partner organisations with their own apprenticeship schemes. We have seen 
success with our work placements programme, with good outreach to our schools and colleges. As of July 2025, there 
are 167 colleagues studying for an apprenticeship qualification in Plymouth City Council (this includes our new Digital 
Academy); this is 6.5% of the workforce.

Our Health and Safety Improvement Plan is progressing well and has put in place crucial assurance mechanisms, including 
a Corporate Steering Group, Management Framework and Toolkit, audit programme and training at all levels. The 
practical side of our work on Health and Safety includes our highly visible ‘Work Safe Home Safe’ initiative.

Page 194



Appendix One – Our People Strategy 2020-2024

 Everyone feels welcome

“
“We want to be a diverse workforce which is strong, better performing and represents the community 
and citizens it serves. An inclusive workplace will make people feel comfortable to be themselves and 
they will thrive to be their best.”

Plymouth City Council has been accredited by the Department of Work and Pensions as a Disability Confident Leader 
and we have achieved ‘Gold’ status in the veteran’s charter, as part of the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme. Our 
Staff Networks are well-established, including a vibrant community for our neuro-diverse staff that hosted a hugely 
successful conference for organisations and staff in March 2025.

Our Health, Safety and Wellbeing and Human Resources teams are a significant positive presence, working with 
managers, staff and trade unions in promoting wellbeing and safety. This includes our memorable ‘Work Safe Home 
Safe’ campaign and our network of wellbeing champions and mental health first aiders, as well as support for staff 
and managers to reduce the personal and business impact of sickness absence. Our work on staff wellbeing has been 
recognised locally through a Wellbeing at Work gold award.

 Aspire to be the best

“
“Our workforce is our biggest asset and we must have the right people in the right roles, retain them 
and grow them. We want our employees to know we value their talents and will help them develop.”  

Plymouth City Council has an apprenticeship and early careers’ strategy and exceeds the national target of 2.3% of the 
workforce being apprentices. In the 15-months prior to July 2025, none of our apprenticeship levy was returned to the 
Treasury. We also use our levy to support partner organisations with their own apprenticeship schemes. We have seen 
success with our work placements programme, with good outreach to our schools and colleges. As of July 2025, there 
are 167 colleagues studying for an apprenticeship qualification in Plymouth City Council (this includes our new Digital 
Academy); this is 6.5% of the workforce.

Our Health and Safety Improvement Plan is progressing well and has put in place crucial assurance mechanisms, including 
a Corporate Steering Group, Management Framework and Toolkit, audit programme and training at all levels. The 
practical side of our work on Health and Safety includes our highly visible ‘Work Safe Home Safe’ initiative.

 Attract and keep the right people

“
“We want to be recognised as an employer of choice. People should consider working for the Council 
to be a rewarding, fulfilling and valuable opportunity. This means we will attract the best talent and 
keep the best people.”

We are working on a culture of improved recruitment practice, using effective modern tools such as LinkedIn, to target 
and attract good candidates, as well as the development of our recruitment ‘brand’. This includes focused work on 
targeting young people (Generations ‘Z’ and ‘Alpha’), engagement work with schools and colleges, and recruitment fairs 
including children’s social work events.

We link recruitment and employment to improving outcomes for Plymouth residents, such as being a fostering friendly 
employer, guaranteed interview schemes for military veterans, care experienced and disabled candidates, and internships 
for young people with special educational needs and disabilities.

Pay and career progression are of course important tools for developing and retaining staff. In order to address 
employee turnover in senior professional roles, new grades were introduced in 2024, bridging the gap between the 
existing pay structure and chief officer roles. An improved focus on career development (including apprenticeships) has 
seen a reduction in our use of agency staff, with a 15.4% reduction in 2024-25 compared to the previous year.

Employee recognition and our staff communications have also been an important feature of our People Strategy, and we 
continue to celebrate achievements across the council through features on staff and our Staff Awards. Staff Awards are also 
linked to strategic priorities, for example celebrating the ‘Apprentice of the Year’ and ‘Children’s Social Worker of the Year’.

We actively support the council’s Net Zero Action Plan including the Green Travel Plan. This includes using salary 
exchange mechanisms to enable staff to lease electric and hybrid cars. We also promote and encourage alternative means 
of transport within the working day and as methods of commuting.

Plymouth City Council takes the wellbeing of its staff extremely seriously. The programmes and policies in place include 
Occupational Health provision, an Employee Assistance Programme, a network of Wellbeing Champions and employees 
trained in Mental Health First Aid. Good work across HR, managers, trade unions and staff means that we are now seeing 
sickness absence decrease across the organisation. We have developed our staff support networks, with for example 
vibrant groups including Disabilities, Neuro-Diversity, Women, Race Equality and Cultural Heritage. These groups provide 
invaluable feedback to inform our work, as well as personal support to individual members of staff.

 Be well led

“
“A great organisation needs great leadership. Our leaders from all levels of the organisation should  
be highly skilled and reflect our values. They lead by example, exhibiting the behaviours we wish to  
see from all our people. We need leaders for different purposes, and we need to prepare leaders for 
the future.”

Plymouth City Council has developed three management and leadership development programmes, starting in 2024-
25. These include a People Management Skills programme, initially delivered in Children’s Services and now rolled out 
into other areas. We have recently launched the first cohort of our Management and Leadership Programme, with 
100 managers taking part, followed by a level 3 ‘Pathfinder’ programme for newer managers. These programmes are 
in addition to individual and sector specific development and qualifications, such as leadership programmes with the 
Local Government Association, Association of Directors of Adult Social Services, Association of Directors of Children’s 
Services and leadership qualifications through apprenticeship frameworks.  

Page 195



  Appendix Two – What the workforce is telling us
A series of workshops took place between March and May 2025, to involve staff in the creation of the new 
People Strategy and to explore the impact that positive culture in the workplace has on the delivery of 
services.

  
  Whats going well?

n	 Flexible Working and Benefits: Work-life balance, salary-sacrifice schemes (e.g. electric vehicles). 

n	 Equality and Inclusion.

n	 Teamwork: Strong internal and external collaboration.

n	 Training and Development: Apprenticeships, career progression.

n	 Leadership: Caring, visible, values-driven management, relationships with members.

n	 Investment and Innovation: Regeneration, partnerships, doing things for the good of the city and its residents.

  
  What isn’t going well?

n	 Outdated ICT systems in some areas, digital exclusion in the city

n	 Budget Constraints: stretched services.

n	 Communication Gaps: Internal silos – need to ensure we talk across teams and directorates. 

n	 Management Concerns: Turnover, inconsistent support, top-down culture in some areas.

n	 Processes and Policies: Bureaucracy, inefficiencies.

n	 Workplace Conditions: Safety in customer-facing roles, hybrid inconsistencies – isolation when at home.

n	 Pressure and Stress: Risk of burnout.

n	 Team: lack of team-building (e.g. social), empathy from some, developing mini-cultures.

  
  What you’d love to see at PCC

n	 Better Recruitment and Pay: Accessible job ads and application processes, fair pay and grading.

n	 Improved Induction and Training: Onboarding, coaching.

n	 Wellbeing and Recognition: Belonging, team celebrations.

n	 Stronger Team Culture: Cross-team collaboration.

n	 Leadership and Culture: Trauma-informed, psychologically-aware, curious, celebrating our city, recognising that staff are 
also residents.

n	 Hybrid Working: Consistency, visibility, community use of space.

The workshops also looked at people’s motivations for working in an organisation. The largest factor was Purpose, 
including Values, Culture and Ethos in the workplace. 

Page 196



Appendix Three – SWOT analysis
This People Strategy considers information and data from different sources and strategies. From these, 
there are strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats that impact on the current and future 
workforce at Plymouth City Council.

Strengths
Ambitious council
City presence and visibility
Committed workforce
Developed Higher/Further Education sector with 
three universities in the city
Employment Relations
Focus on Health and Safety
Flexible employment offer
Government investment in Plymouth
Improving Children’s Social Care
Innovation
Plymouth as ‘Place’
Terms and conditions of  
employment
Use of apprenticeships

Weaknesses
Below national average levels of higher qualifica-
tions
Digital and ICT literacy in the workforce
Geographical location and difficulties relocating  
potential staff
Housing supply
Inequality in the city
Local government finances
Low population growth

Opportunities
Automation/artificial intelligence
City Help and Support Programme
City regeneration and growth
Civic Engagement and social value
Committed workforce
Data and Data Insights
Digital Academy and Digital Apprenticeships
Flexible employment offer
Government investment in Plymouth
Investment in management and leadership
Learning organisation
Local government reform
New HR Management, Recruitment  
and Payroll system
Partnership working
PCC estate
Supported Internships
Use of apprenticeships and  
early careers framework

Threats
Cost of living
Digital exclusion in the city
Forecast retirement profile for PCC
Growth in jobs v. labour supply
Local government reform
Rising need for services
Tight labour market leading to overheated  
jobs market

Page 197



Appendix Four – Success measures

The impact of the new People Strategy will be reported on using measures across several key areas. These 
proposed measures include:

Workplace Inclusion and Diversity:
n	 Monitor recruitment process changes and the diversity of applicants and hired staff.

n	 Survey staff satisfaction regarding recruitment practices and career progression opportunities.

n	 Analyse feedback from staff networks on improvements in recruitment, retention, and support.

n	 Ensure the staff profile is representative of the city we serve.

n	 Increase in paid employment opportunities for people with learning disabilities within the Council.

n	 Track the number of supported internships for young people with special educational needs and disabilities.

n	 Assess the impact of the Civic Engagement Agreement in deprived areas of Plymouth, focusing on work 
experience and employment opportunities.

Career Development and Progression:
n	 Track the success of leadership programmes developed and the engagement levels among participants.

n	 Record the progression and achievements of staff in career pathways and succession planning.

n	 Workforce plans written for services and directorates.

n	 Succession planning in place for key roles and professions.

Workplace Health, Safety and Wellbeing:
n	 Evaluate the effectiveness of rapid interventions for physical and mental wellbeing, such as Mental Health 

first aiders.

n	 Monitor the uptake and impact of financial wellbeing support, including salary sacrifice products and 
awareness of debt and gambling harm.

n	 Conduct regular surveys to assess the working environment and staff satisfaction regarding wellbeing.

n	 Track incidents of abusive behaviour towards staff and the Council’s response actions.

Staff Support and Feedback:
n	 Survey staff on their ability to raise concerns and the effectiveness of the resolutions provided.

n	 Analyse feedback on flexible and hybrid working offers and their impact on individual staff and team 
dynamics.

 	Increase in the number of staff who rate Plymouth City Council as a great place to work.

Page 198



Page 199



Human Resources and Organisational Development
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
West Hoe Road 
Plymouth PL1 3BJ
plymouth.gov.uk/people_strategy
hrod@pkymouth.gov.uk

People Strategy v1.04 1025

Page 200



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 1 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – PEOPLE STRATEGY 

SECTION ONE: INFORMATION ABOUT THE PROPOSAL  

Author(s): 

The person completing the 

EIA template.  

Chris Squire Department and service: 

 

HR & Organisational 

Development 

Date of 

assessment:  

26/10/2025 

Lead Officer: 

Head of Service, Service 

Director, or Strategic 

Director. 

Si Bellamy Signature:   Approval 

date:  

 

Overview: 

 

The Equality Impact Assessment for the People Strategy provides an analysis of the risks to Plymouth City Council and 

its workforce, in relation to equalities legislation and practices. The People Strategy places diversity & inclusion at the 

heart of people practices in the council, for very real reasons of workforce planning, quality of services and aspiration for 

our city. PCC’s workforce profile (Appendix 1) has been considered as part of this assessment. 

Decision required:  

 

Support and approval for Plymouth City Council’s People Strategy 

SECTION TWO: EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT SCREENING TOOL   

Potential external impacts:  

Does the proposal have the potential to negatively impact service users, communities or 

residents with protected characteristics?  

Yes  No   

Potential internal impacts:  

Does the proposal have the potential to negatively impact Plymouth City Council employees? 

Yes   No   

Is a full Equality Impact Assessment required? (if you have answered yes to either of the 

questions above then a full impact assessment is required and you must complete section 

three)         

Yes   No   

If you do not agree that a full equality impact assessment is required, please set out your 

justification for why not. 

The proposal does not have the potential to 

negatively impact PCC employees, however the full 

P
age 201



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 2 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

impact assessment has been completed to highlight 

the risks of not having a strategy that supports 

equalities legislation and principles.  

 

SECTION THREE: FULL EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

Protected 

characteristics 

(Equality Act, 

2010) 

Evidence and 

information 

(e.g. data and 

consultation 

feedback) 

Adverse 

impact 

Mitigation activities  Timescale and 

responsible 

department 

P
age 202



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 3 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Age Plymouth 

 16.4 per 

cent of 

people in 

Plymouth 

are 

children 

aged 

under 15.  

 65.1 per 

cent are 

adults 

aged 15 

to 64.  

 18.5 

percent 

are adults 

aged 65 

and over. 

 2.4 

percent 

of the 

resident 

populatio
n are 85 

and over. 

South West 

 15.9 per 

cent of 

people 

are aged 0 

to 14, 

61.8 per 

- 50% of the 

PCC 

workforce is 

aged 50 and 

above. 

- 12% of the 

PCC 

workforce is 

aged 30 and 

below. 

- The PCC 

workforce is 

therefore not 

representative 

of the local 

age 

demographic.  

- Without a 

strategy, this 

has a potential 

adverse 

impact in 

terms of 

community 

engagement, 

and a definite 

impact in 

relation to 

workforce 

planning and 

the risk of a 

significant 

number of 

staff leaving 

due to 

retirement, or 

looking to 

work in 

- Workforce Planning – directorate and organisational levels 

- Engagement with schools, colleges and universities. 

- Work experience  

- Supported internships 

- Early careers’ strategy 

- Currently 

trialling. 

HROD and 

directorates 

 

- Current 

 

- Current 

 

- Following 

agreement of 

People 

Strategy. 

P
age 203



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 4 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

cent are 

aged 15 

to 64.  

 22.3 per 

cent are 

aged 65 

and over. 

England  

 17.4 per 

cent of 

people 

are aged 0 

to 14. 

 64.2 per 

cent of 

people 

are aged 

15 to 64. 

 18.4 per 

cent of 

people 

are aged 

65 and 

over. 

(2021 Census) 

different ways 

(e.g. phased 

retirement). 

P
age 204



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 5 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Care 

experienced 

individuals    

(Note that as per 

the Independent 

Review of 

Children’s Social 

Care 

recommendations

, Plymouth City 
Council is treating 

care experience 

as though it is a 

protected 

characteristic).  

It is estimated 

that 26 per cent 

of the homeless 

population in the 

UK have care 

experience. In 

Plymouth there 

are currently 7 

per cent of care 

leavers open to 
the service (6 per 

cent aged 18-20 

and 12 per cent 

of those aged 

21+) who are in 

unsuitable 

accommodation. 

The Care Review 

reported that 41 

per cent of 19-21 

year old care 

leavers are not in 

education, 

employment or 

training (NEET) 

compared to 12 

per cent of all 

other young 

people in the 

same age group.  

In Plymouth 

there are 

currently 50 per 

cent of care 

Without a 

strategy: - 

Potential adverse 

impact on 

job/career 

prospects for care 

experienced 

individuals; Quality 

of services – lack 

of lived experience 

and understanding; 

Impact on other 

public services if 

care leavers 

cannot access 

good employment 

opportunities; Risk 

to recruitment and 

age demography of 

the council 

workforce 

- Work with Children’s to provide suitable Services roles, apprenticeships, 

internships and work experience 

- Guaranteed interview scheme for care leavers 

- Target of 25% of ‘new’ apprentices having care experience 

- Development of inclusive recruitment processes to encourage & welcome 

applications from all backgrounds and experiences 

- Happening – 

HROD, CYPFS 

 

 

 

- In place 

 

- In place 

 

- April 2026 - 

HROD 

P
age 205



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 6 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

leavers aged 18-

21 Not in 

Education 

Training or 

Employment (54 

per cent of all 

those care 

leavers aged 18-

24 who are open 

to the service). 

There are 

currently 195 

care leavers aged 

18 to 20 

(statutory 

service) and 58 

aged 21 to 24 

(extended offer). 

There are more 

care leavers aged 

21 to 24 who 

could return for 

support from 

services if they 

wished to. 

P
age 206



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 7 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Disability 
9.4 per cent of 

residents in 

Plymouth have 

their activities 

limited ‘a lot’ 

because of a 

physical or 

mental health 

problem.  

12.2 per cent of 
residents in 

Plymouth have 

their activities 

limited ‘a little’ 

because of a 

physical or 

mental health 

problem (2021 

Census) 

- 3.14% of the 

PCC 

workforce 

have declared 

they have a 

disability 

- Without a 

strategy, the 

council risks 

overlooking 

current and 

prospective 

employees, 

who have  

physical 

and/or mental 

disability. This 

presents a 

recruitment & 

retention risk 

, as well as 

presenting the 

council as not 

representative 

of our 

community. 

- Disability Confident Leader status, working with Department of Work & 

Pensions 

- Engagement through Disability and Neurodiversity staff networks 

- Extend network of mental health first aiders 

- Include in management & leadership development 

- Risk and DSE assessments, to determine reasonable adjustments 

- In place 

 

 

- Ongoing 

 

 

 

- May 2026 – 

Health, Safety 

& Wellbeing 

team 

 

 

 

- In place 

P
age 207



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 8 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Gender 

reassignment 

0.5 per cent of 

residents in 

Plymouth have a 

gender identity 

that is different 

from their sex 

registered at 

birth. 0.1 per 

cent of residents 

identify as a trans 
man, 0.1 per cent 

identify as non-

binary and, 0.1 

per cent identify 

as a trans women 

(2021 Census).  

- Current legal 

uncertainties 

around status 

of gender 

identity may 

lead to 

potential 

uncertainties 

for some staff 

and a risk to 

mental 

wellbeing. 
 

- Engagement through LGBTQ+ staff network 

- Work with FM on signage 

- EDI training as part of management & leadership development 

- Ongoing 

 

- Current 

 

- Current 

P
age 208



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 9 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Marriage and 

civil 

partnership 

40.1 per cent of 

residents have 

never married 

and never 

registered a civil 

partnership. 10 

per cent are 

divorced, 6 

percent are 

widowed, with 
2.5 per cent are 

separated but still 

married. 

0.49 per cent of 

residents are, or 

were, married or 

in a civil 

partnerships of 

the same sex. 

0.06 per cent of 

residents are in a 

civil partnerships 

with the opposite 

sex (2021 

Census). 

- No adverse 

impact linked 

to People 

Strategy 

 

- n/a - n/a 

P
age 209



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 10 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Pregnancy and 

maternity 

The total fertility 

rate (TFR) for 

England was 1.62 

children per 

woman in 2021. 

The total fertility 

rate (TFR) for 

Plymouth in 2021 

was 1.5. 

- Risk that 

pregnant 

women and 

those on 

maternity 

leave are not 

engaged in the 

organisation 

and miss 

important 

news & 

career 

development. 

- Risk that PCC 

is not seen as 

a supportive 

organisation 

- Increase maternity pay to Green Book levels 

- Management & Leadership Development 

- Engagement with Women’s Network. 

- Complete 

 

- In progress 

 

 

- Ongoing 

P
age 210



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 11 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Race 
In 2021, 94.9 per 

cent of 

Plymouth’s 

population 

identified their 

ethnicity as 

White, 2.3 per 

cent as Asian and 

1.1 per cent as 

Black (2021 

Census) 

People with a 

mixed ethnic 

background 

comprised 1.8 

per cent of the 

population. 1 per 

cent of the 

population use a 

different term to 

describe their 

ethnicity (2021 

Census) 

92.7 per cent of 

residents speak 

English as their 

main language. 

2021 Census 

data shows that 

after English, 

Polish, Romanian, 

Chinese, 

Portuguese, and 

Arabic are the 

most spoken 

Risk that staff 

feel 

unsupported: 

- Loss of trust 

& confidence 

in PCC as an 

employer – 

potential 

increased 

turnover and 

reduced 

recruitment 

options 

- Legal & 

compliance 

risks, for 

example 

public sector 

equality duty 

- Reduction in 

service quality 

- Discriminatio

n in the 

workplace 

- Verbal 

aggression 

from staff and 

public 

 

 

 

- Staff communications & engagement e.g. Black History Month 

- Engagement with REACH staff network 

- Community outreach work to promote PCC as an employer 
- Connection to EDI action plan 
- Staff training & awareness, inc. bystander training 

 

 

 

- In progress 

 

- Ongoing 

 

 

- April 

 

- In place 

 

- In progress P
age 211



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 12 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

languages in 

Plymouth (2021 

Census). 

Religion or 

belief 

48.9 per cent of 

the Plymouth 

population stated 

they had no 

religion. 42.5 per 

cent of the 

population 

identified as 

Christian (2021 

Census).  

Those who 

identified as 

Muslim account 

for 1.3 per cent 

of Plymouth’s 

population while 

Hindu, Buddhist, 

Jewish or Sikh 

combined 

totalled less than 

1 per cent (2021 

Census). 

Risk that Staff 

Feel 

Unsupported 

- Loss of trust 

& confidence 

in PCC as an 

employer – 

potential 

increased 

turnover and 

reduced 

recruitment 

options 

- Legal & 

compliance 

risks, for 

example 

public sector 

equality duty 

- Reduction in 

service quality 

- Discriminatio

n in the 

workplace 
- Verbal 

aggression 

from staff and 

public 

Policy - Equality Impact Assessments, Employee Handbook, People Strategy 

Community - Faith and Belief Staff Network, links to community groups 

Training - EDI sessions, Modern Slavery awareness 

Data & Inclusion - Workforce surveys, census-informed planning 

Culture - Respectful dialogue, safe spaces, inclusive language 

- In place 

 

 

- In place 

 

- In progress 

 

- In progress 

 

 

- In progress 

through 

Management & 

Leadership 

Development, 

staff training 

P
age 212



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 13 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Sex 51 per cent of 

our population 

are women and 

49 per cent are 

men (2021 

Census). 

Risks if PCC 

does not 

consider 

support on 

basis of sex: 

- Legal & 

compliance 

risks, for 

example 

public sector 

equality duty, 

equal pay, 

grievances, 

whistleblowin

g 

- Loss of trust 

& confidence 

in PCC as an 

employer 

- Reduction in 

service quality 

- Failure to 

recruit 

- Reduction in 

wellbeing & 

from there, 

impact on 

service quality 

- Missed 

opportunities 

for leadership 

and 

innovation 

 

Networks: Women’s Network, Men’s Network  

Training: e.g. Empowering Women, Henpicked webinars Men’s Health Week, 

Alcohol Awareness, MAN culture  

Policy: Equality Act compliance, EIA reviews, Gender Pay Gap analysis  

Wellbeing: Survey feedback, menopause guidance Targeted health  

Culture: Conversations on workplace experience  

- In place 

 

- In place and 

ongoing 

 

 

 

- Ongoing 

 

- Wellbeing 

Survey 

feedback 

January – 

March 2026 

 

- As part of 

People 

Strategy staff 

engagement 

P
age 213



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 14 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

Sexual 

orientation 

88.95 per cent of 

residents aged 16 

years and over in 

Plymouth 

describe their 

sexual 

orientation as 

straight or 

heterosexual. 

2.06 per cent 
describe their 

sexuality as 

bisexual, 1.97 per 

cent of people 

describe their 

sexual 

orientation as gay 

or lesbian. 0.42 

per cent of 

residents 

describe their 

sexual 

orientation using 

a different term 

(2021 Census). 

Risks if PCC 

does not 

support staff 

on the basis of 

sexual 

orientation: 

Reduced morale 

and engagement. 

Higher turnover 

among LGBTQ+ 

employees. 

Missed 

opportunities to 

reflect the 

diversity of 

Plymouth’s 

communities. 

Increased 

psychosocial 

risks. 

Feelings of 

exclusion and 

isolation. 

Negative impacts 

on mental health. 

Reputational 

damage 

Legal & 

compliance risks 

(e.g. Equality Act) 

 

 

 

 

Networks - LGBTQ+ Staff Network  

Policy - Equality Act compliance, EIA reviews 

Training - EDI sessions covering sexual orientation 

https://plymouthcc.sharepoint.com/sites/HROD-

ODTeam/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc={10ACCDC1-C1CA-4B8C-

A747-D61E0D95800C}&file=E&D Training - May 

2025.pptx&action=edit&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1Wellbein

g - Annual surveys, targeted support  

Community Links - External organisations and engagement  

Recruitment - Inclusive recruitment and onboarding 

 

 

 

- In place 

 

- In place 

 

- In place and in 

progress 

- In place, staff 

engagement 

planned 

through 

January – 

March 2026 

- In place 

through Staff 

Network 

- April 2026, as 

part of People 

Strategy 

implementatio

n 

P
age 214

https://plymouthcc.sharepoint.com/sites/HROD-ODTeam/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B10ACCDC1-C1CA-4B8C-A747-D61E0D95800C%7D&file=E%26D%20Training%20-%20May%202025.pptx&action=edit&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://plymouthcc.sharepoint.com/sites/HROD-ODTeam/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B10ACCDC1-C1CA-4B8C-A747-D61E0D95800C%7D&file=E%26D%20Training%20-%20May%202025.pptx&action=edit&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://plymouthcc.sharepoint.com/sites/HROD-ODTeam/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B10ACCDC1-C1CA-4B8C-A747-D61E0D95800C%7D&file=E%26D%20Training%20-%20May%202025.pptx&action=edit&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://plymouthcc.sharepoint.com/sites/HROD-ODTeam/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B10ACCDC1-C1CA-4B8C-A747-D61E0D95800C%7D&file=E%26D%20Training%20-%20May%202025.pptx&action=edit&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 15 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

 

SECTION FOUR: HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS  

Human Rights Implications Mitigation Actions   Timescale and 

responsible department 

 The People Strategy should 

address the following areas: 

Legal Compliance - Must meet 

duties under the Human Rights Act and 

Equality Act. 

Workforce Inclusion - Strategy must 

support all protected groups. 

Policy Development - All 

programmes arising from the strategy 

must undergo EIA screening. 

Public Trust - Failure to uphold 

rights could damage reputation and 

community relations. 

Operational Delivery - Embedding 

human rights improves service quality 

and staff wellbeing. 

Legal Compliance - Equality Impact 

Assessments, policy reviews, staff 

training  

Workforce Inclusion - Staff 

networks, engagement processes 

Wellbeing and Safety – Health & 

Safety plan, Wellbeing action plan  

Accountability - Strategic risk 

register, governance updates, 

monitoring frameworks  

Culture and Values - Embedding 

kindness, respect, and dignity in 

strategy and practice  

- In place and in progress 

– Management & 

Leadership 

development, 

governance training 

- Wellbeing survey 

engagement – January – 

March 2026 

- People Strategy staff 

engagement – Values & 

Behaviours – January – 

March 2026 

SECTION FIVE: OUR EQUALITY OBJECTIVES   

Equality objectives  Implications Mitigation 

Actions   

Timescale and 

responsible 

department 

Work together in 

partnership to: 

 promote equality, 

diversity and 

inclusion 

If the People Strategy did not support PCC’s equality objectives: 

Legal - Breach of Equality Act and PSED; tribunal cases  

Operational - Loss of talent, poor recruitment, reduced service delivery  

Mitigating actions 

are presented above. 

Individual 

programmes of 

work will be subject 

 

P
age 215



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 16 of 22 

OFFICIAL 

 facilitate community 

cohesion   

 support people with 

different 

backgrounds and 

lived experiences to 

get on well together 

https://plymouthcc-

my.sharepoint.com/personal/chris_squire_plymouth_gov_uk/Documents/People 

Strategy/HROD People Strategy 2025_28 v2  1025 proof 4.pdf?web=1Cultural 

- Decline in morale, exclusion, disengagement  

Reputational - Loss of public trust, failure to reflect community diversity  

Strategic - Misalignment with Plymouth Plan and Corporate Vision 

Procurement - Non-compliance with equality standards in contracts 

to an equalities 

impact assessment 

Give specific consideration 

to care experienced 

people to improve their 

life outcomes, including 

access to training, 

employment and housing. 

 

Build and develop a 

diverse workforce that 

represents the community 

and citizens it serves.  

 

Support diverse 

communities to feel 

confident to report crime 

and anti-social behaviour, 

including hate crime and 

hate incidents, and work 

with partners to ensure 

Plymouth is a city where 

everybody feels safe and 

welcome.  

 

 

  

P
age 216

https://plymouthcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/chris_squire_plymouth_gov_uk/Documents/People%20Strategy/HROD%20People%20Strategy%202025_28%20v2%20%201025%20proof%204.pdf?web=1
https://plymouthcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/chris_squire_plymouth_gov_uk/Documents/People%20Strategy/HROD%20People%20Strategy%202025_28%20v2%20%201025%20proof%204.pdf?web=1
https://plymouthcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/chris_squire_plymouth_gov_uk/Documents/People%20Strategy/HROD%20People%20Strategy%202025_28%20v2%20%201025%20proof%204.pdf?web=1


Equality Information   

              Appendix 1 

QUARTER 2 2025/26     

OFFICIAL   

 

OFFICIAL 

EQUALITY INFORMATION 

Plymouth has a statutory duty to publish workforce equality data and has published on an annual 

basis since 2011; the latest report is on our website, under ‘Equality and Diversity’.   

 

Information is taken from the iTrent database and is based on data from 30th September 2025, 

 

Gender by Directorate 
  Female  Male  Total 

  No. % No. %  No.  % 

Adults, Health & 
Communities 

264 80.24% 65 19.76% 329 12.35% 

Children's Services 664 85.24% 115 14.76% 779 29.23% 

Customer and 
Corporate Services 

382 69.71% 166 30.29% 548 20.56% 

Executive Office 47 58.75% 33 41.25% 80 3.00% 

Growth 273 33.66% 538 66.34% 811 30.43% 

Office of the Director of 
Public Health 

73 61.86% 45 38.14% 118 4.43% 

Grand Total 1703 63.90% 962 36.10% 2665 100.00% 

 

 

Age Range by Directorate 
 Directorate   

 Age 
Ranges 

Adults, 
Health & 

Communities 

Children's 
Services 

Customer and 
Corporate 
Services 

Executive 
Office 

Growth 
Office of the 
Director of 

Public Health 

Grand 
Total 

16-19  5 8  3  16 

20-24 8 19 31 5 22 4 89 

25-29 27 42 43 8 51 9 180 

30-34 33 75 51 7 87 9 262 

35-39 24 84 43 3 79 13 246 

40-44 35 84 45 10 80 11 265 

45-49 42 97 60 10 98 15 322 

50-54 59 107 71 14 105 19 375 

55-59 52 114 84 11 137 24 422 

60-64 36 94 78 9 113 12 342 

65+ 13 58 34 3 36 2 146 

Grand 
Total 

329 779 548 80 811 118 2665 

 

Page 217

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/communitiesandneighbourhoods/socialinclusionandcommunitycohesion/equalityanddiversity


Equality Information   

              Appendix 1 

QUARTER 2 2025/26     

OFFICIAL   

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

Disability Status 

Building on our status as Disablity Confident Committed, the Council became recognised as a 

Disability Confident Employer in 2019. 

 

 

Disability by Directorate 
 Directorate   

Disability 
Response 

Adults, 
Health & 

Communities 

Children's 
Services 

Customer and 
Corporate 
Services 

Executive 
Office 

Growth 
Office of the 
Director of 

Public Health 

Grand 
Total 

Yes 7 29 19  25 4 84 

Not Declared 322 750 529 80 786 114 2581 

Grand Total 329 779 548 80 811 118 2665 

 

*fewer employees have disability information reported within iTrent than did in CoreHR before 

the change of system on 6th June 2025 

 

Data migrated from CoreHR to iTrent included those employees who declared 

themselves 'with a disability' or who had declared 'no known disability'.  The full data 

set will be migrated in the coming weeks to include where employees had responded 

'no'. 

 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

16-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65+

Council Employees by Age Range

Page 218



Equality Information   

              Appendix 1 

QUARTER 2 2025/26     

OFFICIAL   

 

OFFICIAL 

Religion Status 

 

Religion by Directorate 
 Directorate   

Religion 
Response 

Adults, Health 
& 

Communities 

Children's 
Services 

Customer and 
Corporate 
Services 

Executive 
Office 

Growth 
Office of the 
Director of 

Public Health 
Corporate 

Buddhist  3   6  9 

Christian 86 266 186 21 181 35 775 

No Religion 136 344 231 39 380 57 1208 

Not Known 93 152 119 15 222 25 605 

Any Other Religion 
Or Belief 

9 11 8 3 13 1 45 

Christian - Roman 
Catholic 

1 1  1 4  7 

Christian - Church 
of Scotland 

 1     1 

Christian - Other 
Denomination 

  1    1 

Muslim 4  2 1 1  8 

Jewish  1 1  1  3 

Atheist     3  3 

Grand Total 329 779 548 80 811 118 2665 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 219



Equality Information   

              Appendix 1 

QUARTER 2 2025/26     

OFFICIAL   

 

OFFICIAL 

Ethnic Origin 

 

Ethnic Origin by Directorate 
               

Ethnic Origin 
Response 

Adults, 
Health & 

Communities 

Children's 
Services 

Customer and 
Corporate 
Services 

Executive 
Office 

Growth 
Office of the 
Director of 

Public Health 

Grand 
Total 

Asian or Asian British - 
Indian 

    3 1 4 

Asian or Asian British - 
Pakistani 

  1    1 

Black or Black British - 
African 

2 21 1  5 1 30 

Black or Black British - 
Caribbean 

  2  1  3 

Chinese  2 1    3 

Mixed - White and Asian 1 4  1 5 1 12 

Mixed - White and Black 
African 

2 1 2    5 

Mixed - White and Black 
Caribbean 

2 2   1  5 

Not Known 45 72 22  76 8 223 

Other Asian Background 2 2  3 2  9 

Other Black Background  2   1  3 

Other Ethnic Group 3 3 2  2  10 

Other Mixed 
Background 

3 2 1  2  8 

Other White 
Background 

11 18 12 2 26 2 71 

White - British 254 649 500 73 686 105 2267 

Asian or Asian British - 
Bangladeshi 

2    1  3 

White - Irish 2 1 1 1   5 

Prefer Not To Say   2    2 

Gypsy or Traveller   1    1 

Grand Total 329 779 548 80 811 118 2665 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 220



Equality Information   

              Appendix 1 

QUARTER 2 2025/26     

OFFICIAL   

 

OFFICIAL 

Sexual Orientation 

 

Sexual Orientation by Directorate 
 Directorate   

Sexual Orientation 
Response 

Adults, 
Health & 

Communities 

Children's 
Services 

Customer and 
Corporate 
Services 

Executive 
Office 

Growth 
Office of the 
Director of 

Public Health 

Grand 
Total 

Bisexual 6 20 10 1 14 1 52 

Gay Man 2 6 10 1 13 4 36 

Heterosexual 218 561 376 59 512 82 1808 

Not Declared 88 149 117 17 222 23 616 

Other 1 2 4  1  8 

Prefer Not to Say 9 28 27 1 39 7 111 

Gay Woman/Lesbian 5 13 4 1 10 1 34 

Grand Total 329 779 548 80 811 118 2665 

 

ADDITIONAL EQUALITY INFORMATION 

This category shows additional information about employees employed within the Council; 

 Care (Service) Leaver 

 Carer 

 Reservist (or part of any military family) 

 

 

Carer Information by Directorate 
 Directorate   

Carer  
Adults, Health & 

Communities 
Children's 
Services 

Customer and 
Corporate Services 

Executive 
Office 

Growth 
Grand 
Total 

Yes 4 7 8 1 3 23 

Grand Total 4 7 8 1 3 23 

 

 

Service (Care) Leaver by Directorate 
     

Service (Care) Leaver Children's Services Grand Total 

Yes 2 2 

Grand Total 2 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 221



Equality Information   

              Appendix 1 

QUARTER 2 2025/26     

OFFICIAL   

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Defence Categories by Directorate 

Directorate Reservist Veteran 
Military 

Spouse/Ptnr 
Cadet Force-

AdultVol 
Grand Total 

Adults, Health & 
Communities 

0 1 2 0 3 

Children's Services 0 6 0 0 6 
Customer and 
Corporate Services 

1 7 1 1 10 

Executive Office 1 0 0 0 1 
Growth 0 13 1 0 14 
Office of the Director 
of Public Health 

0 0 1 0 1 

Grand Total 2 26 3 1 32 
 

 

EMPLOYEE NETWORKS 

Ten internal employee networks have been set up to connect and support our diverse workforce: 

 Men’s network 

 Disability network 

 LGBTQ+ network 

 Race 

 Ethnicity and Cultural Heritage network 

 Women’s network 

 Faith and Belief network  

 Carer’s network 

 Armed Forces network 

 Neurodiversity network 

 

 

WHITE RIBBON ACCREDITATION 

Bystander training has been rolled out to support the VAWG campaign alongside successful white 

ribbon accreditation. 

 

 

 

Page 222



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

SM Scrutiny Management Board
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 12 November 2025 

Title of Report: City Help & Support 

Lead Member:   Councillor Sue Dann (Cabinet Member for Customer Experience, 

Sport, Leisure and HR and OD) 

Lead Strategic Director: David Haley (Director for Childrens Services) 

Author: Peter Honeywell, Thomas Fowler 

Contact Email:  thomas.fowler@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: CHS programme overview 

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

To provide Scrutiny Management with the rationale and explanation of the City Help & Support 

programme, which is leading a cultural and structural shift in how we deliver people and complex 

system services, moving decisively away from a reactive model of responding to crises and towards a 

proactive, compassionate approach that addresses challenges before they escalate. 

 
Recommendations and Reasons 

 

1. For the SMB to review and offer early feedback and comment on the City Help & Support 

programme.  

 

Systemic prevention demands a cross-organisation adaptive response building on the strengths and 

experiences of the city in the recent past. This work is in line with central government policy and the 

Council’s corporate plan to focus on prevention to manage demand for people-based services that will 

otherwise exceed the Council’s ability to fund.  

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

1. Do nothing 

2. More directorate-based prevention approaches 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

City Help & Support is directly relevant to the Plymouth Plan, aligned specially with the ‘Healthy City’ 

theme. High relevance to the Corporate Plan, specifically ‘focusing on prevention and early 

intervention’. 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

The City Help & Support KPIs are linked with the MTFP, specifically to address demand on the big four 

demand-led cost areas and beyond. 

 

 

Page 223 Agenda Item 7



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Financial Risks  

The programme is dependent on the availability of capital receipt for transformation. The programme 

is expected to deliver transformation that will support reduced demands recorded in the MFTP. Failure 

to deliver a return on investment will have an impact on budget pressures during the MFTP period and 

beyond. 

 

Legal Implications  

No legal implications at a programme level, however there may be legal implications for specific 

projects or initiatives. 
 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

N/A 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

No adverse implications. 

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A City Help & Support        

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

   

Sign off: 
 

Fin N/A Leg N/A Mon 

Off 

N/A HR N/A Asset

s  

N/A Strat 

Proc 

N/A 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member: David Haley 

Page 224



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes  

Date agreed: 31/10/2025 

 

Cabinet Member approval:  Councillor Sue Dann.  

 

Date approved: 4 November 2025 
 
  

Page 225



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

City Help & Support 

1. Executive Summary: The Case for Change and Vision 

City Help & Support (CHS) is a critical, whole-system transformation initiative. It represents a 

fundamental cultural and structural shift away from a costly, reactive model of crisis management 

towards a proactive, compassionate, place-based prevention approach. The goal is to create a fairer, 

more resilient city by addressing interconnected challenges (poverty, trauma, housing) before they 

escalate. This decisive move is essential for ensuring Plymouth residents can thrive, and the long-term 

financial viability of the Council. 

The Vicious Cycle of High-Cost Crisis 

In common with local authorities across the county, Plymouth City Council is currently locked in a 

"vicious cycle" where unrelenting demand for statutory, legally mandated services forces the diversion 

of vital funding from discretionary, preventative services. This pressure on the delivery of early support 

inevitably causes cases to escalate faster and become more complex, dramatically driving up the need 

for the most expensive acute interventions (such as residential placements or costly B&Bs) and 

critically undermining the Council’s long-term financial stability. The cost is measured not only in 

budget deficits but in the profound human impact of lives spent in crisis. 

The financial strain is evidenced across four key pressure areas: 

 Children in Care: Plymouth has 528 children in our care, a higher rate than many of our 
statistical neighbours. Spending has been diverted from early help toward expensive late 

intervention like residential care. This imbalance means we are not investing enough in family 

resilience, often leading to poor life outcomes and a long-term reliance on complex, restrictive 

placements for our most vulnerable young people. 

 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND): Spending on Independent Special 

School Placements has increased by 257% since 2021, driving deficits in the Dedicated Schools 

Grant (DSG). The cost pressures are unavoidable without systemic change focused on earlier 

needs identification and local provision sufficiency. 

 Homelessness: 449 households are in temporary accommodation (with 268 in B&Bs or 

holiday lets). The statutory duty to provide this housing makes expenditure impossible to cap, 

leading to continuous spikes. This is a reactive spend that does nothing to tackle the root 

causes, placing severe strain on families, particularly children whose education and wellbeing are 

disrupted. 

 Adult Social Care: Demand for high-cost support continues to rise, evidenced by a 40% 

increase in people requiring short-term placements in the past year, linked to a lack of 

preventative support. This prevents older residents from achieving full independence and places 

strain on the hospital discharge process. 

CHS is an essential mechanism to rebalance this system. By making brave, up-front investments in early 

help, we aim to reduce the need for acute crisis spending, thus improving lives and securing the 

Council’s financial stability. 

 

2. Foundations and Necessity: Support To Meet The Size of the Challenge 

The City Help & Support Programme is built on proven success but is necessary because existing 

initiatives, while effective, operate in isolation and at an insufficient scale to meet the city's systemic 

demand challenge. 

What We Are Already Doing 

Page 226



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Our commitment to prevention is active across the city through several proven initiatives that 

demonstrate the viability of this approach: 

 Families First Partnership: A major reform in Children's Social Care focused on early 

intervention and family help to prevent needs from escalating to crisis, providing a robust model 

for working with vulnerable families. 

 Family Hubs and Health and Wellbeing Hubs: An integrated network providing 

accessible, high-quality support, advice, and health promotion directly in communities. These 

hubs have established trust and visibility in local neighbourhoods. 

 Proactive Adult Services: Successfully applying the reablement model (regaining 
independence) in the community setting to prevent hospital admission and maintain 

independence for longer. This approach is highly effective at increasing quality of life and 

reducing the demand for long-term formal care. 

 Innovation Programmes: The Community Builders Programme (empowering communities 

to reduce isolation and improve wellbeing) and The Alliance (unifying 25+ siloed contracts for 

complex adult needs) provide powerful, evidence-based models for person-centred, multi-

agency working. These programmes have proven that co-designed, asset-based models 

fundamentally break the crisis loop for individuals with multiple and complex disadvantages, 

establishing a template for city-wide application that CHS must now integrate and grow. 

Why We Need a Formal Programme  

Despite these successes, the scale of the challenge remains unmet because: 

1. Siloed Operation: Existing prevention work often operates in isolation, limiting the sharing of 

learning, best practices, and resources across directorates and external partners. 

2. Insufficient Scale: Current efforts, while highly effective in their areas, are not meeting the 

systemic scale of the demand challenge currently facing the city. They remain successful projects 

rather than an integrated system. 

3. System Imbalance: The overall system is still fundamentally unbalanced, with reactive, 

statutory crisis response consuming the majority of resources, starving the preventative end of 

the spectrum. 

The CHS Programme will provide the strong, coherent system leadership, cultural and structural 

change, and capital investment necessary to move successful pilot initiatives into scalable, sustainable 

business as usual. This shift is about establishing a permanent, integrated operating model, ensuring that 

prevention is no longer a successful 'side project' but the core mission of every relevant service across 

the city. 

3. Programme Delivery: The Three-Tiered Approach  

CHS will deliver transformation through a three-tiered approach focused on addressing the needs of 

the entire population, supported by cross-cutting investment projects. 

The Delivery Framework 

The framework is structured across three tiers of prevention: 

 Primary Prevention: Early Help and Support (Helping Everyone Thrive): This is a universal 

approach aimed at creating strong, healthy, and resilient communities so problems are less 

likely to happen in the first place. This means making information and support easy to access via 

simple online services and community hubs (libraries, family hubs), and supporting public health 

campaigns and community-led initiatives. This approach is rooted in the belief that robust social 

capital and readily available universal support are the best defence against future crises. It is 

about creating accessible, low-barrier environments where proactive self-reliance is nurtured 

and supported. 

Page 227



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Secondary Prevention: Early Intervention (Stepping In Early): This is a targeted approach 

focused on identifying and proactively supporting people who are at risk of a problem becoming 

a crisis. We will use data and insights (e.g., to spot households at risk of eviction or pupils at 

risk of school exclusion) to offer tailored support, such as early mental health services or 

dedicated financial hardship support. This predictive, targeted action is crucial. By identifying 

risks such as a family struggling with debt or a young person showing early signs of withdrawal, 

we can deploy the precise level of support needed to change the trajectory of their 

circumstances, making the difference between sustained stability and statutory intervention. 

 Tertiary Prevention: Recovery (Supporting People on their Journey): This tier provides 
comprehensive, wrap-around support for individuals and families already experiencing a crisis. 

The goal is to aid recovery, prevent re-escalation, and ensure people access all necessary help 

(housing, mental health, employment) from one place, the principle of "tell my story once." This 

integrated approach is trauma-informed and dignity-led, designed to stabilise individuals rapidly, 

prevent cycling back into crisis, and rebuild their capacity for independence and self-

management, thereby significantly reducing long-term service reliance and improving their 

quality of life. 

Key Projects (Year One) 

CHS will deliver high-impact projects designed to create quick wins and long-term systemic change: 

 Single Citizen View: Developing predictive analytics to identify households at risk of 

homelessness and pupils at risk of low attendance, enabling preventative interventions to be 

delivered earlier by the Council or partners. This is foundational for enabling secondary 

prevention, shifting frontline practitioners from purely reactive modes to proactive, data-

informed intervention based on shared intelligence. 

 Alignment with Neighbourhoods: Developing multi-disciplinary teams (MDTs) within 

locality areas (starting with Children’s Services), aligning with NHS Integrated Neighbourhood 

Working and utilising community assets (Hubs, Libraries). Creating these multi-disciplinary, 

place-based teams ensures decisions and resources are localised, responsive to specific 

community needs, and eliminate the confusion and fragmentation caused by multiple siloed 

service providers. 

 No Wrong Door: Implementing a circuit breaker model for adolescents at the edge of 

entering high-cost residential care.  

 Commissioning for Prevention: Ensuring the council’s spending power supports the 

prevention agenda, learning from models like the Plymouth Alliance and incorporating social 

value for social impact in all relevant contracts. 

4. Financial Model and Strategic Outcomes 

Our Outcomes: How We Will Know We Are Succeeding 

Success will be measured through a Theory of Change (ToC) aligned with the Council’s Medium Term 

Financial Plan (MTFP). The core Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) will target the four main cost 

pressures for cost avoidance: 

1. Stabilise Children’s Services: We will measure success by the reduction in the number of 

children entering care and a decreased reliance on high-cost residential placements, achieved by 

investing in rebalancing the system towards acting earlier. A key secondary outcome will be 

increasing placement stability and improving educational attainment for those children who 

remain in care, signifying a healthier system. 

2. Reduce Homelessness: The key focus is to reduce the number of households in temporary 

accommodation, especially high-cost B&Bs, through early intervention, and specialist pathways 

for secure housing access. This shifts the investment from emergency housing provision to long-

term stability. 

Page 228



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

3. Stabilise SEND Costs: Success is defined by reduced spend on High-Cost Alternative School 

Placements (INMSS). This is enabled by increasing local, cost-effective provision and 

strengthening mainstream inclusion through joint working, ensuring children receive the right 

support closer to home. 

4. Increase Adult Independence: We aim to increase adult independence and reduce long-

term dependency on formal care services by promoting Wellbeing, strengthening Reablement at 

the Front Door, and modernising service delivery through Tech Enabled Care. The measure of 

success is sustained independence in the community. 

Financial Model and Governance 

The CHS Programme operates as a "framework holder" and "decision-maker," underpinned by a self-

sustaining financial cycle designed to move from upfront investment to continuous cost avoidance. 

 Investment Cycle: A clear Business/Investment Case must justify the allocation of a Capital 

Receipt for transformation. Cases are assessed rigorously on Strategic Fit, Potential Value for 

Money, and Achievability. The governance framework ensures that every investment is judged 

on its ability to deliver demonstrable cost avoidance within a three-year window, protecting the 

transformation fund from being used to plug existing operational budget gaps. 

 Phased Funding: Funding for projects will be phased to ensure dependency is reduced over 

time and the new way of working becomes embedded. 

 Governance: The programme is overseen by the CHS Programme Board, which includes 

Strategic Directors for Children’s Services, Adult Services, Public Health, and the Section 151 

Officer. It meets monthly to critically assess and approve investment cases, monitor 

performance, and ensure strategic alignment.  

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



City
Help &
Support

Photo by Josh Calabrese on Unsplash

P
age 231

https://unsplash.com/@joshcala?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText
https://unsplash.com/photos/five-men-riding-row-boat-Ev1XqeVL2wI?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText


revenue income
demand-led crisis interventions

£m

time

illustrative

City Help & Support is 
concerned with people 
and the complex 
systems that serve 
them. 

A significant number of 
Plymouth citizens are falling 
through the gaps and 
require a crisis intervention 
from the council. These 
interventions are costly and 
often don’t represent the 
best outcome for the 
person/family being 
supported.

The reasons are multiple, 
complex and often outside 
the control of any one 
organisation.

Some examples of high-cost crisis 
interventions include:

• 449 households in temporary 
accommodation (Sep 25);
• Of which 234 households have 

children,
• 268 households are in a B&B or 

holiday let.

• 528 children are in our care (Oct).

• Independent Special School Placements 
have increased by 257% since 2021.

• The cost of Home to School Transport 
has increased 132% over the same 
period.

• In Adult Social Care, over the past year, 
people requiring
• Domiciliary Care has increased by 

9%;
• Long-Term Nursing by 9%; and
• Short Term Placements by 40%

The rise in demand combined with increased 
costs is not sustainable.

In common with most Local Authorities, unless we 
can act earlier and address the causes for these 
statutory interventions, our expenditure will 
overtake our income. 

However, if we act, we can not only improve 
the lives of individuals and families but also 
build stronger, more self-reliant communities. 

The case for change
P

age 232



This programme does not stand in isolation. It builds upon the existing long-term vision and strategic priorities for our city. By 
grounding our work in established council and partnership strategies, we ensure that our efforts are cohesive, efficient, and 
supported by a city-wide consensus. 

The Plymouth 
Plan

Building 
Bridges to 

Opportunity

A Bright 
Future 

(Children & Families Plan)

Adult’s Target 
Operating 

Model

Plan for 
Homes

Thrive 
Plymouth

People 
Strategy

Built on strong foundations

Customer & 
Digital 

Strategy

Skills4
Plymouth

P
age 233



What our staff are saying
We asked the Extended Leadership Team to imagine Plymouth three years from now if prevention efforts succeed, to identify 
the barriers to achieving that vision, and to explore how we can overcome them.

What success looks like

A thriving city with empowered 
residents and communities. This 
success is measured by a reduction in 
demand for services, less time spent on 
crisis management, and controlled 
budgets. We will have good quality 
employment, affordable housing, and 
visible investment in our city. Silos will 
be gone, with staff and departments 
working together seamlessly across the 
council and city. 

The path forward

To overcome this, we must make a 
brave, fundamental shift. The most 
important action is to break down silos 
and work across departments and 
sectors. We need to ring-fence 
spending on preventative services and 
invest in data and technology to drive 
our decisions. We can achieve this by 
fostering a culture of hope and a shared 
sense of responsibility. 

The challenges

The biggest barrier is cultural change 
and a lack of belief that a prevention-
first approach is possible. We are 
currently stuck in a cycle of short-term, 
reactive crisis management, using our 
limited resources for statutory services 
instead of proactive prevention. 

P
age 234



What we’re already doing
Our commitment to prevention 
is not just on paper; it is already 
delivering results across the city 
through several key initiatives, 
including but not limited to: 

Families First 
Partnership (FFP)

This national-led reform is 
the biggest shake-up of 
Children's Social Care for a 
generation, driven by the 
government strategy Safer 
Homes Built on Love. 

Its core aim is to 
fundamentally re-balance 
the system towards early 
intervention and family 
help, ensuring vulnerable 
children are supported 
before needs escalate to 
crisis, representing a 
significant prevention 
opportunity for Plymouth. 

Health & Wellbeing 
Hubs / Family Hubs

 We have invested in a 
network of Family Hubs 
and Wellbeing Hubs across 
the city. These integrated 
hubs provide high-quality 
support, advice, new life 
skills, and health 
promotion in the heart of 
our communities. 

By supporting thousands of 
people, they ensure that 
help is accessible, universal, 
and targeted to keep 
people well, physically and 
mentally. 

Proactive Adult 
Services

We are proactively applying 
the proven model of 
reablement (helping adults 
regain independence after 
a hospital stay) to the 
community setting. 

This approach is being used 
to help prevent adults from 
going into hospital in the 
first place, ensuring they 
can stay safe, healthy, and 
independent in their own 
homes for longer.

P
age 235



What we’re already doing
We also have delivered 
innovation which has provided 
powerful evidence for our 
approach to prevention:

Changing Futures

This programme tackles 
the most complex cases by 
focusing on individuals 
facing multiple 
disadvantages (such as 
homelessness, substance 
misuse, mental health 
issues, and domestic abuse). 

It works to enhance 
existing services, promote 
trauma-informed practices, 
and improve service 
coordination across 
multiple agencies, leading 
to long-term systemic 
change rather than short-
term fixes. 

The Alliance

This pioneering, co-
designed model supports 
adults facing the most 
complex and multiple 
disadvantages. It 
transformed the service 
landscape by uniting over 
twenty-five previously 
siloed contracts under a 
single alliance agreement. 

This creates a unified, 
person-centred system, 
ensuring flexible, 
comprehensive support 
that delivers the right care, 
at the right time, for the 
city's most vulnerable 
residents.

Community Builders

This innovative, city-wide 
initiative tackles health 
inequalities by actively 
empowering communities 
through an asset-based 
approach. 

Community Builders act as 
trusted connectors, 
building deep relationships 
and fostering a stronger 
sense of belonging and 
resilience, which is 
independently proven to 
reduce isolation and 
improve overall wellbeing.

P
age 236



Why do we need this programme?

Existing prevention work 
operates in silos.

CHS will deliver cross-
cutting initiatives (data, 

place-based, 
commissioning), taking 

learning from best 
practice.

Existing prevention work 
is not meeting the scale of 

the challenge.

The system needs to be 
rebalanced.

CHS will grow what 
works, moving pilot 

initiatives into business as 
usual, and share tools and 

practices across the 
organisation (and 

partners)

CHS will provide strong, 
coherent partnership 

system leadership, laser 
focus, capital investment, 

cultural and structural 
change.

P
age 237



What will be delivered?

If you are going to put your life 
on hold until you get the 
answers, you're going to be on 
hold until the end of time.

Richard Clarke, National Security Advisor

We are not reinventing the wheel, or 
starting with a blank sheet of paper, instead 
we will:

• Grow what works, learning and 
principles over scaling the delivery 
model.

• Be pragmatic, deliver quickly and 
improve iteratively.

• Test and learn but avoid pilot 
initiatives where possible.

These are some of the projects we are looking to commence during the first year.

Single Citizen View
• Predictive analytics that identity households at 

risk of homelessness so preventative 
interventions (provided by the council or 
partners) can be delivered earlier.

• Dashboard for schools to identify pupils at risk 
of low attendance, enabling the school to wrap 
around support, reducing likelihood of a local 
authority intervention.

Alignment with neighbourhoods
• Place-based community systems leadership.
• Development of multi-disciplinary teams 

(MDTs) within locality areas, starting with 
Children Services.

• Alignment where possible with NHS Integrated 
Neighbourhood Teams and Test, Learn, Grow.

• Utilising community assets (Family Hubs, 
Health & Wellbeing Hubs, Libraries).

Community Capacity Building
• Single View of My Community (data).
• Community Builders support.
• Local decision-making / governance / micro-

grants and commissioning.
• Inclusive growth. 

Commissioning for Prevention
• Ensuring the council’s spending power supports 

prevention.
• Learning from Plymouth Alliance.
• Outcomes Based Accountability (or other 

outcomes focussed approach).
• Social value for social impact..

Integrated Domestic Abuse Services
• Ensuring DA knowledge and skills are integrated 

throughout Adult and Children’s Service areas.

No Wrong Door
• Circuit breaker for adolescents who are at the 

edge of entering residential care.

Reablement at the Front Door
• Focused interventions to support return to 

independence.
• Tech Enabled Care supports independence and 

target Dom Care resources. 

P
age 238



Our guiding principles
Prevention, not 
reaction

It is always better to stop a problem 
before it starts. Instead of waiting for a 
situation to become a crisis, we will 
focus on addressing challenges at the 
earliest possible moment. This means 
proactively identifying and tackling the 
root causes of problems, rather than 
simply reacting to the outcomes. 

By adopting a prevention mindset, we 
aim to build resilience in individuals and 
families, and in doing so, reduce long-
term dependency on costly, high-
intensity services like children's social 
care, temporary accommodation, or 
specialist support for adults. This 
approach is about doing the right thing 
at the right time. 

For example, by providing early support 
to a family facing financial difficulty, we 
can help them avoid the risk of 
homelessness and the significant 
distress and cost that comes with it.

Working together

Plymouth City Council cannot deliver 
this alone. A prevention mindset is for 
the whole city. We will work side by 
side with local groups, charities, 
businesses, and most importantly, with 
residents. 

This means breaking down traditional 
departmental silos within the Council 
and building new, productive 
collaborative partnerships with other 
public service providers, such as the 
NHS, police, and voluntary 
organisations. 

By sharing resources, data, and a 
common vision, we can eliminate 
duplication, improve coordination, and 
deliver better, more holistic outcomes 
for our communities. 

This partnership approach will ensure 
that support is joined-up and easy to 
access, meaning people only tell their 
story once to get the help they need.

A city for everyone

The most important part of this 
approach is its promise to all the 
people of Plymouth. We want to create 
a city where everyone has a fair chance 
to live a healthy, safe, and happy life, 
and where inequalities are addressed. 

This means ensuring our support is 
accessible to all parts of the city and 
helps to reduce unfairness. We will 
measure our success by the 
improvements we see in the lives of 
individuals, families, and 
neighbourhoods across Plymouth, from 
the least to the most deprived 
communities. 

By building a fairer city, we can ensure 
that everyone can feel safe, valued, and 
included, no matter who they are or 
where they live. This is about building a 
sustainable future where every resident 
has the opportunity to thrive.

Focus on strengths

For too long, the focus has been on 
what is wrong with people and 
communities. This programme is about 
looking at what's strong. We will shift 
our focus to an asset-based approach, 
working with people to build on their 
skills, resources, and talents. 

This means recognising that every 
person and community has something 
valuable to offer. For instance, a 
community with strong local groups 
and volunteers has the power to 
support its own members, creating 
local solutions to local challenges. 

By fostering this approach, we will 
enable people to feel more confident 
and in control of their own lives, 
helping them to lift themselves and 
their families out of difficulty and build 
a positive future.

P
age 239



What are the enablers?

1. One team
We will break down barriers between departments and create a single, unified approach to 
prevention. This means that teams from different services, such as social care, housing, 
commissioning and public health, will work as one to serve residents more effectively. 

This ensures that help is joined up and that everyone is working towards the same goal. By 
creating cross-functional teams and shared goals, we will eliminate the "siloed" way of 
working that can make it difficult for people to get the help they need. 

This new approach will allow us to move from a reactive, department-by-department 
response to a proactive, whole-council approach to a person's needs. 

2. Data and technology
We will use data to get a clear and complete picture of the challenges facing our city. By 
using insights and intelligence, we can make smarter, evidence-based decisions and target 
our resources where they are needed most. 

Technology will also help us make our services more efficient and easier for people to 
access. This means developing a new Data, Insights, and AI as a Service (DIAS) to provide a 
powerful tool for our staff and partners. 

By connecting data from different sources, we can identify emerging trends, understand 
what works, and predict where problems might arise. This will help us to shift from simply 
responding to demand to managing and even preventing it. 

3. Engaging and uplifting communities
We will work alongside our residents, listening to what they need and supporting them to 
be part of the solution. This is about recognising the strengths that already exist within our 
communities and helping them grow. 

By sharing knowledge, skills, and resources, we can help local groups and organisations lead 
on prevention efforts in their own neighbourhoods. Our approach will be to support 
community-led initiatives and build new partnerships with local groups and the voluntary 
sector. 

We will move away from a top-down model and instead embrace an asset-based approach, 
focusing on what's strong in a community rather than what's wrong with it. This will build 
long-term social capacity and resilience from the ground up. 

4. Managing our community assets
We will make sure that the places we own and use, such as our libraries and community 
hubs, are welcoming and accessible spaces that support our prevention approach. We will 
ensure that these spaces are used in the best way possible to provide help and support to 
residents. Our aim is to make these spaces work for communities, where people can 
access a range of services, meet with partners, and get the right support at the right time. 

P
age 240



The financial cycle

Business / 
Investment Case

Project gateway linked to 
phases

Capital receipt 
allocated for 

transformation

Project/initiative 
pump primed 

Funding tampers off
Savings reinvested in project/ 

initiative (P2, P3), back to service 
or invested in further prevention

P
age 241



How will we know we are succeeding?
A Theory of Change and programme KPIs, aligned with the MTFP are in development and being considered by the programme 
board in November.

Reduce the number of 
children entering care and 
decrease reliance on high-
cost residential placements

Helping Families to be Strong and Stable

• Universal and Targeted Family Help Services
• Early Identification and Multi-Agency Intervention
• Family and Community Networks

Improve Care System Stability and Suitability 
(Right-Sizing Care)

• Increase Sufficiency and Quality of Family-Based 
Care

• Minimise Need for High-Cost Residential 
Placements

Reduce the number of 
households in temporary 

accommodation, especially 
unsuitable and high-cost B&Bs 

and holiday lets

System-Wide Early 
Intervention

Specialist Interventions & 
Pathways (DA, Prisoners, Care 

Leavers)

Reducing and Improving 
Temporary Accommodation

Access to Secure Housing

Increase adult independence 
and reduce long-term 

dependency on formal care 
services

Promote Wellbeing & 
Community Assets (Universal 

Prevention)

Strengthen Interventions & 
Reablement (Early 

Intervention)

Modernise Service Delivery & 
Technology

Support Unpaid Carers

Reduced Spend on High-Cost 
Alternative School 

Placements (INMSS) for 
SEND

Increase Local, Cost-Effective 
Provision 

Strengthen Mainstream 
Inclusion 

Embed Early Intervention & 
Joint Working

P
age 242



How will ensure that we succeed?

Strategic Directors
Children’s, Adults, Public Health

City Help & Support
Programme Board

• Investment Decisions:  
Meets monthly to critically 
assess and approve new 
investment cases and funding 
proposals.

• Performance Monitoring:  
Oversees the delivery and 
performance of existing 
projects, ensuring they remain 
on track to meet stated 
outcomes.

• Strategic Reflection: 
Dedicates additional time each 
quarter to conduct a deeper 
reflection on the organisation's 
overall strategic approach to 
prevention, ensuring the 
programme remains relevant 
and impactful.

Change Board

Neighbourhood 
Working Group

P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Management Board
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 12 November 2025 

Title of Report: Finance Monitoring Report Month 6 

Lead Member:   Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) 

Lead Strategic Director: Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance) 

Author: Helen Slater (Assistant Head of Finance) 

Wendy Eldridge (Lead Accountancy Manager) 

Contact Email:  Ian.Trisk-Grove@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference:   

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

This report sets out the revenue and capital monitoring position of the Council forecast to the end of 

the financial year 2025/26 at September 2025, Period 6. 

 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

1. Note the forecast revenue monitoring position at Month 6 is an adverse variance of £8.754m 

with further risks highlighted. 

Reason: Reporting and visibility of the forecast revenue budget outturn is essential to maintain financial 

oversight and control. 

2. Note the overall Capital Budget 2025-2030 is revised to £372.311m as shown in Table 18, with 

reconciliation and detail of the movements in the quarter set out in Tables 18 and Table 21. 

Reason: To provide visibility of the updated Capital budget as part of the financial monitoring position. 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

There are no alternative options – our Financial Regulations require us to produce regular monitoring 

of our finance resources. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

The report is fundamentally linked to delivering the priorities within the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

Allocating limited resources to key priorities will maximise the benefits to the residents of Plymouth. 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

Robust and accurate financial monitoring underpins the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

The Council’s MTFP is updated based on on-going monitoring information, both on a local and national 

context. Any adverse variations from the annual budget will place pressure on the MTFP going forward 
and require additional savings to be generated in future years. Each directorate must mitigate its own 

Page 245 Agenda Item 8



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

pressures and achieve a balanced position by the end of the financial year. Plans need to be robust and 

achievable. 

 

Financial Risks  

Financial risks concerning period 6 reporting are discussed in the body of the report and relate to the 

attainment of a balanced budget position in financial year 2025/26.  

 

Legal Implications  

No direct legal implications arising from this report. 
 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

There are no impacts directly arising from this report. 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

The reducing revenue and capital resources across the public sector has been identified as a key risk 

within our Strategic Risk register. The ability to deliver spending plans within budget is paramount to 

ensuring the Council can achieve its objectives.  

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Finance Monitoring Report Month 6        

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

        

   

 

 

Page 246



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Sign off: 
 

Fin OW.

25.26.

092 

Leg N/A Mon 

Off 

N/A HR N/A Asset

s  

N/A Strat 

Proc 

N/A 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance) 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes  

Date agreed: 04/11/2025 

 

Cabinet Member approval: Cllr Mark Lowry approved verbally 

Date approved: 23/10/2025 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank



 

FINANCE MONITORING REPORT 
Month 6 (September 2025) 

OFFICIAL 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. The monitoring position reported at Month 6 is an adverse variance of £8.754m, this is an adverse variance 

of £1.897m. This report provides an explanation of this position and gives details around further underlying 

risks. 

 

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Forecast  

 

1.2. Adult Social Care continues to experience additional demand within Care Home related spend, causing an 

increased pressure at Month 6.  

1.3. Community Connections is maintaining a pressure at Month 6 due to numbers of clients in temporary 

accommodation, increasing costs for nightly paid accommodation and unavoidable delays in planned activity 

to reduce demand.  

1.4. The Children’s Directorate is reporting an increased budget pressure at Month 6, due to Children’s Social 

Care placements, with Residential Placements now at 63 (1 above budget) and Unregistered Placements at 9 

(2 above budget), both these numbers continue to reduce.  

The Children’s Directorate is also reporting a net cost pressure on short breaks provision, the service is 

engaged in developing mitigation plans to address. 

1.5. The Customer & Corporate Directorate is forecasting an adverse variance of £1.274m against budget.  This 

is predominately caused by additional survey requirements for the Facilities Management service, and savings 

target delivery pressures across the directorate. 

1.6. Overall, £6.510m of the in-year planned savings targets have been considered achieved, with £3.713m in 

progress. £2.233m is considered unachievable and being reported as pressures, of which £1.300m relates to 

an additional income target for Energy from Waste which is not achievable due to maintenance downtime. 

This pressure is reported as part of the Growth Directorate’s position.   

1.7. Section 12 of this report sets out an update on the Capital Programme at Quarter 2 (see Table 18). As at 30 

September 2025 the 5-year capital budget 2025-2030 is currently forecast at £372.311m. 

The forecast for 2025/26 has reduced from £178.813m to £161.263m and reflects new approvals added to 

the programme offset by monthly monitoring and continued project monitoring to reprofile forecasts into 

future years.  
  

Directorate
Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Total General Fund Budget 253.418 262.172 8.754

Page 249



 
 

OFFICIAL 

2. DIRECTORATE REVIEW 

2.1. The reported position is an overspend of £8.754m at Month 6, an adverse movement of £1.897m from the 

position reported at Month 5. 
 

Table 2: Revenue Forecast by Directorate* 

 

*note budget changes at Month 5 due to allocation of pay award budgets previously held Corporately. 

3. ADULTS, HEALTH AND COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE 

Table 3: Adults, Health and Communities Directorate Forecast  

 

Table 4: Adult Social Care Forecast 

 

3.1 The Adults, Health and Communities Directorate is reporting a pressure of £2.243m, an increase of 

£1.188m from the Month 5 position. 

3.1.1. Domiciliary Care continues to see an increased demand for intermediate care to support clients’ 

discharge from hospital.  

3.1.2. As assessment waitlists have been reduced, the directorate has seen a significant increase in bedded 

care clients, as previously included as a risk. Backdated packages have resulted in £0.783m of old 

year costs being incurred in year.  

3.1.3. £2.310m additional Joint Funding and client income have been identified, correlating to increased 

package expenditure. A joint funding panel has been established to improve the process and 

maximise income.  

3.1.4. Following the insolvency of the previous provider, an inflationary increase was agreed to ensure the 

continuing delivery of the Community Equipment Service. We are currently assuming funding will be 

negotiated to be received from the ICB to meet the additional costs in the pooled budget. 

Directorate
Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m
Status

Adults, Health and Communities Directorate 119.512 122.674 3.162 Over

Children’s Directorate 91.843 96.257 4.414 Over

Growth Directorate 30.660 31.960 1.300 Over

Office of the Director of Public Health 3.889 3.511 (0.378) Under

Chief Executive’s Office 1.684 1.529 (0.155) Under

Customer and Corporate Services 44.120 45.394 1.274 Over

Corporate Items (38.290) (39.153) (0.863) Under

Total 253.418 262.172 8.754

Variance

£m

Adult Social Care 2.243

Community Connections 0.919

Total 3.162

Adults, Health and Communities Directorate

Adult Social Care
Variance

£m

RAG 

(mitigations

/risk)

Care package expenditure 4.575

Community Equipment Service 0.315

Additional client and joint funding income (2.310) Amber

Forecast staffing savings (0.337) Amber

Total 2.243

Quantified Additional Risk (not reported as a pressure) 0.895 Amber

Pressures:

Mitigations:

Page 250



 
 

OFFICIAL 

3.1.5. The Directorate’s Budget Containment Group has been mobilised for 2025/26 and activity is 

ongoing; the function of the group is to focus on emerging high-risk areas, assigning task groups to 

identify actions to be taken to contain spend, such as focused package reviews. Work identified 

includes focus on review and analysis of Domiciliary Care, Bedded Care fees levels and pipeline 

demand, timescales and planning in increase client in Direct Payments and a focus on the Short-

Term Residential clients to identify any barriers to long term care.  

3.2. Further risks to the Adult Social Care Budget include potential further increases in demand on Care 

Package budgets and the outcome of the CQC inspection, which may make recommendations that could 

have an impact on budgets.  

3.3. Total Delivery Plans of £3.425m, including a prior year target of £0.648m, are assumed to be met in 

2025/26. Of the 2025/26 target of £2.733m, £2.074m (75%) has been achieved to date, with £0.659m in 

progress. 

 
Table 5: Community Connections Forecast 

 

3.4. The reported pressure has remained the same since Month 5 at £0.919m.  There has been an increase of 

£0.111m to reported pressure due to increased demand but this has been offset by salary savings.   

3.5. Drivers for increased demand for temporary accommodation include domestic abuse victims fleeing 

properties, the cost-of-living crisis, lack of available social housing and lack of affordable private sector 

accommodation to house clients experiencing homelessness. 

3.6. There is also a reported pressure of £0.120m due to an increase in the number of Domestic Homicide 

reviews required this year. 

3.7. There are salary savings totalling £0.449m at Month 6, these are due to vacancies, gaps whilst recruiting, 

maternity leave and an increase in posts funded by grants compared to budget.  Of this, £0.155m salary 

savings is offsetting various smaller pressures within Young Carers, Unauthorised Encampments and 

Removals and Storage, and a further £0.111m has mitigated the additional pressure of temporary 

accommodation demand.  The residual balance has been allocated towards Delivery Plan targets.   

3.8. The forecast includes £0.200m of additionally identified grant maximisation. 

3.9. Planned activity within the service to mitigate further budgetary risk includes review of all grant allocations 

to maximise impact on budgets, increased activity at the front door to reduce demand, additional planned 

activity to replace delayed projects and continued monitoring of activity and trends to inform full year 

forecasts. 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

Community Connections
Variance

£m

RAG

(mitigations 

/risk)

Delays in planned activity in supply of additional units, increase in demand for 

temporary accommodation
1.164

Domestic Homicide Reviews - activity over budget 0.120

Other pressures; incl removals and storage for clients 0.141

Additional income from penalty charges (0.040) Green

Grant maximisation and other staffing savings (0.466) Green

Total 0.919

Quantified Additional Risk (not reported as a pressure) 0.762 Amber

Pressures:

Mitigations:

Page 251



 
 

OFFICIAL 

4. CHILDREN’S DIRECTORATE  

Table 6: Children’s Directorate – total reported pressure 

 
 

Table 7: Children’s Directorate – CYPF Forecast 

 

4.1. The Children, Young People and Families service is reporting a pressure of £3.731m at Month 6, an adverse 

movement of £0.288m  

4.1.1. £3.887m pressure on Children’s Social Care placements due to an increase in Independent Sector 

Placements. This is an adverse placement variation of £0.444m. Residential Placements are now at 

63 (1 above budget) and Unregistered Placements at 9 (2 above budget). Of this variance 0.086m 

relates to Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children who have been placed into Supported Living at 

above £2,000 p/week. 

4.1.2. There are also pressures flagged within staffing, primarily down to agency staff and vacancy savings 

targets, however these costs are mitigated through the planned exit dates of agency staff through 

Quarter 2 

4.1.3. Savings have been identified through Quarter 2 Star Chamber monitoring, which is a line-by-line 

review of the service’s expenditure throughout the department. These savings have totalled 

£0.156m, reducing the overall monthly variance to £0.288m. This includes savings within the Adopt 

South West Contract and removal of retention payments. 

4.2. The service has identified a cohort of children who are currently placed within a Residential or Supported 

Living setting where transitioning to an alternative placement setting is considered appropriate for the child, 

such as fostering or reunification. This will always be the correct move for the child which also generates a 

recordable saving – it is this saving which is being earmarked towards the delivery plan total. 

4.2.1. This stream of work is called “Steps” and is monitored monthly at the Family Homes for Plymouth 

Children board, the services is also working with external partners such as Reconnect to help the 

Authority achieve its targets. 

Children's Directorate
Variance

£m

Children, Young People and Families Department 3.731

Education, Participation and Skills Department -

Children’s Central Spine 0.683

Total 4.414

Children, Young People and Families Department
Variance

£m

RAG 

(mitigations 

/risk)

Pressures: Looked After Children – Placements 3.887

Agency staffing costs 0.050

Delivery plan pressure 1.182

Vacancy savings forecast (0.050) Amber

FHFPC Workstream, Reunification & Reconnect 

Partnership working to identify Children transitioning into 

alternative placement

(1.182)

Amber

Removal of Retention Payments for Social Workers in 

Child Protection Team

(0.032)
Green

Adopt South West - Underspend as provided by Devon 

County Council

(0.070)
Green

Caritas Agency Recruiter removed (0.054) Green

Total 3.731

Quantified Additional Risk (not reported as a pressure) 5.244 Amber

Mitigations:

Page 252



 
 

OFFICIAL 

4.2.2. There are currently enough Children identified with suitable transition plans to achieve the 

remaining £1.161m balance, however it is essential to point out that delays to these plans are 

possible creating further possible pressure.  

4.3. Remaining mitigations are related to Staffing and the ongoing redesign of the CYPF structure. The new 

structure should align with the National Reform - Families First concept. Current proposals offset all agency 

pressure as well as achieving Budget Gap savings allocated in 2024/25.  
 

Table 8: Children’s Directorate – EPS Forecast 

 

4.4. The Education, Participation and Skills service is reporting nil variance at Month 6, with work carried out by 

the service to identify additional savings to offset a delivery plan pressure. There is now minimal risk of 

non-delivery, however work will continue through the year to identify further savings.  

4.5. In 2025/26, Plymouth will receive a total Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocation of £312.148m. This 

funding supports mainstream schools, special schools, Early Years providers, and pupils with additional 

needs through the High Needs Block. The High Needs Block continues to face significant financial pressure, 

driven by increased numbers of pupils with EHCPs, and the cost of provision, with a forecast overspend of 

£35.250m. When combined with the cumulative deficit from prior years of £18.498m, the total projected 

deficit balance is expected to reach £54.261m by the end of the financial year. 

While a statutory override remains in place, allowing local authorities to carry forward DSG deficits there 

are associated revenue implications. Specifically, the cost of borrowing to fund the unfunded expenditure is 

estimated to exceed £2m in 2025/26. 

 

Table 9: Children’s Directorate – Central Spine Forecast 

 

4.6. Some Children’s Services budgets have now been combined into the ‘Central Spine’, including Short Breaks, 

Admissions and School Transport. The monitoring position is unchanged at Month 6, with an overall 

pressure of £0.683m. 

4.6.1. There is a forecast pressure within Short Breaks due to demand, however this has been mitigated 

through £0.446m of savings identified, leaving a net pressure of £0.872m. The service is currently 

reviewing saving plans identified to ensure they are achievable and is now tasked with identifying 

methods to mitigate this residual pressure. 

4.6.2. School Transport budgets are currently forecast to make a saving of £0.187m, this is due to the 

delay in the forecast increase in numbers of EHCPs, which has a direct impact to SEND Home to 

School Transport demand. This has been reviewed again at the start of the new academic year, and 

forecasts are still in line with previous estimates. 

4.6.3. Additional Admissions Appeals income was identified at Month 4, and forecasts remain at this level. 

 

Education, Participation and Skills Department
Variance

£m

RAG

(mitigations)

Pressure: Savings delivery plan pressure 0.038

Mitigations: Net additional income and vacancy savings (0.038) Green

Total -

Children’s Central Spine 
Variance

£m

RAG

(mitigations)

Pressures: Short breaks cost pressures 1.318

Potential shortfall on vacancy savings targets 0.024

Short breaks Q1 savings identified (0.446) Amber

Delay in Home-to-School forecast increases (0.187) Amber

Admission team savings (0.026) Amber

Total 0.683

Mitigations:

Page 253



 
 

OFFICIAL 

5. GROWTH DIRECTORATE 

Table 10: Growth Directorate Forecast  

 

5.1. The Growth Directorate is reporting a pressure of £1.300m at Month 6, this is unchanged from Month 5. 

The Directorate is unable to contain a £1.300m income budget from the Energy from Waste profit share 

which is forecast at nil. This is following a significant period of scheduled site downtime for maintenance. 

5.2. The Directorate has identified £2.2m of other pressures in year and established a schedule of cross service 

area management action plans, to achieve mitigation of £1.6m of this as at Month 6. This includes 

recruitment deferral, income maximisation from grants, car parking and commercial lease events, and the 

review and deferral of discretionary expenditure where possible. Plans are in hand to build upon this 

achievement with the aim of achieving £2.2m of total savings by year end. 

5.3. The Directorate had in-year savings/income targets for 2025/26 of £3.495m, to date £2.195m has been 

achieved. The £1.300m target for income from Energy from Waste profit share will not be realised in this 

financial year and is reported as a pressure.  

 

6. OFFICE OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 

Table 11: Office of the Director of Public Health Forecast 

 

6.1. The Public Health Directorate is reporting a saving at Month 6 of £0.378m. This is an improvement of £0.014m 

from the Month 5 position; this is due to additional savings proposals brought forward by the Directorate. 

6.2. An additional £0.200m of the Public Health grant has been allocated to cover eligible expenditure.  

6.3. Within the Bereavement and Registration service there is a £0.157m reported pressure which includes 

£0.077m pressure relating to repair and maintenance, caretaking and vehicle hire at the Crematorium and a 

£0.080m pressure for contract overhead recharges for Coroners arrangements.  The current SLA with Devon 

County is being reviewed and will be further to further engagement.  

Growth Directorate
Variance

£m

RAG

(mitigations)

Economic Development - Land and Property additional professional, redevelopment, 

legal and events costs

0.683

Other delivery pressures within Street Services; including fleet costs and unachieved 

delivery plans

1.371

Management historic efficiency target 0.266

SPI - reduced planning income and increased concessionary fares 0.371

Loss of EfW income due to downtime 1.300

Economic Development - additional commercial lease income (0.983) Amber

SPI - additional vacancy savings (0.696) Amber

Increased parking income and Fleet and Garage efficiencies (0.414) Amber

Amber

Further planned management actions (0.598) Amber

Total 1.300

Pressures:

Mitigations:

Office of the Director of Public Health
Variance

£m

RAG

(mitigations)

Contract overhead recharge in relation to Coroners arrangements
0.080

Bereavement pressures - repairs, caretaking and vehicle hire 0.077

Additional income; Civil Protection and Environmental Health
(0.075)

Green

Leisure Management; efficiencies and contract savings (0.191) Green

Further grant maximisation of eligible expenditure (0.200) Amber

Cross-directorate salary savings (0.069) Green

Total (0.378)

Mitigations:

Pressures:

Page 254



 
 

OFFICIAL 

6.4. Pressures are offset by savings achieved through Leisure Management efficiencies and cross-Directorate salary 

savings. 

6.5. Underlying risks within the Directorate include the volatility of cremation income within the Bereavement 

budget, which may deviate from the forecast, and levels of fees and charges income within Public Protection 

Services. 

 

7. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OFFICE 

Table 12: Chief Executive’s Office Forecast  

 

7.1. The Chief Executive Office is reporting a favourable variance at Month 6 of £0.155m, noting pressures from 

brought forward savings targets not expected to be achieved being offset by savings on vacancies held. This 

position includes an additional savings proposal of £0.100m from reduced staffing costs within the Local 

Government Reorganisation team as well as savings on staffing.  

 

8. CUSTOMER AND CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

Table 13: Customer and Corporate Services Directorate Forecast  

 

8.1. The Customer and Corporate Services Directorate is reporting a pressure of £1.274m at Month 6, an adverse 

change of £0.490m since Month 5.  

8.1.1. Within Hard FM there has been £0.350m of unbudgeted surveys required to ascertain the condition 

of the Corporate Estate. From these surveys an additional £0.296m of repairs and maintenance has 

been identified. 

8.1.2. In Soft FM budgets there is an estimated £0.195m impact, due to reduced income as a result of the 

extended closure of the Guildhall  

8.1.3. The DEM Referendum has come in £0.169m over the allocated budget. 

8.1.4. A net £0.028m pressure is being forecast across the directorate relating to unachievable vacancy 

savings targets. 

Chief Executive’s Office
Variance

£m

RAG

(mitigations)

Pressure: Delivery of planned savings 0.175

Savings on LGR staffing costs (0.100) Amber

Staffing savings (0.230) Amber

Total (0.155)

Mitigations

Customer & Corporate Services
Variance

£m

RAG

(mitigations)

Forecasted survey spends and R+M 

within Hard FM

0.646

Guildhall Closure 0.195

DEM Referendum 0.169

Potential shortfall on vacancy 

savings targets

0.028

Savings plan 1.140

Use of flexible capital receipts for 

transformation

(0.300)
Green

Release of insurance provision (0.300) Green

Other cross-directorate savings (0.304) Amber

Total 1.274

Mitigations:

Pressure:

Page 255



 
 

OFFICIAL 

8.1.5. There are savings plans relating to both 2025/26 and prior year targets, within HR & OD, 

Departmental Management, Legal, Internal Audit, Transformation and ICT that are unlikely to be 

achieved. These total £1.140m, of which £0.883m relate to specific 2025/26 plans. The directorate 

will be working over the coming months to develop business plans to mitigate these pressures.   

8.1.6. Additional in-year savings have been identified totalling £0.904m, the most significant of which were 

the use of Capital Receipts flexibilities to fund transformation costs currently met by revenue 

budgets (£0.300m), and the release of insurance provision (£0.300m). 

 

9. CORPORATE ITEMS  

Table 14: Corporate Items Forecast   

 

Table 15: Progress against savings targets – Treasury Management 

 
 

9.1. This area holds budgets relating to Treasury Management and centrally held grant funding and central 

expenditure budgets. Additional grant income has been allocated to PCC and this has been released 

corporately to fund the overall financial position, this results in a favourable variance of £0.863m.  

9.2. Within Treasury Management, borrowing costs remain managed to budget. The £1.434m savings targets 

identified in 2025/26 is expected to be fully achieved. 

9.3. Within Other Corporate Items, there is a pressure arising from the Schools PFI contract, this is expected to 

be mitigated by additional income from Support Service Recharges (Corporate Overheads) chargeable to 

funded posts. 

9.4.  The nationally agreed NJC pay award has been confirmed at 3.2%. Provision in the budget allows for a 3% 

uplift, therefore this confirmation results in financial pressure of £0.186m, which was reported at Month 5. 

 

  

Corporate Items
Variance

£m

RAG

(mitigations)

Pressure: Schools PFI Contract 0.239

Pay Award confirmed at 3.2% 0.186

Action Plan Proposals - Release additional EPR grant funding (0.863) Green

Additional Support Service Recharge recoverable from funded posts (0.425) Green

Total (0.863)

Mitigations:

Treasury Management Savings Targets
Target per 

Budget £m
Achieved

£m

In Progress

£m

RAG 

Rating

Treasury Management Debt rescheduling 0.300 0.300 - Green

Treasury Management Efficiencies 0.500 0.500 - Green

Treasury Management MRP adjustment for prior year overpayments 0.634 0.634 - Green

Total 1.434 1.434 -

Page 256



 
 

OFFICIAL 

10. CORE RESOURCES 

Table 16: Core Resources Forecast     

 
 

10.1. At Month 6 there are currently no variances forecast against Core Resources which fund the net revenue 

budget. 

 

11. SAVINGS BUDGETS 

Table 17: Summary of progress against savings targets 

 

11.1. A summary of the progress achieved against additional savings targets built into Directorate budgets for 

2025/26 is set out above.  Any pressure in relation to the achievability of these targets is addressed in the 

relevant Directorate section set out in this report. 

 

  

Core Resources
Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Revenue Support Grant (12.662) (12.662) -

Council Tax (149.450) (149.450) -

Business Rates (86.584) (86.584) -

Reserves (4.722) (4.722) -

Total (253.418) (253.418) -

Recurrent Non-Recurrent

Corporate items (0.500) (0.300) (0.800) - - (0.800)

Adult Health & Communities (2.733) (2.074) (0.659) - (2.733)

Children's Directorate (3.142) (0.613) (2.529) - (3.142)

Growth Directorate (1.201) (0.994) (1.300) (2.195) (1.300) (3.495)

Chief Executive (0.175) - (0.125) (0.050) (0.175)

Customer & Corporate (2.111) (0.828) (0.400) (0.883) (2.111)

Total (9.862) (1.294) (1.300) (6.510) (3.713) (2.233) (12.456)

2025/26 Savings and 

Management Actions Progress

(incl EfW additional income 

target) - reprofiled for Directorate 

departmental movements

Total Savings & 

Management Actions 

Target 

Achieved

In 

Progress

Not 

achievable Total

Additional 

Income 

Target

Page 257



 
 

OFFICIAL 

12. CAPITAL 

12.1. The Capital Programme as at 30 September 2025 incorporates movements since the quarter 1 position as 

at 30 June 2025, with the 5-year Capital budget 2025-2030 currently forecast at £372.311m. 

12.2. Table 18 reflects the change in 5-year programme scope with movement through new approvals and 

variations since reported at 30 June 2025. 

 

Table 18: Capital Programme Changes 

Description £m 

Capital Programme as at 30 June 2025 for 5 year period 2025 - 2030 351.063 

New Approvals – see table 21 for breakdown 24.838 

Variations  (3.590) 

Total Revised Capital Budget (2025/26 -2029/30) 372.311 

 

12.3. A breakdown of the current approved Capital Budget by directorate and by funding is shown in Tables 19 

and 20 below.  

 

 Table 19: Capital Programme by Directorate 

Directorate 
2025/26 

£m 

2026/27 

£m 

2027/28 

£m 

2028/29 

£m 

2029/30 

£m 
Total 

Children's Services 3.501   1.376   -     -     -    4.877 

Adults, Health and Communities  13.581   12.964   1.903   -     -    28.448 

Growth - Economic Development  49.985   60.393   38.995   10.678   1.917  161.968 

Growth - Strategic Planning & 

Infrastructure 

 66.688   58.944   10.795   2.856   0.275  139.558 

Growth - Street Services  21.960   6.554   0.222   0.212   0.247  29.195 

Customer & Corporate Services  5.070   2.516   0.100   0.101   -    7.787 

Office for Director of Public Health  0.478   -     -     -     -    0.478 

Total 161.263 142.747 52.015 13.847 2.439 372.311 

 

Table 20: Capital Programme Financing 

 

12.4. Of the 5-year programme valued at £372.311m, 76.88% is forecast to be funded from grants, contributions 

and service-supported ‘invest-to-save’ borrowing, with the remaining 23.12% (£86.081m) forecast to be 

funded from corporate borrowing.  Work is ongoing to update the capital pipeline which will identify further 

Financed by: 
2025/26 

£m 

2026/27 

£m 

2027/28 

£m 

2028/29 

£m 

2029/30 

£m 
Total 

Capital Receipts 10.518   4.345   1.196   2.840   1.917  20.816 

Grant Funding  83.922   42.194   13.744   0.193   0.296  140.349 

Corporate Funded borrowing   41.942   33.537   10.225   0.377   -    86.081 

Service dept. supported borrowing  20.243   53.927   25.916   10.335   0.226  110.647 

Developer contributions  2.454   8.729   0.934   0.102   -    12.219 

Other Contributions  2.184   0.015   -     -     -    2.199 

Total 161.263 142.747 52.015 13.847 2.439 372.311 

Page 258



 
 

OFFICIAL 

potential corporate borrowing requirements. Assessment of the future funding assumptions and resulting 

revenue impact of the capital programme is under review. 

  
Table 21: Capital approvals Quarter 2 including funding 

Service 

/Directorate 
Governance New Approvals 

5 Year 

Programme 
Approvals £m 

Financed By 

CCO  Exec Dec  Life Centre Fire and PA System Replacement  0.382  URF Corp Borrowing  

CCO  Exec Dec  FM Consolidated Capital Programme of Works  2.000  URF Corp Borrowing  

SPI  Exec Dec  The Warm Homes: Local Grant  2.571  RF Grant  

SPI  Exec Dec  Plymouth Major Road Network   12.809  RF Grant/ URF Grant  

CS  Exec Dec  Longcause Office Conversion (Phase 1)  0.208  URF Grant  

SS  Exec Dec  Street Furniture Replacements  0.120  URF Corp Borrowing  

SS  Exec Dec  Highway Capital Investment Programme  6.482  
URF Grant/URF 

Corp Borrowing  

Various S151 Various Approvals up to £200k 0.266 Various 

Total Capital Approvals 24.838  

   

   

Financing of New Approvals in Q2 £m 
 

External Grants, S106 contributions, Cap Receipts 20.402 82.1% 

PCC financing (all borrowing and revenue) 4.436 17.9% 

Total 24.838  

   

 

 

  

Page 259



 
 

OFFICIAL 

Capital Programme 2025/26 monitoring 

12.5. The 2025/26 forecast has decreased by £17.550m, from £178.813m to £161.263m. This reduction is 

primarily due to £29.109m of planned spending being deferred to later years, partially offset by £12.030m 

of new approvals expected to be spent this financial year, along with a minor programme adjustment 

removing £0.471m. 

12.6. Table 22 below includes a breakdown by directorate of actual cash spend as at 30 September 2025 shown 

as a value and percentage against latest forecast (overall 31.37%), with the percentage to Month 6 2024/25 

(23.40%) reflecting tighter forecasting in 2025/26. 

12.7. Approval is sought for a virement of £425,452.64 to consolidate the Royal Parade project budget, currently 

split across two separate cost codes. The Royal Parade initiative was initially approved as part of the Better 

Place Public Realm programme within the Capital Programme. Subsequently, the Transforming Cities Fund 

was also added to the Capital Programme, which included a separate allocation for Royal Parade focused 

on Sustainable Transport delivery. Both elements are now being delivered concurrently by the same project 

team. To streamline project management and reporting, it is proposed that the two budget lines be merged 

under a single project entry within the Capital Programme. 

 

Table 22: 2025/26 Programme including actual spend and % spent compared to latest forecast 

Directorate 

Latest 

Forecast 

2025/26 

Actual Spend 

as at 30 

September 

2025 

Spend as a 

% of Latest 

Forecast 

  £m £m % 

Children's Services 3.501 0.481 13.73% 

Adults, Health and Communities 13.581 4.847 35.69% 

Growth - Economic Development 49.985 10.542 21.09% 

Growth - Strategic Planning & Infrastructure 66.688 26.263 39.38% 

Growth - Street Services 21.960 6.324 28.80% 

Customer & Corporate Services 5.070 1.778 35.06% 

Office for Director of Public Health 0.478 0.350 73.16% 

Total 161.263 50.584 31.37% 

 

12.8. Profiling of the Capital Programme will continue to review robustness of forecasts to spend as project 

officers assess the inflationary impact to schemes, delivery timescales and challenges to meet grant funding 

conditions.  

Page 260



 

  

OFFICIAL 

BUDGET SCRUTINY OVERVIEW 
Budget Setting 2026-27

 

 

TIMELINE 
 

Day One: 

 Session 1: Strategic Overview – Revenue and 

Capital Budgets  

 Session 2: Housing, Homelessness and 

Communities 

 Session 3: Health and Adult Social Care 

 

Day Two: 

 Session 4: Children’s Social Care and Education 

 Session 5: Strategic Planning, Transport and 

Environment 

 Formalise Recommendations 

 

9th February:  Cabinet – Budget Report 2026/27 

23rd February:   Full Council Meeting – Approval of Budget 2026/27 

 

BUDGET CONTEXT 

o Pressures on Demand-Led Services 

Plymouth City Council continue to face into cost pressures across its demand-led services, particularly 

in adult social care, children’s social care, homelessness, and SEND provision. These services are 

experiencing rising volumes and increasing complexity of need, which in turn are driving up costs and 

placing strain on existing budgets. In adult social care alone, the number of clients and the intensity of 

support required have increased significantly, with cost complexity now a major contributor to budget 

growth. Children’s services are seeing higher placement costs, including a growing number of 

unregistered and high-cost residential settings, while the city’s maintained special schools are at full 

capacity, leading to increased reliance on expensive independent placements for children with SEND. 

Homelessness services are under sustained pressure due to a shortage of affordable housing, the impact 

of the cost-of-living crisis, and expanded statutory duties. The number of households requiring 

temporary accommodation continues to grow, with many presenting with complex needs.  

These pressures are compounded by the financial impact of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit, 

which, although currently excluded from the Council’s formal financial position through a statutory 

override, is generating significant revenue costs due to the borrowing required to fund expenditure.  

The Government’s White Paper on SEND reform is expected in early 2026 (delayed from this Autmn), 

meaning further clarity will be able to feed into the Budget Scrutiny session – with expectation that it 

will clarify and set-out the approach to the long-term reform needed to tackle this national issue. 

 

o Changes to Core Funding 

The council is also entering a period of transition in how core funding is allocated, with national reforms 

offering both challenges and opportunities. The Government’s Fair Funding 2.0 consultation marks a 

significant step forward in the evolution of local authority finance. It aims to simplify the system, 

consolidate over 300 separate grants into fewer core funding streams, and better reflect the needs and 

characteristics of individual councils. It also sees the reestablishment of a three-year settlement period, 

allowing for more certainty in financial planning and forecasting. 

For Plymouth, the reforms are expected to bring additional funding over the next three years, which is 

a welcome development. Early modelling suggests a net increase in baseline allocations, helping to 

Page 261 Agenda Item 9



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

BUDGET SCRUTINY OVERVIEW Page 2 of 6 

OFFICIAL 

support services where demand continues to grow, however not at levels sufficient to financially meet 

these needs outlined above.  

The proposed reforms involve the roll-in of several specific grants - particularly those supporting social 

care - into the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA). While this does not represent new money, it 

does change how funding is structured and reported and is initial modelling of the impact suggests real-
term funding decrease that will need to be addressed in these specific areas. 

The reset of the Business Rates Retention Scheme, also planned for 2026/27, introduces further change. 

Plymouth has historically benefited from pooling arrangements and retained growth, and while the reset 

is intended to rebalance the system nationally, the final methodology and transitional protections are 

still to be confirmed. The Council continues to model its business rates income cautiously and is relying 

on historic trends to set future expectation whilst further information is awaited. 

The outcome of both these significant changes to funding will be clearer by the time of the Budget 

Scrutiny sessions, allowing for more informed budget discussions. Most significantly, the provisional 

settlement is expected to be announced by Government in late December 2025. 

 

o Prevention First Agenda (Transformation) 

The council is responding to this financial environment with a focused and coordinated programme of 

change. Rising demand, a shift in funding approach, and structural pressures across key services require 

more than short-term fixes - they demand a strategic shift in how the Council operates and delivers 

services. To meet this challenge, four core areas of delivery have been prioritised to improve outcomes, 

reduce costs, and ensure long-term sustainability. 

Reducing Placement Costs involves targeted action in services experiencing the fastest growth. 

Adult Social Care is expanding reablement care to reduce long-term dependency through its Front 

Porch initiative. Children’s Services are strengthening placement sufficiency, SEND provision is being 

expanded, and additional temporary accommodation is being delivered to meet rising homelessness 

demand. 

Enabling Our Organisation to Change focuses on building smarter ways of working. Investment in 

data, insight, and digital infrastructure is improving decision-making, customer experience, and 

operational agility. These capabilities are helping embed a culture of continuous improvement across 

the organisation. 

The City Help & Support Programme supports the Council’s prevention-first strategy. It brings 

together multi-disciplinary teams to deliver early help and targeted support, reducing reliance on high-

cost statutory interventions and enabling long-term financial benefits. 

Finally, Service-Level Delivery is being reshaped to improve efficiency and sustainability. Directorate 

teams are streamlining processes, reducing duplication, and focusing on delivering services right first 
time.  

To balance the budget, directorates are expected to deliver savings to support budget pressures 

through efficiency measures, service redesign and income generation. These savings must be carefully 

balanced against the risks of non-delivery, ensuring that proposals are both achievable and sustainable. 

Risk assessments and mitigation strategies should be embedded within all savings plans to support 

robust financial management. 

 

 

 

  

Page 262



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

BUDGET SCRUTINY OVERVIEW Page 3 of 6 

OFFICIAL 

Provisional Budget Scrutiny Schedule: 

 

Time Session Contents Chair and speakers 

Day 1 

09:30  Welcome   

 Apologies and Substitutions  

 Declarations of Interest  

 Chair’s Urgent Business  

 Draft Aims and Objectives  

 

 

Cllr Mark Coker (Chair) 

09:45 
SESSION ONE  

Leader of the Council  

Cabinet Member for Finance  

Deputy Leader 

The overview of the Council and its resources 

The Corporate Plan 

Economy and Enterprise; including Freeport 

Regional and Local Economic Strategy 

Strategic and commercial projects 

Revenue Budget 

Capital programme  

Revenues and municipal enterprise 

Cllr Tudor Evans OBE 

Cllr Mark Lowry 

Cllr Jemima Laing 

 

Tracey Lee 

S151 Officer 

Paul Barnard 

David Draffan  

Wendy Eldridge 

Helen Slater  

 

11:15 Break  

11:30 SESSION TWO  

Cabinet Member for Housing, Co-

operative Development and 

Communities  

Cabinet Member for Customer 

Experience, Sport, Leisure, HR and OD  

Cabinet Member for Community 

Safety, Events, Libraries, Cemetries and 

Crematoria 

Plan for Homes and associated initiatives 

Homelessness 

Community engagement 

Customer services 

Sports and Leisure  

Environmental health 

Trading standards 

Crime and Anti-social behaviour 

Civil Protection and resilience 

Library service 

Cllr Chris Penberthy 

Cllr Sue Dann 

Cllr Sally Haydon 

 

Gary Walbridge 

Professor Steve Maddern 

Matt Garrett 

Jackie Kings 

Sharon Richards 

Nathan Franklin 

Page 263



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

BUDGET SCRUTINY OVERVIEW Page 4 of 6 

OFFICIAL 

Bereavement and Crematoria 

 

13:30 Lunch  

14:00 SESSION THREE 

Cabinet Member for Health and Adult 

Social Care 

Older people’s services 

Mental Health services 

Physical disability services 

Drug & alcohol services 

Learning disabilities services 

Adult public health 

Adult Safeguarding 

Health and social care 

Children’s and adult’s dental health 

Children’s public health 

Cllr Mary Aspinall 

 

Gary Walbridge 

Professor Steve Maddern 

Julia Brown 

Chris Morley 

Rebecca Sampson 

Sharon Richards 

 

 

15:00 Break   

15:15 Continuation of Session Three  

 

16:15 Reflections on Day One  

 

 

  

Page 264



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

BUDGET SCRUTINY OVERVIEW Page 5 of 6 

OFFICIAL 

 

Time Session Contents Chair and speakers 

Day 2  

09:30 SESSION FOUR  
Cabinet Members for Children’s Social 

Care, Culture, Events and 

Communications  

Cabinet Member for Education, Skills 

and Apprenticeships  

Children Safeguarding and protection (Children’s 

Social Care) 

Children in Care and Care leavers 

Children in Need 

Children’s Social Care 

Children’s mental health 

Early Intervention, Prevention and Targeted 

Support 

Youth Justice and Youth Services 

Post 16 – Education and training 

Apprenticeships 

Schools 

Early Years 

Adult Education 

Skills and Employability 

SEND 

Cllr Jemima Laing 

 Cllr Sally Cresswell 

 

David Haley 

Lisa Davies 

Amanda Davis 

Matthew Fulton 

Louise Jenkins 

 

11:30 Break  

11:45 SESSION FIVE  

Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning 

and Transport  

Cabinet Member for Environment and 

Climate Change  

Spatial and infrastructure planning 

Strategic transport policy including public transport, 

active travel, community transport, concessionary 

fares and non- commercial routes 

Flood risk management 

Highways operations and maintenance 

Pavements 

Parking 

Marine services 

Climate change 

Plymouth Net Zero Action Plan 

Climate Emergency Investment Fund 

Energy policy, decarbonisation and renewable 

energy initiatives 

Commercial and domestic waste management 

Environmental enforcement 

Parks, recreation and sports pitches 

Street cleaning 

Cllr John Stephens 

 Cllr Tom Briars-Delve 

 

Glenn Caplin-Grey 

Andy Sharp 

Paul Barnard 

Sharon Gillett 

Page 265



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

BUDGET SCRUTINY OVERVIEW Page 6 of 6 

OFFICIAL 

12:45 Lunch  

13:15 Continuation Session Five  

 

14:15 Informal Session  Cllr Mark Coker (Chair) 

15:45 Recommendations  Cllr Mark Coker (Chair) 

 

 

Page 266



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Management Board
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 12 November 2025 

Title of Report: Budget Scrutiny Overview 

Lead Member:   Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) 

Lead Strategic Director: Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance) 

Author: Helen Slater 

Contact Email:  Helen.Slater@plymouth.gov.uk  

Your Reference:   

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

The Budget Scrutiny plan for Plymouth City Council’s 2026/27 budget outlines a comprehensive two-

day review process. The committee, chaired by Councillor Coker, will evaluate the Cabinet’s budget 

implementation plan, focusing on organisational priorities. The review will include sessions with various 

Cabinet members and officers, covering topics such as the Council’s resources, children’s social care, 

health and adult social care, housing, strategic planning, and climate change. The aim is to ensure 

effective budget planning and implementation, with findings and recommendations reported directly to 

the Cabinet. 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

1. That the Scrutiny Management Board considers the draft plan and makes any recommendations 

for amendment.  

Reason: To provide input into the proposals for 2026/27 budget scrutiny. 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

1.   None – budget scrutiny is a key element of the budget planning process. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

1. This report is fundamentally linked to delivering the priority “Spending Money Wisely”.   

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

This report outlines the approach to budget scrutiny of the 2026/27 budget, which will form the base 

year of the next Medium Term Financial Plan to be issued and approved alongside. 

 

Financial Risks  

There are no financial risks arising specifically from this report. 

 

Legal Implications  

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 

Page 267



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

There are no impacts directly arising from this report. 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

N/a  
 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Budget Scrutiny Overview        

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

        

   

Sign off: 
 

Fin Click 

here 

to 

enter 

text. 

Leg Click 

here 

to 

enter 

text. 

Mon 

Off 

N/A HR N/A Asset

s  

N/A Strat 

Proc 

N/A 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance) 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes  

Date agreed: 03/11/2025 

 

Page 268



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Cabinet Member approval: Cllr Mark Lowry approved by email 

Date approved: 03/11/2025 

 
 

Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Management Board
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 12 November 2025 

Title of Report: Corporate Reporting – Scrutiny Management Board 

update 

Lead Member:   Councillor Chris Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Housing, Cooperative 

Development, and Communities)  

Lead Strategic Director: Professor Steve Maddern (Director of Public Health) 

Author: Paul Stephens 

Contact Email:  paul.stephens@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: CPMR_2025-26_Q2_UPDATE(PS)SMB 

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

 

Corporate Reporting – Scrutiny Management Board update 

This briefing provides an update on the Quarter Two Corporate Plan Monitoring Report for 2025/26 

and the current work of the Corporate Performance Team. It explains the timeline for completing the 

quarterly report, outlines the team's structure and responsibilities, and confirms that work is underway 

to review and strengthen the council's performance reporting framework. 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 
1. That Scrutiny Management Board notes the current position and timeline for delivery of the 

Corporate Plan Monitoring Report for Quarter Two of 2025/26. 

 

Reason: To provide the Scrutiny Management Board with a general update of progress of the report and 

anticipated steps with regards to the Performance and Accountability Framework. 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

Not applicable. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

The Corporate Plan Monitoring Report shows progress/delivery against the Corporate Plan 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is a core component of the Council's strategic framework and has 

a vital role to play in translating the Council's ambition and priorities set out in the Corporate Plan 

2023-26. 

 

 

  

Page 271 Agenda Item 10



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Financial Risks  

Associated risks regarding performance are managed within the strategic and operational risk registers.  

 

Legal Implications 

(Provided by Liz Bryant (LB) 
All local authorities are required under the Local Government Act 1999 to secure continuous 

improvement in the way their functions are exercised, having regard to economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness. The Corporate Plan sets out how the Council meets this duty and provides a clear 

framework for corporate priorities and improvement actions whilst also supporting compliance with 

legal expectations. Oversight of delivery against the Corporate Plan by quarterly reporting to Scrutiny 

Committee and Cabinet ensures transparency, accountability and performance monitoring, all of which 

play a critical role in ensuring delivery against the corporate priorities of the Council. 

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

Environmental sustainability is a key priority of the administration, and the waste management, 

recycling and traffic management commitments are specifically aimed at reducing the city’s carbon 

footprint. 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Corporate Reporting – Scrutiny Management 

Board Update 

       

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

   

 

Page 272



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Sign off: 
 

Fin N/A Leg N/A Mon 

Off 

N/A HR N/A Asset

s  

N/A Strat 

Proc 

N/A 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  Professor Steve Maddern (Director of Public Health) 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes via Ruth Harrell  

Date agreed: 31/10/2025 

Cabinet Member approval:  
Councillor Chris Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Housing, Cooperative Development, and Communities)  

Date approved: 31/10/2025 
 

 

 

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CPT Update for SMB 30/10/2025 

  

OFFICIAL 

CORPORATE REPORTING – SCRUTINY 
MANAGEMENT BOARD UPDATE 
Corporate Performance Team

 

Corporate Plan Monitoring Report for Quarter Two 

Quarter two of 2025/26 ended on 30 September. Gathering of the data needed for the report started 

in early October, running in parallel with other activities including various monthly reports and some 

statutory returns.  

Updating of the Corporate Plan Monitoring Report for quarter two is well underway. However, it is 

important to note that although some of the council’s information is available within the first few 

working days, this is not the case for all information. We are currently obtaining the final data needed 

from our partners and colleagues from across the council.  

Unfortunately, the time available between the end of quarter (30 September) and the dispatch 

deadline (3 November) is not sufficient to gather the data, update the report and ensure the content 

is fully reviewed through the appropriate governance process. 

As outlined following delivery of the quarter four report for 2024/25, for Corporate Plan Monitoring 

Reports relating to 2025/26, the narrative will relate to the data held within the report. 

It is anticipated that the first draft of the report will enter the reviewing process early to mid-

November and once finalised will be presented at Cabinet on 08 December. 

 

Corporate Performance Team 

At present, the Corporate Performance Team is comprised of three Performance Advisors and two 

Data Analyst Apprentices. The team aims to: 

 maintain and continuously improve the council’s corporate performance reporting and support its 

risk management process, 

 provide colleagues across the council with advice and guidance in relation to performance 

reporting, 

 support directorates (where needed) with their statutory returns, inspections and reporting to 

partnerships, and 

 provide the Children’s Services directorate with a significant proportion of its internal 

performance reports. 

 

Delivery of Corporate Performance Reports  

The Corporate Performance Team recognises that there are currently gaps in the delivery of 

corporate performance reports. For example, at present Children’s Services and the Customer & 

Corporate Services directorates both receive monthly performance scorecards, but this is not 

currently in place for the other directorates who rely on their internal reporting currently. 

Whilst we have improved on existing reports and introduced some new reports, there is more we 

can do to move our corporate performance reporting forward, including more accessible automated 

reporting. 

Following their recent commencement with the council, we will be working with Si Bellamy (Chief 

Operating Officer) and Councillor Penberthy during November to revisit the council's Performance 

and Accountability Framework and reset its approach to Corporate Performance Reporting. 

Page 275



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Management Board
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 12 November 2025 

Title of Report: 2025-26 Q2 Risk Management Update 

Lead Member:   Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) 

Lead Strategic Director: Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance) 

Author: Brad Hutton, Devon Assurance Partnership 

Contact Email:  bradley.hutton@devon.gov.uk  

Your Reference:   

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

To provide an update on the current risks included on the Strategic Risk Register. This quarterly 

report analyses the strategic risks facing Plymouth City Council as of Q2 (September 2025). 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

1. To note the report. 

Reason: To provide visibility of the Strategic Risk Register. 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

1. None identified 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

Monitoring of control and mitigations for strategic risks contributes to the delivery of the council’s 

core objectives . 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

None arising specifically from this report, but control measures identified in the Strategic Risk Register 

could have financial or resource implications. 

 

Financial Risks  

None arising specifically from this report, but control measures identified in Strategic Risk Register 

could have financial or resource implications. 

 

Legal Implications  

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report other than matters identified in the risk 

register itself. 

 
Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

There are no impacts directly arising from this report. 

Page 277 Agenda Item 11



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

The Strategic Risk Register specifically supports the council’s overall governance arrangements.  

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A 2025-26 Q2 Risk Management Update Report        

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

        

   

Sign off: 
 

Fin N/A Leg N/A Mon 

Off 

N/A HR N/A Asset

s  

N/A Strat 

Proc 

N/A 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance) 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes  

Date agreed: 03/11/2025 

 

Cabinet Member approval: Cllr Mark Lowry approved by email 

Date approved: 03/11/2025 

 
 

Page 278



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Brad Hutton  

Senior Assurance Manager 

Risk Management Update  
 
Scrutiny Management 
Committee 
 
Plymouth City Council 
 
November 2025 

 
Official  

P
age 279



 

P a g e  | 2 

OFFICIAL 

 

1. Introduction. 

Plymouth City Council (PCC) like all public sector organisations, cannot be risk adverse and be 

successful. Risk Management enhances the ability to achieve the council's objectives, deliver its 

services and be successful, it strengthens the ability to respond to change and challenge, be more 

resilient and improve decision-making across the council. 

PCC has an existing Risk Management framework that it uses to ensure that there is a consistent 

approach to Risk Management, this was approved by the Audit & Governance committee in 

November 2023.  

Following the issue of central governments English Devolution White Paper - GOV.UK senior 

leadership resource has been reassigned to ensure PCC is best prepared to deal with the 

challenges and opportunities that Devolution will create. This has meant that active support 

around Risk Management was reduced, therefore PCC leadership utilised its relationship with 

Devon Assurance Partnership (DAP) to help support the continued support and development of 

the Risk Management framework, ensuring that the risks accurately reflect PCC’s position and that 

risks are managed in line with the risk management framework that PCC has set out. DAP has 

qualified and experienced staff to help assist with this and work has begun in further embedding 

the framework and accurate risk definition. 

This paper is intended to provide members of the Scrutiny Committee with a comprehensive 

update on the Council’s ongoing focus on risk management activities. It outlines the planned 

actions, work commenced, and risk information to support members in fulfilling their oversight 

responsibilities. Effective scrutiny plays a vital role in ensuring that the Council’s decisions are 

transparent, evidence-based, and aligned with its statutory obligations and strategic objectives. 

By offering clear and relevant information, this paper enables members to have awareness on the 

risks associated with the strategic priorities of the Council. It also reinforces the Committee’s role 

as a ‘critical friend’—providing constructive challenge, promoting accountability, and supporting 

continuous improvement across the organisation. 

 

  

Page 280

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth/english-devolution-white-paper


 

P a g e  | 3 

OFFICIAL 

2. Risk Identification. 

Initial work by the Senior Leadership team, supported by DAP, has identified fourteen strategic 

risks that PCC faces. 

A strategic risk is defined as: “Potential events that could impact the long-term strategic objectives 

of the organisation.” The risks, a brief description and the assessed current risk score for each of 

these risks is detailed below.  A full copy of the Strategic Risk Register is included as Appendix B 

to this report. 

01 Failure of financial planning and delivery undermining long term sustainability. Current 
risk 
score: 

The Council faces a constant risk of being targeted by cyberattacks or data breaches 
involving its protected information. Without having specialist expertise and robust mitigation 
strategies, it is vulnerable to the loss of extremely sensitive data, disruption to statutory 
service delivery, and potentially severe financial consequences.  
 

10-19. 
Medium 

 

02 Failure of cyber security protection framework to prevent data breaches, service 
disruption or loss of sensitive data. 

Current 
risk 
score: 

The Council faces a constant risk of being targeted by cyberattacks or data breaches 
involving its protected information. Without having specialist expertise and robust mitigation 
strategies, it is vulnerable to the loss of extremely sensitive data, disruption to statutory 
service delivery, and potentially severe financial consequences.  
 

20-25. 
High 

 

 

03 Failure to leverage strategic data effectively, resulting in poor decisions. Current 
risk 
score: 

Without effective processes and procedures for collecting, storing, presenting, and utilising 
data, the Council risks being unable to respond to emerging trends, operate efficiently, and 
make informed decisions. This could result in increased costs, reduced service 
effectiveness, and poor strategic outcomes. 

 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

04 Failure to recruit, retain and support workforce capability and capacity, impacting 
service delivery and organisational performance. 

Current 
risk 
score: 

Unless the Council actively maintains and supports its existing workforce, it risks losing 
critical skills and knowledge essential for delivering statutory services and achieving 
strategic objectives. An additional risk lies in the Council’s ability to position itself effectively 
to attract and retain individuals with the right skills, expertise, and behaviours needed to 
drive organisational success. 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

05 Failure to nurture and develop our key relationships leading to a breakdown 
affecting service delivery. 

Current 
risk 
score: 

Without sufficient attention to building, maintaining, and evolving strategic relationships with 
key partners, stakeholders, and service providers may lead to a breakdown in effective 
collaboration. This could result in fragmented service delivery, reduced effectiveness of joint 
initiatives and missed opportunities for innovation. The impact may be particularly acute in 
areas requiring multi-agency coordination, such as health, social care, and community 
safety. 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

Page 281



 

P a g e  | 4 

OFFICIAL 

06 Failure to maintain and develop a robust and successful supply chain. Current 
risk 
score: 

There is a risk that the Council may not adequately sustain or evolve its supply chain 
arrangements, including procurement frameworks, supplier relationships, and market 
engagement strategies. This could lead to service disruption, reduced value for money, 
delays in project delivery, and increased vulnerability to external shocks such as market 
volatility or supplier insolvency. A weakened supply chain may also hinder the Council’s 
ability to respond flexibly to emerging needs and strategic priorities, impacting overall 
service quality and public outcomes. 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

07 Failure to safeguard vulnerable adults from neglect and harm. Current 
risk 
score: 

The Council holds a critical responsibility for safeguarding vulnerable adults from harm, 
abuse, and neglect. Without the implementation of high-quality care standards and robust 
safeguarding controls, there is a significant risk of failing to protect the wellbeing of 
vulnerable individuals. This includes shortcomings in coordinating safeguarding support 
mechanisms, developing effective procedures and processes, and responding appropriately 
to safeguarding enquiries. 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

08 Failure to safeguard vulnerable children from neglect and harm. Current 
risk 
score: 

The Council has a statutory duty to protect children from harm, abuse, and neglect. Failure 
to deliver this responsibility may result from inadequate early intervention, poor multi-
agency coordination, insufficient training for professionals working with children, or 
ineffective safeguarding procedures. Such failures could lead to serious physical or 
emotional harm, long-term developmental consequences, legal liability, reputational 
damage, and a loss of public trust in the Council’s ability to protect children. Ensuring timely 
and appropriate responses to safeguarding concerns, alongside strong governance and 
oversight, is essential to maintaining the safety and wellbeing of children across the city. 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

09 Failure to maintain effective business continuity and prevention strategies 
hindering response to major disruptions 

Current 
risk 
score: 

There is a risk that the Council may not sustain or adapt its business continuity 
arrangements to effectively respond to significant internal or external disruptions. This 
includes risks arising from climate-related challenges, severe weather events, cyber 
incidents, infrastructure failures, or other emergencies. Inadequate planning, testing, or 
resourcing of continuity strategies could lead to service disruption, delayed recovery, 
financial loss, and reputational damage. Ensuring resilient systems, clear response 
protocols, and cross-departmental coordination is essential to maintaining critical service 
delivery during periods of disruption. 

 

10-19. 
Medium 

 

10 Failure to respond effectively to emergencies or disasters, undermining 
community support. 

Current 
risk 
score: 

Unless the Council establishes effective procedures to support response and recovery 
efforts following an emergency or local disaster, it risks undermining its ability to support the 
community and maintain continuity in service delivery. 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

  

Page 282



 

P a g e  | 5 

OFFICIAL 

11 Failure to effectively support and maintain local infrastructure. Current 
risk 
score: 

Failure to maintain effective business continuity strategies may result in an inability to 
respond to significant internal or external disruptions, including climate-related challenges or 
severe weather events, potentially impacting service delivery. 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

12 Failure of strategic asset management to support service delivery and value for 
money. 

Current 
risk 
score: 

Without effective management of its assets, the Council risks a decline in asset value, 
reduced revenue from leased properties, increased maintenance and repair costs, and 
potential health and safety hazards affecting both staff and the public. Additionally, poor 
asset oversight may expose the Council to legal and liability issues. 

10-19. 
Medium 

 

13 Failure to effectively implement devolution and local government reorganisation, 
undermining support for Plymouth communities. 

Current 
risk 
score: 

The Council faces significant risks related to both the preparation for and implementation of 
devolution and local government reorganisation. If not proactively managed through 
effective governance and mitigating controls, these changes could impact all aspects of the 
Council’s operations including funding, service delivery, housing provision, education 
services, and the preservation of a strong sense of local community in Plymouth. 

 

0 > 2. 
Very Low 

 

14 Failure to comply with statutory and regulatory requirements, and broader 
governance frameworks. 

Current 
risk 
score: 

The potential failure to meet statutory and regulatory obligations that underpin key 
governance functions, including the lawful administration of elections and referendums, and 
adherence to procurement legislation. Such failures may arise from insufficient capacity, 
inadequate oversight, or pressures to accelerate decision-making and delivery. A breach 
could result in legal challenge, financial penalties, reputational harm, and erosion of public 
trust. It may also undermine democratic processes and compromise the integrity of 
governance arrangements, particularly where decisions are made without due process or 
transparency. 

3 > 9. 
Low 

 

 

To assist the Committee understanding of the updates made to this register, a copy of the 

Quarter 1 Risk Monitoring report is included as Appendix C to this report.  

Whilst these legacy risks offered coverage across the organisation, this improved position of 

clearly clarifying the risks and an assigned risk lead at senior management level will improve 

the overall ownership and accountability of managing and controlling the risks to acceptable 

levels for the organisation. 

  

Page 283



 

P a g e  | 6 

OFFICIAL 

3. Planned actions. 

Following extensive discussion with Senior Leadership at PCC, the proposed work supporting risk 

management has commenced, we detail below what will be delivered; 

1. Working with the Senior Leadership team to further embed the current Risk Management 

framework, this work will focus on accurate risk language and definitions, scoring 

methodology and appropriate response. Additionally, work with Senior Leadership will focus 

on identifying the key corporate risks that the council faces, describing these risks 

accurately and designing mitigating controls that are effective and efficient.  

 

2. Collaborating with operational staff to embed the Risk Management framework, increasing 

the knowledge, and understanding around risk language giving staff the confidence to 

accurately describe, score and respond to a risk.  

 

3. Further development of the Risk Management framework, including establishing a 

Corporate Risk Management Group to actively manage risk, creation of operational risk 

registers, updating training materials and designing risk engagement strategies that support 

identification and management of risk across the organisation. 

Work has already commenced and nearing its final stages on the first phase of the work, whereby 

a risk workshop, CMT discussion and significant risk identification work has been completed.  

The work supporting the second and third phase are due to be completed in the remainder of 

2025. Further updates will be provided to each committee providing progress against the work 

outlined above. 

 

 

Brad Hutton – Senior Assurance Manager, Devon Assurance Partnership. October 2025. 

 

  

Page 284



 

P a g e  | 7 

OFFICIAL 

 

Appendix A – Strategic Risk Register Heat Map 

 

 

 

P
age 285



T
his page is intentionally left blank



RISK ID RISK EVENT RISK STATEMENT

OVERALL INHERENT 

SCORE RISK OWNER

MITIGATING CONTOLS/PROGRESS

CAUSE CONTROLS

MITIGATING CONTOLS/PROGRESS

IMPACT CONTROLS

CURRENT LIKELIHOOD 

SCORE

CURRENT IMPACT 

SCORE

OVERALL CURRENT 

SCORE

CAUSE CONTROLS

01 Failure of financial planning and delivery undermining 

long term sustainability.

Without effective financial management, governance, and control, 

the Council faces a significant risk of financial unsustainability. 

This could lead to substantial and potentially long-term 

consequences, severely undermining its ability to deliver statutory 

services and achieve its strategic objectives.

20-25. High Service Director 

for Finance 

(s151 Officer)

Preventative controls:

• Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) aligned with corporate priorities

• Annual budget setting process with member scrutiny

• Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation

• Pervasive system of financial control as considered and assured through the Annual Governance Statement and self-assessment in line 

with CIPFA Financial Mgt Code

• Reserves policy and review of financial resilience indicators

• Strategic alignment between finance and service planning

• Annual Governance Statement

Detective controls:

• Monthly budget monitoring and variance analysis

• Quarterly financial reporting to Cabinet and Scrutiny

• Internal audit programme covering financial controls

• External audit of financial statements and value for money

• Financial recovery plans and in-year budget adjustments 

• Targeted support and training for budget holders 

• Action plans following audit recommendations 

• Use of contingency and earmarked reserves

4. Likely 4. Major 10-19. Medium

02 Failure of cyber security protection framework to

prevent data breaches, service disruption or loss of 

sensitive data.

The Council faces a constant risk of being targeted by cyberattacks 

or data breaches involving its protected information. Without 

having specialist expertise and robust mitigation strategies, it is 

vulnerable to the loss of extremely sensitive data, disruption to 

statutory service delivery, and potentially severe financial 

consequences.

20-25. High Chief Operating 

Office

The Council continues to invest and support Delt to implement cost effective technology to protect our systems and networks, recent 

improvements include:

• E5 data loss protection

• E5 end point detection 

• Asset management software tracking devices connecting to our network

• Real time vulnerability scanning across our estate

• 3rd party specialist monitoring and response to suspicious activity and threat analysis

We also work to strengthen our “human firewall” with continued emphasis on:

• Staff training and awareness, including our annual cyber security awareness week

• Strong password rules

• Multi factor authentication on accounts

• Blocking of international access

The Council is implementing a strategy of diversification of our key systems across different hosting arrangements in order to minimise 

the chances of all systems being compromised simultaneously.

Additionally the Council works closely with Delt to exercise business continuity plans and disaster recovery routines within Delt.

We have a process to support and protect individuals whose accounts have been compromised to help them rebuild relationships and 

trust with 3rd parties that might have been sent infected messages.

Delt have limited insurance cover for a cyber attack.

4. Likely 5. Catastrophic 20-25. High

03 Failure to leverage strategic data effectively, resulting 

in poor decisions.

Without effective processes and procedures for collecting, storing, 

updating, presenting, and utilising data, the Council risks being 

unable to respond to emerging trends, operate efficiently, and 

make informed decisions. This could result in increased costs, 

reduced service effectiveness, and poor strategic outcomes.

10-19. Medium Chief Operating

Office

The Council has recently created a new record store for physical files.  The new store provides the right conditions to maintain paper files 

and has been catalogued to be clear about what data is contained there.

Over the course of the next 18 months or so the Council will be seeking to migrate digital records from the locally hosted (by Delt) S: and 

F: drives to the Microsoft hosted Sharepoint and One Drive.  This migration will give an opportunity to consider what data we are 

currently storing and remove the Duplicates, Redundant records, Obsolete data and Trivial (DROT).

The Council is also refreshing its Record of Processing Activity (ROPA), this provides an index of all the data entities accessed and 

processed by the Council.  Maintaining this index will provide a sound platform for exploiting our data in future.

Creating a Data, Insight and AI Service (DIAS) required to support both our City Help and Support (delivering prevention) and operational 

efficiencies across the Council will focus the organisation on data cleansing and management requirements as well as bringing the right 

skills to bear on opportunities to create single view and predictive models to help identify how and where interventions could be 

targeted to avoid residents falling into crisis.

2. Unlikely 4. Major 3 > 9. Low

04 Failure to recruit, retain and support workforce

capability and capacity, impacting service delivery and 

organisational performance.

Unless the Council actively maintains and supports its existing 

workforce, it risks losing critical skills and knowledge essential for 

delivering statutory services and achieving strategic objectives. An 

additional risk lies in the Council’s ability to position itself 

effectively to attract and retain individuals with the right skills, 

expertise, and behaviours needed to drive organisational success.

10-19. Medium Service Director 

for HROD

• Use of pay mechanisms e.g. R&R premia, MFS

• Promotion of benefits – key part of work at PCC

• Update and attractive recruitment materials

• Targeted advertising through e.g. LinkedIn

• Analysis & benchmarking

• Local training budgets, use of apprenticeship levy

• Team conversations through charters

• Review of support mechamisms

• Workforce planning tools

• Corporate training programmes - Management & Leadership Development, Digital Academy

• Apprenticeship/early careers strategy, development programmes, pay supplements

• Developed skills using e.g. LinkedIn & similar

• Workforce planning toolkits

• Workforce planning in those areas

• Quality Assurance of services

• Updated People Strategy

• Developing links with schools, colleges, universities

• Work experience programmes, outreach to schools

• Work with other agencies e.g. Armed Forces, DWP

2. Unlikely 4. Major 3 > 9. Low

05 Failure to nurture and develop our key relationships

leading to a breakdown affecting service delivery.

Without sufficient attention to building, maintaining, and evolving 

strategic relationships with key partners, stakeholders, and service 

providers may lead to a breakdown in effective collaboration. This 

could result in fragmented service delivery, reduced effectiveness 

of joint initiatives and missed opportunities for innovation. The 

impact may be particularly acute in areas requiring multi-agency 

coordination, such as health, social care, and community safety.

3 > 9. Low Strategic 

Director Adults, 

Health and 

Communities

• Investment in key partner relationship development and maitenance

• Effective and clear governance arrangements that include escalation and resolution approaches

• Safeguarding roles and responsibilities are clearly defined across services to ensure accountability and coordination.

• Regular communication and engagement with key partners along with clearly established communication channels.

• Quality assurance processes are in place to monitor the effectiveness of safeguarding interventions and care standards.

• A response framework is in place to escalate and address safeguarding concerns or issues, including established resolution process.

• Internal audit and case review mechanisms help identify gaps and drive continuous improvement.

• Use of wider partnerships to support navigation of issues

2. Unlikely 3. Moderate 3 > 9. Low

APPENDIX B - Strategic Risk Register

P
age 287



RISK ID RISK EVENT RISK STATEMENT

OVERALL INHERENT 

SCORE RISK OWNER

MITIGATING CONTOLS/PROGRESS

CAUSE CONTROLS

MITIGATING CONTOLS/PROGRESS

IMPACT CONTROLS

CURRENT LIKELIHOOD 

SCORE

CURRENT IMPACT 

SCORE

OVERALL CURRENT 

SCORE

CAUSE CONTROLS

06 Failure to maintain and develop a robust and

successful supply chain.

There is a risk that the Council may not adequately sustain or 

evolve its supply chain arrangements, including procurement 

frameworks, supplier relationships, and market engagement 

strategies. This could lead to service disruption, reduced value for 

money, delays in project delivery, and increased vulnerability to 

external shocks such as market volatility or supplier insolvency. A 

weakened supply chain may also hinder the Council’s ability to 

respond flexibly to emerging needs and strategic priorities, 

impacting overall service quality and public outcomes.

10-19. Medium Service Director 

for Finance 

(s151 Officer)

• Procurement Strategy explicitly identifies contract and supplier relationship management as a vital enabler to the successful delivery of 

public services.

• Subject matter experts must be engaged at the earliest opportunity within a procurement process to provide advice and guidance on 

any risks and mitigations relevant to their area of expertise. Where appropriate subject matter experts should continue to be consulted 

at appropriate times throughout the procurement process and during the delivery of the contract. Any gaps in the Council’s internal 

expertise must be noted in the business need analysis and plans for the appropriate mitigation of any associated risks put in place. 

• Business cases are required for all contracts valued over £50K to justify investment, ensure alignment with Council priorities and 

identify risks to be considered as part of procurement processes.

• A sourcing strategy is required for all contracts valued over £50K to identify the procurement route to market which represents best 

value taking into consideration the value, nature and risk profile of the contract in question. This includes consideration of supplier 

diversification to reduce reliance on single providers and improve resilience.

• Pre-procurement early market engagement is strongly encouraged to inform the contract specification and sourcing strategy and warm 

up potential suppliers including the encouragement to form partnerships to ensure resilience.

• Procurement processes are standardised and subject to regular review to ensure transparency, consistency, compliance, and the 

incorporation of good practice.

• Contacts are awarded based on ‘Best Value’ defined as the optimum combination of price, quality and social value. What is optimum is 

defined on a procurement-by-procurement basis according to the nature, value and risk profile of the contract.

• Contracts are awarded on the Council’s standard terms and conditions wherever possible to ensure consistent management and 

adherence to key risk areas such as Data Protection.

• The setting of contract KPIs and related contract management requirements is a standard consideration within procurement processes 

and is mandatory for contracts subject to the Procurement Act above £5M ( ex VAT).

• Contract management and monitoring arrangements must be undertaken in a manner that is relevant and proportionate to the 

benefits and the risks associated with the specific requirement. Any Officer who is appointed a Contract Manager must have the 

appropriate skills and experience to ensure delivery of the Council’s requirement in accordance with the contract.

• Contract awarded under the Procurement Act must be monitored in accordance with legislation including the publication of mandatory 

notices.

• Contract extensions, variations and novation cannot be executed without the engagement of Procurement and obtaining the necessary 

authorisations.

• In the event that a supplier breaches or fails to perform in accordance with their contract, the matter should be brought to the 

attention of the supplier at the earliest opportunity. Where the failure(s) is not serious or material in nature all reasonable steps should 

be taken to agree an improvement or performance management plan.

• Where a failure is serious or material in nature, or a supplier has been given proper opportunity to improve performance and failed to 

do so discussion must take place with Legal Services and Procurement on next steps.

• Service business continuity and contingency plans must be in place to ensure delivery of critical and statutory services during supplier 

disruption.

• Financial oversight mechanisms, including cost tracking and contract reviews, help manage recovery costs and prevent unexpected 

increases.

• Advice should be sought from Legal Services and Procurement prior to any contract being terminated.

• Contracts must be terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of contract and in accordance with the Legislation where 

applicable.

• Consideration can be given to the use of the ‘emergency’ procurement procedure and use of ‘waivers’ to put in place alternative 

arrangements.

2. Unlikely 3. Moderate 3 > 9. Low

07 Failure to safeguard vulnerable adults from neglect 

and harm.

The Council holds a critical responsibility for safeguarding 

vulnerable adults from harm, abuse, and neglect. Without the 

implementation of high-quality care standards and robust 

safeguarding controls, there is a significant risk of failing to 

protect the wellbeing of vulnerable individuals. This includes 

shortcomings in coordinating safeguarding support mechanisms, 

developing effective procedures and processes, and responding 

appropriately to safeguarding enquiries.

10-19. Medium Strategic 

Director Adults, 

Health and 

Communities

• Development and maintence of a social work practice model setting out the standards of practice in this area.

• Training and Development Programme for staff delivering mandatory safeguarding and protection services and ensure attendance 

compliance.  

• Maintain the Plymouth Safeguarding Partnership for Adults, independently chaired, that brings all partners together to support 

ensuring people are safe in our City.

• Deliver early intervention and prevention services

• Promote Adult Safeguarding across our city and its provider including the comminuty and volutary secotr

• Strong Governance and Performance Management and quality assurance is in place, including by elected members and external 

challenge partners.  Sector Led Improvement Partners are in place and performance management and quality assurance information is 

scrutinised regularly at all levels of management to drive practice.

• Robust referral and safeguarding processes in place.

• Robust safeguarding arrangements in place across the Plymouth Safeguarding Partnership; safeguarding escalation process in place 

and effective emergency response.

• Effective quality safeguarding practice.

• Build and maintain effective relationships within the service and with service users; receive and act on feedback and learning from 

incidents.

• Maintain good relationships with regulators; including Ofsted and ensure the service meets Ofsted standards.

• Positive communication with stakeholders and public.

2. Unlikely 4. Major 3 > 9. Low

08 Failure to safeguard vulnerable children from neglect 

and harm.

The Council has a statutory duty to protect children from harm, 

abuse, and neglect. Failure to deliver this responsibility may result 

from inadequate early intervention, poor multi-agency 

coordination, insufficient training for professionals working with 

children, or ineffective safeguarding procedures. Such failures 

could lead to serious physical or emotional harm, long-term 

developmental consequences, legal liability, reputational damage, 

and a loss of public trust in the Council’s ability to protect 

children. Ensuring timely and appropriate responses to 

safeguarding concerns, alongside strong governance and 

oversight, is essential to maintaining the safety and wellbeing of 

children across the city.

10-19. Medium Director 

Children's 

Services

• Implement Training and Development Programme for staff delivering mandatory safeguarding and protection services and ensure 

attendance compliance.  

• Implement values and behaviours framework, receive and act on staff feedback and deliver the Achieving Excellence 3 Year 

Improvement and Transformation Plan.

• Deliver early intervention and prevention services and the Family First for Children Programme to reduce demand for statutory services 

and maintain caseloads at manageable levels.

• Active permanent recruitment campaigns in place to fill staffing gaps and maintain manageable workloads that reduces staff turnover 

and sickness and maintains good staff morale.

• Strong Governance and Performance Management and quality assurance is in place, including by elected members and external 

challenge partners.  Sector Led Improvement Partners are in place and performance management and quality assurance information is 

scrutinised regularly at all levels of management to drive practice.

• Robust referral and safeguarding processes in place.

• Well-functioning Partnership Integrated Front Door to Children’s Services.

• Robust safeguarding arrangements in place across the Plymouth Safeguarding Partnership; safeguarding escalation process in place 

and effective emergency response.

• Effective quality safeguarding practice.

• Build and maintain effective relationships within the service and with service users; received and act on feedback.

• Maintain good relationships with regulators; including Ofsted and ensure the service meets Ofsted standards.

• Positive communication with stakeholders and public.

2. Unlikely 4. Major 3 > 9. Low

09 Failure to maintain effective business continuity and

prevention strategies hindering response to major 

disruptions

There is a risk that the Council may not sustain or adapt its 

business continuity arrangements to effectively respond to 

significant internal or external disruptions. This includes risks 

arising from climate-related challenges, severe weather events, 

cyber incidents, infrastructure failures, or other emergencies. 

Inadequate planning, testing, or resourcing of continuity 

strategies could lead to service disruption, delayed recovery, 

financial loss, and reputational damage. Ensuring resilient 

systems, clear response protocols, and cross-departmental 

coordination is essential to maintaining critical service delivery 

during periods of disruption.

10-19. Medium Chief Operating

Office

Introduce resource to ensure effective business continuity plans are in place across the organisation (BCP Officer); testing of plans at 

CMT and SLT level; ensure appropriate council response plans to mitigate against the causes is in place (e.g. response to adverse weather 

etc).

The mitigation for impact is predominantly around implementing a multi-layered approach that addresses both preparedness and 

resilience.

• Assign clear ownership and accountability for continuity planning across directorates.

• Integrate BCM into corporate risk management and strategic planning processes.

• Use scenario planning to test responses to disruptions like floods, heatwaves, cyber incidents, or supply chain failures.

• Deliver regular training and exercises for staff, including tabletop and live simulations.

• Promote a culture of resilience through awareness campaigns and leadership engagement.

• Continuous improvement through schedule annual reviews of BCPs and update them after any incident or exercise.

3. Possible 4. Major 10-19. Medium

10 Failure to respond effectively to emergencies or 

disasters, undermining community support.

Unless the Council establishes effective procedures to support 

response and recovery efforts following an emergency or local 

disaster, it risks undermining its ability to support the community 

and maintain continuity in service delivery.

3 > 9. Low Director Of 

Public Health

• Emergency Planning: Comprehensive emergency response plans are developed and maintained, including site-specific arrangements for 

statutory sites like Devonport Dockyard and Cattedown Fuel Depots. These plans are regularly reviewed and tested against the 

Community Risk Register to ensure they remain relevant and effective.

• Coordination: Multi-agency collaboration is strengthened through active participation in the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), which 

supports joint planning and exercises. Roles and responsibilities are clearly defined under the Civil Contingencies Act to ensure all 

stakeholders understand their emergency functions.

• Resources: Resource and capacity limitations are managed through the Council’s business continuity framework, which prioritises 

critical services. Mutual aid agreements with neighbouring authorities provide additional support when needed.

• Training: Staff capability is enhanced through ongoing training and development programmes. Regular involvement in regional and 

national resilience exercises helps maintain a high level of preparedness.

• Infrastructure: Infrastructure risks are addressed through targeted risk assessments and strategic investment planning. This ensures 

that critical infrastructure remains resilient and supported by appropriate emergency arrangements.

• Communication: Internal and external communication challenges are mitigated through established protocols and multi-channel 

emergency notification systems. These enable timely and effective information sharing with staff, partners, and the public.

• Awareness: The Civil Protection Service promotes awareness of business continuity planning by offering guidance and support to 

departments and local businesses. Online resources help integrate continuity planning into broader emergency preparedness efforts.

• Continuity Planning: The risk of poor or absent continuity planning is reduced through regular audits and scenario-based exercises. A 

Council-wide framework ensures continuity arrangements are embedded across all services.

• Public Safety: Emergency plans coordinate with emergency services, health partners, and voluntary agencies for rapid support and 

safeguarding.

• Environmental Protection: Site-specific plans and ecological risk assessments guide containment and remediation in sensitive areas.

• Community Support: Resource mobilisation protocols and collaboration with VCSE and LRF ensure access to essential services and 

welfare.

• Economic Stability: Business continuity and recovery coordination help local businesses resume operations and stabilise the economy.

• Financial Management: Contingency funding, service prioritisation, mutual aid, and access to Bellwin scheme reduce financial strain.

• Regulatory Compliance: Adherence to statutory duties (Civil Contingencies Act, REPPIR 2019, COMAH 2015); regular audits and risk 

register reviews.

• Recovery Planning: Pre-identified recovery leads and frameworks support structured service restoration, guided by the Major Incident 

Recovery Plan.

• Stakeholder Engagement: Transparent communication maintained via LRF’s Warning and Informing Cell and Corporate 

Communications Team.

• Reputational Risk: Managed through proactive communication, media protocols, and clear public messaging to shape accurate 

narratives.

2. Unlikely 3. Moderate 3 > 9. Low

P
age 288



RISK ID RISK EVENT RISK STATEMENT

OVERALL INHERENT 

SCORE RISK OWNER

MITIGATING CONTOLS/PROGRESS

CAUSE CONTROLS

MITIGATING CONTOLS/PROGRESS

IMPACT CONTROLS

CURRENT LIKELIHOOD 

SCORE

CURRENT IMPACT 

SCORE

OVERALL CURRENT 

SCORE

CAUSE CONTROLS

11 Failure to effectively support and maintain local 

infrastructure.

Failure to maintain effective business continuity strategies may 

result in an inability to respond to significant internal or external 

disruptions, including climate-related challenges or severe 

weather events, potentially impacting service delivery

10-19. Medium Strategic 

Director for 

Growth

• PCC aligns with the Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure Code of Practice, adopting a risk-based asset management approach to 

ensure continuity and resilience.

• Policies and strategies are signed off by the Portfolio Holder, regularly reviewed, and shared with the Department for Transport to 

ensure transparency and accountability.

• Funding applications to DfT and Corporate are fully developed, risk-based, and supported by clear business cases that reflect a 

managed decline scenario.

• Spend profiling is managed dynamically throughout the budget cycle to optimise resource allocation and delivery.

• A robust data-driven approach is used for planned works, including detailed condition data, timely intervention, asset sweating, and 

prioritisation.

• PCC prioritises its classified network, with red condition rates benchmarked favourably, and targets investment to address challenges in 

the unclassified network.

• Preventative works are undertaken to slow or halt infrastructure decline, reducing vulnerability to climate-related events.

• Strategy delivery is informed by national guidance and industry best practice, including the Highways Management Efficiency 

Programme.

• Cross-departmental coordination is embedded in planning and delivery to ensure integrated responses to disruption.

• Regular strategy reviews and updates ensure alignment with evolving regulations and policy requirements.

• Continuity considerations are built into asset management and procurement processes to address third-party dependencies.

• Communication protocols and data systems support consistent messaging and informed decision-making during disruption events.

3. Possible 3. Moderate 3 > 9. Low

12 Failure of strategic asset management to support 

service delivery and value for money.

Without effective management of its assets, the Council risks a 

decline in asset value, reduced revenue from leased properties, 

increased maintenance and repair costs, and potential health and 

safety hazards affecting both staff and the public. Additionally, 

poor asset oversight may expose the Council to legal and liability 

issues.

10-19. Medium Chief Operating

Office

• Underperformance – lack of generated income. A maintenance strategy is being developed to benchmark against industry standards 

for achieving legal compliance, a full planned preventive maintenance schedule is being developed to ensure all assets are serviced in line 

with that developing strategy

• Inadequate financial planning. Full condition and asset surveys are planned or have been undertaken, this data will inform a planned 

preventative maintenance programme to inform annual capital investment requirements. Lifecycle data will lead to a better short, 

medium and long term plan for known lifecycle asset replacement and better ability to budget and plan accordingly.

• Depreciation/Market conditions. Developing a maintenance strategy and planned preventative programme will mitigate (where 

possible) accelerated asset depreciation. 

• Budgetary constraints restricting investment. A prioritisation matrix is being developed to assess items requiring investment against 

safety, financial, reputational  and service delivery impacts.  FM Governance Boards adds an additional layer of scrutiny to assess 

conflicting needs and agree those items requiring investment against a limited financial position.

• Lack of/poor maintenance records/plans. Audits are being undertaken to identify and asset tag all serviceable assets.  Risk assessments 

are being undertaken or updated and compliance documentation being sought if gaps are highlighted.  The Civica Property asset 

management system is being developed to retain compliance documentation and will be a more controlled and auditable system than in 

place currently.

• Neglect of safety protocols. Training on key compliance areas to be refreshed.  Responsible persons to be identified, trained and 

appointed.  Person in Control (PIC) system to be reviewed to ensure only those with the necessary competencies carry out relevant tasks.

• Lack of communication to stakeholders. Staffing gaps and revised structure with new positions will better enable FM to deal with the 

workload and manage incoming tasks (including creation of a dedicated helpdesk).  Review of procedures including developing the Civica 

system will enable clear communication protocols to be established.  FM Governance Board acts at a higher level and can be used as a 

route to inform or consult with wider stakeholders where required.

• Asset Management Strategy is an essential mitigation measure that is yet to be addressed but will form part of mitigation of impact - 

to address areas of greatest risk. 

• Benchmarked assets, full maintenance schedule, prioritisation

• Preventative maintenance programme, plan for lifecycle asset replacement.

• Prioritisation matrix

• FM Governance Board, including Communication representation.

• Capital Programme Group

• Development of Civica system for control and oversight

• FM Improvement programme, compliance audits and checks

• Relationship with Cabinet members & senior officers

4. Likely 3. Moderate 10-19. Medium

13 Failure to effectively implement devolution and local 

government reorganisation, undermining support for 

Plymouth communities.

The Council faces significant risks related to both the preparation 

for and implementation of devolution and local government 

reorganisation. If not proactively managed through effective 

governance and mitigating controls, these changes could impact 

all aspects of the Council’s operations including funding, service 

delivery, housing provision, education services, and the 

preservation of a strong sense of local community in Plymouth.

3 > 9. Low Chief Executive 

Officer

• Political consensus - Cross-Party Advisory Leadership Group (R001, R016) addresses undefined devolution preferences by creating 

structured political engagement and regular briefings, converting political uncertainty into managed consensus-building.

• Structural clarity - Programme Board with defined governance (R004) tackles unclear structures and ambiguous responsibilities by 

establishing clear accountability lines and dedicated Programme Manager, transforming organisational confusion into structured 

delivery.

• Inter-authority collaboration - Regular Lead Officer meetings and coordination protocols (R010) counter the lack of collaboration 

through systematic partnership working and task groups, replacing ad-hoc relationships with structured cooperation.

• Resource management - Core team designation and subject matter experts (R011) addresses resource gaps by allocating dedicated 

expertise whilst maintaining BAU operations, ensuring adequate skills and capacity.

• Financial planning - Prudent financial modelling with transparent assumptions (R006, R029) tackles budget inadequacy through 

realistic cost planning, benchmarking, and continuous review processes.

• Data quality - Central data repository (R003) addresses poor data quality by establishing validated information sources and systematic 

data collection, enabling evidence-based decisions.

• Communication management: Multi-channel strategy with FAQs and social media (R007) prevents transition uncertainty cascading 

into public confusion by providing reliable information sources.

• Service continuity: Clear separation of BAU and transformation activities with performance monitoring (R031) addresses service 

disruption risks whilst Employee Assistance Programme (R033) maintains staff morale.

• Stakeholder confidence: Extensive engagement protocol with Parish Councils (R013) and cross-party consensus building manages public 

dissatisfaction and reputational risks by ensuring communities feel involved.

• Quality assurance: Programme Board oversight aligned to government criteria (R020) prevents delivery failures through systematic 

milestone reviews and quality processes.

• Legal/financial protection: Legal Services involvement (R024) and continual financial modelling review (R029) protects against 

compliance failures and budget overruns.

2. Unlikely 1. Negligible 0 > 2. Very Low

14 Failure to comply with statutory and regulatory

requirements, and broader governance frameworks.

The potential failure to meet statutory and regulatory obligations 

that underpin key governance functions, including the lawful 

administration of elections and referendums, and adherence to 

procurement legislation. Such failures may arise from insufficient 

capacity, inadequate oversight, or pressures to accelerate decision-

making and delivery. A breach could result in legal challenge, 

financial penalties, reputational harm, and erosion of public trust. 

It may also undermine democratic processes and compromise the 

integrity of governance arrangements, particularly where 

decisions are made without due process or transparency.

10-19. Medium Service Director 

for Legal 

(Monitoring 

Officer)

• Governance and Oversight

1. Maintain and regularly review the local authority’s constitution, standing orders, and scheme of delegation to ensure clarity of roles, 

responsibilities, and decision-making authority.

2.Audit and Governance Committee provides independent oversight by reviewing compliance, governance frameworks, and risk 

management.

3.Monitoring Officer ensures lawful decision-making and compliance with statutory requirements.

4. Section 151 Officer ensures sound financial management and compliance with the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and CIPFA

standards.

• In-house legal advisors to review decisions, contracts, and policy updates for compliance.

• Implementation of clear procedures for key statutory functions (planning, housing, environmental health, finance, social care, etc.) and 

reviewed regularly.

• Provision of regular mandatory training for councillors and staff on governance, ethics, data protection, health & safety, and equalities.

• Internal and external assurance through audit, performance monitoring and risk recording.

• Maintenance of stututory policies  and procedure framework eg: whistleblowing policy; equalities and diversity policy etc 

•  Implement clear process for promptly reporting, logging, and escalating compliance breaches to the Monitoring Officer, Chief 

Executive, or Audit and Governance Committee to ensure swift limitation of damage and remediation; 

• Communication plan for managing legal, regulatory, or reputational incidents, including media handling and member/officer briefings. 

• Swift referral to legal team to advise on potential remedies actions to rectify any breach; 

• Ability to easily convene urgent committee/governance meetings to approve necessary actions; 

• Become familiar with external relevant regulators such as ICO, Local Government Omubdsman etc to be able to liaise and deal with 

external investigations easily; 

• Commissioning of independent or external reviews following significant governance breaches to ensure transparency and credibility.

• Updating internal policies and procedures based on feeback received from any breaches/incidents. 

• Insurance policies and financial contingencies in place to limit impact.

2. Unlikely 3. Moderate 3 > 9. Low

P
age 289



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix C – 2025-26 Quarter 1 Risk Monitoring Report  

for information purposes only 

Directorate Category Title Existing Key Controls 

Pre 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(gross) 

Mitigation 

Post 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(net) 

Direction 
of travel 

Previous 
quarter 

Risk Score 

Customer 

and 
Corporate 
Services 

Financial 

Delivery of 
financial 

sustainability 
through Medium 
Term Financial 

Plan 

System of monthly financial reporting to 

DMT's, CMT, and Cabinet and Quarterly to 
Full Council, with monthly consideration of 
directorate level financial issues at each 

Scrutiny Committee.  In addition, the Council 

has introduced a system of detailed monitoring 
of the delivery of savings targets so that a view 
is published monthly in Cabinet reports.  The 

Council also holds an annual review of fees and 
charges and has annual and ongoing 
programmes of work to identify and 

understand potential savings opportunities.  
The governance system of the Council - as 
unpacked in the Annual Governance Statement 

comprise a rigorous system of financial control. 

25 

Close monitoring of spend with mitigations for any 

forecast pressures. Build constant dialogue with 
DMTs through finance partnering. and extend with 

updates to SLT and Team Plymouth.  
MTFS developed over summer and presented to 

full Council in early Autumn, with clear plan set 
out to produce a balanced budget and MTFP by 
February 2026. 

 
CIPFA Financial Self-Assessment undertaken 
annually, with action plan developed for 

improvements. 

20  20 

Children's 

Services 

Operational/Service 

Delivery 

Social Care 
Sustainability 
(Children's) 

Regular robust review of demand and capacity 
across children's services, informing trend 

analysis, future projections and resource 
requirements Early introduction of Families 
First Partnership to strengthen Partnership 

working and early intervention to help more 
children and families receive services at the 
lowest level of intervention and prevent 

children from coming into the Council’s Care. 
Strong Governance processes in place to 
support children and families at the lowest 

level of intervention. The delivery of a work 
programme called Family Homes for Plymouth 
Children to reduce the number of children in 

residential and un-regulated placements and 

increase the number of in-house foster carers.  

25 

Delivery of Children’s Services ‘Achieving 
Excellence’ 3-year Improvement and 

Transformation Strategy to March 2027. 
Development of in-house residential children’s 
home provision run and managed by the Council. 

A focus and continued investment in early 
intervention and prevention. Collaborative 
commissioning with health partners and challenge 

to the level of health funding to individual packages 
of care.  

20  16 

Adults, 
Health and 
Communities 

Operational/Service 

Delivery 

Social Care 
Sustainability 
(Adult's) 

Regular review of demand and capacity across 
adults’ services and trend analysis informing 
projections and workforce planning. Strong 

Reablement offer for hospital discharge routes 
maximising independence, provider failure and 
mutual aid process, 

25 

The key mitigations are monitored through our 

integrated transformation and business as usual 
governance including: 
A Focus on early intervention and prevention 
Operational performance oversight and capacity 

planning 
Development of Reablement pathways through 
our social care front door 

Collaborative commissioning with health partners 
Provider of concern oversight and active support 

Care zoning approach in adult services 

Wider system workforce capacity planning 
supported by our Caring Plymouth initiative 

16  16 

P
age 291



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Directorate Category Title Existing Key Controls 

Pre 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(gross) 

Mitigation 

Post 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(net) 

Direction 
of travel 

Previous 

quarter 
Risk Score 

Customer 

and 
Corporate 
Services 

Cyber 
Digital and Data 
Resilience 

IT Security Policy, Business Continuity plans, 
Infrastructure patching, IT provider 

assessment, Information Audits, Staff training 
25 

Implement clearly defined risk ownership model 

for IT risks 
Develop consistent Risk Appetite statement 
specific to IT and Cyber Security 

Investments in tracking assets connecting to our 
networks and managing and detecting threats on 
laptops and other user devices are being 

implemented. 
Mandatory staff and Member training around 

information and cyber security provided each 
month via KnowBe4. 

Proposals to improve technical vulnerability 
scanning being finalised 
Improved controls over staff joining, moving roles 

and leaving PCC to ensure we provide the least 

privileges required to perform any given role.   

Implement strengthened data protection 

capabilities included with latest Microsoft licencing 

deal. 

2025 PSN certificate just issued to PCC based on 

sample testing of systems in March.  

Update the Councils record of data processing 

activity (ROPA) to track where and how data is 

being used across the organisation 

Work to continue to strengthen and test business 
continuity plans 

16  16 

Adults, 
Health and 

Communities 

Operational/Service 
Delivery 

Homelessness 

The Homelessness Delivery Plan 2020 - 2025 
which encompassed all work within 
Homelessness services in the city. Demand has 

now risen over and above the planned demand 
as articulated in the strategy, with availability of 

long-term housing below required levels and 

legislation changes (Renters Reforms) also 
creating some short-term demand growth. 

25 

Homelessness Recovery Plan has been developed.  

Housing Task Force providing strategic leadership 
and is driving the recovery plan this includes 
representation from across the council to ensure 

that the organisational has the appropriate focus 
on this priority areas - This is led by the Relevant 

Cabinet Member and the Chief Executive.  

The Homelessness Recovery Board is managing / 
delivering operational elements of the recovery 
plan, and reports onto the Taskforce.  

12  12 

P
age 292



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Directorate Category Title Existing Key Controls 

Pre 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(gross) 

Mitigation 

Post 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(net) 

Direction 
of travel 

Previous 

quarter 
Risk Score 

Chief 
Executive 
Office 

Strategic Change 

Local 
Government 

Reorganisation 
Uncertainty 

Interim Plan submission to Government 
(March 2025) establishing Plymouth's initial 

position and growth ambitions 
Programme Board with senior leadership to 

coordinate business case development 
Initial stakeholder mapping and engagement 

with parish councils and key partners 
Regular dialogue with Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government 

Dedicated Programme Director and project 
resources allocated 
Collaborative engagement with relevant local 

authorities in Devon 
Development of compelling evidence base for 
Plymouth Growth Area proposal 

20 

Develop comprehensive, evidence-based business 

case for Plymouth Growth Area by November 
2025 deadline 
Implement structured 'Let's Talk' engagement 

programme with residents and stakeholders to 
demonstrate local support 
Build strategic alliances with parish councils in the 

13 proposed areas to strengthen proposal 
Establish regular briefings with MPs and 

government officials to advocate for Plymouth's 
position 

Develop robust financial modelling demonstrating 
clear benefits of Plymouth's proposal compared to 
alternatives 

Create contingency plans for alternative 
reorganisation outcomes 
Ensure strong alignment between Plymouth's 

proposal and government's devolution objectives 
Develop compelling service improvement plans 
showing benefits to residents across the expanded 

footprint 

Maintain active involvement in Devon-wide 
discussions to influence emerging proposals 
Establish dedicated communications strategy to 

build public and stakeholder support 

12  12 

Growth 
Development and 

Regeneration 

Climate 
Adaptation and 

Environmental 
Resilience 

Climate Emergency Declaration (March 2019) 

Net Zero Action Plan with annual monitoring 

Flood risk management plans 
Emergency response plans for extreme 
weather events 

Planning policies requiring climate-resilient 
development 

20 

PCC's Climate Emergency Declaration (March 

2019) triggered multiple actions including: annual 
Climate Emergency Action Plans (now the Net 
Zero Action Plan); the creation of a Climate 

Emergency Investment Fund; the establishment of 
the Plymouth Net Zero Partnership; annual 
monitoring of and reporting on Plymouth's 
greenhouse gas emissions 

Substantial investment in infrastructure resilience, 
decarbonising transport and housing retrofit 
Behavioural change programmes and Climate 

Connections digital hub for local engagement on 
climate issues 
Climate Ambassadors programme to enhance 

community engagement 
Continuing to be proactive in seeking funding for 
new carbon reduction and adaptation initiatives 

Three main priorities: 
rationalisation/decarbonisation of fleet; investment 
in renewables and energy efficiency across 

corporate estate and infrastructure; changes to 
working practices 

12  12 

P
age 293



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Directorate Category Title Existing Key Controls 

Pre 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(gross) 

Mitigation 

Post 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(net) 

Direction 
of travel 

Previous 

quarter 
Risk Score 

Public Health 
Operational/Service 

Delivery 

Failure to 

reduce Health 

Inequalities 

The Thrive Plymouth framework 

Plymouth Plan and Integrated Commissioning 

Strategies 
16 

Significant council actions are underway to address 

Health Inequalities. This has included the recent 
cost of living programme and ongoing work 
around reducing barriers to opportunity. 

The strength of external factors (Cost of Living 
Crisis etc) which are beyond the Council's control 
mean that this risk is unlikely to be further 

mitigated.  

The development of the Building Bridges to 
Opportunity Framework will help to draw further 

attention to the potential mitigations across the 
city, as will the relaunch of Thrive Plymouth in 
November. 

The confirmation of the Household Support Fund 
will enable some mitigation of these risks. 

12  12 

Customer 
and 
Corporate 

Services 

Compliance, 
Regulation and 
Safeguarding 

Risk Culture 
and Capability 

Risk and Opportunity Management Strategy 

Risk app for reporting 
CMT quarterly reviews 
Risk Management site with accessible guidance 
on risk management. 

16 

Devon Audit Partnership commissioned to deliver 
enhanced risk management approach, including a 

planned updated to risk strategy, appetite and 

internal escalation management. 
 
Initial engagement during summer 2025 to develop 
refreshed strategic risk register alongside risk 

management action plan for delivery in second half 
of year. 

12  12 

Public Health 
Operational/Service 

Delivery 

Pandemic or 

high impact 

disease 
outbreak 

UKHSA disease surveillance and early warning 

system including local participation in disease 
surveillance and reporting schemes e.g. NOIDS 

and Port health / UKHSA case responses/ 

planning exercises; COVID19 and flu seasonal 
vaccination programme/ Corporate emergency 
response plans / business continuity plans / 

regular meetings ODPH and UKHSA 

12 

Incident response and recovery plans are agile and 

are up to date, and business continuity plans are 
being reviewed. All plans incorporate key learning 

from covid and are tested regularly. There are 

national alerting systems for new potential threats 
and the plans to manage them. 
The Council is a proactive Local Resilience Forum 

partner and pandemic exercising is undertaken. 

12  12 

P
age 294



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Directorate Category Title Existing Key Controls 

Pre 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(gross) 

Mitigation 

Post 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(net) 

Direction 
of travel 

Previous 

quarter 
Risk Score 

Growth 
Development and 

Regeneration 

Insufficient 
economic 
performance 

Account management of our key businesses 

helps to identify businesses under economic 
stress.    Labour market remains very tight and 
is likely to remain tight, restricting economic 

growth. We are working closely with people 
directorate to support the skills launch pad.   
Destination Plymouth are funded by the 

Council to undertake brand and image study of 
Plymouth around attracting talent to the City.  

The defence sector and HM Naval Base has 
significant construction plans we are working 

closely with government and Homes England 
to position Plymouth for additional investment 
and help attract new people/workforce to the 

city.  Shared Prosperity Funding is targeted at 
support for Port development, City Centre 
and Skills. In addition, we are still facing the 

longer-term impact of inflation, higher levels on 
interest rates and Covid debt repayment. The 
combined effect of which is to reduce the level 

of capital available for new investment in both 

the public and private sectors. 

16 

Seeking to maximise all opportunities to secure 

inward investment, additional funding for economic 
initiatives including focussing on creating new jobs 
in the Blue and green economy. Account manage 

new inward investment landings in high growth 
sectors. The initiatives include: The Plymouth and 

South Devon Freeport, National Marine Park, large 
scale defence investment, £4bn development 

pipeline and over £100m of grant funding.  We will 
continue to maximise all inward investment and 
good growth through account management and 

seeking funding opportunities for our city region. 
We also have a strong economic monitoring 
function and well developed strategic economic 

partnership to monitor and oversee our 
interventions and impact. 

9  9 

Chief 

Executive 
Office 

Compliance, 

Regulation and 
Safeguarding 

Legislative 

Change 
Implementation 

Directorate-level monitoring of legislative 
changes 
Legal Services briefings to Corporate 

Management Team 
Departmental policy reviews 
Contract Standing Orders 

Monitoring of legislative changes 

16 

Legislative change tracker with implementation 
timelines and responsibilities 
Cross-directorate coordination group for 

managing legislative changes 
Early engagement with government departments 
on implementation challenges 

Budget planning for implementation costs 
Prioritisation based on compliance risk 
All procurement professionals to complete new 

regulations training programme delivered by 
central government 

Act upon findings of purchasing access review to 

include removal/amendment of officer access 
Develop Procurement self-service approach to 
make it easier for Officers to comply with 

procurement rules 

9  9 

P
age 295



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Directorate Category Title Existing Key Controls 

Pre 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(gross) 

Mitigation 

Post 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(net) 

Direction 
of travel 

Previous 

quarter 
Risk Score 

Customer 
and 
Corporate 

Services 

Compliance, 

Regulation and 
Safeguarding 

Insufficient 
workforce 

Workforce data. 
Employee Assistance Programme. 
Organisational Restructure toolkit. 

Workforce Planning Toolkit 
Management & Leadership Development 

Programs 

 

15 

Targeted support for Children Services – 

resourcing and capacity / Introduction of new 
assistant social worker positions 
Review of People Strategy for 2025 

Improving recruitment & induction/onboarding 
processes. 
Implementing program of workforce planning 

Collaborative work with ADEPT on national 
campaign for Place recruitment 
Implementation of Apprenticeships & Early 

Careers Strategy 
Management & Leadership Development Programs 

9  9 

Growth Financial 
Major projects - 
capacity and 

cost inflation 

All projects have strong governance models 

using Prince 2 methodology with identified 
SRO, Project Dir and Programme manager. All 
political decisions clearly flag risk and there is 
monthly reporting on all projects There 

however remains a significant programme risk 
linked to grant funding deadlines of Mark 25 
and March 26. 

15 

We have secured additional project management 
capacity for the NMP, Freeport and Civic Centre. 
These costs are added to overall project costs. 

We have also increased contingency where 
possible to allow for the current contractor 

market instability. We have liaised with funding 
bodies such as DLUC and Homes England to 

ensure that the programme and inflationary risks 
are shared. 

9  9 

Adults, 
Health and 
Communities 

Operational/Service 

Delivery 

Adult Social 

Care - funding 
for National 
Living Wage 

increase 

Budget planning in hand to ensure that the cost 

of the increase is covered. 
9 

Market engagement and communications plan with 

providers around the process in place to 
determine fee rates. 
Use Low Pay Commission data to inform budget 

and MTFP planning 
BAU commissioning activity with providers to 
understand pressures. 

Providers who approach us with concerns will be 
asked to submit financial information so we can 
assess the risk to sustainability to allow mitigation 

if needed. 

9  9 

P
age 296



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Directorate Category Title Existing Key Controls 

Pre 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(gross) 

Mitigation 

Post 

Mitigation 
Risk Score 

(net) 

Direction 
of travel 

Previous 

quarter 
Risk Score 

Executive 
Office 

Trust and 
Confidence 

Governance 
Arrangements 
for the Family of 

Companies 

The council adheres to a code of corporate 

governance, which is based on and revised in 
accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government Framework 2016. The annual 

governance statement details how the council 
fulfils key principles of corporate governance. 

 

Within the council's family, there are 21 
companies; all Articles of Association are 
centrally stored. A register of directors and 

shareholders is also established and regularly 
updated. 
 

The family of companies is frequently discussed 
by the Corporate Management Team, and 
officers representing the council or linked to 

the companies are surveyed annually to 
confirm their compliance with the corporate 

governance code. 

9 

A New Family of Companies Governance 

Framework has been established to define clear 
roles, responsibilities, and accountability 
mechanisms for effective oversight. This includes a 
Shareholder Committee (a sub-committee of 

Cabinet) to provide guidance and oversight to the 
family of companies, with provisions for involving 
scrutineers. The framework aims to improve 

transparency and ensure consistent reporting 

through the Shareholder Committee. Conflict of 
interest policies have been created, along with an 

Officer interest register. Training for current and 
prospective shareholder representatives and 
Council-appointed directors is currently in 

development, with an anticipated launch in the 
Autumn 2025. 
Although there are 21 companies, they range in 

complexity and therefore financial and governance 
arrangements. These differing requirements will 
form part of the governance review. The PCC 
commercial finance team work with both internal 

and external auditors to ensure good financial 
arrangements are in place 

6  6 

Adults, 
Health and 

Communities 

Operational/Service 
Delivery 

Commissioned 
providers - 
workforce 

recruitment and 

retention 

Caring Plymouth Partnership - working with 

providers, schools and colleges and those 
seeking work to match people to careers and 
job opportunities. 

6 

Update February 2025: Ongoing engagement such 

as provider events, tracking of demand and 
capacity in the provider market, protocols such as 
Shackleton to draw on mutual support in the event 

of a provider failure. Provider 
stability/performance is tracked through fortnightly 
"Provider of Concern" briefings to the Service 

Director to support intervention where needed. 
Quarterly meetings remain in place with CQC to 
share market intelligence. The Caring Plymouth 

partnership and associated governance supports 
the future pipeline for recruitment. 
 

If a provider faces challenges, we provide wrap 
around support for the staff to ensure they are 
aware of other employment options in the sector. 

6  6 

 

P
age 297



 

 

OFFICIAL 

1. Annex: Risk Analysis and Scoring Guidance 

 
 

Score Likelihood Threat / Risk 

5 
Almost Certain 

(81-100%) 

• Is expected to occur within twelve months in most circumstances 

• Imminent/near miss 

4 
Likely 

(51-80%) 

• Will probably occur in many circumstances 

• Will probably happen, but not a persistent issue e.g. once in three years 

• Has happened in the past 

3 
Possible 

(26-50%) 

• Could occur in certain circumstances 

• May happen occasionally, e.g. once in 10 years 

• Has happened elsewhere 

2 
Unlikely 

(11-25%) 

• May occur only in exceptional circumstances 

• Not expected to happen, but is possible e.g. once in 25 years 

• Not known in this activity happening 

1 
Rare 

(0-10%) 

• Is never likely to occur 

• Very unlikely this will ever happen e.g. once in 100 years 

 

Score 
Impact 

(Severity) 
Threat / Risk 

5 
Catastrophic 

Risk 

Risks which can have a catastrophic effect on the operation of the Council or service. This may result in 

critical financial loss, severe service disruption or a severe impact on the public. Examples: - 

• Unable to function without the aid of government or other external Agency 

• Inability to fulfil obligations 

• Medium – long term damage to service capability 

• Severe financial loss – supplementary estimate needed which will have a catastrophic impact on the 

Council’s financial plan and resources are unlikely to be available 

• Death (single or multiple) or work-related diagnosis leading to death Page 136 

• Adverse national publicity – highly damaging, severe loss of public confidence 

• Very significant exposure of public funds with funding being managed across organisations and complex 

reporting 

• Very complex stakeholder community with new partnerships, collaborations and suppliers/stakeholder 

environment volatile or with significant external change factors 

4 
Major Risk 

 

Risks which can have a major effect on the operation of the Council or service. This may result in major 

financial loss, major service disruption or a significant impact on the public. Examples: - 

• Significant impact on service objectives 

• Short–medium term impairment to service capability 

• Major financial loss – supplementary estimate needed which will have a major impact on the Council’s 

financial plan 

• Extensive injuries, major permanent harm, long term sick 

• Permanent/significant disability 

• Major adverse local publicity, major loss of confidence 

Page 298



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Score 
Impact 

(Severity) 
Threat / Risk 

3 
Moderate Risk 

 

Risks which have a noticeable effect on the services provided. Each one will cause a degree of disruption to 

service provision and impinge on the budget. Examples: - 

• Service objectives partially achievable 

• Short term disruption to service capability 

• Significant financial loss – supplementary estimate needed which will have an impact on the Council’s 

financial plan 

• RIDDOR (Reporting of injuries, diseases and dangerous occurrences regulations) or major injury 

• Medical treatment required, semi-permanent harm up to one year 

• Some adverse publicity, needs careful public relations 

• High potential for complaint, litigation possible 

• Breaches of law punishable by fines only 

2 
Minor Risk 

 

Risks where the consequences will not be severe and any associated losses will be minor. As individual 

occurrences they will have a negligible effect on service provision. If action is not taken, then such risks may 

have a more significant cumulative effect. Examples: - 

• Minor impact on service objectives 

• No significant disruption to service capability 

• Moderate financial loss – can be accommodated at head of service level 

• Three day + injury 

• First aid treatment, non-permanent harm up to one month 

• Some public embarrassment, no damage to reputation 

• May result in complaints/litigation 

• Breaches of regulations/standards 

• Budget within delegation 

1 
Insignificant Risk 

 

Risks where the consequences will not be severe and any associated losses will be relatively small. As 

individual occurrences they will have a negligible effect on service provision. If action is not taken, then such 

risks may have a more significant cumulative effect. Examples: - 

• Minimal impact, no service disruption 

• Negligible impact on service capability 

• Minimal loss – can be accommodated at senior technical accounting level 

• First aid injury 

• Unlikely to cause any adverse publicity, internal only 

• Breaches of local procedures/standards 

• Budget within delegation and relatively small or within operational costs 

 
 

 
 

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 301 Agenda Item 12



P
age 302



P
age 303



P
age 304



P
age 305



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2025/26 

 

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to 

change at short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to 

be of strategic relevance. 

 

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s 

work programme, please contact Jake Metcalfe (Democratic Advisor) on 01752 305155. 

 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Prio

ritis

atio

n 

Scor

e 

Reason for Consideration  Responsible 

Cabinet 

Member/Lead 

Officer 

16 July 

2025 

 

 

 

 

Children’s 

Services 

Achieving 

Excellence  

4 For the Panel to scrutinise the 

improvement and transformation plan of 

Children’s services to ensure the service 

was delivering the Achieving Excellence 

Plan. 

Cllr Laing/ Vivien 

Lines 

Youth Justice 

Annual Report  

3  

For the Panel to understand the work 

undertaken by the Youth Justice Team and 

understand challenges celebrating strengths. 

Cllr Laing/ 

Martine Aquilina/ 

Sarah Wilson  

Performance 

Scorecard 

3 STANDING ITEM on the performance of 

the directorate. 

Paul Stephens/ 

Susan London  

SEND Capital 

Programme 

 Expanding SEND places and alternative 

provision 

Amanda Davis  

Local Area 

SEND 

Improvement 

Plan 

4  

For the Panel to scrutinise the delivery and 

impact of the Local Area SEND 

Improvement Plan 

 

Cllr Cresswell/ 

Amanda Davis/ 

Tracy Clasby/ 

Rob Williams  

School 

Readiness 

3 To examine the state of play for children 

beginning school and how ready they were 

to start primary school.  

 

Cllr Cresswell/ 

Amanda Davis/ 

Heidi Price 

08 

October 

2025 

 

Child 

Exploitation 

Annual Report  

4 

Continued focus on Child Exploitation and 

a commitment to have at least one report 

heard at the Panel meeting during the 

municipal year.  

Martine Aquilina / 

Cllr Laing 

Page 307 Agenda Item 13



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

(Agreed to add to the work programme at all 

Scrutiny Panel meetings in 2024/25. Agreed to 

have an annual report for all future municipal 

years) 

Annual 

Education 

Outcomes 

Report 

(Provisional) 

4 

Standing item to the Committee to 

understand children’s progress in achieving 

their outcomes. 

 

YP involvement  

 

Comparative data  

 

Amanda Davis/ 

Stuart Hogg 

Place Based 

Working 

Group  

4 

Referred to this Scrutiny Panel from the 

Chair following a meeting of the Local Area 

Partnership SEND Improvement Board. 

 

City wide challenge for attendance  

 

National attendance campaign  

 

Amanda Davis / 

Rob Williams 

Children’s 

services budget 

Q1 outturn 

position 

 

For the Panel to have oversight of the 

budget position of the service.  

Request from DH to add to the work 

programme. 

Matt Fulton 

Education, 

Health and 

Care Plan 

(EHCP) update 

including SEND 

Capital 

Programme 

 

4 AI inclusion  

Amanda Davis 

/YP involvement 

/Finance rep/ 

Stuart Hogg/ Lisa 

McDonald / 

Health rep 

Performance 

Scorecard  
 Standing Item 

Paul 

Stephens/Susan 

London 

 

03 

December 

2025 

 

 

 

Families First 

reform 

programme  

 Children’s Social Care workforce Lisa Davies  

Plymouth 

Childrens 

Safeguarding 

Assurance – 

Annual Report  

 

Statutory duty to produce an annual report. 

Plymouth Safeguarding Children’s Board.  

 

Invite partners, Police/Health/Education 

David Haley/ 

Siobhan Logue  

Finance 

Monitoring Q2   
 Standing item  Matt Fulton  

Capital 

Programme – 

Scrutiny of 

 
To link in with Finance Monitoring report.  

 

Lisa Davies/Karen 

Blake/Vivien Lines 

Page 308



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

residential 

children’s home 

capital 

programmes  

Amend title – important council 

programmes 

 

Delivery to reduce costs 

Achieving 

Excellence 

Programme Q2 

Report  

 Halfway report of the programme 
Lisa Davies/ 

Vivien Lines 

Elective Home 

Education and 

metrics 

  Isabelle Kolinsky  

Performance 

Scorecard  
 

Standing item 

EHCP timescales 

Paul 

Stephens/Susan 

London 

 

 

 

 

 

12 

February 

2026 

Annual 

Education 

Outcomes 

Report (Final 

Report) 

 
Comparative data – over x number of years 

Attendance comparative data  
 

Items to be scheduled for 2025/26 

2025/26 

 

 

 

Childrens Social 

Media use and 

impact on 

education 

3 

To understand the impacts of children’s 

social media use in school and what the 

issues were being faced in school.  

(Agreed to add at the 06 February 2025 

Scrutiny Panel meeting) 

Cllr Cresswell / 

Cllr Aspinall / EPS 

/ School Reps / 

Young people` 

Female 

Empowerment 

Programmes 

3 

For the Panel to receive a report on the 
empowerment programmes and to have 

young people involvement.  

(Agreed to add at the 06 February 2025 

Scrutiny Panel meeting) 

 

Cllr Laing / 

Martine Aquilina 

Children’s 

Services use of 

AI 

 

Cllr Steel request to add to the work 

programme on 17/07/2025.  

Report to provide an understanding on 

what was being done in the AI space to aid 

Children’s Services workforce and ensure 

workers spent more time with the families 

they were working with.  

Steve Maddern 

(Until Si Bellamy 

starts) 

     

 
Transitions to 

Adulthood  
   

Items to be scheduled for 2026/27 

2026/27 
Belonging 

Framework and 
 

Scrutiny requested a further update to 

review its implementation. 

Rob 

Williams/Amanda 

Page 309



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Place Based 

Plan  

Davis/Isabelle 

Kolinsky 

2026/27     

Items Identified for Select Committee Reviews 

 

Children’s 

Emotional 

Health and 

Wellbeing 

5 
Agreed by Scrutiny Management Board in 

February 2025.  

Health, CYPFS, 

EPS, Voluntary 

Sector, young 

people, Cllr 

Aspinall, Cllr 

Laing, Cllr 

Cresswell. 

 

Scrutiny Prioritisation Tool 

 

   

  

  Yes (=1) Evidence 

Public Interest Is it an issue of concern 

to partners, 

stakeholders and/or the 

community? 

  

    

Ability Could Scrutiny have an 

influence? 

  

    

Performance Is this an area of 

underperformance? 

  

    

Extent Does the topic affect 

people living, working, 

or studying in more 

than one electoral ward 

of Plymouth?  

    

Replication Will this be the only 

opportunity for public 

scrutiny? 

    

  Is the topic due planned 

to be the subject of an 

Executive Decision?  

    

Total:    High/Medium/Low 

 

Priority Score 

High 5-6 

Page 310



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Medium 3-4 

Low 1-2 

 

 

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

Natural Infrastructure and Growth Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2025/26 

 

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to 

change at short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to 

be of strategic relevance. 

 

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s 

work programme, please contact Hannah Chandler-Whiting (Democratic Advisor) on 

01752 305155. 

 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Prioritisation 

Score 

Reason for 

Consideration  

Responsible 

Cabinet 

Member/Lead 

Officer 

09 July 2025 

Plan for Homes 

4: Year 1 

Progress Report 

3 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr 

Penberthy/Matt 

Garrett/Nick 

Carter/Neil 

Mawson 

Economic 

Intelligence and 

Insight 

Standing Item Standing Item 

David 

Draffan/Amanda 

Ratsey/Lauren 

Paton 

Productive 

Growth and High 

Value Jobs 

(Economic 

Strategy Pillar1) 

3 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr Evans 

OBE/David 

Draffan/Amanda 

Ratsey/Richard 

Davies 

Freeport Annual 

Update 
3 Annual Update 

Cllr Evans 

OBE/Richard 

May/Ian Cooper 

 

Site Visit 

15 August 

2025 

Naval Base Tour 

 

 

10 

September 

2025 

Skills (Economic 

Strategy Pillar 5) 
4 

Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr 

Cresswell/David 

Draffan/Tina 

Brinkworth/Aman

da Davis 

 

Site Visit  

07 October 

2025 
Tinside Tour 

Page 313



  

  

   

 

 

15 October 

2025 

Inclusive Growth 

(Economic 

Strategy Pillar 2) 

3 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr 

Penberthy/Anna 

Peachey/Amanda 

Ratsey/Lindsey 

Hall 

Plan for Nature 

and People 
4 

Added at 

agenda set 10 

Sept 2025 

Cllr Briars-

Delve/Kat Deeney 

Brand Strategy  3 
Added by Chair 

18 Sept 2025 

Cllr Evans 

OBE/Amanda 

Lumley 

The Box Annual 

Update 
3 Annual Update 

Cllr Laing/Victoria 

Pomery/Rebecca 

Bridgman 

 

03 

December 

2025 

Sustainable 

Growth 

(Economic 

Strategy Pillar 3) 

(To include 

Economic 

Intelligence and 

Insight) 

3 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr Briars-

Delve/Amanda 

Ratsey/Richard 

Stevens 

Tree 

Management 

Principles 

Document 

5 

As part of a 

Council 

Motion/pre-

decision 

scrutiny 

Cllr Briars-

Delve/Kat Deeney 

Plymouth Plan 

Update and 

Review 

3 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr Stephens/Paul 

Barnard/Jonathan 

Bell/Rebecca 

Miller/Sarah 

Gooding 

Plymouth Local 

Plan: Next Steps 

and Timetable 

3 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr Stephens/Paul 

Barnard/Jonathan 

Bell/Rebecca 

Miller 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Civic Pride and 

Regeneration 

(Economic 

Strategy Pillar 4) 

4 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr Evans/Matt 

Ward/Victoria 

Pomery/Chris 

Duggan/Sheila 

Nethercott 

Visitor 

Plan/Culture Plan 

Annual update 

3 Annual Update 

Cllr Laing/Hannah 

Harris/Amanda 

Lumley/James 

McKenzie 

Page 314



  

  

   

 

04 February 

2026 

Blackman/Paul 

Fieldsend-Danks 

Draft Net Zero 

Action Plan  

2026-29 & 

Draft Net Zero 

Route Map 

3 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr Briars-

Delve/Paul 

Barnard/Jonathan 

Bell 

Chelson Meadow 

Solar Farm 
5 

Agreed via 

recommendatio

n at the March 

2023 meeting 

that there 

would be an 

update. Officers 

confirmed June 

2025 that there 

was an update. 

Cllr Briars-

Delve/Kat Deeney 

Port Strategy 3 
Added for 

2025/26 

Cllr 

Evans/Amanda 

Ratsey 

National Marine 

Park Annual 

Update 

3 Annual Update 

Cllr Evans/Cllr 

Briars-

Delve/Elaine 

Hayes/Kat 

Deeney 

Plymouth 

Waterfront 

Partnership - 

2027-32 Business 

Improvement 

District 

4 

Suggestion by 

officers 

November 

2025 

Cllr Evans/David 

Draffan/Patrick 

Knight 

Items to be scheduled for 2025/26 

2025/26 Civic Centre  5 

Added following 

Cabinet action 

March 2025 

Cllr Evans 

OBE/David 

Draffan 

2025/26 
City Centre 

Master-planning 
4 

Added following 

a work 

programming 

session with 

SMB in Aug 

2025 

Cllr Evans 

OBE/Stuart 

Wingfield/Emma 
Wilson 

2025/26 Co-op Strategy 4 

Added prior to 

pre meet on 10 

June 2024. 

Cllr 

Penberthy/Anna 

Peachey/ 

Amanda Ratsey 

2025/26 
Commercial 

Estate 
4 

Identified for 

consideration 

by the 

Cllr 

Penberthy/David 

Draffan 

Page 315



  

  

   

 

Committee at 

the February 

2022 meeting.  

2025/26 

 

Plymouth Plan 

Full Council 

Motion (To 

ensure that play 

was embedded 

into the plan and 

that it set a 

framework for a 

play delivery plan 

with targeted 

interventions) 

 

Action from 

City Council 18 

September 

2023. 

 

Cllr 

Stephens/Jonathan 

Bell 

Items to be scheduled for 2026/27 

2026/27 
Freeport Annual 

Update 
3 Annual Update 

Cllr Evans 

OBE/David 

Draffan/Ian 

Cooper 

2026/27 

Update on Plan 

for Homes 

inc modelling on 

long term impact 

new homes/jobs 

impact will have 

on rent 

4 

Action from 09 

July 2025 Panel 

meeting. To 

include Min 4ll 

Cllr 

Penberthy/Paul 

Barnard/Nick 

Carter 

2026/27 

Strategic Heat 

Network 

Procurement 

5 

Identified for 

consideration at 

the October 

2024 meeting. 

Cllr Briars-

Delve/John 

Green/Jonathan 

Selman 

Items Identified for Select Committee Reviews 

2026/27 Water/Flooding  

Identified for 

consideration at 

the 15 October 

2025 meeting 

 

 

  

Page 316



  

  

   

 

Scrutiny Prioritisation Tool 

 

   

  

  Yes (=1) Evidence 

Public Interest Is it an issue of concern 
to partners, 

stakeholders and/or the 

community? 

    

Ability Could Scrutiny have an 

influence? 

    

Performance Is this an area of 

underperformance? 

    

Extent Does the topic affect 

people living, working, 

or studying in more 

than one electoral ward 

of Plymouth?  

    

Replication Will this be the only 

opportunity for public 

scrutiny? 

    

  Is the topic due planned 

to be the subject of an 

Executive Decision?  

    

Total:    High/Medium/Low 

 

Priority Score 

High 5-6 

Medium 3-4 

Low 1-2 

 

Page 317



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Panel  

Work Programme 2025/26 

 

 

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to 

change at short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to 

be of strategic relevance. 

 

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s 

work programme, please contact Elliot Wearne-Gould (Democratic Advisor) on 01752 

305155. 

 

Date of 

Meeting 
Agenda Item 

Prioritisation 

Score 

Reason for 

Consideration  

Responsible 

Cabinet 

Member/Lead 

Officer 

 

 

15 July 2025 

 

Performance, 

Finance and Risk 

Reports for 

H&ASC  +  
Livewell SW 

performance 

3 Standing Item 

 

Helen Slater, 

Stephen Beet, Ian 
Lightley (NHS 

Devon) 

End of Life Care 

MoN 

1 Motion on 
Notice - End of 

Life Care.pdf 

4 
Referred by City 

Council  

NHS Devon ICB. 

Chris Morley  

NHS Changes and 
re-structures 

4 

To scrutinise 

upcoming 

changes to the 
structure and 

operation of 

NHS 

management 

NHS England + 
NHS Devon 

 

 

14 October 

2025 

 

Moved to 21 

November 

2025  

Quarterly Finance 

and Performance 

Reports for 

H&ASC 

3 Standing Item 

 

Helen Slater + 

Gary Walbridge 

Winter Planning 

 
4 

To review 

preparations and 

readiness for 

Winter 

Pressures 

Chris Morley 

(NHS Devon) + 

Rachel O’Connor 

(UHP) 

Outcomes  3 

Readmission 

rates, discharges 

and outcomes  

Chris Morley 

(NHS Devon) 

 

Page 319

https://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s152098/1%20Motion%20on%20Notice%20-%20End%20of%20Life%20Care.pdf
https://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s152098/1%20Motion%20on%20Notice%20-%20End%20of%20Life%20Care.pdf
https://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s152098/1%20Motion%20on%20Notice%20-%20End%20of%20Life%20Care.pdf


  

  

   

 

25 

November 

2025  

Site Visit to 

Dartmoor Building 

(UTC) Derriford.  

N/A 

To view new 

Urgent 

Treatment 

Centre  

Amanda Nash 

(UHP)  

 

02 

December 

2025 

PCC CQC 

Outcome Report 
4 

To review the 

implications for 

PCC following 

the CQC 

outcomes 

report. 

Gary Walbridge  

Armed Forces GP 

/ Surgery / Dental 

Update 

3 

To receive an 

update on 

Armed Forces’ 

health care in 

the city. 

NHS Devon 

 

 

03 February 

2026 

 

    

    

    

    

Items to be scheduled for 2025/26 

2025/26 
Workloads for 

Social Workers 
3 

Retention, 

Sickness and 

Agency Staff 

Gary Walbridge 

+ Livewell SW 

2025/26 

UHP New 

Hospital’s 

Programme 

Update 

3 

To provide an 

update on 

progress of UHP 

construction 

facilities and 

services 

Rachel O’Connor 

(UHP) 

2025/26 
Local Care 

Partnership Plan  
3 

To ensure 

greater 
engagement and 

collaboration 

with the LCP 

LCP / NHS 
Devon 

2025/26 

Independent 

Prescribing 

Pathfinder 

Programme (NHS 

Devon)   

3 

Review of 

performance of 

the programme 

following prior 

scrutiny 

NHS Devon 

2025/26 

Urgent and 

Emergency Care 

One Plan - 

performance 
against targets  

  

4 

To continue 

scrutiny of UHP 

capacity and 
performance 

NHS Devon 

Page 320



  

  

   

 

2025/26 

Reforms and 

Restructures 

Update  

3 

To track further 

progress 

following the 

ICB merger / 

clustering 

NHS Devon 

Items to be scheduled for 2026/27 

2026/27     

2026/27     

Items Identified for Select Committee Reviews 

2025/26 

Transitions to 

Adult Social Care 

(from Children’s) 

4 

To be held in a 

Joint Select 

Committee with 

Children’s 

Scrutiny Panel   

Gary Walbridge / 

David Haley 

 

 

Scrutiny Prioritisation Tool 

 

   

  

  Yes (=1) Evidence 

Public Interest Is it an issue of concern 

to partners, 

stakeholders and/or the 

community? 

  

    

Ability Could Scrutiny have an 

influence? 

  

    

Performance Is this an area of 

underperformance? 

  

    

Extent Does the topic affect 

people living, working, 

or studying in more 

than one electoral ward 

of Plymouth?  

    

Replication Will this be the only 

opportunity for public 

scrutiny? 

    

  Is the topic due planned 

to be the subject of an 

Executive Decision?  

    

Total:    High/Medium/Low 

Page 321



  

  

   

 

 

Priority Score 

High 5-6 

Medium 3-4 

Low 1-2 

 

Page 322



 

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Housing and Community Services Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2025/26 

 

 

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to 

change at short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to 

be of strategic relevance. 

 

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s 

work programme, please contact Elliot Wearne-Gould (Democratic Advisor). 

 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Prioritisation 

Score 

Reason for 

Consideration  

Responsible 

Cabinet 

Member/Lead 

Officer 

 
 

16 July 

2025 

 

Grit Bin Policy 

Review  
3 

Following 

planned changes 

to Grit Bin 

provision / 
policy  

Cllr 

Stephens/Andy 

Sharp 

Central Park 

Ponds Project  
4 

Amanda Pannell 

(petition author) 

has emailed to 

say the actions 
haven’t been 

completed. Item 

was added to 

work 

programme for 

re-consideration 

in 2024/25.  

Cllr Tom Briars-

Delve/Kat 

Deeney 

 

 

 

 
 

22 

October 

2025 

Building Bridges to 

Opportunity 
Update 

4 

Report to be 

brought back to 

Scrutiny prior to 
being presented 

to Cabinet  

Cllr 

Penberthy/Steve 
Maddern  

Homelessness 

Services Update - 

Planned savings in 
homelessness 

services 

3 
Action from 

Budget Scrutiny  

Councillor 

Penberthy/Jackie 
Kings  

City Centre Car 

Parking  
3 

Added at the 16 

July 2025 

meeting 

Cllr 

Stephens/Mike 

Artherton 

Renters Rights Bill 3 
Changes in 

renters rights 

Cllr 

Penberthy/Matt 

Page 323



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

through new 

bill/law 

Garrett/Dave 

Ryland 

 

10 

December 

2025 

Plymouth Active 

Leisure 
3 Pre-decision  

Cllr Dann/Liz 

Slater 

Public Toilets 

Strategy Review  
3 

Motion on 

Notice from 19 

January 2024 

meeting of City 

Council  

Cllr 

Penberthy/Ann 

Thorp 

Central Park 

Ponds  
3 

Requested a 

written update 

22 October 

meeting 

following comms 

release of 

further delays. 

Kat Deeney / 

Cllr Briars-Delve  

Allotments  2 

Requested at 22 

October 

meeting 

Chris Avent  

 

11 

February 

2026 

    

    

    

    

Items to be scheduled for 2025/26 

2025/26 
Public Toilets 

Strategy Review  
(3) 

Motion on 

Notice from 19 

January 2024 

meeting of City 

Council  

Cllr 

Penberthy/Ann 

Thorp 

Items to be scheduled for 2026/27 

2026/27     

2026/27     

Items Identified for Select Committee Reviews 

     

 

 

  

Page 324



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Prioritisation Tool 

 

   

  

  Yes (=1) Evidence 

Public Interest Is it an issue of concern 
to partners, 

stakeholders and/or the 

community? 

  

    

Ability Could Scrutiny have an 

influence? 

  

    

Performance Is this an area of 

underperformance? 

  

    

Extent Does the topic affect 

people living, working, 

or studying in more 

than one electoral ward 

of Plymouth?  

    

Replication Will this be the only 

opportunity for public 

scrutiny? 

    

  Is the topic due planned 

to be the subject of an 

Executive Decision?  

    

Total:    High/Medium/Low 

 

Priority Score 

High 5-6 

Medium 3-4 

Low 1-2 

 

Page 325



This page is intentionally left blank



  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Management Board 

Work Programme 2025/26 

 

 

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to 

change at short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to 

be of strategic relevance. 

 

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s 

work programme, please contact Elliot Wearne-Gould (Democratic Advisor) on 01752 

398261 

 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Prior

itisati

on 

Scor

e 

Reason for Consideration   Cabinet 

Member/Lead 

Officer 

23 July 2025 

 

 

 

Finance Monitoring 

Report 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Finance Council-

wide 
Helen Slater 

Risk Monitoring 

Report 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Risk Monitoring 

Council-wide 
Paul Stephens 

Leader’s Forward 

Plan  

Standi

ng 

Item 

To maintain sight of upcoming decisions 

and inform work programming  

The 

Leader/Cabinet 

Member for 

Finance 

Update from 

Scrutiny Chairs and 

Work Programmes 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To appropriately work programme 

across Scrutiny Panels to ensure 

coordination of agenda items 

All Scrutiny 

Chairs 

SMB Work 

Programme 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To consider topics for inclusion in future 

agendas 
SMB Chair 

SMB Action Log 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To maintain oversight of actions and 

ensure completion. 
SMB Chair 

  Cyber Risk and 

Response Briefing 
 Requested report 

Cllr Sue Dann + 

Pete Honeywell 

 

24 

September 

2025 

 

 

 

Select Committee 

Review PID – 

Cycling in the City 

Centre  

3 
To review draft PID for a Select 

Committee Review 

Elliot Wearne-

Gould 

Finance Monitoring 

Report  

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Finance Council-

wide.  

Helen Slater + Ian 

Trisk-Gove  

Page 327 Agenda Item 14



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Corporate Plan 

Performance 

Report –KPIs 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Corp Plan 

Performance Council-wide. 
Paul Stephens 

Risk Monitoring 

Report (to inform 

work 

programming) 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Risk Monitoring 

Council-wide. 
Paul Stephens 

Leader’s Forward 

Plan  

Standi

ng 

Item 

To maintain sight of upcoming decisions 

and inform work programming  

The Leader / 

Cabinet Member 
for Finance  

Update from 

Scrutiny Chairs and 

Work Programmes 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To appropriately work programme 

across Scrutiny Panels to ensure 

coordination of agenda items 

All Scrutiny 

Chairs 

Scrutiny Panel 

Action Logs  

Standi

ng 

Item 

To ensure oversight and tracking of 

recommendations and actions made by 

the Scrutiny Panels. 

All Scrutiny 

Chairs 

SMB Work 

Programme 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To consider topics for inclusion in future 

agendas 
SMB Chair 

SMB Action Log 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To maintain oversight of actions and 

ensure completion. 
SMB Chair 

     

 

05 

November 

2025 

 

Moved to  

 

12 

November 

2025 
 

Draft of the Local 

Government 

Reorganisation 

Business Case 

5  
Pre-decision  

To provide an update on the draft Local 

Government Reorganisation proposal. 

Emmanuelle 

Marshall + Paul 

Barnard + Ross 

Jago 

People Strategy  4 

Pre-decision  

A comprehensive and evolving 

framework that outlines how the 

Council supports, develops, and 

empowers its workforce to meet the 

city’s current and future needs. 

 

Chris Squire + 

Cllr Dann 

(Prevention 

Strategy) City Help 

and Support 

Programme 

4 

Pre-decision 

An initiative is designed to address 

medium and long-term spending on crisis 

interventions by shifting to a more 

proactive and integrated service model. 

The approach is rooted in a Prevention-

First strategy and aims to build on, 

connect, and scale the great work 

already happening across the city. 

Thomas Fowler + 

Cllr Dann 

 

Finance Monitoring 

Report M6 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Finance Council-

wide.  

Helen Slater + Ian 

Trisk-Grove 

Page 328



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Corporate Plan 

Performance 

Report  

Standi

ng 

Item  

Maintain oversight of Corp Plan 

Performance Council-wide.  
Paul Stephens  

Risk Monitoring 
Report 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Risk Monitoring 
Council-wide. 

Paul Stephens 

Leader’s Forward 

Plan  

Standi

ng 

Item 

To maintain sight of upcoming decisions 

and inform work programming  

The Leader / 

Cabinet Member 

for Finance  

Update from 

Scrutiny Chairs and 

Work Programmes 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To appropriately work programme 

across Scrutiny Panels to ensure 

coordination of agenda items 

All Scrutiny 

Chairs 

SMB Work 

Programme 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To consider topics for inclusion in future 

agendas 
SMB Chair 

SMB Action Log 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To maintain oversight of actions and 

ensure completion. 
SMB Chair 

     

 

28 January 

2026 

 

 

Anticipated Budget 

Scrutiny Period 
  

All Cabinet 

Members + All 

Lead Officers 

     

 

 

11 March 

2026 

 

Hybrid Working 

Strategy  
4 

Pre-decision 

Following consultation with Unions and 

Staff.  

 

Chris Squire + 

Cllr Dann 

Civic Centre 

Redevelopment  
4 

Pre-decision  

Requested at 24 September Session due 

to cross-cutting issues 

David Draffan 

City Centre Master 

planning 
4 

Pre-decision 

Requested at 24 September Session due 

to cross-cutting issues 

Mike Artherton  

Finance Monitoring 

Report 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Finance Council-

wide.  
Helen Slater 

Corporate Plan 

Performance 

Report 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Corp Plan 

Performance Council-wide. 
Paul Stephens 

Risk Monitoring 

Report 

Standi

ng 

Item 

Maintain oversight of Risk Monitoring 

Council-wide. 
Paul Stephens 

Leader’s Forward 

Plan  

Standi

ng 

Item 

To maintain sight of upcoming decisions 

and inform work programming  

The Leader / 

Cabinet Member 

for Finance  

Page 329



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Update from 

Scrutiny Chairs and 

Work Programmes 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To appropriately work programme 

across Scrutiny Panels to ensure 

coordination of agenda items 

All Scrutiny 

Chairs 

Scrutiny Panel 
Action Logs  

Standi

ng 

Item 

To ensure oversight and tracking of 
recommendations and actions made by 

the Scrutiny Panels. 

All Scrutiny 
Chairs 

SMB Work 

Programme 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To consider topics for inclusion in future 

agendas 
SMB Chair 

SMB Action Log 

Standi

ng 

Item 

To maintain oversight of actions and 

ensure completion. 

 

SMB Chair 

Items to be scheduled for 2025/26 

2025/26 
Plan for Budget 

Scrutiny  
4 Annual Planning for Budget Scrutiny  

Ian Trisk-Grove + 

Elliot Wearne-

Gould 

2025/26 
Staffing vacancies 

and vacancy savings  
3 

Added at 24 September 2025 meeting – 

minute 20. Agreed to schedule further 

scrutiny of legal and finance department 

vacancies and staffing demand following 

commencement of a business case.  

 

 

Items to be scheduled for 2026/27 

2026/27     

Items Identified for Select Committee Reviews 

2025/26 

Cycling/Food 

Delivery in the 

City Centre  

3 
Identified for consideration in 2025 

following safety concerns of pedestrians 

SMB Chair/Glenn 

Caplin-Grey 

     

 
 

 

  

Page 330



  

  

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Prioritisation Tool (P-Score) 

 

  Criteria 

  

Explanation  Yes (=1) Evidence 

Public Interest Is it an issue of concern 
to partners, 

stakeholders and/or the 

community? 

  

    

Ability Could Scrutiny have an 

influence? 

  

    

Performance Is this an area of 

underperformance? 

  

    

Extent Does the topic affect 

people living, working, 

or studying in more 

than one electoral ward 

of Plymouth?  

    

Replication Will this be the only 

opportunity for public 

scrutiny? 

    

  Is the topic due planned 

to be the subject of an 

Executive Decision?  

    

Total:    High/Medium/Low 

 

Priority Score 

High 5-6 

Medium 3-4 

Low 1-2 

 

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD ACTION LOG 2025-26  
 

Please note that the Action Log is a ‘live’ document and subject to change at short notice.  

 

   

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Minute No Resolution Date Due & Progress 

Minute 17 

Select Committee 

Review Plan  

24 September 2025 

1. Agreed to approve the Select Committee Review Plan following 

amendments to attendees, membership and scope.  

 

2. Agreed to delegate to the Chair and Vice Chair to determine the 

membership size of the Select Committee.  

Status: In progress  

Date Due: November 2025 

Officer Responsible: Elliot Wearne-

Gould, SMB Chair & SMB Vice-Chair.  

Progress:  

1. The Select Committee Review plan 

has been updated following 

discussion of the SMB at the 

September meeting.  

2. Preparations are ongoing for the 

Select Committee Review including 

membership size.  

Key: 

 Complete 

 In Progress 

 Not Started 

 On Hold 

P
age 333

A
genda Item

 15



Scrutiny Management Board Action Log 2025-26   

 

   

 

OFFICIAL 

Minute 18 

Finance Monitoring 

Report, Month 

Three 

24 September 2025 

3. Requested that Officers provide a breakdown of Private Finance 

Initiative (PFI) and finance leases to future reports of the Audit 

and Governance Committee.  

Status: Complete  

Date Due: ASAP 

Officer Responsible: Ian Trisk-Grove. 

Progress: Action referred to the Audit 

and Governance Committee. This figures 

are included in the Mid-year TM report. 

Minute 20 

Corporate Plan 

Monitoring Report 

2024-25 Q45 

24 September 2025 

4. Requested further details on vacancy levels and vacancy targets 

across Council departments;  

 

5. Requested further information relating to the 

increase in  Section 21 evictions and resulting trends in 

temporary accommodation pressures;  

 

6. Agreed to schedule further scrutiny of legal and finance 

department vacancies and staffing demand following 

commencement of a business case; 

 

7. Requested a detailed breakdown of new housing figures by type 

of accommodation.  

 

Status: In progress  

Date Due: November 2025 

Officer Responsible: Elliot Wearne-

Gould, Cllr Mark Lowry & Ian Trisk-Grove.  

Progress:  

4. Data requested. 

5. Data requested 

6. Added to work programme 

7. Data provided to members via email 

03/11/25 

 

Minute 23 

Work Programme  

24 September 

2025 

8. Agreed to add the Civic Centre Redevelopment and City Centre 

Masterplan to the SMB work programme;  

 

Status: Complete  

Date Due: ASAP 

Officer Responsible: Elliot Wearne-

Gould,  

P
age 334



Scrutiny Management Board Action Log 2025-26   

 

   

 

OFFICIAL 

 Progress: Added to work programme for 

the next available meeting.  

 

Minute 7 

Work Programme 

23 July 2025 

9. Agreed to request that the Hybrid Working Strategy item was 

scheduled for the next SMB meeting subject to readiness 

(consultation with unions and staff); 

 

10. Agreed to request that an informal work programming session 

was arranged for SMB members & chairs.  

 

Status: Complete  

Date Due: 30 September 2025 

Officer Responsible: Elliot Wearne-

Gould, Chris Squire 

Progress:  

9. The Hybrid Working Strategy item 

has been scheduled for the next 

available meeting.  

10. An informal work programming 

session with Board members was 

held on 27 August 2025.  

Minute 46 

Cycling in the City 

Centre 

27 March 2025 

11. Agreed that a Select Committee of the Scrutiny Management 

Board was arranged to explore further the issues of e-bikes, 

food delivery and cycling in the city centre. 

Status: In Progress  

Date Due: 30 September 2025 

Officer Responsible: Elliot Wearne-

Gould 

Progress: A Select Committee Proposal 

was agreed by the Scrutiny Management 

Board in September 2025. Arrangements 

P
age 335



Scrutiny Management Board Action Log 2025-26   

 

   

 

OFFICIAL 

are underway with witnesses to confirm a 

date for the meeting.  

Minute 46 

Cycling in the City 

Centre 

27 March 2025 

 

12. Recommended that the Chair of the Scrutiny Management 

Board, in partnership with the Cabinet Member for Community 

Safety, lobbies members of Parliament to investigate current 

progress, and lobby for the introduction of safer measures to 

facilitate safe cycling in the city centre, particularly relating to 

food delivery and e-bikes. (This could include new laws; 

accreditation schemes; licensing schemes; training schemes; 

and/or ID cards to assist enforcement and compliance with safe 

practice.   

Status: Complete   

Date Due: 30 September 2025 

Officer Responsible: Elliot Wearne-

Gould 

Progress: A letter to Heidi Alexander MP  

(Secretary of State for Transport) was sent 

on 18 August 2025. The response has been 

shared with SMB Members. Cabinet 

Members will continue to lobby as SMB’s 

conversations progress throughout the 

Select Review.  

 

P
age 336


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Plymouth City Council’s Draft Local Government Reorganisation Proposal for Devon
	2025-11-12_LGR_SMB_Cover_Report_FINAL
	2025-10-08_Working Draft Proposal _ V3 (Scrutiny)
	Introduction
	The Current Situation in Plymouth
	Why Plymouth Needs to Expand
	Why Devon Needs Fundamental Reform
	Plymouth City Council’s Base Proposal for Local Government in Devon
	Plymouth City Council’s Modified Proposal for Local Government in Devon
	How Four-Unitary Model Delivers
	Why Boundary Modifications Are Essential
	Creating The Right Solution for All Devon
	Comparing the Options
	Option One:  Four Unitaries on District Boundaries (Base Case)
	Option One: Plymouth
	Option One: Torbay
	Option One: Exeter
	Option One: Devon Coast and Countryside
	Option One: Assessment Against Criteria

	Option Two: Four Unitaries (Modified Case)
	Option Two: Expanded Plymouth
	Option Two: Expanded Torbay
	Option Two: Expanded Exeter
	Option Two: Devon Coast and Countryside
	Option Two: Assessment Against Criteria

	Option Three: Three Unitaries (New Devon)
	Option Three: Plymouth
	Option Three: Torbay
	Option Three: Devon County Council Area
	Option Three: Assessment Against Criteria

	Option Four: Three Unitaries (District Grouping)
	Option Four: Plymouth
	Option Four: Four District Unitary
	Option Four: Five District Unitary
	Option Four: Assessment Against Criteria

	Democracy and Community Empowerment
	Better Services Across Devon
	Financial Resilience
	Building the Foundations for the South West Peninsula Devolution
	Stakeholder Engagement and Support
	Implementation Plan
	Managing Transition Risks
	Our Asks of Government
	Conclusion

	2025-09-29_LGR_Equality_Impact_Assessment_V0.01
	EQUALITY IMPACT Assessment – Local Government Reorganisation Final proposal
	Section one: information about the proposal
	SECTION TWO: Equality Impact Assessment SCREENING TOOL
	Section THREE: Full equality impact assessment
	Section FOUR: human RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
	Section five: our equality objectives

	2025_10_20_ LGR_Climate_Impact_Assessment SMB FINAL
	Blank Page

	6 Plymouth City Council People Strategy
	HROD People Strategy 2025_28 v2  1025 proof 5
	People Strategy EIA Oct 2025 v2

	7 City Help and Support
	Slidedeck - City Help and Support - SM 251112

	8 Finance Monitoring Report Month 6
	App A - Finance Monitoring Month 6 (SMB)

	9 Budget Scrutiny Plan
	SMB cover sheet - Budget Scrutiny

	10 Corporate Plan Performance Report
	Corporate Plan Q2 - Update for SMB

	11 Risk Management Update, Q2, 2025-26
	App A PCC Scruntiny Paper November 2025
	Appendix B - PCC Strategic Risk Register (2025-26 Q2)
	Appendix C - 2025-26 Q1 Monitoring Report

	12 Forward Plan of Key Decisions
	13 Update from Committee Chairs and Work Programmes
	Growth Scrutiny Work Programme 2025-26
	Health Scrutiny Work Programme 2025-26
	Housing Scrutiny Work Programme 2025-26

	14 Work Programme
	15 Action Log

